
NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL
Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Your attendance is requested at a meeting to be held at The Jeffrey Room, 
The Guildhall, St. Giles Square, Northampton, NN1 1DE on

10 June 2019 at 6pm
George Candler
Chief Executive 

If you need any advice or information regarding this agenda please 
phone Tracy Tiff, telephone 01604 837408 (direct dial), email 
ttiff@northampton.gov.uk who will be able to assist with your enquiry.  
For further information regarding Overview & Scrutiny Committee 
please visit the website www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny

Members of the Committee   

Chair Councillor Jamie Lane
Deputy-Chair Councillor Graham Walker
Committee Members Councillor Tony Ansell

Councillor Rufia Ashraf
Councillor Mohammed Azizur 
Rahman ( Aziz)
Councillor Janice Duffy
Councillor Gareth Eales
Councillor Penelope Flavell
Councillor Luke Graystone
Councillor Samuel Kilby-Shaw
Councillor Dennis Meredith
Councillor Emma Roberts
Councillor Cathrine Russell
Councillor Brian W Sargeant
Councillor Zoe Smith

Calendar of meetings   
Date Room  
15 July 2019   6:00 pm
 30 September
11 November
9 January 2020
20 February

All meetings to be held in the Jeffery 
Room at the Guildhall unless 
otherwise stated

www.northampton.gov.uk/scrutiny


Northampton Borough Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

Agenda

Item No 
and Time

Title Pages Action required 

1 
6:00pm

Apologies Members to note any apologies and 
substitution

2 Minutes 1 - 6 Members to approve the minutes of 
the meeting held on 30 April 2019.

3 Deputations/Public 
Addresses

The Chair to note public address 
requests.

The public can speak on any agenda 
item for a maximum of three minutes 
per speaker per item.  You are not 
required to register your intention to 
speak in advance but should arrive at 
the meeting a few minutes early, 
complete a Public Address Protocol 
and notify the Scrutiny Officer of your 
intention to speak.

4 Declarations of Interest 
(Including Whipping)

Members to state any interests.

5 
6:05pm

Heritage and Culture The Committee to receive a verbal 
update on the work that the Leader is 
leading on  - Culture and Heritage

6 
6:15pm

Sports Policy The Committee to receive a verbal 
update regarding the carried motion 
of full Council of 11 March 2019:

“In preparation for the transition to Unitary we 
call upon NBC to produce a Sports Strategy 
for the people of Northampton that draws on 
the Sports Strategy for West 
Northamptonshire of 2009.
 
The purpose of this strategy, as well as 
reviewing current facilities, would be to 
identify gaps, reflect current user preferences 
and requirements.
 
Only by doing this can we protect the assets 
in Northampton for the people of the town.”

7 Monitoring Of Overview 
and Scrutiny Reports

7 (a) 
6:25pm

CSE Copy attached

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16171


Northampton Borough Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee

7 (b) 
6:35pm

Homelessness (Pre 
Decision Scrutiny)

7 - 14

8 Scrutiny Panels The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to receive the final reports 
from the three Scrutiny Panels. 

8 (a) 
6:45pm

Scrutiny Panel 1 15 - 112

8 (b) 
6:55pm

Scrutiny Panel 3 113 - 157

8 (c) 
7:05pm

Scrutiny Panel 4 158 - 214

9 
7:15pm

Overview and Scrutiny 
Evaluation of O&S Reports 
Working Group

215 - 275 The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to receive the final report 
from the  Overview and Scrutiny 
Evaluation of O&S Reports Working 
Group

10 
7:25pm

Potential future pre 
decision scrutiny

The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider any potential 
issues for future pre decision scrutiny.

11 
7:30pm

Urgent Items This issue is for business that by 
reasons of the special circumstances 
to be specified, the Chair is of the 
opinion is of sufficient urgency to 
consider.  Members or Officers that 
wish to raise urgent items are to 
inform the Chair in advance.



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 30 April 2019

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL

MINUTES OF OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 30 April 2019

COUNCILLORS 
PRESENT:

Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair), Councillor Graham Walker (Deputy 
Chair); Councillors Jane Birch,  Alan Bottwood, Gareth Eales, Paul 
Joyce, Dennis Meredith, Cathrine Russell and Brian Sargeant                 

Councillor Anna King, Cabinet Member for Community Engagement 
and Safety
Councillor Mike Hallam, Cabinet Member for Environment
Marion Goodman, Head of Customers and Communities
Vicki Rockall, Community Engagement and Safety Manager
Tracy Tiff, Democratic and Member Services Manager

Press James Averill, Democracy Reporter

1. APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ashraf, Graystone, Kilby-Shaw and 
Smith.

2. MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 4 February 2019 were signed by the Chair as a true 
and accurate record.

3. DEPUTATIONS/PUBLIC ADDRESSES
There were none.

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (INCLUDING WHIPPING)
There were none.

5. CSP PERFORMANCE
Councillor Anna King, Chair, Community Safety Partnership, and Vicki Rockall, 
Community Engagement and Community Safety Manager presented the report – CSP 
Performance highlighting the salient points.

AGREED: That the report is noted.

6. MONITORING OF O&S REPORTS

1

Agenda Item 2



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 30 April 2019

(A) DEMENTIA FRIENDLY TOWN
Councillor King, Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Safety, presented the 
action plan that detailed work to date on the accepted recommendations contained within 
the Overview and Scrutiny report – Dementia Friendly Town. She put on record her thanks 
to the Call Care Manager who had gone over and beyond her role in implementing these 
recommendations.  The actions to date were highlighted.

Councillor Russell, as Chair of the Scrutiny Panel that undertook the Review gave a short 
precis of the importance of the Panel’s work to the town.

AGREED:  That the action plan is noted and a further update is presented to the 
Committee at its meeting in September 2019.

(B) HOMELESSNESS (PRE DECISION SCRUTINY)
Consideration of this item was deferred to the next meeting.

(C) CHILD SEXUAL EXPLOITATION
Consideration of this item was deferred to the next meeting.

7. CEMETERIES
Councillor Hallam, Cabinet Member for Environment, presented the action plan that 
detailed work to date on the accepted recommendations contained within the Overview 
and Scrutiny report – Cemeteries.  The actions to date were highlighted.

The Committee asked questions, made comment and heard:

 It was confirmed that a seven day a week service is offered for cemeteries and 
burials within 24 hours have been offered where required.

 In answer to a question about green burials, it was commented that this could be 
investigated as part of the working being undertaken by the Strategic Working 
Group that will be looking at a potential new larger crematorium and cemetery for 
the town.

 In response to a comment regarding the proposed extension of Dallington 
Cemetery and whether the allotment holders had been notified; the Committee 
heard they would be communicated with.  Two Cemetery Working Group have been 
established; one of which that is looking  at issues that include future burial 
requirements and space.

AGREED:  That the action plan is noted and a further update is presented to the 
Committee at its meeting in September 2019.
 
8. CULTURE AND TOURISM
Councillor King, Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Safety, and Marion 
Goodman, Head of Customers and Cultural Services, presented the action plan that 
detailed work to date on the accepted recommendations contained within the Overview 
and Scrutiny report – Culture and Tourism.  The actions to date were highlighted.

2



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 30 April 2019

The Chair conveyed his thanks to the Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and 
Safety, and the Head of Customers and Cultural Services for their hard work on 
implementing the accepted recommendations.  It was suggested the Leader of the Council 
is asked to attend the next meeting of the Committee in June 2019 to give an update on 
the work that he is leading on on Culture and Heritage; particularly regarding the aspiration 
for Northampton to be a City of Culture by 2025.

The Chair suggested a pop up Museum in empty shops in the town would be an excellent 
idea and there could also be a pop up Tourist Information Centre.

AGREED:     (1)  That the Leader of the Council is asked to attend the next meeting of the 
Committee in June 2019 to give an update on the work that he is leading on 
on Culture and Heritage; particularly regarding the aspiration for 
Northampton to be a City of Culture by 2025.

(2)That the action plan is noted and a further update is presented to the 
Committee at its meeting in November 2019.

9. REPROVISION OF  THE ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES CONTRACT
Councillor Hallam, Cabinet Member for Environment,  gave the Committee an update on 
the Environmental Services Contract.

Key points:

 The Contract is stable and is working well; currently going into year two.
 Recycling is up by 4%
 Flytipping is down by 10%
 Positive feedback has been received from the clear sack trial

AGREED: That the update is noted.

10. SCRUTINY PANELS

SCRUTINY PANEL 1

Councillor Russell advised the Committee that this Scrutiny Panel had now concluded its 
evidence gathering and she would present the final report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 10 June 2019.

The Committee heard that the East Midlands Scrutiny Network had received a 
presentation on the work of the Scrutiny Panel that had been very well received.  It was 
noted that South Northants Council is currently undertaking a Scrutiny Review into 
homelessness and the Chair confirmed a copy of the final report would be sent to South 
Northants when the report is approved.

AGREED: That the update is noted.

3



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 30 April 2019

SCRUTINY PANEL 2
Councillor Walker presented the final report of the Impact of the move of the University 
Scrutiny Panel to the Committee.  It was highlighted that a lot of public had attended 
meetings of this Scrutiny Panel and a number had relayed details of their concerns. 
Councillor Walker thanked Members of the Panel, the co optee, Officers and members of 
the public for their input into the Review.

AGREED: That the update is noted.

SCRUTINY PANEL 3
Councillor  Sargeant advised the Committee that this Scrutiny Panel had now concluded 
its evidence gathering and he would present the final report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 10 June 2019.

AGREED: That the update is noted.

SCRUTINY PANEL 4
Councillor Smith advised the Committee that this Scrutiny Panel had now concluded its 
evidence gathering and she would present the final report to the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 10 June 2019.

AGREED: That the update is noted.

11     O&S EVALUATION OF REPORTS WORKING GROUP

Councillor Lane advised the Committee that the Working had now concluded its evidence 
gathering and he would present the final report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee at 
its meeting on 10 June 2019.

AGREED: That the update is noted.

12   OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME 2019/2020

The Chair confirmed that as a result of the Work Programme event a number of topics had 
been identified for Scrutiny review in 2019/2020.   He reminded the Committee of the 
priority order of these reviews.
 
The Committee was asked to prioritise the reviews and also indicate whether they wished 
to serve on the Scrutiny Panels. The Chair advised the Committee that other non-
Executive Members would then be asked if they wished to serve on any of the Panels.
 
AGREED :-
 

4



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 30 April 2019

That two Scrutiny reviews for 2019/2020 be as follows:
  
Scrutiny Panel 1     -  Food Poverty
 
Membership of the Panel would comprise:
 
Chair                Councillor Dennis Meredith 
 
Deputy Chair   Councillor Cathrine Russell
 
Further members would be invited to join the Panel.
 
Working Group –  Gangs and Knife Crime

 
Membership of the Working Group would comprise:
 
Chair               Councillor Graham Walker 
 
Deputy Chair  Councillor Jane Birch

Further members would be invited to join the Working Group.  The Chair clarified that only 
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee can be members of the Working 
Group.

 The Chair advised that he would ask for reports and briefing papers regarding:

 Facilities for students 
 How Northampton Borough Council promotes information to the public
 Public Transport  usage – including buses, trains and parking
 Protecting the wildlife in the borough (parks and building focus)
 Effectiveness of the transfer of Community Centres
 Monitoring of the Environmental Services Contract

The Chair referred to the motion that had been carried at full Council of 11 March 2019:

 “In preparation for the transition to Unitary we call upon NBC to produce a Sports 
Strategy for the people of Northampton that draws on the Sports Strategy for West 
Northamptonshire of 2009.
 
The purpose of this strategy, as well as reviewing current facilities, would be to identify 
gaps, reflect current user preferences and requirements.
 
Only by doing this can we protect the assets in Northampton for the people of 
the town.”

It was suggested that the Leader of the Council be asked to provide an update to the next 

5



Overview & Scrutiny Committee Minutes - Tuesday, 30 April 2019

meeting of this Committee.

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee further AGREED: 
 

That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agrees its Work 
Programme for 2019/2020 from the issues suggested by the recent 
Work Programming event.
 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee invites other 
non-Executives, who are not a member of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, to join the membership of the Scrutiny Panel – 
Food Poverty.
 
The Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee communicates 
details of the Work Programme 2019/2020 with all Councillors, and 
Directors.
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Work Programme for 2019/2020 is 
published on the Overview and Scrutiny page of the Council’s 
webpage.

The Leader is asked to provide an update on the carried motion to 
full Council of 11 March 2020 on a Sports Strategy.

  

16. POTENTIAL FUTURE PRE DECISION SCRUTINY

There were none.

17. URGENT ITEMS

There were none.

The meeting concluded at 7:31 pm

6



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 

ACTION PLAN: SCRUTINY PANEL  - Child Sexual Exploitation 

Recommendations from Scrutiny Panel (Child Sexual Exploitation) completed in April 2017   

 

Proposed dates for monitoring implementation of accepted recommendations 

Report received  

by Cabinet 

Response received by Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee  

Monitoring activity Monitoring 

complete 

 June 2017  October 2018  June 2019  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7

A
genda Item

 7a



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 1: Northampton Borough Council establishes its own CSE Officer Group (to direct and co-ordinate all of the 
action the Council takes to detect, prevent and reduce child sexual exploitation).     

Action Implementation/ 

responsibility by: 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Establish a CSE 
Officer Group  

 

 

 

• Develop and 
implement a                            
comprehensive   
action plan for 
tackling CSE in 
the borough 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 

 

 

 

CSE Officer Group 

 

To be achieved within existing 
resources.  

 

 

 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

October 2018 

 

 

 

                                                                                      

September 2019 

(Original target date                  
was April 2019) 

CSE Officer Group (comprising 
representatives from Private Sector 
Housing, Homelessness, Community 
Safety, Taxi Licensing, 
Neighbourhood Wardens, 
Environmental Protection, CCTV and 
Northampton Partnership Home) has 
been established. 

                                                 
Although the Council’s various 
services (housing, community safety, 
taxi licensing, NPH, etc) have 
continued to tackle CSE, pressure of 
work has delayed the production of 
the borough’s action plan. This will 
now be completed in September 2019 

RECOMMENDATION 2:  Northampton Borough Council and Northampton Partnership Homes undertake a systematic review of all 
public spaces within their control to ensure that those spaces are made as safe as possible. 

Action 

 

Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• NBC and NPH to 

review and risk 

assess all public 

spaces within 

their control 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 
 
 
 
 
 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

 

 

                                                                                

December 2019 

(Original target date                  
was April 2019) 

 

 

This survey has been delayed due to 
other demands. Advice will be sought 
from the RISE Team to establish 
which NBC & NPH public spaces 
pose the most risk in order that these 
can be surveyed first. All public 
spaces will be reviewed and risk 
assessed by December 2019.  

8



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

• NBC and NPH to 

develop and 

implement an 

action plan to 

make them as 

safe as possible 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

March 2020 An action plan for making the public 
spaces as safe as possible will be 
developed by March 2020. 

RECOMMENDATION 3:   Officers of Northampton Borough Council meet with the Service Manager of the RISE Team on a 
quarterly basis to plan a programme of joint operations in Northampton in order to detect, prevent and raise awareness of CSE.                        

Action 

 

Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Quarterly 

meetings take 

place between 

NBC Officers and 

the Service 

Manager of the 

RISE Team  

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 

Community Safety & 
Engagement 
Manager 

Environmental 
Health & Licensing 
Manager 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

Ongoing Although NBC Officers have 
continued to meet with the RISE 
Team (to plan joint operations and 
share information) as and when this is 
required, regular quarterly meetings 
have not been deemed necessary.  

The situation is being reviewed, 
however, in the light of management 
changes within the RISE Team.                                                                     

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                                                                        

9



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 4:  Officers of Northampton Borough Council work with Northamptonshire County Council’s E-Safety Officer 
and the RISE Team to explore ways in which the Borough Council’s website can be used to promote safe internet use by children 
and young people, and to publicise the services and information portals where young people can receive information and support. 
 
Action 

 

Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• NBC Officers to 
meet with NCC’s 
E-Safety Officer 
and the RISE 
Team 

• Explore ways in 
which NBC’s 
website can 
promote safe 
internet use, etc 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 

NBC Web Developer 

 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 

NBC Web Developer 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

 

 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

July 2019 

 

 

October 2019 

This workstream was deferred until 
NBC completed the development 
and implementation of its new 
website. Now this is complete, this 
piece of work can be progressed. 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 5:  Northampton Borough Council recommends to Northamptonshire County Council’s Director of Children’s 
Services that healthy relationships and sex education are included within the school curriculum. 

Action Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Recommendation 
that healthy 
relationships and 
sex education are 
included within 
school 
curriculum 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

September 2018 Completed.  

                                                                                                                                                                                                  

10



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 6:  All Members of Northampton Borough Council are issued with a copy of the LGA toolkit, “Tackling CSE – 
A resource pack for Councillors” and the NSPCC’s “Solution Focused Practice Toolkit – Helping Professionals use the approach 
when dealing with children and young people”. 

Action Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Copy of the LGA 

Toolkit and 

NSPCC Toolkit to 

be issues to all 

Members  

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 
 
CSE Officer Group 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

July 2019 

(Original target date                  
was November 2018) 

Copies of these documents will be 
sent to all Members, as part of a 
comprehensive Safeguarding and 
CSE Information Pack that is due to 
be despatched in July 2019.  

RECOMMENDATION 7:  All Members of Northampton Borough Council should take positive steps (as Ward Councillors and 
School Governors) to persuade the all the borough’s secondary and academies to show the short video, “Kayleigh’s Love Story” to 
their students. 

Action Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• All Members 

should be 

provided with 

details of the 

video and 

encouraged 

secondary 

schools and 

academies to 

show it to their 

students                      

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 
 
CSE Officer Group 
 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

July 2019 

(Original target date                  
was November 2018) 

 

 

Details of the film will be sent to all 
Members, as part of a comprehensive 
Safeguarding and CSE Information 
Pack that is due to be despatched in 
July 2019 

                                                                                                                                                                                                        

11

https://leics.police.uk/categories/kayleighs-love-story-film


Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 8: All Officers and Members of Northampton Borough Council receive training on how to recognise the signs 

of CSE and how they should report it. 

Action Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Training and 

refresher training 

will be provided 

for all Officers 

and Members 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

Ongoing  Online and face-to-face CSE training 
is being developed as part of a wider 
programme of safeguarding training 
that will   support the implementation 
of the Council’s Safeguarding Policy 
for Children and Vulnerable Adults.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 9:  The Chief Executive of Northampton Partnership Homes is asked to ensure that all of its Officers and 
relevant Board Members receive training on how to recognise the signs of CSE and how they should report it.  

Action 

 

Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• NPH to confirm 

that all of its 

Officers and 

relevant Board 

Members receive 

training on how 

to recognise the 

signs of CSE and 

how they should 

report it 

 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing  

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

October 2018 Completed. NPH has confirmed that 
all of its Officers receive training on 
safeguarding, which includes 
recognising the signs of CSE and 
how they should report it.  Board 
Members have not received any 
CSE training. 

  

                                                                                                                                                                                                  

12



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 10: Relevant Officers and Members of Northampton Borough Council undertake online training for 
practitioners on national best practice. 

 
Action Implementation/ 

responsibility by 
Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Determine the 
most appropriate 
way for Officers 
and Members to 
access, and learn 
from, national 
best practice 

• Identify the 
relevant Officers 
and Members  

• Organise the 
online training 

CSE Officer Group To be achieved within existing 
resources 

March 2020 This work has not commenced yet. 

6.1.10  
RECOMMENDATION 11: Northampton Borough Council actively encourages and hosts a series of briefings and training 
sessions for community groups in the borough (including community centres and youth groups), in order to raise awareness 
of how to recognise the signs of CSE and how to report it. 

6.1.11  
Action Implementation/ 

responsibility by 
Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

•   Consult with the 

local community 

centres and 

youth groups 

• Arrange briefings 

and training if 

there is a demand 

Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing  

Community Safety 
and Engagement 
Manager 

 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

 

March 2020 This workstream has not commenced 
yet. It will be included in the CSE 
action plan   

 

13



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 

ACTION PLAN: SCRUTINY PANEL    - Homelessness (Pre-Decision Scrutiny) 

Recommendations from Scrutiny Panel (Homelessness (Pre-Decision Scrutiny) completed in April 2017   

 

Proposed dates for monitoring implementation of accepted recommendations 

Report received  

by Cabinet 

Response received by Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee  

Monitoring activity Monitoring 

complete 

 June 2017  November 2017  June 2018 and May 2019  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

14

A
genda Item

 7b



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 1: The Council undertakes a comprehensive review of homelessness in the borough and develops 
a new 5 year Homelessness Strategy that is designed to substantially reduce the number of households that become 
homeless and the number of homeless families that are living in temporary accommodation.   

Action Implementation/ 

responsibility by: 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Undertake a 
comprehensive 
review of 
homelessness 

• Produce a 5 year, 
multi-agency 
homelessness 
strategy 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Housing Strategy 
Officer 

 

Housing Strategy 
Officer 

An additional Project Officer will 
be recruited on a fixed-term 
contract to support this work.  

Review to be 
completed by 
November 2018 

Strategy to be 
produced by 
March 2019 

This piece of work was initially put 
on hold to enable Officers to focus 
on the successful implementation 
of the Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 (which came into effect 
on 3 April 2018) and reducing the 
Council’s use of Bed & Breakfast 
and out-of-borough temporary 
accommodation.  

Publication of the Government’s 
Rough Sleeping Strategy (August 
2018), together with the proposed 
restructure of the Housing Options 
& Advice Service, the development 
of a 14-point action plan for 
reducing the use and cost of 
temporary accommodation and the 
discussions that were taking place 
with SNC and DDC about the need 
to work together to produce a 
West Northamptonshire 
Homelessness & Rough Sleeping 
Strategy subsequently delayed 
Northampton’s homelessness 
review and the production of the 
new strategy. 

15



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                                                                                                    

The Housing Strategy Officer and 
Head of Housing & Wellbeing are 
working with Senior Officers of 
SNC and DDC to pool the three 
councils’ resources to carry out an 
evidence-based review of housing 
need and homelessness in West 
Northamptonshire with a view to 
producing a new Homelessness & 
Rough Sleeping Strategy and 
Housing Allocations Scheme for 
the Unitary Council in 2019/20.  

To assist this work, the Housing 
and Wellbeing Team will recruit a 
Homelessness Strategy Officer, for 
a fixed term, using funding from 
the Flexible Homelessness 
Support Grant.  

The Council is also working with 
the Hope Centre, Homeless Link 
and Northampton’s Inter Faith 
Forum to organise a workshop (to 
review and refresh Northampton’s 
rough sleepers strategy) in July 
2019 and establish a multi-agency 
Single Homelessness Forum in 
September 2019. 

 

 

16



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

 

RECOMMENDATION 2: The Council establishes a Homelessness Strategy Implementation Group to direct, co-ordinate 
and monitor the action that the Council and its partners take to tackle, prevent and reduce homelessness in the borough 

Action 

 

Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Establish a 

Homelessness 

Strategy 

Implementation 

Group 

Housing Options & 
Advice Manager 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

February 2019 For the reasons described in the 
response to Recommendation 1, it 
is now proposed that a West 
Northamptonshire Homelessness 
& Rough Sleeping Strategy is 
produced with SNC, DDC and key 
stakeholders. An Implementation 
Group will be set up in Dec 2019.  

RECOMMENDATION 3:   The Council publishes an information leaflet, (electronic, paper base and in languages commonly 
known to be spoken by rough sleepers), for distribution to all Agencies, services and more widely available to members of 
the public, which sets out very clearly how its homelessness and housing advice services are organised – together with 
details of the services provided by other organisations and services – and how people can access them.   

Action 

 

Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Write, design  

and publish an 

information 

leaflet 

 

Housing Options & 

Advice Manager 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

October 2018 Business cards, together with 
leaflets in a variety of languages, 
have been produced to provide 
rough sleepers and members of 
the public with information about 
the Single Homelessness Service, 
Street Outreach Team, SWEP and 
the Nightshelter.  

17



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

                                                                          
Information is also available on the 
Council’s website.  

In July 2019, consultation starts on 
the proposed restructure of the  
Housing Options & Advice Service 
which, if implemented, will have a 
huge impact on the way in which 
the Council’s homelessness and 
housing advice services are 
organised.  

These changes – together with the 
new services that the Government 
is funding in 2019/20 through its 
Rough Sleeping Initiative – will 
need to be reflected in any leaflets. 

It is now proposed that a suite of 
leaflets is produced: 

• A ‘local services’ guide for 
single homeless people and 
childless couples (including 
rough sleepers) 

• A ‘local services’ guide for 
homeless families 

• A guide to the Council’s 
homelessness and housing 
advice services (including how 
to access them and how they 
are organised) 

The first leaflet will be produced in 
September 2019 and the other two 
will be produced in October 2019. 

18



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 4:  A comprehensive review of rough sleeping services is carried out to ensure that all services are 

operating efficiently and effectively, and that there is no unnecessary duplication of effort between the Nightshelter, the 

Hope Centre, Oasis House, NAASH and other services. 

 

Action 

 

Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Review the way 

in which rough 

sleeping services 

are operating 

 

 

Housing Options & 
Advice Manager 
and Housing 
Strategy Officer 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

October 2018 

 

Significant changes have been 
made to way in which rough 
sleeping services have been 
delivered since the conclusion of 
the Overview & Scrutiny Review.  
The appointment of a Single 
Homelessness Adviser in May 
2018 complemented the work of 
the Street Outreach Team and 
Nightshelter and made it even 
easier for rough sleepers to access 
help, advice and support.  
 
New assessment arrangements 
and the use of Personal Housing 
Plans (a statutory duty under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act) had 
a significant impact on the way in 
which rough sleeping services and 
the role of other support services.  
    
 
 
 

19



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

                                                                      
Although Midland Heart’s planned 
changes to Oasis House placed an 
additional strain on the relationship 
between the services (including the 
Council and the Hope Centre) that 
are based at Oasis House, the 
Council made a successful bid for 
£42k to run an all-weather Winter 
Shelter and expand its Street 
Outreach Team to deliver a 7-day-
a-week service for 6½ weeks from 
14 February – 31 March 2019. 
 
Two subsequent bids for funding 
resulted in Northampton being 
awarded another £480K to fund 11 
rough sleeping posts in 2019/20: 
 
• Rough Sleepers Co-ordinator 

 
• Two Street Outreach Workers 
 
• Mental Health Outreach Worker 
 
• Four Navigators 
 
• Housing Transitions Officer 

(Prisons & Approved Premises) 
 
• Two Tenancy Sustainment 

Officers 
 
 

20



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

                                                                            
The Council is currently working 
with the Hope Centre, Homeless 
Link and Northampton’s Inter Faith 
Forum to organise a workshop in 
July 2019 (to review and refresh 
Northampton’s rough sleepers 
strategy) and establish a multi-
agency Single Homelessness 
Forum in September 2019. 
 
The review of rough sleeping 
services has been ongoing since 
the Scrutiny Review of 2017. It has 
been assisted by:   
 
• The changes that have already 

been made in response to the 
Homelessness Reduction Act  
 

• The experience gained (and the 
intelligence gathered) during 
the 6½ weeks that the Council 
operated an all-winter Winter 
Shelter and provided a 7-day-a-
week Street Outreach Service 

 
• The time and thought that has 

gone into the restructuring of 
the Housing Options & Advice 
Service and the job descriptions 
of the Officers and Managers 
who will be delivering the Single 
Homelessness Service. 

 

21



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

 

• The services proposed (based 

on a review / evaluation of the 

services already in place and 

the type of services that are still 

needed) in the funding bids 

submitted to MHCLG. 

 

Further improvements will be 

made to rough sleeping services 

as a result of the following: 

 

• Implementation of the Housing 

Options & Advice restructure, 

including the creation of a 

Single Homelessness Pathway 

 

• Recruitment and deployment of 

the 11 Officers who will be 

funded by the Rough Sleepers 

Initiative in 2019/20  

 

• The review of the rough 

sleepers strategy (July 2019) 

and the establishment of the 

Single Homelessness Forum 

(September 2019). 
 
 
 

22



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 5:  A Homelessness Forum is established that engages with other statutory and non-statutory 

Agencies. 

Action Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Establish a 

Homelessness 

Forum 

 

 

 

 

Housing Options & 
Advice Manager 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

September 2018 Although it was originally proposed 

that the Homelessness Forum 

would be established in Autumn 

2018, the Officer recruited to set 

up the Homelessness Forum and 

other initiatives did not perform 

well, so was released early.    

Unfortunately, other more urgent 

operational matters have needed 

to be attended to by the Council’s 

Officers and Managers who would 

be expected to support and attend 

the Homelessness Forum. 

As explained in the responses to 

earlier Recommendations, it is 

proposed that: 

• A Single Homelessness Forum 

is set up in September 2019 

and meets quarterly 

23



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

 

• A Homelessness Forum 

(dealing with all homelessness 

issues except those relating to 

single homeless people and 

childless couples) is set up in 

November 2019 and meets 

quarterly 

RECOMMENDATION 6:  The Council carries out an annual review of rough sleeping in the borough that goes beyond the 
limitations of the Statutory requirements, for example personalised Development Plans are produced for each rough 
sleeper and that these continue to be implemented even after they have moved into permanent housing. 

6.1.4  

Action Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Carry out an 

annual review of 

rough sleeping  

 

 

Housing Options & 
Advice Manager 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

December 2018 The Council is currently working 
with the Hope Centre, Homeless 
Link and Northampton’s Inter Faith 
Forum to establish a multi-agency 
Single Homelessness Forum in 
September 2019. 
 
Everyone is agreed that the priority 
is to achieve a consensus on the 
nature and extent of rough 
sleeping in the borough and to use 
the annual Rough Sleepers Count 
and SWEP, the Nightshelter and 
the Single Homelessness Forum 
to inform this assessment. 
 

24



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

 
Since the implementation of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 (which came into effect in  
April 2018), every rough sleeper 
who has engaged with the 
Council’s Single Homelessness 
Adviser, Street Outreach Workers 
or Housing Options & Advice 
Team have been helped to 
develop a Personal Housing Plan 
which continues to be monitored 
and updated until the person is  
rehoused and it is handed on to  
their new landlord.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 7:   There is active and meaningful involvement of individuals who have lived experience or service 
users with the development and delivery of services, and the implementation process. 

Action Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Service users &  

individuals with 

lived experience 

will be routinely 

and meaningfully 

involved in 

shaping and 

delivering 

services  

Housing Options & 
Advice Manager 
 
 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

March 2019 Nightshelter guests are already 
routinely involved in shaping 
services 

Individuals with lived experience 
will join the Single Homelessness 
Forum (planned for September 
2019) and will be involved in West 
Northamptonshire’s homelessness 
review and the development and    
implementation of its 5 year 
homelessness strategy. 

25



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 8: The Council considers its approach to assisting individuals with multiple and complex needs 

Action Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• The Council will 

review the way in 

which it (and 

other services) 

assists people 

who have 

multiple and 

complex needs 

Housing Options & 
Advice Manager 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

October 2018 This work is ongoing and will 
complement the work that is going 
on to tackle rough sleeping and 
determine how best to use the 
‘Housing First’ model. 
 
The appointment of a Mental 
Health Outreach Worker (for 12 
months, using funding from the 
Rough Sleeping Initiative) in June 
2019 will support our efforts to 
assist people who have multiple 
and complex needs. As the 
postholder will be seconded to the 
role from NHFT, they will 
strengthen the links between 
homelessness services and mental 
health services in the borough. 
 
The appointment of the four 
Navigators (for 12 months, using 
funding from the Rough Sleeping 
Initiative) in 2019/20 will ensure 
that homeless people can be 
accompanied to appointments 
when this is necessary. 
 

26



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

 
Lessons will continue to be learned 
from the discussions that take 
place at the Multiple & Complex 
Needs Task & Targeting Group.  
 

RECOMMENDATION 9:  The existing arrangements for meeting the health needs of homeless people (including rough 
sleepers) are reviewed and strengthened – informed by a Health Needs Audit -  to ensure that rough sleepers and people 
who are living in temporary accommodation are not only aware of, but are also helped to connect with, local support 
services. 

Action 

 

Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Review and 

strengthen the 

arrangements for 

meeting the 

health needs of 

rough sleepers 

and people living 

in temporary 

accommodation  

Housing Options & 
Advice Manager 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

October 2018 This piece of work was delayed, 
due to the need to concentrate on 
other, more urgent operational 
matters. However, the Head of 
Housing has attended meetings 
with the Public Health Team to 
plan a 2019/20 health screening 
programme that is targeted at, and 
delivered to, homeless people. 

When the restructure of the 
Housing Options & Advice Team is 
implemented and the Temporary 
Accommodation Team is in place, 
homeless households will be 
provided (as a matter of routine) 
with information about local health 
and support services.  

 

27



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

                                                                              
The appointment of the four 
Navigators (for 12 months, using 
funding from the Rough Sleeping 
Initiative) in 2019/20 will ensure 
that homeless people can be 
accompanied to appointments 
when this is necessary. 
 

RECOMMENDATION 10: Details of the medical advice and treatment available to people who are homeless and/or 
sleeping rough – at various locations, including Maple Access and Oasis House – are communicated to all organisations 
and services in order that they can be shared with people who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless.  

6.1.10  

Action Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• Details of the 

medical advice 

and treatment 

available will be 

collected and 

shared with  all 

organisations 

and services  

Nightshelter Co-

ordinator 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

September 
2018 

This information is already widely 
known by local services. However, 
it will be included in the leaflet 
referred to in the response to 
Recommendation 3: 

• A ‘local services’ guide for 
single homeless people and 
childless couples (including 
rough sleepers)  

 

 

 

 

28



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

6.1.11 RECOMMENDATION 11: The Council develops an ambitious plan, using SMART outcomes, for minimising its use of Bed 
& Breakfast accommodation and out-of-borough temporary accommodation 

6.1.12  
Action 

 

Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

•   An ambitious 

plan will be 

developed to 

minimise the  

Council’s  use of 

B&B and out-of-

borough 

temporary 

accommodation 

Head of Housing & 
Wellbeing 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

 

 

 

 

 

April 2018 This was completed in April 2018.  
Although the overall number of 
homeless households in temporary 
accommodation has continued to 
rise, the vast majority of homeless 
households continue to live in self-
contained accommodation in the 
borough. Very few households 
containing a pregnancy or 
dependent child(ren) are placed in 
Bed & Breakfast. 

RECOMMENDATION 12: The Council works imaginatively and collaboratively with Northamptonshire County Council, and 
other Agencies and organisations, to provide more support for homeless families in temporary accommodation and 
mitigating any adverse effects on the families’ finances and the children’s schooling and healthcare. 

6.1.13  
Action 

 

Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• The Council 
works with the 
County Council 
to support 
homeless 
families in 
temporary 
accommodation 

Head of Housing & 
Wellbeing 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

October 
2018 

The importance of this action has 
reduced, due to the sharp fall in 
the number of children placed in 
temporary accommodation outside 
of the borough. The proposed 
reorganisation of local government 
in Northamptonshire offers an 
opportunity for improving services 
in the future. 

29



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

RECOMMENDATION 13: All nightly-purchased temporary accommodation that is used by the Borough Council should 
provide free Wi-Fi facilities.  
 
Action 

 

Implementation/ 
responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• All B&Bs used by 
the Council will 
provide free Wi-Fi 
facilities 

Housing Options & 
Advice Manager 
 
 

To be achieved within existing 
resources 

April 2018 This was completed in April 2018. 

RECOMMENDATION 14:   It is recommended to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that when monitoring takes place, 
a previous service user is asked to attend the meeting to provide information. 
 

 Implementation/ 

responsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

• A former service 

user will be 

asked to attend 

the Overview & 

Scrutiny 

Committee to 

provide 

information 

Head of Housing & 
Wellbeing 
 

To be achieved with existing 
resources 

June 2018 This occurred during the Scrutiny 

Review of Homelessness & Rough 

Sleeping in 2018/19. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30



Northampton Borough Council Scrutiny Panel Action Plan  

Recommendations to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

RECOMMENDATION 15:  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, reviews the impact of 

this report in six months’ time.     

Action 

 

Implementation/r

esponsibility by 

Resources required/available Target date Achievement/Completed 

Included onto the 

O&S Monitoring Work 

Programme 

2017/2018 

 

Added to the O&S 

Monitoring Work 

Programme  - 

Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 

  n/a Monitoring to 

take place in 

June 2018 

and May 2019 

 

 

31



O v e r v i e w  & S c r u t i n y C o m m i t t e e 

S C R U T I N Y P A N E L 

Homelessness and Rough Sleepers

May 2019

32

Agenda Item 8a



 1 

Index 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair’s Foreword                      1    
     
Executive Summary                            3  
 
Final Report including recommendations                     9  
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
 
 
Appendix A  Scope of the Review   

 

Appendix B  Core Questions  

 

 

33



 2 

 
Foreword 
 
The objectives of this Scrutiny Panel was to review ways in which the Council and its partners engage 
with rough sleepers and long term homeless individuals, consider the best way in which ‘Housing First’ 
can be used to reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and understand the nature and extent of ‘hidden 
homelessness’ and how it can best be addressed. 
  

Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To gain an understanding of how and why people become homeless 
 To gain an understanding of the causes and extent of rough sleeping in the borough, the impact 

that rough sleeping has on the health, safety and life expectancy of people who are sleeping 
rough, and the implications for safeguarding and community safety. 

 To gain an understanding of the work that is currently being undertaken by Northampton 
Borough Council (NBC), local groups, organisations and voluntary services to engage with 
rough sleepers 

 To consider the effectiveness of the action that is being taken (by NBC and local groups, 
services and organisations) to help people who are sleeping rough to come off the streets. 

 To gain an understanding of the ‘Housing First’ model and consider how best it could be used 
to reduce rough sleeping in the borough. 

 To gain an understanding of the nature and extent of ‘hidden homelessness’ in the borough, 
including the profile of the people affected and what contact (if any) they have had with NBC, 
Northampton Partnership Homes or local advice agencies. 

 To explore various ways of connecting with, and engaging with, harder to reach groups 
 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance provided for young people, 

between the age of 16-25, including care leavers. 
 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance provided for ex-Offenders 
 To understand how data, statistics and demographics are gathered and used to meet the needs 

of rough sleepers, men and women, who are homeless. 
 

The Scrutiny Panel was made up of non-Executives, myself, Councillor Zoe Smith (Deputy Chair); 
Councillors Sally Beardsworth, Jane Birch, Gareth Eales and Ian Bates from the Umbrella Fair was 
co-opted to the Review. 

The Review took place between May 2018 and May 2019. 

This was an informative and at times, intense Review, with clear evidence received, exploring why 
individuals become homeless, a social and community phenomenon which is growing every year.  I 
thank all those who contributed and gave their time to attend a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel to provide 
this information and all those who provided comprehensive written evidence.  I would particularly like 
to convey my thanks to those individuals who shared their experiences with the Panel about their 
experiences when sleeping rough and being homeless; this information has greatly informed the 
evidence base of this high-profile Scrutiny Review 
 
The Scrutiny Panel held interviews with Cabinet Members, senior officers at Northampton Borough 
Council and a number of key external expert witnesses.  Desktop research was carried out by Tracy 
Tiff, Scrutiny Officer. 
 
After each meeting the Scrutiny Panel would watch a short film, such as a TED film on research into 
Housing First, homelessness and rough sleeping.  The value of these short films was very useful and 
provided additional information to the Panel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34



 3 

 
 
 
 
 
The result is an important piece of work which, when presented to Cabinet, offers several key 
recommendations around reducing homelessness and managing rough sleepers in the borough.    

I would like to thank everyone who participated and contributed to this very important piece of work. 

  

 
Councillor Cathrine Russell 
Chair, Scrutiny Panel 1 – Homelessness and Rough Sleeping 
 

Acknowledgements to all those who took part in the Review: - 

 Councillor Zoe Smith (Deputy Chair); Councillors Sally Beardsworth, Jane Birch and Gareth 
Eales who sat with me on this Review. 

 Ian Bates, co-optee, for bringing his expertise and knowledge to this Review  

 From Northampton Borough Council: 
Councillor Anna King, Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Safety 
Councillor Mike Hallam, Cabinet Member for Environment 
Councillor Stephen Hibbert, Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing 
Vicki Rockall, Community Engagement and Community Safety Manager 
Emma Forbes, Housing Options and Advice Manager 

 Rich Tompkins, Detective Chief Inspector, within Public Protection, Northants Police,  

 Robin Burgess, Chief Executive, Hope Centre 

 Tara Scarth, Client Services Manager, Hope Centre  

 Steve Jones, Northampton Jesus Fellowship  

 Chris Luke, Midland Heart for providing information to inform this Scrutiny Review 

 Officers and staff for making members of the Scrutiny Panel so welcome when it visited as 
part of the Site Visits 

 Various individuals that spoke about their experiences when homeless and/or rough sleeping 

 Members of the public who attending meetings of the Scrutiny Panel:   
Thomas Appleyard, David Howard, David Huffadine-Smith, Mary Huffadine-Smith, Toby 
Birch, Dagmar King, Morcea Walker, Richard Johnson and Street Pastors. 

 

` 

35



 3 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
 
The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to review the way in which the Council and 
its partners engage with rough sleepers, consider the best way in which ‘Housing 
First’ can be used to reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and understand the 
nature and extent of ‘hidden homelessness’ and how it can best be addressed. 
  
                    Key Lines of Enquiry 
  

 To gain an understanding of why people sleep rough 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and extent of rough 
sleeping in the borough, the impact that rough sleeping has on 
the health, safety and life expectancy of people who are 
sleeping rough, and the implications for safeguarding and 
community safety. 

 To gain an understanding of the work that is currently being 
undertaken by Northampton Borough Council (NBC) and local 
groups, services and organisations to engage with rough 
sleepers 

 To consider the effectiveness of the action that is being taken 
(by NBC and local groups, services and organisations) to help 
people who are sleeping rough to come off the streets 

 To gain an understanding of the ‘Housing First’ model and 
consider how best it could be used to reduce rough sleeping in 
the borough 

 To gain an understanding of the nature and extent of ‘hidden 
homelessness’ in the borough, including the profile of the 
people affected and what contact (if any) they have had with 
NBC, Northampton Partnership Homes or local advice agencies 

 To explore various ways of connecting with, and engaging with, 
harder to reach groups 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 
provided for young people, between the age of 16-25, including 
care leavers 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 
provided for ex-Offenders 

 To understand how data, statistics and demographics are 
gathered and used to meet the needs of rough sleepers, men 
and women, who are homeless 

 
 

Following approval of its work programme for 2018/2019, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in April 2018 commissioned Scrutiny Panel 1 to 
undertake the review – Homelessness and Rough Sleepers.   An in-depth review 
commenced in May 2018 and concluded in May 2019. 
 
A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Cathrine Russell (Chair); 
Councillor Zoe Smith (Deputy Chair); Councillors Sally Beardsworth, Jane Birch, 
Gareth Eales, Ian Bates, Umbrella Faire, was co-opted to the review. 
This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly corporate priority 
2- Safer Communities (Making you feel safe and secure.) 
 

36



 4 

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 
 
5.1.1  The Scrutiny Panel realised that homelessness is a complex problem.   

There is a need for a targeted approach to entrenched rough sleepers.  The 
Council has made a successful bid for rough sleeper funding which will 
expand the outreach service and employ one mental health worker to the 
team 

 

5.1.2 Hidden homelessness is difficult to identify and quantify, but Officers, do 
have an idea of the types of people who needed to use the winter 
shelter.  There is a need for wider support for females who are homeless.  

 

5.1.3 It was emphasised that people coming out of prison need homes.  Prisons 
have a Duty to Refer (under the Homeless Reduction Act) to housing 
service,  and Northampton’s Housing Services is hoping to be able to make 
better links with prisons with the recruitment of the additional officer. 

 

5.1.4 The Scrutiny Panel was pleased that the Night Shelter is making a real and 
lasting difference to the hundreds of people who have stayed there. 
However, it is not the only housing option available to people who are 
sleeping rough and it is unreasonable to expect the Night Shelter to meet 
everyone’s housing and support needs, irrespective of the risk they pose 
and their level of engagement. 

 

5.1.5 There is a need for more bed spaces in accommodation in the town for 
homeless women. Women are able to stay at Oasis House but not at the 
Night Shelter. There are a lot of women who are “hidden homeless”.  

5.1.6 The Scrutiny Panel noted that there is a men’s refuge in Kettering. The 
majority of men at this refuges have been subject to honour abuse.  There 
is a need for more refuges for both men and women across the country. 

 

5.1.7 The Scrutiny Panel was concerned about the psychological impact that 
rough sleeping has on individuals.   

  

5.1.8 Evidence gathered demonstrated that getting agencies to work together in 
respect of homelessness and rough sleeping is essential.  

 

5.1.9 There is a need for all Agencies to share data that they hold in respect of 
homeless people and rough sleepers.  Post-Unitary, it would be useful for 
discussions to be held regarding the sharing of data to all agencies. 

 

37



 5 

5.1.10 The Scrutiny Panel was concerned about homeless people who had no 
recourse to public funds and felt that investigations could be undertaken to 
ascertain if public donations could be used to fund rent for three months for 
those homeless people (mainly East European) who are not eligible for 
benefits but would be considered by NAASH if the rent was guaranteed. 

5.1.11 Rough sleepers have clear needs and often have barriers to re-housing, for 
example rent arrears, anti-social behaviour.  

5.1.12 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that access to mental health service is at 
point of crisis; there needs to be proactive access with all those involved in 
support and treatment.  There is a need to find the cause of the crisis.  It is 
crucial that intervention takes place as early as possible.  All services need 
to play an active part.  Rough sleepers with mental health problems need to 
get treatment quickly. 

5.1.13 There is a need to extend Oasis House.  Currently there are 48 units at 
Oasis House.   There is also a need for a nightshelter that is able to 
accommodate women and men.  The Scrutiny Panel noted that, although 
women have longer life span than men, this is reversed in rough sleeping 
situations. 

 

5.1.14 The Scrutiny Panel  suggested that in respect of preparing for independent 
living – there are units that are “step down” units that have their own utility 
meters, and are unfurnished, the purpose of these is for ex-rough sleepers 
to gain skills to succeed.  There is a need for more step down services. 

5.1.15 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that   tackling  entrenched rough 
sleepers is extremely challenging, especially where rough sleeping 
communities have become established.  A multi-faceted approach is 
needed.  Often communities are forming around drug use. It was felt that 
there may be charitable agencies that people are willing to engage with.  All 
need to work together. 

5.1.16 Housing First will work with complex customers and provide in-depth 
support.   Midland Heart operates a small Housing First service.  There 
have been successes in other counties with Housing First.  The Scrutiny 
Panel is very keen for Housing First to be part of the solution in 
Northampton.   There would however be so much to consider to make sure 
it works. 

 

5.1.17 The Scrutiny Panel was pleased to note there are multiple pathways, for 
example, specialist domestic violence services.   

 

5.1.18 The Scrutiny Panel realised that the rough sleepers count has such strict 
boundaries, NBC’s is comprehensive 12am – 3 am.   The winter shelter 
shows a wider picture – it also prevented them from rough sleeping for 
people who stayed a few nights and were then not seen again. 

 

5.1.19 The Scrutiny Panel noted the need to recruit staff to manage temporary 
accommodation and ‘free up’ the social lettings agency staff to focus on 
private rented accommodation. 

 

38



 6 

5.1.20 From the site visits undertaken, the Scrutiny Panel concluded that: 
 

 The Hope Centre has good working relations with a number of 

organisations. 

 The majority of clients to the Hope Centre have mental health issues. 

 The Hope Centre is extremely well used but the Scrutiny Panel was 

concerned that there is a lack of provision for homeless people 

during the hours of 1pm and 9pm when the Night Shelter opens. 

 Often women who come to the refuge are “drawn to a bad boy”.  

There is a real need for early prevention and the Scrutiny Panel 

welcomed the support and advice given to the women by the Support 

Workers. 

 There is a lack of supported temporary accommodation locally, 

similar to that offered by Emmaus. The Emmaus village is extremely 

well run and provided a welcoming environment. The aim of the 

village is to give companions self-respect, something to do, 

somewhere to live, and it was highlighted that this ethos really works.   

 The work undertaken by the Bridge Project was welcomed and noted 

the value that it provided to its Members was realised. 

 

5.1.21 The Scrutiny Panel felt that there needed to be a Social Media Strategy in 
place as it was realised that a lot of mis-information can be put on social 
media.  Housing and Wellbeing, Northampton Borough Council, has an 
information page on the Council’s Web Page. 

 

5.1.22 The Scrutiny Panel agreed that there is a need to tell people not to give 
money to those begging – there is a need to get the message out to the 
public.  From public’s perspective, they see it as a housing issue.  

 

 
             RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 
The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was  to review the way in which the Council and 

its partners engage with rough sleepers, consider the best way in which 
‘Housing First’ can be used to reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and 
understand the nature and extent of ‘hidden homelessness’ and how it can 
best be addressed. 

  
          Key Lines of Enquiry 
  

 To gain an understanding of why people sleep rough 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and extent of rough 
sleeping in the borough, the impact that rough sleeping has on 
the health, safety and life expectancy of people who are 

39



 7 

sleeping rough, and the implications for safeguarding and 
community safety. 

 To gain an understanding of the work that is currently being 
undertaken by Northampton Borough Council (NBC) and local 
groups, services and organisations to engage with rough 
sleepers 

 To consider the effectiveness of the action that is being taken 
(by NBC and local groups, services and organisations) to help 
people who are sleeping rough to come off the streets 

 To gain an understanding of the ‘Housing First’ model and 
consider how best it could be used to reduce rough sleeping in 
the borough 

 To gain an understanding of the nature and extent of ‘hidden 
homelessness’ in the borough, including the profile of the 
people affected and what contact (if any) they have had with 
NBC, Northampton Partnership Homes or local advice agencies 

 To explore various ways of connecting with, and engaging with, 
harder to reach groups 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 
provided for young people, between the age of 16-25, including 
care leavers  NB: this age bracket is now 16-35. 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 
provided for ex-Offenders 

 To understand how data, statistics and demographics are 
gathered and used to meet the needs of rough sleepers, men 
and women, who are homeless 

 
             Scrutiny Panel 1 therefore recommends to Cabinet that: 

6.1.1     The Housing First model is introduced by the Council. 
       6.1.2 Additional bed spaces are provided to meet the needs of homeless 

women in the borough. 

 
      6.1.3 Housing solutions are found for homeless people (mainly East 

European) who are not eligible for benefits and are therefore unable 
to access settled housing. 

 
6.1.4 Northampton’s Rough Sleepers’ Strategy is refreshed (with the 

meaningful involvement of local Agencies) to reflect the current 
homelessness situation. 

 

6.1.5 A Plan is developed for strengthening equal relationships and 
partnership working between the Council, partners, organisations 
and the Voluntary Sector. 

 

 6.1.6 A social media strategy is developed to ensure that the Council is 
able to provide members of the public with accurate information 
about homelessness, rough sleeping and what is being done to 
tackle it.   

 

40



 8 

   6.1.7  A multi- Agency publicity campaign (supported by an `alternative 
giving` scheme and information about how people can help homeless 
people) is developed to discourage members of the public from 
giving money to people who are begging.  

6.1.8 A copy of this report is issued to all Councillors within the other 
sovereign Councils of the proposed West Northamptonshire Unitary 
Authority – Daventry District Council, Northamptonshire County 
Council and South Northants Council. The report is also shared with 
Councillors of the proposed North Northamptonshire Unitary 
Authority. 

 

6.1.9 The Council considers updating its recruitment Policy to include a 
commitment to interview of all people who have personal experience 
of rough sleeping” if they meet the essential criteria in the person 
specification. 

 

6.1.10 Mental health and psychology professionals are consulted on the 
new homelessness and rough sleeping strategy. 

 

6.1.11         Whilst acknowledging data protection constraints, an integrated 
system, hosted by Housing and Wellbeing that can be used by all 
relevant Agencies, is explored by the proposed West 
Northamptonshire Unitary Authority.   

 
                     Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
6.1.12      The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring   

regime, reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 
 

41



9 

 

‘NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Report of Scrutiny Panel  1 - Homelessness and Rough Sleepers 

  

1 Purposes 

1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to review the way in which the 

Council and its partners engage with rough sleepers, consider the best 

way in which ‘Housing First’ can be used to reduce rough sleeping in 

the borough, and understand the nature and extent of ‘hidden 

homelessness’ and how it can best be addressed. 

  
                    Key Lines of Enquiry 
  

 To gain an understanding of why people sleep rough 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and extent of rough 
sleeping in the borough, the impact that rough sleeping has on the 
health, safety and life expectancy of people who are sleeping 
rough, and the implications for safeguarding and community 
safety. 

 To gain an understanding of the work that is currently being 
undertaken by Northampton Borough Council (NBC) and local 
groups, services and organisations to engage with rough sleepers 

 To consider the effectiveness of the action that is being taken (by 
NBC and local groups, services and organisations) to help people 
who are sleeping rough to come off the streets 

 To gain an understanding of the ‘Housing First’ model and 
consider how best it could be used to reduce rough sleeping in 
the borough 

 To gain an understanding of the nature and extent of ‘hidden 
homelessness’ in the borough, including the profile of the people 
affected and what contact (if any) they have had with NBC, 
Northampton Partnership Homes or local advice agencies 

 To explore various ways of connecting with, and engaging with, 
harder to reach groups 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 
provided for young people, between the age of 16-25, including 
care leavers 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 
provided for ex-Offenders 

 To understand how data, statistics and demographics are 
gathered and used to meet the needs of rough sleepers, men and 
women, who are homeless 

 

42



10 

 

1.2  A copy of the scope of the Review is attached at Appendix A. 
 
 
2  Context and Background     

2.1 Following approval of its work programme for 2018/2019, the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in April 2018 commissioned 

Scrutiny Panel 1 to undertake the review – Homelessness and Rough 

Sleepers.   An in-depth review commenced in May 2018 and concluded 

in May 2019. 

2.2 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Cathrine 

Russell (Chair); Councillor Zoe Smith (Deputy Chair); Councillors Sally 

Beardsworth, Jane Birch, Gareth Eales, Ian Bates, Umbrella Faire, was 

co-opted to the review. 

2.3 This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 

corporate priority 2- Safer Communities (Making you feel safe and 

secure.) 

2.4 The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be 

investigated and linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate 

priorities: 

  3 Evidence Collection 

 

3.1 Evidence was collected from a variety of sources: 

3.2                Background reports and information 

                     Presentation to set the scene    

    Rough sleeper engagement 

     Homelessness in Northampton 

    Housing First 

    Tackling Hidden Homelessness 

Ø    Relevant national and local background research papers 

Ø    Definitions –  Rough Sleepers, homeless, and Hidden 

Homelessness 

Ø    Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

Ø    Barriers to housing people and maintaining successful tenancies 

43

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s56622/Rough%20Sleepers%20Homelessness%20Scrutiny%20Panel%205%20July%202018%20002.pdf


11 

 

Ø    Relevant Council Policies and Strategies 

Ø    Statistics: 

           Rough sleeper data 

Hidden homelessness data and information 

Homeless data, including LGBT statistics 

Ø    Relevant Legislation: 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 

Ø    Relevant published papers on homelessness and rough sleeping, 

for example Central Government’s paper – Rough Sleeping 

(England) 2018, Housing First  - A Good Practice Briefing  - 

Shelter 

Ø    HomelessLink paper https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/file
s/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf 

 

                      Best practice external to Northampton 

                      Case studies – hidden homeless and rough sleepers 

              Internal expert advisors: 

                     Ø    Cabinet Member for Housing, NBC 

Ø    Housing Options and Advice Manager, NBC 

Ø    Cabinet Member for Community Safety, NBC 

Ø    Chair of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and the 

Community Safety Team 

          External expert advisors: 

  

Ø    Head of Protecting Vulnerable Persons, Northamptonshire Police 

Ø    Director, NACRO 

Ø    Director, NAS 

Ø    Director of Public Health, Northamptonshire County Council 

44

file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/SN02007.pdf
file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/SN02007.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf


12 

 

Ø    Director, Adult Social Care, NCC (specifically in relation to ex-

Offenders) 

Ø    Director, Housing First (England) 

Ø    Manager, Hope Centre 

Ø    Service Manager, Salvation Army 

Ø    Service Manager, Jesus Army 

Ø    Chief Executive, Central Northamptonshire CAB 

Ø    Homelessness Charities such as: 

·        Shelter 

·        Crisis 

·        Joseph Rowntree Trust 

·        Big Issue 

Ø    Health Watch Northamptonshire 

Ø    Director, Maple Access Centre 

Ø    Director, SAAFA 

Ø    Skype interview, or similar, link with American organisation 

regarding the Housing First initiative 

Ø    MPs – Michael Ellis, Andrea Leadsom, Andrew Lewer 

Ø    Community Co-Chairs, all Northampton Community Forums  

Ø    Representative of the Landlords Forum 

          Site visit(s) to the Hope Centre, Women’s Refuge, Oasis House; other 

organisations that support homeless people and rough sleepers, 

Emmaus Centre in Bedford. Representatives of the Panel to 

accompany the Out Reacher Workers and attend the Rough Sleepers 

count.  Site visit to Re-Store Café. The Deputy Chair to visit 

Manchester. 

  

 SWEP and the Winter Shelter.   

Over 50 people had volunteered so far in 2019 and it had been staffed 

by an NBC Officer. The Winter Shelter had opened on 17 January 2019 

45



13 

 

and had closed on the morning of 24 January 2019.  During this 7 day 

period, 58 people had used the facility. Patterns of use will be recorded 

and monitored.  

More volunteers are needed and it was hoped that the Winter Shelter 
might operate as an all-weather Winter Shelter from February until 31 
March 2019. 

  
3.3     Published Papers 

 There are a number of published academic, Governmental and think-tank 

journals that explore the causes and effects of homelessness and rough 

sleeping which were   presented to the Scrutiny Panel over a series of 

meetings for its information: 

  
 

 Rough Sleeping (England) 2018, Housing First  - A Good 
Practice Briefing  - Shelter 
 HomelessLink paper 
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-
attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf 
 

Rough Sleeping (England) 2018, Housing First  - A Good Practice 

Briefing   - Shelter 

 
The briefing note reports that the Housing First Model was developed in the 

United Stated and has demonstrated high degrees of success in both housing 

and supporting those who are chronically street homeless, with multiple and 

complex needs.  It goes on to state that it is founded on the principle of 

housing being a basic human right and provides permanent accommodation 

for people straight from the street.  The model has no preconditions of 

addressing wider social care and support needs. 

 

 The summary of the briefing states: 

 

“As is evident from research to date, no single model of housing and support is 
likely to be effective for all homeless people with complex needs. Shelter has 
previously called for the consideration and development of new approaches. 

The purpose of this briefing is not to advocate for any single model, but to 
examine the potential for the housing first approach to complement existing 
provision in the UK.” 

 The briefing paper reports: 

 

“The housing first model operates by taking account of two key 

convictions: 

 

1. housing is a basic human right, not a reward for clinical success  

46

file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/SN02007.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf
file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/SN02007.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing


14 

 

2. once the chaos of homelessness is eliminated from a person’s life, 

clinical and social stabilisation occur faster and are more enduring.12  

 

There are a range of different housing first programmes operating 

across the US, which are underpinned by the following common 

principles. Immediate (or relatively immediate), permanent 

accommodation is provided to service users directly from the streets, 

without the requirement of assessed housing readiness. This is 

achieved by the housing first agency leasing private sector tenancies 

and renting these on to service users. This allows the agency to control 

access to housing and ensure it is targeted at the most vulnerable and 

complex cases. Typically these are people with mental health and/or 

substance use problems, who may not have alternative options or have 

not benefited from the traditional staircase approach. Tenancies are 

usually obtained and allocated on a scatter-site basis to avoid 

concentrations in any single locality.” 

 

The briefing paper provides examples of the Housing First Model being 

presented in the UK, including: 

 

“The housing first model presents a particularly innovative use of the 

private rented sector at a time when increasing emphasis is being 

placed upon its use for households in housing need in the UK.14 

Furthermore, although it is still primarily a US initiative, elements of the 

model do exist in the UK.” 

 

“Action Housing and Support Ltd, Derbyshire  

 

Action’s floating support services in Chesterfield, Bolsover, and North 

East Derbyshire, target substance users and people with offending 

backgrounds. It provides cross-tenure support to local authority, 

registered social landlord (RSL), and private sector tenants, in addition 

to owner occupiers. Generally, the service prioritises and focuses on 

people that tend to fall between other services due to the extent or 

complexity of their needs, such as substance users who have 

underlying mental health problems. Few referrals are refused and 

Action works with service users whose dependencies range from 

current and active use to those who are now drug/alcohol free. 

 

While Action does not control the housing of service users, it can 

provide support for up to two years (with some flexibility for extension). 

Service users who have left the scheme can be re-referred if difficulties 

arise. The scheme has achieved notable success; in each of the last 

47



15 

 

three years, more than 90 per cent of people who have left the 

programme have maintained independent living.” 

 

“BCHA, Bridge Project, Exeter  

 

This project was developed as part of a strategic approach to address 

homelessness within the city, particularly that of long-term, repeat 

street sleepers. Exeter City Council commissioned BCHA as the 

support provider, Signpost Care Partnership as the housing provider, 

and Street Homeless Outreach Team as the referral agency. The 

organisations work in partnership in order to provide secure 

accommodation with high levels of support to homeless people directly 

from the streets. Typically, service users have multiple and complex 

needs and previous conventional methods have failed to resolve their 

homelessness. The accommodation is made up of a mixture of 

dispersed shared and single RSL flats, with current capacity to support 

service users. The accommodation is not permanent, but let for up to 

two years, providing long-term settled accommodation with the 

potential to move on to permanent social housing. The flats can 

accommodate single men, women, and couples, including those with 

pets. Access to support is available between 8am and 6pm five days a 

week, but can be provided seven days a week if service users require. 

The support is funded through a Supporting People contract. BCHA are 

keen to progress and develop the model in other areas. The 

organisation has considerable experience in managing private sector 

leasing stock and there is significant potential for developments in this 

area. “ 

 

The briefing concludes that  “Housing first programmes have expanded 

markedly in the US, based on a growing evidence base of effectiveness 

in providing more permanent solutions to the needs of homeless people 

with multiple and complex needs. Elements of the approach are 

present in the UK, and achieving some success. However, in order to 

realise the opportunities the model may present, and support in its 

wider adoption, a similar evidence base will be required in the UK. No 

single model will be appropriate for everyone and research and 

evaluation will need to identify for whom this approach may be most 

appropriate and effective. It will also need to identify potential cost 

benefit savings across a range of health, social care and support 

services to build the multi-disciplinary partnerships that will be required 

to meet the needs of homeless people with multiple and complex 

needs.” 

 

48



16 

 

 A copy of the full briefing paper can be located. 

 

HomelessLink – Support for Single Homeless People In England (Annual 

Review 2017) 

 

 The Executive Summary of the Report states: 

 

“For the past ten years, Homeless Link has produced an annual review 

of the support that is available to single homeless people. These 

reports provide crucial evidence on the homelessness sector and the 

people it supports and are the only data source of their kind available 

on homelessness services in England. This report outlines findings 

from five key data sources, including survey data provided by 

accommodation providers and day centres across England. The 

findings provide a detailed overview of the nature and availability of key 

services for single homeless people.  

 

Trends in single homelessness  

 

• Approximately 200,000 single people experience homelessness in 

England each year. 

• An average of 77,000 single people are estimated to experience 

some form of homelessness on any one night.  

• Between April 2016 and March 2017, 19,460 people who made a 

homelessness application in England were found to not be in priority 

need by their Local Authority and the majority of them were likely to be 

single homeless people. This represents 17% of the total number of 

households making a homelessness application.  

• In 2017, a total of 4,751 people were estimated to be sleeping rough 

in England on any given night, which represents an increase of 15% 

since 2016.  

 

Availability of homelessness services  

 

o There are currently 1,121 accommodation projects for 

single homeless people in England.  

o A total of 196 day centres currently operate throughout 

England.  

o Homeless England data identifies a reduction in both the 

number of accommodation projects (-5%) and the number 

of day centres (-8%) in the past year.  

o The number of bed spaces has decreased by 3% in the 

past year, and now stands at 34,497 in total.  

49

http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/145853/GP_Briefing_Housing_First.pdf


17 

 

o 39% of the responding accommodation providers 

reported a decrease in funding, with 38% reporting no 

change in funding over the past 12 months. 15% reported 

an increase in funding.  

 

Delivery of services  

 

o Accommodation providers and day centres provide a wide 

variety of services to address individuals’ needs, and 

respondents rarely reported that services are completely 

unavailable. 

o People who are homeless face difficulties in accessing 

mental health services.  

o Services provided in-house on an organisation’s premises 

are less likely to have barriers to access than services 

provided via formal referral to external services.  

 

Outcomes, move on and service development  

 

o Among accommodation projects, the level of resident 

engagement is highest for money management activities 

and for meaningful activities such as sports or art groups.  

o Accommodation providers were most likely to report 

homelessness prevention as their main outcome.  

o 74% of accommodation providers continue to support 

individuals after they move on from their services.  

o People accessing accommodation services face 

significant structural barriers to moving on. Lack of 

affordable accommodation is the main barrier.” 

 

 A copy of the full report can be located.  

 

 Published academic, Governmental and think-tank journals 

 There are a number of published academic, Governmental and think-

tank journals that explore the causes and effects of homelessness and 

rough sleeping including: 

  

 House of Commons Library – Briefing Paper (23 February 2018) 
Rough Sleeping (England) 

 

50

https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf


18 

 

 Crisis – Ending Rough Sleeping: What Works?  An international 
evidence review 

 

 CJS – Housing First – Housing Led Solutions to Rough Sleeping 
and Homelessness (March 2017) 

 

 
House of Commons Library – Briefing Paper (23 February 2018) 
Rough Sleeping (England) 
 

The Summary of the Briefing Note details: 

 

“Local authorities' duties 

Local authorities in England do not have a duty to secure 
accommodation for all homeless people.  Those who approach an 
authority for help who are deemed to be homeless but not in priority 
need, may find themselves sleeping rough.  Rough sleepers are one of 
the most vulnerable groups in society; studies have found strong 
correlations between homelessness and a multiplicity, and increased 
severity, of both physical and mental health conditions. Rough sleepers 
are over 9 times more likely to commit suicide than the general 
population; on average rough sleepers die at age 47 (age 43 for 
women). 

Government initiatives 

Successive Governments have put in place initiatives to tackle rough 
sleeping.  The Rough Sleepers Initiative operated between 1990 and 
1999 until it was replaced by Labour’s Homelessness Action 
Programme. Over the years some ambitious targets have been set; for 
example, Labour set a target in 1999 to achieve a two thirds reduction 
in rough sleeping by 2002. No One Left Out (Labour, 2008) set a target 
of ending rough sleeping “once and for all” by 2012. 
 
Crisis commissioned the Centre for Housing Policy at the University of 
York to conduct a review of single homelessness in the UK between 
2000 and 2010. The study, A review of single homelessness in the 
UK,  (2011) provides an overview of the history, causes and policy 
responses to single homelessness, and assesses how successful 
these policies have been in tackling the issue. The study suggested 
some policy responses for the next decade. 
 
The Conservative Government elected in 2015 continued with the 
approach initiated under the Coalition. This No Second Night 
Out approach was piloted in London. A key aim was to ensure that no-

51

https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN07121
http://www.developpement-durable.gouv.fr/IMG/uk_endingroughsleeping.pdf
http://www.crisis.org.uk/data/files/publications/ReviewOfSingleHomelessness_Final.pdf
http://www.crisis.org.uk/data/files/publications/ReviewOfSingleHomelessness_Final.pdf
http://www.nosecondnightout.org.uk/about-nsno/
http://www.nosecondnightout.org.uk/about-nsno/


19 

 

one new to the streets sleeps out for a second night.  A Ministerial 
Working Group was established to prevent and reduce homelessness. 
 
The current Government was elected with a manifesto commitment to 
“halve rough sleeping over the course of the parliament and eliminate it 
altogether by 2027”by setting up a new homelessness reduction 
taskforce to focus on prevention and affordable housing and by piloting 
a Housing First approach to tackle rough sleeping. The Government 
also supported Bob Blackman’s Homelessness Reduction Act 
2017 which will place additional duties on local authorities in England to 
prevent and relieve homeless for all eligible applicants from April 2018. 
 
Rough sleeping is still increasing 

Despite these considerable efforts, the official rough sleeper counts 
have risen in each year since new methodology was introduced in 
autumn 2010. The most recent statistics published on 25 January 2018 
recorded a 169% increase in the number of people sleeping rough in 
England since 2010. Existing programmes have recorded successes in 
helping individuals to exit rough sleeping, but the flow on to the streets 
continues. The UK Statistics Authority declared DCLG’s Rough 
Sleeping statistics to not to meet the standard to be regarded as 
National Statistics in December 2015. 
 
Rough sleeping is at its most severe in London. The latest financial 
year report from the Combined Homelessness and Information Network 
(CHAIN) database, CHAIN Street to Home Annual Report 2016-17, 
shows that a total of 8,108 rough sleepers were contacted by outreach 
workers or building-based teams in London during 2016/17. 

Factors identified as contributing to the ongoing flow of new rough 
sleepers to the streets include: welfare reforms, particularly reductions 
in entitlement to Housing Benefit/Local Housing Allowance; reduced 
investment by local authorities in homeless services; and flows of non-
UK nationals who are unable to access benefits. 

Organisations working in the sector have called for an effective safety 
net and a long-term homelessness strategy backed by investment to 
deliver it. Some organisations support legislation to extend the priority 
need categories to cover all homeless people, an approach already 
adopted in Scotland.  In December 2017, the Public Accounts 
Committee published a report which criticised the Government’s 
approach to rising homelessness: 

The Department for Communities and Local Government’s attitude to 
reducing homelessness has been unacceptably complacent. The 
limited action that it has taken has lacked the urgency that is so badly 
needed and its “light touch” approach to working with the local 
authorities tackling homelessness has clearly failed. 

52

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/minutes-of-the-ministerial-working-group-on-preventing-and-tackling-homelessness
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/minutes-of-the-ministerial-working-group-on-preventing-and-tackling-homelessness
https://files.datapress.com/london/dataset/chain-reports/2017-06-30T09:03:07.84/Greater%20London%20full%202016-17.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubacc/462/462.pdf


20 

 

The Department is placing great reliance on the new Homelessness 
Reduction Act to provide the solution to homelessness. 

While this new legislation will no doubt help, it cannot be successful 
unless it is matched by a renewed focus across government on tackling 
the twin issues of both the supply and affordability of decent housing, 
which underlie the causes of homelessness.” 

  A copy of the full Report can be located. 

Crisis – Ending Rough Sleeping: What Works?  An international 
evidence review 

 
 The Summary of the Report states: 
 

“Ending rough sleeping: what works? An international evidence review 
(2017) 

This study demonstrates what works to end homelessness for rough sleepers 

through an international evidence review. The ongoing need for people to 

sleep rough on the streets of the UK is indicative of an unacceptable societal 

failure and recent homelessness projections suggest that the scale of the 

issue is worsening. Ending rough sleeping is an increasing policy priority 

across the UK. Crisis commissioned Cardiff University and Heriot-Watt 

University to undertake an international evidence review of what works to end 

rough sleeping. 

Key findings: 

Through analysis of over 500 published studies and interviews with eleven 

homelessness experts around the world, the review found that current 

approaches to address rough sleeping are not as effective as they might (and 

need) to be. The development of an improved approach to ending 

homelessness must of course incorporate the views of rough sleepers and 

those who work with them, and take into account homelessness prevention, 

but the learning from this evidence review can play a key role in shaping a 

new approach. It suggests five key principles should underpin this approach: 

1. Recognise heterogeneity – of individual rough sleepers’ housing and 
support needs and their different entitlements to publicly funded 
support. Local housing markets and rough sleeper population profiles 
will also vary across the UK. 

2. Take swift action – to prevent or quickly end street homelessness, 
through interventions such as No Second Night Out (NSNO), thereby 

53

file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/SN02007%20(2).pdf


21 

 

reducing the number of rough sleepers who develop complex needs 
and potentially become entrenched. 

3. Employ assertive outreach leading to a suitable accommodation offer –
 by actively identifying and reaching out to rough sleepers and offering 
suitable accommodation. 

4. Be housing-led – offering swift access to settled housing including the 
use of Housing First 

5. Offer person-centred support and choice – via a client-centred 
approach based on cross-sector collaboration and commissioning. 
Personalised Budgets are a good example of this. 

In the UK there is both an opportunity and a need for change in the way rough 

sleepers are assisted. The findings presented from this review should be used 

alongside the wider body of work being undertaken by Crisis with rough 

sleepers and those who work with them, to shape an improved approach and 

end rough sleeping. Moreover, we hope this synthesis will provide a reference 

point for policy makers, practitioners and researchers working with rough 

sleepers across the globe.” 

  A copy of the full report can be located 
 
  CJS – Housing First – Housing Led Solutions to Rough Sleeping and 

Homelessness (March 2017) 
 
  It is reported that the Centre for Social Justice, that was established in 2004 is 

an independent think-tank that studies the root causes of Britain’s social 
problems and addresses them by recommending practical, workable policy 
interventions. The CSJ’s vision is to give people in the UK who are 
experiencing the worst multiple disadvantages and injustices every possible 
opportunity to reach their full potential. 

 
  The Executive Summary of its report “Housing First – Housing Led Solutions 

to Rough Sleeping and Homelessness (March 2017)”: 
 

“Homelessness is a devastating experience. It can trigger and exacerbate 
problems, from substance misuse to mental health conditions, and destabilise 
families and support networks. And the effects can last a lifetime; children 
who experience homelessness are much more likely to experience 
homelessness as adults. This cycle must be broken. But over the last six 
years, the number of people experiencing homelessness in England has risen 
significantly. The number of households approaching their council for 
homelessness assistance has grown considerably. And at the sharpest end 
rough sleeping has increased by over 130% since 2010 to over 4,000 on any 
given night.  Throughout the course of a year, CSJ analysis has found that 
around 34,500 people might sleep rough in England. As well as the significant 
personal harm caused to individuals, the Government has estimated that the 
cost to the state is up to £1bn every year. 

54

https://www.crisis.org.uk/media/238368/ending_rough_sleeping_what_works_2017.pdf


22 

 

 
Both statutory and non-statutory responses to homelessness are too often 
predicated on crisis, with less focus on prevention interventions. For many 
people with complex needs they often fail to qualify for statutory assistance, 
but are turned away from hostel accommodation because their needs are too 
high. Falling between the gaps of statutory and non-statutory provision they 
can find themselves with nowhere else to turn. Furthermore, a lack of access 
to affordable housing is both a key driver of homelessness and undermines 
efforts to ensure that when people find themselves in this situation they are 
quickly able to secure stable housing and get back on their feet.  
 
 
Opportunity for change  
 
While the rising number of people experiencing homelessness, especially 
rough sleeping, is of significant concern, and has provided an impetus for this 
report, it is still well within our capability to resolve this issue. The Government 
has already made a strong commitment to do this, which is warmly welcomed 
by the CSJ. This report provides a detailed plan on how this ambition can be 
achieved. 

 
With strong political will and robust evaluation of the services we deliver, there 
is great potential to ensure that local authorities and government departments 
work in a smarter, more efficient way to end homelessness. This report will 
emphasise the need to move towards a housing led approach to ending 
homelessness, with a specific focus on scaling up Housing First provision for 
people with multiple and complex needs. The Government has a significant 
and realisable opportunity to end homelessness for this group. The move 
towards Housing First sits alongside broader recommendations in this report 
looking at preventing homelessness from occurring in the first place and 
addressing broader structural issues relating to affordable housing.  
 
Key recommendations 
 
1 Problem: Rough sleepers and people experiencing chronic homelessness 
often fall through the cracks of services. People who experience chronic 
homelessness will often not qualify as vulnerable enough for an offer of 
settled accommodation under the homelessness legislation, despite having 
high support needs such as mental health problems and addiction issues. 
Furthermore, a significant number of hostel providers report refusing people 
access to accommodation because their needs are too high.  
 
Many of these people, slipping through the gap between statutory and non-
statutory provision, are forced to sleep rough. The Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) counted over 4000 rough 
sleepers on a single night last year. 
 
Although the London CHAIN rough sleeper database recorded much higher 
numbers in the capital throughout the course of the year (8,096). For those 

55



23 

 

who do gain access to temporary hostel accommodation, they are often 
required to address issues such as substance misuse in a relatively chaotic 
and unstable environment before they can access permanent housing.  
 
Recommendation: The Government should create a new funding pot of at 
least £110 million per year to deliver a National Housing First Programme to 
end rough sleeping and chronic homelessness for people with the most 
complex needs. This programme will be cost neutral over the course of a 
parliament.  
 
There is overwhelming international evidence to support the use of Housing 
First as a housing solution for people who have multiple and complex needs. 
Housing First provides stable, independent homes alongside coordinated 
wrap-around, personalised support to homeless people. Widely adopted 
across North America and Western Europe, Housing First has formed a 
central component of successful, national homelessness strategies. Reduced 
national spending, high tenancy sustainment rates and improved health and 
wellbeing outcomes provide a compelling argument for scaling up this 
approach in England.  
 

     Problem: A lack of effective prevention work.  
 

Both statutory and non-statutory responses to homelessness are too often 
predicated on crisis and geared towards providing an emergency response. 
The homelessness legislation provides an all or nothing system of assistance, 
with certain groups receiving an offer of permanent accommodation when 
they lose their home, but very little provision for preventative interventions for 
most single people. As a result, important opportunities are missed to help 
prevent homelessness and avoid much costlier emergency responses.  
 
Recommendation: The Government should amend the homelessness 
legislation to place a greater focus on prevention work. The homelessness 
legislation in England should be amended to create new prevention and relief 
duties (following the new Welsh model). Unlike the current statutory 
assistance, these new duties would expand entitlements to a greater number 
of people. Moreover, the period that someone would be considered to be 
threatened with homelessness should be extended from 28 to 56 days. Based 
on the Welsh experience, this would help reduce the numbers of people for 
whom local authorities are required to make an offer of permanent 
accommodation and house in expensive temporary accommodation.  
 
Recommendation: The Government should set up a Prime Ministerial 
Taskforce to embed housing and homelessness strategies across 
government departments to better prevent and end homelessness. Preventing 
homelessness requires a cross-government approach. Homelessness policy 
sits within DCLG, but is heavily influenced by a number of other departments 
(including, for example, the Treasury, Department for Work and Pensions, the 
Department of Health, the Ministry of Justice and the Department for 
Education) which are often much more likely to be in contact with someone 

56



24 

 

when they are at risk of, but have not yet become homeless. The Taskforce 
should have the very clear objective of developing and embedding housing 
and homelessness prevention strategies across these departments. A Prime 
Ministerial Taskforce would provide the level of authority and accountability 
required to be effective. This report outlines specific interventions that various 
departments should take to prevent homelessness for groups of people at risk 
of homelessness, including care leavers and prison leavers.  
 
Recommendation: DCLG should support and help facilitate the expansion of 
a CHAIN style database to other parts of England. This should focus 
particularly on cities with growing numbers of rough sleepers where street 
outreach teams operate. 
 
Problem: A lack of access to affordable housing undermines efforts to 
tackle homelessness.  
While the private rented sector is now playing a much more significant role in 
housing for those on the lowest incomes, the loss of a private rented home is 
the leading cause of homelessness.  Private landlords are becoming 
increasingly more reluctant to let to tenants in receipt of Housing Benefit and 
those who have experienced homelessness, therefore limiting access to 
affordable housing. Furthermore, social landlords are imposing stricter 
affordability criteria on tenants, which often serves as a barrier to those on the 
lowest incomes. 
 
Recommendation: The Government should boost investment in low cost 
rental accommodation. This would help provide affordable housing for 
households on very low incomes, reducing their risk of homelessness and 
ensuring that when episodes of homelessness do occur, they are brief and 
non-recurrent.  
 
Recommendation: While the CSJ strongly supports the Government’s 
welfare reform agenda, there are adjustments that could be made to help 
improve and increase the supply of housing for people who are homeless. 
This report sets out how a further set of exemptions from the Shared 
Accommodation Rate, a more personalised response to benefit conditionality 
for people who are homeless or are at risk of homelessness, and better 
access to Alternative Payment Arrangements for people moving onto 
Universal Credit could help prevent people from losing accommodation. 
These measures would encourage landlords to let to tenants in receipt of 
Housing Benefit or Universal Credit, further boosting affordable housing 
supply for people who have experienced homelessness.  
 
Recommendation: The Government should support social lettings agencies 
to improve access into the private rented sector and ensure that people can 
be rapidly rehoused if they face homelessness.  
 
Social lettings agencies should support people who are homeless or 
threatened with homelessness to create and sustain tenancies in the private 
rented sector. These letting agencies have shown clear value for money, 

57



25 

 

helping people rapidly exit homelessness and achieving high tenancy 
sustainment levels.” 

 
     A copy of the full report can be located. 

 
3.4      Relevant Legislation 

            Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

  The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 became an Act on 27 April 2017.  It 

adds two new duties to the original statutory rehousing duty: 

 Duty to prevent homelessness 

 Duty to relieve homelessness  

 Homelesslink has summarised the key measures in the Act that 

include: 

 “An extension of the period during which an authority should treat 
someone as threatened with homelessness from 28 to 56 days, 
and clarification of the action an authority should take when 
someone applies for assistance having been served with a 
section 8 (1) or section 21 (2) notice. These provisions represent 
a shift in focus to early intervention, and aim to encourage local 
housing authorities to act quickly and proactively, addressing 
some concerns that some previously only intervened at crisis 
point. 

 A new duty to prevent homelessness for all eligible applicants 
threatened with homelessness, regardless of priority need. This 
extends the help available to people not in priority need, with local 
housing authorities supporting them to either stay in their 
accommodation or help them find somewhere to live and should 
mean fewer households reach a crisis situation. 

 A new duty to relieve homelessness for all eligible homeless 
applicants, regardless of priority need. This help could be, for 
example, the provision of a rent deposit or debt advice. Those 
who have a priority need will be provided with interim 
accommodation whilst the Local Housing Authority carries out the 
reasonable steps.  

 A new duty on public services to notify a local authority if they 
come into contact with someone they think may be homeless or at 
risk of becoming homeless. It is hoped that this measure will 
ensure that a person’s housing situation is considered when they 
come into contact with wider public services, and encourage 
public services to build strong relationships based on local need 
and circumstances.” 

 

58

https://www.centreforsocialjustice.org.uk/core/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/CSJJ5157_Homelessness_report_070317_WEB.pdf


26 

 

  A copy of the Act can be located. 

 The Health and Social Care Act 2012 

 The LGA has summarised the Act: 

The Act is in 12 parts: Part 1 sets out a framework which confers NHS 

functions directly on the organisations responsible for exercising those 

functions, while retaining a general duty on the SoS for Health (SoS) to 

promote a comprehensive health service. It also gives local government a 

new set of duties to protect and improve public health. Part 1 also establishes 

a new non-departmental public body, the NHS Commissioning Board 

(NHSCB), makes provision for the establishment of Clinical Commissioning 

Groups (CCGs), contains measures relating to the abolition of Strategic 

Health Authorities (SHAs) and Primary Care Trusts (PCTs), and amends the 

Mental Health Act 1983 and provisions relating to emergency preparedness 

and pharmaceutical services expenditure.  

Part 2 contains provisions relating to the public health service, including the 

abolition of the Health Protection Agency (HPA), functions in relation to 

biological substances and radiation protection, the repeal of the AIDS 

(Control) Act 1987, and co-operation with bodies exercising functions in 

relation to public health. 

Part 3 sets out provisions for regulation of health and adult care services in 

England and defines the role of Monitor, the sector regulator.  

Part 4 amends Chapter 5 of Part 2 of the NHS Act 2006, which makes 

provision for NHS foundation trusts, removing various restrictions on 

foundation trusts and their authorisation, removing NHS trusts as a provider 

model (i.e. preventing foundation trusts from being returned to NHS trust 

status) and setting out Monitor’s role in relation to arrangements in respect of 

failing trusts. It also sets out new arrangements for the governance, financing 

and accounting of foundation trusts.  

Part 5 provides for the creation of a new national body, Healthwatch England 

(HWE), to be established as a statutory committee within the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC). It also makes provision about Local Healthwatch (LH) 

organisations in each local authority area. Part 5 also deals with the health 

scrutiny functions of local authorities and makes provision for the 

establishment of health and wellbeing boards (HWBs) in each upper tier local 

authority area, setting out their role. It also provides for foundation trusts and 

CCGs to be designated as Care Trusts and removes certain restrictions on 

those to whom the Health Service Ombudsman can report.  

59

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted


27 

 

Part 6 amends the NHS Act in relation to medical, dental, ophthalmic and 

pharmaceutical services following the creation of the NHSCB, CCGs and the 

public health service.  

Part 7 makes changes to the regulation of health and social care workers, 

abolishing the General Social Care Council (GSCC) and transferring some of 

its functions to the Health Professions Council (HPC). It also abolishes the 

Office of the Health Professions Adjudicator (OHPA).  

Part 8 re-establishes the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence 

(NICE) as a non-departmental public body and sets out aspects of its role.  

Part 9 relates to the publication of information standards and the collection of 

information from providers of health and social care services.  

Part 10 abolishes the Alcohol Education and Research Council, the 

Appointments Commission, the National Information Governance Board for 

Health and Social Care, the National Patient Safety Agency and the NHS 

Institute for Innovation and Improvement.  

Part 11 contains miscellaneous provisions, including duties for bodies to co-

operate, arrangements with devolved authorities, supervised community 

treatment and transfer schemes.  

Part 12 covers technical matters, including regulatory powers and 

commencement matters. 

  A copy of the full Act can be located. 

 Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities 

Central Government has provided a summary of the homelessness legislation 

and the duties, powers and obligations on housing authorities and others 

towards people who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. It does not form 

part of the statutory code of guidance. 

“The homelessness legislation 
 

The primary homelessness legislation – that is, Part 7 of the Housing Act 

1996 – provides the statutory under-pinning for action to prevent 

homelessness and provide assistance to people threatened with or actually 

homeless. 
 

60

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/part/VII
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/part/VII


28 

 

In 2002, the government amended the homelessness legislation through 
the Homelessness Act 2002 and the Homelessness (Priority Need for 
Accommodation) (England) Order 2002 to: 

 
1. (a) ensure a more strategic approach to tackling and preventing 

homelessness, in particular by requiring a homelessness strategy for 
every housing authority district; and 

2. (b) strengthen the assistance available to people who are homeless or 
threatened with homelessness by extending the priority need 
categories to homeless 16 and 17 year olds; care leavers aged 18, 19 
and 20; people who are vulnerable as a result of time spent in care, the 
armed forces, prison or custody, and people who are vulnerable 
because they have fled their home because of violence. 

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 significantly reformed England’s 
homelessness legislation by placing duties on local authorities to intervene at 
earlier stages to prevent homelessness in their areas. It also requires housing 
authorities to provide homelessness services to all those affected, not just those 
who have ‘priority need’. These include: 

(a) an enhanced prevention duty extending the period a household is threatened 
with homelessness from 28 days to 56 days, meaning that housing authorities 
are required to work with people to prevent homelessness at an earlier stage; 
and 

(b) a new duty for those who are already homeless so that housing authorities 
will support households for 56 days to relieve their homelessness by helping 
them to secure accommodation. 

Homelessness review and strategy 

 

Under the Homelessness Act 2002, all housing authorities must have in place a 

homelessness strategy based on a review of all forms of homelessness in their 

district. The strategy must be renewed at least every 5 years. The social 

services authority must provide reasonable assistance. 

 

The strategy must set out the authority’s plans for the prevention of 

homelessness and for securing that sufficient accommodation and support are 

or will be available for people who become homeless or who are at risk of 

becoming so. 

61

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/7/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/2051/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2002/2051/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/7/contents


29 

 

Duty to refer 

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 introduced a duty on certain public 

authorities to refer service users who they think may be homeless or threatened 

with homelessness to a housing authority. The service user must give consent, 

and can choose which authority to be referred to. The housing authority should 

incorporate the duty to refer into their homelessness strategy and establish 

effective partnerships and working arrangements with agencies to facilitate 

appropriate referrals. 

Duty to provide advisory services 

The housing authority has a duty to provide advice and information about 

homelessness and the prevention of homelessness and the rights of homeless 

people or those at risk of homelessness, as well as the help that is available 

from the housing authority or others and how to access that help. The service 

should be designed with certain listed vulnerable groups in mind and authorities 

can provide it themselves or arrange for other agencies to do it on their behalf. 

Applications and inquiries 
 

Housing authorities must give proper consideration to all applications for housing 

assistance, and if they have reason to believe that an applicant may be 

homeless or threatened with homelessness, they must make inquiries to see 

whether they owe them any duty under Part 7 of the 1996 Act. This assessment 

process is important in enabling housing authorities to identify the assistance 

which an applicant may need, either to prevent them from becoming homeless, 

or to help them to find another home. In each case, the authority will need to first 

decide whether the applicant is eligible for assistance and threatened with or 

actually homeless. Certain applicants who are ‘persons from abroad’ are not 

eligible for any assistance under Part 7 except free advice and information about 

homelessness and the prevention of homelessness. 

 

Broadly speaking, a person is threatened with homelessness if they are likely to 

become homeless within 56 days. An applicant who has been served with valid 

notice under section 21 of the Housing Act 1988 to end their assured shorthold 

tenancy is also threatened with homelessness, if the notice has expired or will 

expire within 56 days and is served in respect of the only accommodation that is 

available for them to occupy. 

62

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/part/VII
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1988/50/section/21


30 

 

 

An applicant is to be considered homeless if they do not have accommodation 

that they have a legal right to occupy, which is accessible and physically 

available to them (and their household) and which it would be reasonable for 

them to continue to live in. 

Assessments and personalised housing plans 

 

Housing authorities have a duty to carry out an assessment in all cases where 

an eligible applicant is homeless or threatened with homelessness. This will 

identify what has caused the homelessness or threat of homelessness, the 

housing needs of the applicant and any support they need in order to be able to 

secure and retain accommodation. Following this assessment, the housing 

authority must work with the person to develop a personalised housing plan 

which will include actions (or ‘reasonable steps’) to be taken by the authority and 

the applicant to try and prevent or relieve homelessness. 

Prevention duty 

Housing authorities have a duty to take reasonable steps to help prevent any 

eligible person (regardless of priority need status, intentionality and whether they 

have a local connection) who is threatened with homelessness from becoming 

homeless. This means either helping them to stay in their current 

accommodation or helping them to find a new place to live before they become 

actually homeless. The prevention duty continues for 56 days unless it is 

brought to an end by an event such as accommodation being secured for the 

person, or by their becoming homeless. 

Relief duty 

If the applicant is already homeless, or becomes homeless despite activity 

during the prevention stage, the reasonable steps will be focused on helping the 

applicant to secure accommodation. This relief duty lasts for 56 days unless 

ended in another way. If the housing authority has reason to believe a homeless 

applicant may be eligible for assistance and have a priority need they must be 

provided with interim accommodation. 

63



31 

 

Main housing duty 

If homelessness is not successfully prevented or relieved, a housing authority 

will owe the main housing duty to applicants who are eligible, have a priority 

need for accommodation and are not homeless intentionally. Certain categories 

of household, such as pregnant women, families with children, and households 

that are homeless due to an emergency such as a fire or flood, have priority 

need if homeless. Other groups may be assessed as having priority need 

because they are vulnerable as a result of old age, mental ill health, physical 

disability, having been in prison or care or as a result of becoming homeless due 

to domestic abuse. 

 

Under the main housing duty, housing authorities must ensure that suitable 

accommodation is available for the applicant and their household until the duty is 

brought to an end, usually through the offer of a settled home. The duty can also 

be brought to an end for other reasons, such as the applicant turning down a 

suitable offer of temporary accommodation or because they are no longer 

eligible for assistance. A suitable offer of a settled home (whether accepted or 

refused by the applicant) which would bring the main housing duty to an end 

includes an offer of a suitable secure or introductory tenancy with a local 

authority, an offer of accommodation through a private registered provider (also 

known as a housing association) or the offer of a suitable tenancy for at least 12 

months from a private landlord made by arrangement with the local authority. 

Suitable accommodation 
 

Housing authorities have various powers and duties to secure accommodation 

for homeless applicants, either on an interim basis, to prevent or relieve 

homelessness, to meet the main housing duty or as a settled home. 

Accommodation must always be ‘suitable’ and there are particular standards set 

when private rented accommodation is secured for households which have 

priority need. 

 

Under the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) (England) Order 2003, 

bed and breakfast accommodation is not considered suitable for families with 

children and households that include a pregnant woman, except where there is 

no other accommodation available, and then only for a maximum of 6 weeks. 

64

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/3326/contents/made


32 

 

The Secretary of State considers that bed and breakfast accommodation is 

unsuitable for 16 and 17 year olds. 

Intentional homelessness 

A person would be homeless intentionally where homelessness was the 

consequence of a deliberate action or omission by that person. A deliberate act 

might be a decision to leave the previous accommodation even though it would 

have been reasonable for the person (and everyone in the person’s household) 

to continue to live there. A deliberate omission might be non-payment of rent 

that led to rent arrears and eviction despite the rent being affordable. 

 

Where people have a priority need but are intentionally homeless the housing 

authority must provide advice and assistance to help them find accommodation 

for themselves and secure suitable accommodation for them for a period that will 

give them a reasonable chance of doing so. 

 

If, despite this assistance, homelessness persists, any children in the household 

could be in need under the Children Act 1989, and the family should be referred 

(with consent) to the children’s social services authority. 

Local connection and referrals to another authority 

Broadly speaking, for the purpose of the homelessness legislation, people may 

have a local connection with a district because of residence, employment or 

family associations in the district, or because of special circumstances. (There 

are exceptions, for example, residence in a district while serving a prison 

sentence there does not establish a local connection.) Where applicants meet 

the criteria for the relief duty or for the main housing duty, and the authority 

considers that the applicant does not have a local connection with the district but 

does have one somewhere else, the housing authority dealing with the 

application can ask the housing authority in that other district to take 

responsibility for the case. However, applicants cannot be referred to another 

housing authority if they, or any member of their household, would be at risk of 

violence in the district of the other authority. 

 

The definition of a ‘local connection’ for young people leaving care was 

amended by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 so that a young homeless 

care leaver has a local connection to the area of the local authority that looked 

65

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents


33 

 

after them. Additional provision is made for care leavers who have been placed 

in accommodation, under section 22A of the Children Act 1989, in a different 

district to that of the children’s services authority that owes them leaving care 

duties. If they have lived in the other district for at least 2 years, including some 

time before they turned 16, they will also have a local connection with that 

district until they are 21. 

 

Reviews and appeals 

Housing authorities must provide written notifications to applicants when they 

reach certain decisions about their case, and the reasons behind any decisions 

that are against the applicant’s interests. Applicants can ask the housing 

authority to review most aspects of their decisions, and, if still dissatisfied, can 

appeal to the county court on a point of law. 

 

Housing authorities have the power to accommodate applicants pending a 

review or appeal to the county court. When an applicant who is being provided 

with interim accommodation requests a review of the suitability of 

accommodation offered to end the relief duty, the authority has a duty to 

continue to accommodate them pending a review.” 
 

3.5  Best Practice 

         A number of organisations have identified best practice and Good Practice Guides 

have been published. 

         SHELTER - Homelessness: Early Identification and Prevention - A Good 
Practice Guide 

  It is reported that this Good Practice Guide aims to assist local authorities and local 

agencies in their ability to identify people who are at risk of becoming homeless. The 

guide highlights current good practice examples of how to identify these vulnerable 

groups and individuals, and offer support to prevent homelessness occurring. 

 The Guide details a number of groups that are at a greater risk of homelessness and 

include: 

 young people  

 care leavers  

 ex-offenders  

 people with mental health problems  

 refugees  

 Gypsies and Travellers (housed and on sites)  

 people with drug or alcohol addictions n people leaving hospital  

66

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/22A


34 

 

 ex-members of the armed forces 

 

The Guide includes examples of Good Practice: 

Good practice example: Your Homes Newcastle  

Newcastle City Council (NCC) has developed a Protocol for Preventing Repeat 

Homelessness and Evictions, which is an agreement between the Strategic Housing 

Service, social services and Your Homes Newcastle (YHN), who manage council 

homes on behalf of NCC.  

The protocol enables staff at YHN to identify vulnerable tenants prior to the start of a 

tenancy. It sets out a procedure for assessing individual housing and support needs, 

and for working with vulnerable tenants and the relevant external support agencies to 

promote tenancy sustainment. The protocol illustrates the role each agency has in 

supporting vulnerable tenants and ways in which joint working can be implemented if 

problems occur.  

The procedure is divided into three sections:  

 part one – action to be taken prior to the start of the tenancy  

 part two – action to be taken during the tenancy  

 part three – action to prevent eviction and the loss of accommodation.  

The first step in part one of the procedure, the main element concerning prevention, 

involves identifying those applicants who may be vulnerable or at risk of 

homelessness. The protocol identifies the following groups of potentially vulnerable 

people:  

 households that the NCC has accepted a full duty to house as homeless in 

the previous two years  

 people with a social worker, community psychiatric nurse, mental health 

worker or drug/ alcohol support worker  

 people with a housing support worker or who are leaving housing funded by 

Supporting People  

 individuals with a probation officer or Youth Offending Team worker  

 refugees  

 people leaving hospital, prison, care or the armed forces n people with known 

drug or alcohol problems  

 people whose learning difficulties or physical or sensory impairment make 

them vulnerable  

 older people  

67



35 

 

 anyone subject to multi-agency public protection arrangements.  

During step one, support workers who are already involved with the individual are 

contacted for information that will assist in developing a support plan. Any existing 

housing or support plans should be shared.  

Where an individual is not involved with an external agency, and it is believed that 

additional support might be required, their case will be referred to the in-house advice 

and support team.  

Where there are concerns about a person’s ability to maintain a tenancy, step two of 

the procedure is enacted. This means arranging a case meeting with the applicant, 

agencies involved with the applicant and other agencies who may be able to provide 

information and support. A support plan is created and an agreement put in place to 

determine the responsibilities of each agency, the timescale for support and a 

mechanism for maintaining contact.  

The good practice principles set out in this protocol enable YHN staff to conduct a 

thorough assessment of individual needs and identify vulnerability prior to the 

tenancy commencing, minimising the chances of the tenancy breaking down. The 

next stage is to ensure that it is embedded in all practice areas and monitoring 

procedures. The protocol will be included in the Council’s new allocations policy and 

management information system.  

‘The protocol has been designed to provide longer term, more meaningful 

homelessness prevention. It aims to foster better joint working within the local 

authority and create much needed organisational culture change.’ Neil Munslow, 

Housing Services Manager, NCC’ 

Good practice example: West Berkshire Vulnerable People Protocol  

West Berkshire Council’s Vulnerable People Protocol (VPP) is a proactive approach 

to the identification, assessment and support of people who are, or who may 

become, vulnerable to losing their tenancies because of unmet support needs. It is a 

multi-agency protocol led by Sovereign Housing Association, West Berkshire Council 

(housing operations, social services and Housing Benefit teams) and Two Saints 

Housing Association.  

The protocol and its associated training package for staff and service users presents 

tools and available services and resources in West Berkshire to ensure that 

vulnerable people receive timely information, advice and support. It uses a broad 

definition of vulnerability, recognising that it can occur at different stages in life, 

whether episodic and recurring, or ongoing and increasing over time. Indicators, or 

points at which vulnerability can occur, are listed as being: 

 hospitalisation and periods following discharge from hospital or other 

institutional care  

 periods of sustained illness at home 

68



36 

 

 change from supported accommodation to independent living  

 evidence of neighbour harassment or abuse towards the individual or 

household n evidence of antisocial behaviour by the individual or household n 

rent arrears or other debt problems n repeat homelessness  

 during and following substance abuse.  

The VPP staff training pack takes these indicators further by including, for example, 

episodes of stress or mental ill health, chaotic lifestyles, loss of income and 

bereavement as points of vulnerability. The protocol therefore requires that 

consideration should be given to potential vulnerability at all points of contact with 

residents, and potential residents, within the district. These points of contact include:  

 applications for housing  

 home visits  

 ad hoc visits, e.g. because of rent arrears n programmes of tenancy 

visits/audits n supported move to new housing n social/medical panels  

 key life-cycle events such as bereavement or relationship breakdown  

 issue of notice of eviction.  

The training pack has been designed to enable frontline staff to understand potential 

vulnerability and learn how to respond to it, make an assessment, and review, 

evaluate and track the VPP. Once vulnerability and support needs have been 

identified, support may be provided by any agency involved, and will be determined 

by the pre-tenancy meeting, other contact between the partner agencies, or through 

a case conference. ‘ 

The key to preventing homelessness is timely information and support. The training for professionals 

should provide frontline staff with a range of skills, tools and information to this end.’  

Jon Cox, Two Saints Housing Association 

Good practice example: housing worker, Plymouth Children’s Service  

The development of a specific homelessness prevention role, through the 

introduction of a housing worker within the Children’s Service in Plymouth, is based 

upon a similar model of early identification and homelessness prevention in 

Colchester.  

The primary role of the housing worker will be to pick up housing casework from 

social workers and social work assistants who are concerned about the families with 

whom they are working, and intervene as early as possible.  

The introduction of a housing worker within social services aims to generate greater 

knowledge and understanding of the roles of both social services and the housing 

department, and improve their communication with each other. An increased 

69



37 

 

awareness among social workers of housing-related issues will ensure that timely 

referrals can be made to the housing worker, who will: 

 refer families to the housing officer  

 provide money and budgeting advice to families  

 maximise income through benefits advice  

 work with the housing officer to resolve issues relating to rent arrears n 

assess family support needs  

 assist with applications for private housing.  

By introducing this specific role it is hoped that social workers, housing officers and 

the housing worker can work together to identify problems at the earliest opportunity. 

Early intervention (ie before housing or financial problems become too serious) will 

enable the housing worker to work effectively and efficiently with the Council’s 

housing advisers, outreach workers, Welfare Benefits advisers, housing officers, 

Housing Benefit team and floating support staff to resolve problems, prevent family 

breakdown and homelessness, and promote tenancy sustainment through continuity 

of support.” 

Good practice example: tenancy tracker, Coast and Country Housing  

Coast and Country Housing (C&CH) are able to provide an in-house Housing Benefit 

claim verification service. While advisers provide prospective tenants with assistance 

and support, tenants’ benefit claims are able to be verified and dealt with within the 

organisation, making the process quicker and easier for the tenants. Redcar and 

Cleveland Borough Council covers a wide geographical area, which can be a barrier 

to people on low incomes attempting to make benefit claims. Thus the provision of 

local in-house Housing Benefit services removes some of the barriers that people 

face in making their claims.  

All new tenancies are monitored through the tenancy tracker procedure. The purpose 

of this procedure is to provide effective management of the rent accounts of new 

tenants up to the first 13 weeks. This ensures that:  

 new tenants have a means of paying rent that is suitable to their needs and 

circumstances  

 tenants who are experiencing difficulties are referred to advice and support 

agencies and floating support services where this is appropriate  

 Housing Benefit claims have been processed correctly and benefit is paid, 

and  

 rent payments are being made.  

Where difficulties with a Housing Benefit claim occur, the tenancy tracker procedure 

highlights this and provides a system for joint working between the account’s 

70



38 

 

advisers and housing advisers. C&CH has a small team that deals with benefit 

revisions and appeals, and provides representation and support for clients at 

independent appeal tribunals.” 

Good practice example: ‘fix it’ fund  

Bournemouth Borough Council set up this fund in 2003. It has been used at the 

discretion of housing officers as a tool to prevent homelessness by giving a ‘one-off’ 

payment to the tenant. Examples include:  

paying off arrears where it is not deemed to be the tenant’s fault that they are in 

financial trouble, and where it would prove substantially more expensive to ‘pick up’ a 

family as homeless after eviction  

paying off damage costs demanded by a landlord where it is deemed not to be the 

tenant’s fault  

paying landlords a proportion of ‘rent in advance’ payments, where it is deemed that 

the tenant cannot access sufficient funds elsewhere. 

Good practice example: Southern Focus Trust Housing Advice Centre  

Southern Focus Trust Housing Advice Centre (SFTHAC) provides independent 

advice on housing, benefits and debt in the Portsmouth Area. The centre has a 

Community Legal Service quality mark.  

Portsmouth City Council has been concerned about the number of repeat 

homelessness cases they have dealt with from the private sector. In response they 

have funded 24 hours of casework per week from SFTHAC for private sector tenants 

and owner-occupiers who are at risk of eviction and homelessness, usually as a 

result of rent or mortgage arrears. SFTHAC provides a holistic service that includes 

benefits and debt counselling, as well as help with housing.  

The Council has exclusive referral rights to four appointments per week, and by 

referring directly to SFTHAC it can be sure the service user is getting the appropriate 

assistance. SFTHAC keeps the Council informed of the progress in each case. It 

refers the client back to the Council if it is not possible to keep the client’s home, 

which helps both the client and the Council ensure that a homelessness application is 

carried out quickly and efficiently. “ 

‘[SFTHAC] knew my rights and managed to help me quickly.’  

Service user – Shelter questionnaire. ‘ 

[Without SFTHAC] I would have been more stressed, and would not have known what 

to do.’  

Service user – Shelter questionnaire. 

 

71



39 

 

Good practice example: Bournemouth Housing Advice Service  

Bournemouth Housing Advice Service (BHAS) was established in 2001. The service 

is delivered by Shelter in partnership with Bournemouth Borough Council and 

Bournemouth Housing Forum. The Council funds two workers who concentrate on 

preventative advice and helping people to keep their home. Referrals come from a 

variety of different sources – advice agencies, the local authority, friends and family, 

and self-referrals. The most common problems that people present with are rent 

arrears, Housing Benefit problems, dis-repair and possession proceedings.  

In 2003, the service launched the BHAS Network to ensure that service users can 

access appropriate advice from other agencies. Sixty-eight member agencies are 

listed in the BHAS Network Directory, which contains information and contact details 

about each member. Members include organisations such as Connexions and 

various support agencies. This directory is distributed to all network members to 

ensure that each member agency has a detailed knowledge of the services offered 

by other agencies and can initiate effective referrals.  

All members are invited to attend wider network meetings. These meetings provide 

an opportunity to share successes and address the challenges that agencies dealing 

with housing advice face. The network aims to ensure that, regardless of which 

agency a service user approaches, they are given the right information or referred on 

to the right agency. All agencies in the network display a BHAS logo to highlight that 

housing advice is available.  

BHAS also provides training sessions to network members. These sessions are well 

attended and cover a variety of topics, including homelessness and the rights of 

vulnerable people and helping with claims for Housing Benefit. The training helps 

member organisations to provide better direct advice and advocacy, and also to know 

when it is appropriate to make a referral.” 

 ‘Last year 67 per cent of our clients were homeless or likely to become homeless 

within 28 days. This year the figure has reduced to 45 per cent, which means that we 

are more effective at reducing homelessness. This seems to be because more people 

know about our service, and people with housing issues are able to access our service 

at an earlier stage.’ 

Bournemouth Housing Advice Service Review, 2005.  

‘We have attended various training days and all have been very relevant to our work 

and given us more confidence when dealing with housing enquiries.’  

Network member. 

Good practice example: advice centre for black and minority ethnic groups, 

Shelter Housing Advice and Support Centre, Stratford, London  

This project aims to improve access to housing advice for black and ethnic minority 

groups by working with local communities. It is targeted at people living in the London 

Boroughs of Newham, Tower Hamlets and Hackney.  

72



40 

 

The Shelter project ensures that advice is available in locations such as community 

centres, as well as at the project base in Stratford. The service is heavily advertised 

through the local press and community organisations, as well as by services such as 

Connexions. Delivering advice in the community not only makes it easier to access, 

but also increases people’s trust and confidence in the services being offered. The 

project employs multi-lingual housing advisers and can access a translation service 

for languages not offered directly.  

The project offers drop-in appointments at the centre in Stratford, as well as providing 

outreach advice at locations such as community centres where there are crèches and 

other support services.  

The aim of the project is that it will reach individuals from black and other minority 

ethnic groups long before they are threatened with homelessness. By providing 

advice that is timely, independent and culturally sensitive, the project hopes to make 

it easier for individuals to find and keep a decent home.” 

Good practice example: St Basils  

“St Basils is a Birmingham-based organisation that offers a range of housing and 

support to local young people. One of its initiatives is the Schools Training and 

Mentoring Project (STaMP). As part of the project, sessions giving information about 

housing and homelessness from a local perspective are run in local secondary 

schools and other youth work settings. They are interactive and encourage young 

people to discuss issues and ask questions. Each session is co-facilitated by a peer 

educator. The peer educators are young people aged 16 to 25, mainly ex-service 

users of St Basils. They have experience of homelessness and are able to give a 

real-life account of their knowledge of housing need.  

As the project has developed, it has been possible to put into place a peer-mentoring 

service. The mentors are peer educators who have become interested in extending 

their role. They are trained to an approved standard by St Basils, and offer one-to-

one support to those young people who are judged to be most at risk from leaving 

home in an unplanned way. As well as offering holistic support around issues such as 

mental health, sexual health and family relationships, they can offer informed advice 

about housing and homelessness issues. If necessary, they can refer families or 

individuals to St Basils’ counselling, family mediation or housing advice services. 

Each mentor supports one or two service users, and a mentoring worker supports the 

mentors. 

If a peer mentor feels that more specific housing advice or advocacy is needed, they 

can refer the individual to St Basils Links Housing Advice Service. This provides age-

specific advice to young people in the Birmingham area and employs knowledgeable 

workers who are aware of the specific needs of their client group. The peer-

mentoring scheme provides a bridge to the advice service, ensuring that some of the 

most hard-to-reach young people are given effective support.” 

 

73



41 

 

 

Good practice example: Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council 

Homelessness Prevention Floating Support Service  

This service is funded through Supporting People and is run by the Regeneration, 

Housing and Neighbourhoods Department. The scheme is cross tenure, providing 

services for homeowners and private tenants, as well as people with RSLs. A team of 

three people provides advice and support for up to 30 individuals and families who 

are seen as being vulnerable to homelessness. The team has a rolling programme, 

so as a particular case ends it is able to give more in-depth support to new cases. 

Most tenants use the service for six months, but some use it for up to 18 months. 

Help offered includes: 

 liaising with landlords  

 signposting and assisting with debt-counselling and budgeting skills  

 liaising with mortgage companies, banks, Housing Benefit and the benefits 

agency in order to optimise income  

 facilitating dispute resolution and mediation  

 completing benefit forms  

 liaising with social services n resettlement activities.  

Referrals come mainly from the housing needs department, but they also come from 

a variety of other sources: mental health teams, local housing associations, and the 

local criminal justice and learning disabilities teams are just a few examples. The 

service is available to households who are at risk of homelessness or who simply 

need some extra support, as well as those who have recently been homeless. The 

team ensures that their work is well publicised among local agencies so that 

appropriate referrals can be made. They also refer onto other agencies when they 

feel that they do not have the expertise needed, or that help from another source 

would be beneficial.  

Once a referral has been made, a support worker will visit the household to discuss 

the level of support needed. If the individual or family is accepted onto the scheme, a 

tailor-made support plan will be drawn up. The plan is reviewed on a regular basis to 

take account of changing needs.  

‘If the client is unfamiliar with the area we would ... get them maps, ... onto a 

doctors list, ... a dentist, help them to apply to schools ... and absolutely anything 

else that could be needed.’  

Support worker. 

 

 

74



42 

 

Good practice example: Julian Housing Support  

“Julian Housing Support (JHS) is a supported housing charity based in Norfolk that 

works to prevent homelessness by providing services for people with mental health 

problems. It is jointly funded by Supporting People and health and social services. 

JHS works in partnership with Norfolk Social Services, Norfolk Primary Care Trust 

and the major housing providers in the county. It is through this partnership approach 

that JHS has been able to develop a wide range of housing choices and options for 

support.  

JHS are alerted to individuals who are at risk of homelessness by a range of statutory 

and voluntary services. Referrals are accepted from mental health social workers, 

community mental health teams, primary care link workers and, in some 

circumstances, housing providers. The early identification and thorough assessment 

of housing-related problems and support needs, combined with multi-agency 

working, ensures that homelessness can be prevented long before people need to 

make a homelessness application.  

JHS services include the following.  

A floating support service in every district and for people in any tenure. Support can 

be short- or long-term, and more or less intensive, depending upon a person’s needs.  

A Hospital Housing Link scheme (attached to every psychiatric acute ward across the 

county), which provides housing and benefits advice, supporting over 400 people per 

year. Housing Link workers visit inpatients with housing problems and patients are 

supported either to keep their existing homes or to find alternative suitable 

accommodation before they are discharged from hospital.  

An outreach service supporting people in their own homes. Outreach workers attend 

regular meetings with mental health workers and are involved in the care-planning 

process to decide on the housing and health assistance that their clients need. 

An outreach service that is a flexible model of care offered to people who find it hard 

to access services because of their mental health problems.  

A supported housing scheme and resettlement programme for clients who require 

additional support before moving onto independent living.  

JHS has been described by organisations and service users as a dependable and 

responsive service that offers creative ways of helping people with mental health 

problems who are at risk of homelessness or inadequately housed. Their 

interventions have led to an increase in people’s housing stability and an investment 

in their future. By helping to reduce some of the stresses related to maintaining a 

tenancy, deterioration in someone’s mental health can be alleviated and loss of 

housing can be prevented. “ 

‘I got ill and had to give up work... I couldn’t afford the mortgage... I wouldn’t 

have known what to do [without JHS] and my home would have been repossessed.’  

75



43 

 

JHS service user. 

Good practice example: Shelter Inclusion Project  

The Shelter Inclusion Project was set up in 2002. The project was designed to 

provide an alternative model to enforcement policies and residential schemes. It was 

developed by Shelter and Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council. The project has 

three key objectives:  

 to reduce antisocial behaviour  

 to promote social inclusion and community stability 

 to prevent eviction and provide a route back into settled housing.  

The project works with families, couples and individuals, and its referral criteria 

require a ‘history of antisocial behaviour’. Once people have been referred to the 

project they have access to a range of help and support, including:  

 housing advice and advocacy  

 help with benefits and money management  

 support with addressing antisocial behaviour issues n practical assistance, eg 

with decorating n referral to other agencies  

 parenting advice and support  

 assistance with employment and training  

 direct specialist work with children and young people.  

Originally, many of the households referred to the project were subject to one or 

more enforcement actions linked to alleged antisocial behaviour. As work developed, 

cases started to be referred at an earlier stage. Initially, the majority of referrals came 

from the enforcement team at Rochdale Borough-wide Housing. Now more come 

from housing officers who refer before any enforcement action is taken. 

Staff at the project feel it is much easier to work with early intervention cases 

because behaviour patterns are less entrenched and the situation has not reached a 

crisis point. In addition, because the antisocial behaviour is being picked up at an 

earlier stage, the community does not have to suffer the problem for as long as it 

might have done otherwise.  

The Inclusion Project is now working with the Respect Task Force to deliver a Family 

Intervention Project. This project will work closely with eight to 10 families who are 

involved in high-level antisocial behaviour and are close to losing their homes. This 

means that the present project will be able to focus more closely on early 

intervention. “ 

76



44 

 

 [If it weren’t for the Project] I think I’d still be where I was… as in debt wise… I 

don’t think I’d have done as much as I have – I wouldn’t have sorted my bills out... 

and would have ended up getting a load of fines and all that…’  

Project user. 

Good practice example: Newcastle City Council Hospital Discharge and 

Homelessness Prevention Protocol  

The protocol was created by key agencies in Newcastle who work with people who 

might be homeless or at risk of homelessness and have been admitted to hospital. 

The Strategic Housing Service, which is part of the Regeneration Directorate, is 

leading on the development of the protocol. Its key aim is to ensure that all agencies 

coming into contact with people who are vulnerable to homelessness, or without 

accommodation on admission to hospital, help those people find appropriate housing 

and support before they leave hospital.  

Certain key groups were identified as being at most risk of homelessness on 

discharge from hospital:  

 people who were homeless prior to admission to hospital n people who were 

in an institution, such as prison  

 people staying in temporary accommodation  

 people who have arrived in Newcastle with nowhere to stay  

 people who had accommodation before admission to hospital but who either 

cannot or will not return to that accommodation  

 people who have accommodation that will need to be adapted following their 

hospital treatment.  

The protocol outlines key steps for all agencies to take to prevent homelessness. 

These are:  

 action to be taken to prevent a patient from becoming homeless on discharge 

from hospital, and the process to be followed on admission  

 seeking help from other agencies in finding accommodation and arranging 

support  

 making information for patients and staff on display in hospital wards.  

Within each step are the key questions that staff must ask all patients, the people and 

agencies that should be contacted, and what to do outside of office hours. Specific 

guidance is provided for dealing with particularly vulnerable people, including street 

homeless people, people with mental health problems, patients under 18 years of 

age, asylum seekers and refugees, and people with drugs and/or alcohol problems.  

77



45 

 

A housing resource pack and guidance on sharing information accompany the 

protocol. This pack outlines the role and contact details of each of the key agencies 

involved. It provides further information on where to get benefits advice and lists the 

homelessness contacts in the region. The pack also provides guidance on helping 

people to obtain settled accommodation.  

The introduction of a clear set of guidelines for the assessment of all patients’ 

accommodation needs on admission to hospital has obvious benefits for patients and 

hospital and housing staff. “ 

‘The development of the protocol through a working group has already helped... give 

people in the health service a better idea about who does what in the homelessness 

world.’  

Sheila Spencer, Policy Officer,  

Newcastle Homelessness Prevention Project’ 

Good practice example: West Yorkshire Offender Housing Protocol  

The West Yorkshire Offender Housing Protocol is based on a framework developed 

in Tyne and Wear – the Housing and Returning Prisoners Protocol (HARP). In West 

Yorkshire, all five local authorities (Bradford, Calderdale, Kirklees, Leeds and 

Wakefield) have signed up to the protocol, which aims to provide a co-ordinated 

approach to the accommodation of offenders, those released from custody, and 

those under the supervision of the National Offender Management Service (NOMS).  

It seeks to provide ‘end-to-end’ management of accommodation by addressing the 

housing needs of offenders at the following stages: 

 before custody  

 at sentencing  

 on reception in prison  

 during custody, and  

 on release.  

The protocol provides a pathway to resettlement. It identifies the key responsibilities 

of the different agencies within that pathway and their organisational responsibilities. 

The protocol clearly outlines the steps that need to be taken at each stage and by 

whom. It promotes effective communication at all levels and commitment from all 

partner agencies to joint working. It involves clear information-sharing policies and 

decision-making processes. The protocol also seeks to address:  

 local authorities’ duties towards the prevention of homelessness  

 prison and probation commitment to effective resettlement (encompassed 

within the NOMS National Reducing Re-offending Delivery Plan)  

78



46 

 

 how partner agencies contribute towards community safety objectives  

 the contribution of RSLs and the voluntary sector in housing and supporting 

offenders.  

Shelter has a cross-regional contract with the Prison Service to provide housing 

advice, increasing the links between offenders in custody and local housing and 

support providers. Effective partnerships across statutory, private and voluntary 

sector organisations are central to the protocol because the housing needs of 

prisoners can only be successfully met if services outside prison are fully engaged in 

the process.  

This protocol acknowledges the links between accommodation and other support 

needs by integrating housing with other aspects of resettlement, including health, 

social networks, education and training. Housing is seen, therefore, as the foundation 

for other interventions and their effectiveness” 

Good practice example: Bristol City Council Joint Protocol  

This joint protocol outlines the statutory responsibilities of Bristol Social Services and 

Health (SS&H) and Neighbourhood and Housing Services (N&HS) in assessing and 

responding to the housing and support needs of young people who are:  

 ‘in need’ or require protection  

 due to leave or have already left care, and  

 homeless or threatened with homelessness, vulnerable and have a priority 

need.  

The protocol provides tools for assessment and action for both departments to take, 

promoting joint assessments and information sharing at all stages and defining 

timescales for actions. The protocol was widely promoted to staff from all sectors. It 

was launched in 2003 at a number of multi-agency roadshow events that involved 

SS&H, N&HS and representatives from the voluntary sector, youth housing and 

support providers.  

The protocol and related workshops provided workers with the valuable opportunity 

to talk to each other, share their concerns and develop creative solutions to the 

housing problems faced by vulnerable young people.  

This protocol worked well for a period of time; however, since its initial launch and 

promotion a number of changes have occurred. There has been a high turnover of 

staff in both the voluntary and statutory sectors, as well as structural changes within 

services in the area, which have led to difficulties in implementing the agreement. 

Bristol City Council has recognised these problems and will soon be leading on the 

revision, updating and promotion of a new version of the protocol.  

`[The launch] brought various strands of social services, housing and the voluntary 

sector together in lively workshops… We hoped the joint assessment framework and 

79



47 

 

child protection focus would drive us all (and our departments/organisations) to own 

the shared purpose that we could, after all, work together.’  

Robin Spencer, NCH Bristol Housing Project. 

Good practice example: a multi-agency protocol for young people, South 

Gloucestershire  

“South Gloucestershire Council, Priority Youth Housing and Connexions have 

developed a protocol with other agencies to improve services for young vulnerable 

people who are homeless or in temporary accommodation. The framework has not 

been implemented yet; however the protocol is an ambitious one that outlines the 

roles, responsibilities and practices that should be undertaken by participating 

agencies in a variety of situations, so it should be useful for other agencies to look at.  

The underlying principles behind the protocol are based on the prevention of 

homelessness, where possible, and effective communication between agencies and 

the young people concerned. The protocol covers homelessness prevention, 

accommodation and support services for:  

 homeless 16- and 17-year-olds and care leavers aged 16 to 21  

 young people aged 18 to 25 who are vulnerable or have complex needs 

 young people in supported housing or bed and breakfast accommodation  

 young people who are at risk of eviction from temporary accommodation, 

when there is a risk that the local authority will decide that it has discharged 

its duty.  

Key to the success of the protocol is a joint assessment process involving a new 

Youth Housing Social Worker (YHSW), the housing department and Priority Youth 

Housing. The YHSW takes on the initial liaison role with the housing department and 

support agencies, and assesses the potential for the young person to return home. 

Where this is possible, the YHSW will work towards a return home at an early stage.  

There is also flexibility in allocating personal advisers for care leavers – this can 

either be someone from social services or an independent personal adviser from one 

of the other participating agencies, depending on the circumstances and the young 

person’s preference.  

The protocol includes guidance on how to make supported housing work and 

supporting young people in bed and breakfast accommodation. The guidance 

recommends visits in the first 24 hours, involving specialist workers as necessary, 

early warnings from accommodation providers if things are going wrong, and follow-

up visits to talk to both the individual and the workers about the situation.  

There is also a procedure for intervening when young people are at risk of losing their 

temporary accommodation and their right to more secure housing from the Council. 

This involves early communications from the housing department to staff in other 

80



48 

 

agencies when there are problems, and a multi-agency review of the case before the 

Council decides that they need to evict the individual. The spirit of the protocol, 

however, is to avoid this situation arising in the first place, by ensuring early 

communication between agencies and effective intervention when necessary.” 

 A copy of the full report can be located. 

 LGA – Council Innovation and Learning in – Housing Our Homeless 

Households  (2017) 

 The Executive Summary of the report details: 

 Current challenges for Councils in accommodating homeless households  

This report responds to rising concern amongst local authorities about the increasing 

homelessness pressures being faced across the country. Many councils are finding it 

difficult to provide suitable accommodation for families facing homelessness at a cost 

that is sustainable.  

Councils want to end homelessness by preventing it happening in the first place. The 

number of households in temporary accommodation has been rising consistently 

since the economic crisis.  

There are around 77, 240 households in temporary accommodation, including 120, 

540 children.  

This is a 25 per cent increase in London (now 54,280 families), and 52 per cent 

increase outside of London (now 22,950) since 2014. 

The picture for local government is difficult and changing fast. Some councils are 

losing millions of pounds per year on temporary accommodation, many others are 

facing challenges in needing to find more accommodation to meet rising 

homelessness demand.  

Concurrently, homelessness prevention by local authorities into the private rented 

sector has dropped by 40%, whilst the number of homelessness acceptances caused 

by the loss of an assured shorthold tenancy in the private rented sector has 

quadrupled from 4,580 in 2009 to 18,750 in 2016. This position is likely to become 

more challenging if the current freeze on Local Housing Allowance levels is 

maintained, and will be exacerbated by the lowering of the Overall Benefit Cap, and 

the introduction of the shared accommodation rate to social and affordable housing. 

Positive Trends  

Homelessness funding has been sustained and increased over the last several 

years, and this has received a further boost from the introduction of the new flexible 

homelessness support grant, which replaces the former management fee included in 

housing benefit for temporary accommodation.  

Flexible homelessness support grant is both more flexible and more generous than 

the previous arrangement, and presents a real opportunity for councils to innovate 

81

http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/193134/Homelessness_early_identification_prevention.pdf


49 

 

and to reduce reliance on temporary accommodation within the serious constraints 

provided by the fundamental lack of affordability of accommodation in many areas.  

The Homelessness Reduction Act, which is expected to be implemented from 2018, 

will also drive councils to intervene earlier to prevent homelessness and should mean 

that single people in particular will get more help than previously. However, this will 

not address affordability either, and there is therefore a risk in some areas that it will 

add to councils’ administrative burden without actually leading to many more homes 

for the people who need them.  

The Government’s Homelessness Prevention Trailblazer fund, and associated funds 

supporting interventions around rough sleeping, to the value of £50 million in total 

over two years, are also positive developments and should drive innovation in future 

homelessness practice.  

Local Authority Practice  

We talked to 11 local authorities in some detail about their work in the area as well as 

to some of the London sub-regions and a number of other organisations including the 

Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG), London Councils, 

Greater London Authority (GLA), National Housing Federation (NHF), Shelter and 

others.  

The result is a rich and wide ranging journey through local authority practice, which is 

supported wherever possible by documentary information in order to help other 

councils who may wish to replicate or adapt some of the work in their own areas.  

After detailing the overall approach taken by a number of councils doing interesting 

work, the report then moves on to a series of topic guides, covering areas as diverse 

as drawing up a private sector lease to setting up a multi-million pound local authority 

property company.  

We worked with a range of different councils including London boroughs with very 

high homelessness demand but also with some more rural authorities with much 

smaller operational scale, but who are nevertheless doing great things that similar 

authorities, and some cases much larger authorities, could learn from. 

Recommendations  

There is much that local authorities can do and are doing which can make a real 

difference. There are several examples in this report of councils reducing temporary 

accommodation against the rising trend, massively reducing the use of B&B 

accommodation and saving themselves millions of pounds in the process.  

Some of the areas of work where councils may find they have scope to do more, and 

which are explored in some detail, include:  

o working better and smarter with private sector landlords and agents, 

with a developing and responsive service offer  

82



50 

 

o working with households at risk of homelessness at an earlier stage to 

prevent homelessness and to address the other issues like debt and 

barriers to employment which reduce resilience against a housing 

crisis  

o providing effective resettlement and tenancy sustainment services to 

homeless households placed in the private rented sector (PRS)  

o making effective use of the Localism Act powers to end a 

homelessness duty in the private rented sector  

o working with other authorities to maximise the market power of 

councils to procure accommodation at a reasonable price  

o working with a micro focus to avoid B&B placements and end them 

quickly when they occur  

o converting buildings to temporary accommodation and developing new 

build hostels and LHA rent PRS accommodation  

o investing in the purchase of accommodation by the council or their 

partners to benefit from housing capital growth and long term 

controlled rents  

o planning ahead to understand medium term supply and demand 

trends and making provision to meet those demands  

o making creative use of allocations policies to maximise homelessness 

prevention  

o investigating innovative construction techniques such as re-deployable 

modular housing  

o working creatively with partners inside and outside the local authority.  

It is important to note, however, that whilst these activities may make a real 

difference, they can only help up to a point if the fundamental position continues to 

worsen. The long term affordability of accommodation for households on low incomes 

is a fundamental problem which must be addressed at a national level if we are not to 

see more homelessness and an increasing polarisation between areas where 

households on low incomes can no longer afford to live, and the areas where they 

are concentrated.  

The challenges faced in accommodating homelessness households have reached a 

point where a concerted effort by both national and local government is needed if a 

serious impact is to be made.  

In order to create a climate where local authorities have a better chance to succeed, 

there are important measures that government could take without fundamentally 

compromising its reform agenda, and without a massive increase in spending. 

83



51 

 

We recommend the following measures, which government could take relatively 

quickly and relatively inexpensively compared to the scale of the challenge: Central 

government could consider: 

o Using its balance sheet to make cheaper finance available to local 

authorities and their partners seeking to acquire homes for the use of 

homeless households at scale. 

o Exempting temporary accommodation from the overall benefit cap so 

that there is at least somewhere that families who are unable to work 

can live while councils work with them to get into employment without 

costing councils large amounts of money. The alternative is to send 

these families to areas where their employment prospects are going to 

be much lower, against the stated aims of the overall benefit cap 

policy.  

o Adapt Universal Credit to ensure that housing related benefits are paid 

promptly for households in temporary accommodation and for 

households placed in the PRS by local authorities, and to reduce the 

likelihood that homeless households be placed in overcrowded 

accommodation.  

o Providing financial incentives to private sector landlords willing to let to 

households nominated by a local authority.  

o Ensuring that LHA does not fall further behind rental inflation by 

ending the current LHA freeze, and as a minimum pegging LHA to 

consumer price inflation (CPI) in the future.  

o Overturning the decision to apply the shared accommodation rate of 

LHA to single people under 35 in social housing and temporary 

accommodation, so that those in greatest need can be 

accommodated.  

o Ensuring that supported accommodation to accommodate homeless 

households is protected as a priority in the current DCLG and DWP 

Supported Accommodation Review. Twenty thousand homelessness 

preventions and reliefs per year are made into supported housing, and 

it is crucial that this is able to continue.  

o Making it clear that minimum revenue provision requirements should 

not apply when councils are purchasing residential property which will 

appreciate in value over time. 

o Working with mortgage lenders to end the prohibition in many Buy-to-

let mortgages of letting properties to households in receipt of housing 

benefit or Universal Credit, as this currently actually prohibits those 

landlords from working with local authorities to prevent 

homelessness.” 

84



52 

 

 A copy of the full report can be located. 

3.7 Performance Management Scrutiny 

The Scrutiny Panel undertook performance management Scrutiny: 
  

HML01 - Total number of households living in temporary accommodation 
 
HML07  -  Number of households that are prevented on becoming homeless 

  

 Key points: 

 Over the past two and a half years, the number of homeless households 
living in temporary accommodation had increased from 66 to 303.   

 More than half of the households that approach the Council for 
assistance had lost their private rented accommodation and been unable 
to secure a suitable property to move into. 

 Preventing homelessness is essential, but is proving very difficult, given 
the severe shortage of affordable housing.  A restructure of the Housing 
Options & Advice Service is underway and will increase the capacity and 
the level of expertise in the team.  

 
3.8       Site Visits 

 Site visits to the following: 

 Hope Centre and Oasis House 

 Women’s Refuse 

 Manchester 

 Accompanying the Outreach Workers on a Rough Sleepers’ 

count 

 The Bridge Project 

 

 Hope Centre and Oasis House 

Representatives of the Scrutiny Panel together with the Scrutiny Officer, 

visited the Hope Centre and Oasis House on Tuesday, 7 August 2018. 

There are a number of partners that contribute to Oasis House: 

     Midland Heart 

     Hope Day Centre 

     NBC outreach 

     NAASH 

     Hope Enterprise 

85

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/5.12%20HOUSING%20AND%20HOMELESSNESS_v08_4.pdf


53 

 

           Maple Access Partnership is no longer available from Oasis House; clients 

have to attend its surgery. 

          The majority of clients to the Hope Centre have mental health issues; which 

increases dramatically once individuals become homeless.  It was noted that 

there is a significant link between the use of cannabis and mental health.  The 

life expectancy of a Rough Sleeper is 47.  The site visit observed the day 

centre. A number of clients were eating breakfast.  Tea, coffee and squash is 

provided free of charge as are a number of pastries and other food.  Should 

individuals require a cooked breakfast a small charge is required.  There is 

also a small charge for cereals.    Lunch is also provided at the centre.  There 

is a small cost for the lunch.  Individuals can also use the showers.   Clothes 

are donated and individuals can buy items for a small cost (30 pence per 

item).  There is a real need for underwear.  This is provided free of charge.   

Various groups and sessions are put on during the day such as foot care, 

cookery, art, life skills, gardening, sport,  Internet café (free of charge for 90 

minutes use). 

          The Hope Centre has good working relations with a number of organisations 

including: 

    NAASH 

    CAN 

    Bridge 

    S2S 

    Re-Store 

    Growing Well (Blackthorn Good Neighbours) 

    Community Law 

    Doddridge Centre 

    Bellinge Community House 

    Deaf Connect 

    Free 2 Talk 

  The Site Visit observed the art room and some of the art work produced and 

being produced.  Some excellent work was observed. Around 100-120 

individuals use the day centre daily, which is open six days a week, 8:30am to 

1pm.  The focus on Saturdays is around Rough Sleepers and Sofa Surfers.  

86



54 

 

The Night Shelter is open at 9pm daily and therefore there is a gap of 

provision from 1pm to 9pm for the small number who stay there. However for 

the 100-110 people who don’t use the night shelter, that gap is from when we 

close to when we open again. Clients have to be 18 years old or over and can 

be either male or female to use the Hope Centre or Oasis House.  Individuals 

can live at Oasis House in the short term, but individuals have stayed for up to 

three years.  Oasis House is managed by Midland Heart and NAASH.  

Councillors also visited Hope Enterprises.  Hope Enterprises is a social 

enterprise and community interest company set up by Northampton's Hope 

Centre, a charity, with more than 40 years' experience working with the town's 

homeless.  Through giving training and work, at a fair rate of pay, in a 

supportive environment, Hope Enterprise helps people to re-join society.   

Hope Enterprises has five elements: - 

 

Hope Catering - contract catering and buffets for business meetings, 

parties and events, alongside training in catering. 

 

Hope Tools - a recycling and training social enterprise, refurbishing 

second-hand garden tools 

 

Hope PAT Testing - routine safety checking for all electrical appliances 

Hope Gardening – growing food and offering horticultural experience 

and therapeutic gardening 

Hope foodclub – a social supermarket club where food and toiletries 

are available at discount prices to those on low incomes 

          The site visit observed refurbished tools that had been refurbished by Hope 

Tools.  The site visit also observed a number of individuals taking part in the 

Aspire Course which has the purpose of providing skills to attendees for 

gaining employment, such as social skills and various qualifications. 

            The site visit spoke with a client to the Hope Centre – Miss A. 

                               “Miss A had taken part in the Homeless Campaign Project that 

teaches attendees life skills.  The Hope Centre had nominated Miss A to take 

part.  As part of the Project Miss A had been to London and was scheduled to 

attend again in September, 2 days a week. As part of the project attendees go 

on field trips and visit museums. She is very proud to be able to help people 

that are homeless. Miss A was not on the streets for long and now lives in a 

87



55 

 

hostel; she advised that she became homeless due to an error with benefits 

and felt that she had not at that time received any support. She had been 

evicted from her home that she had lived in since 1994.  Miss A’s son is 

currently sofa surfing and her daughter lives in a separate hostel.  The whole 

family has been dispersed.  Community Law had been unable to assist Miss A 

when she was being evicted.    Miss A felt that there is a lack of provision for 

people to have a shower and a good night’s sleep; she felt a number of 

smaller units, similar to Oasis House, across the town would be of real 

benefit.” 

   Women’s Refuge 

            Representatives of the Scrutiny Panel together with the  Scrutiny Officer, 

visited a Women’s Refuge on Tuesday, 7 August 2018. 

  The refuge visited has space for five: 

 1 plus two beds 

 1 plus three beds 

 1 plus two beds 

 A single room 

 1 plus two beds 

 

The rooms are of a good size.  The refuge is normally full.  The Support 

Worker at the refuge assists the women to apply for housing for example via 

the homeless/housing application route.  Some women stay at the refuge for 

up to 12 months.  A six month stay at the refuge is the norm. 24/7 support is 

provided at the refuge. Often women who come to the refuge have often been 

“drawn to a bad boy.”  There is the need for early prevention and women have 

quite often been living in poor conditions, have no hobbies, no social life and 

live their lives via social media.  Their priorities are often the mobile phone, 

males and smoking.  The cost to live in the Refuge is £15 per week to cover 

heating, water and washing.  The Support Worker aims to help the women 

with their priorities.  Life skills are taught so that they are ready to move on 

from the refuge.   There is a men’s refuge in Kettering. The majority of men 

have been subject to honour abuse.  There is a need for more refuges across 

the country. 

The site visit spoke with two women currently staying at the Refuge – Miss B 

and Miss C. 

 “Miss C came to the refuge from another area of the county in late July 

2018.  She had come from a low support refuge but needed more 

support.  She had had an abusive partner.  She had had her own flat 

88



56 

 

and had lived there, with her young child, both working and attending 

college. She had to leave due to her abusive partner.  He had also been 

manipulative.  Due to the fact that she was an EU Citizen she was not 

entitled to benefits.  The tenancy had been in her name and also her 

partner’s.  Therefore, he was entitled to be in the flat also.  Miss C 

expected her partner to change, but he hadn’t.  Miss C began to drink 

heavily and had left her child with another resident in the low level 

support refuge for 1 and ½ days.  The Police and Social Services had 

been called and her child is now in foster care.  Miss C is working to 

regain custody of her child.  Miss C gave background to her childhood 

that she had been treated differently to her siblings as her mum felt she 

was very like her father and had been controlling towards Miss C.  Miss 

C had had a controlling parent and then a controlling partner.  Miss C 

advised that she wants her own home with her child, a job and a normal 

life.” 

 “Miss B comes from a different county.   She had been with her ex 

partner for two years and had starting taking drugs, socially to begin with 

and then it became an addiction.  She was currently on a methadone 

programme.  She had started to take drugs when a close friend had 

been found dead.  Her ex partner was very controlling and violent.  Miss 

B’s mother had taken her child from her when she began taking drugs. 

The ex partner would provide the drugs.  Miss B confirmed that the 

Police had been called 13 times regarding her ex partner’s violence 

towards her and eventually they came out again when he was abusing 

her in the street and witnesses had called the Police.  The ex- partner 

was given a 28 day ban from making contact with her, but he still made 

contact.  Due to the fact that Miss B has a property in another county 

she cannot go on the housing list in Northampton unless she gives up 

this property; Miss B advised that by doing this she would be making 

herself intentionally homeless.  The Support Worker at the Refuge is 

assisting regarding housing needs.  Miss B wants to live with her son 

and be completely free from drugs.” 

       Emmaus, Carlton Village 

            Representatives of the Scrutiny Officer together with the  Scrutiny Officer, 

visited a Emmaus Village Carlton, on Monday 13 August 2018. 

The site visit met with the Chief Community Officer and the Support Manager 

and had a tour of the site also. Emmaus is an international charity with 300 

communities worldwide; of which 29 are in the UK.  The first Emmaus 

community in the UK is the one based in Cambridge.  Emmaus Carlton 

Village, has 42 beds with 4 solidarity beds.  All rooms have beds, wardrobe, 

89



57 

 

bedside cabinet, TV and Wifi.  Wifi is available throughout the site. Emmaus 

Village Carlton, is a charity with a Board of Trustees who are very active.  

Since 2001 they have raised over £3.5 million for capital projects.  Currently 

their turnover is almost £1.2 million. Residents to Emmaus communities are 

known as companions; upon arrive they sign a licence agreement that they 

will be housed and will work in the Social Enterprise. Emmaus Village Carlton, 

is the one of the largest Emmaus communities in the UK.  There are three 

accommodation blocks, the majority have an en-suite.  Companions have use 

of a shared laundry room, IT suite and communal lounge, dining room, gym 

and games room comprising pool table, darts and table tennis. Companions to 

Emmaus Village Carlton, are either self-referred or referred by an Agency. 

Their needs are looked at to ascertain whether they can be supported.  

Carlton is a remote location and may not be suitable to all prospective 

companions.    Individuals with complex mental health needs, and ongoing 

drink or alcohol addictions cannot be supported at Emmaus Village Carlton.   

The community has one Support Manager and two Support Workers.  The 

licence agreement requires companions to be clear of alcohol for the first 28 

days to ascertain whether there is a dependency issue.  Companions should 

be clear of illegal drugs or psychoactive substances at all times and will be 

randomly drugs tested to ensure this.  There does not have to be 

geographical connections for individuals to be considered for staying at the 

community.  The community can accommodate both men and women.  Their 

stay is not time limited; it is a safe place for people to move on from.  Ex-

Offenders with low need can be referred to Emmaus.   Emmaus Village 

Carlton, has a medical centre that it refers to. It is located around 15/20 

minutes’ walk away but support workers will often drive companions to the 

centre or pay for public transport. Upon arrival companions sign off benefits, 

other than housing benefit. They receive an allowance of £42 a week.  Money 

is also put aside for them in a holiday fund and a leaving fund.   Children can 

visit companions on the site.  Relevant safeguarding checks take place. The 

village has a stock of toiletries and companions can purchase these for 50p 

an item.  Companions undertake training whilst residing at the village 

including: 

 Level 2 warehouse training 

 Forklift training 

 Bike repair 

 Food hygiene 

 

  The aim is to provide a majority of training that is accredited.  Emmaus 

Village Carlton also offers volunteering opportunities. Companions receive 

three meals a day. Breakfast is provided for them, which they make 

90



58 

 

themselves, consisting of toast and cereals. A mixed hot and cold lunch is 

provided along with a hot evening meal.  A healthy diet is provided.   The 

community has recently begun to grow its own vegetables.  The community 

is also in dialogue with a bee keeper regarding a bee hive for the site. 

Contact is maintained with companions that move on from the community.  

There have been 10 positive moves in the last 12 months.  The aim of the 

charity is to give companions a purpose, confidence, self-respect, 

somewhere to live, and it was highlighted that this ethos really works.   

People can donate to the community, such as furniture, clothes, toys, bikes, 

clocks etc.  The community can collect furniture donations free of charge but 

there is a small charge for delivery.  The social enterprise is open to the 

public six days a week, being closed on Mondays. 

  Greater Manchester 

 Key points: 

 The Chair, along with the Deputy Chair and NBC’s Housing Options & Advice 
Manager undertook a site visit to Great Manchester which covers ten local 
authority areas. They met with the Strategic Lead for Homelessness. 

 

 The Authority has a number of community facilities, including a Winter Shelter 
and Community Centre. Everyone receives the same service. There is good 
partnership working with voluntary  agencies.  The necessary resources are 
provided.  

 Everyone was proud in what they did but still knew more could be done. Data 
is inputted onto one system and is shared by all agencies. There is good 
engagement with the voluntary sector. The Winter Shelter in Manchester has 
proper beds and the homeless people who stay there are awarded Housing 
Benefit which is paid direct to the Shelter. 

  

Bridge Projects 

           Representatives of the Scrutiny Panel visited the Bridge Project on 3 

September 2018.  They met with the Manager of the Project and various 

“Members”.   This resource is aimed at people who are attempting to or have 

overcome addictions around drugs and alcohol and who consider they could 

possibly be ready to look for a change in their lifestyle and hopefully find a job 

and if need be a permanent home.  The Site visit was shown around the 

facility by Vince Carroll who heads up the Bridge in Northampton.   The Site 

Visit arrived at lunchtime and there were a number of “members” enjoying 

lunch and socialising with friends.   The Manager explained that when they 

accept someone to come onto their programme, they are given a contract to 

which they commit to; which allows them to use the facilities at the Bridge; 

have 1:1 meetings with professional staff who are available, use the gym, and 

91



59 

 

various other services such as aromatherapy and hair dressing.  The Bridge 

provides hot meals every day to Members who are attending as well as an IT 

suite as well as opportunities for Members to relax in their Games Room, gym 

and well equipped Music Room. Members are required to sign in using a 

swipe card and in this way their attendance is monitored which can 

sometimes indicate that a Member is having difficulty in maintaining regular 

trips to the Bridge and participating in sessions and group work. Staff 

sometimes visit Members at home to assess whether or not there are 

difficulties and whether they need additional support. In Northamptonshire at 

any one time there can be up to 800 Members in the different resources which 

follow the Bridge Programme.  Members are in control and in charge of their 

programme at the Bridge and as long as they are prepared to co operate and 

work within basic principles of cleanliness, respect, honesty and leave their 

substance issues at home. 

 
Mr C, Ex-Rough Sleeper 

Mr C, an ex-Rough Sleeper attended a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel and 

provided details of his experience as a Rough Sleeper. 

          Salient points: 

 ‘Mr C’ (not his real name) has ‘lived experience’ of sleeping 

rough in Northampton  

 
 Mr C spoke candidly about his experiences, saying that he used 

to have a good life but, as a result of his drug use, he had lost 
his job and his home. He had slept in the woods for about six 
months and, although he initially enjoyed the freedom of the 
woods, this soon changed and it started to have a major impact 
on his mental health.  

 
 Mr C was very supportive of the Nightshelter, describing it as a 

warm, safe, welcoming place where the staff are non-
judgemental and the food is good. He has spent a lot of time 
sleeping rough and has used the Nightshelter twice since it 
opened. 

 
 At the end of his first stay in the Nightshelter, Mr C was helped 

to move on to supported housing where he stayed for 11 months 
before becoming homeless again and returning to the Shelter. 
During his second stay at the Nightshelter, he engaged more 
effectively with local services and sorted out his medication 
before being offered a place in Oasis House.    

 

92



60 

 

 Mr C has been living in Oasis House for around four weeks and 
helps out at the Hope Centre, for which he is rewarded for his 
work. 

 
 Mr C felt he had been failed by JCP (JobcentrePlus) at his 

health assessment and that, as a consequence, he lost his 
benefits and supported housing 

 

 Mr C felt there are plenty of places for homeless people to go 
during the day when the Nightshelter is closed, but they are 
probably not being promoted well enough. He said that, 
although there is always somewhere to go, longer opening 
hours would be useful but would require extra funding. It would 
be good, for example, if the Bridge Project was open every 
Sunday because, for homeless people, Sundays are lonely 
days. Mr C felt that he was living on the streets for a reason and 
he explained that, while he was on the streets, he was sad and 
very lonely. 

 Mr C commended the Street Outreach Workers, saying that they 
do their utmost to engage with all rough sleepers, including 
those who do not want to engage.  Mr said that, after moving on 
from the Nightshelter the first time, he was worried he might not 
receive enough support from the accommodation provider. He 
said he felt that the lack of support was the main reason why he 
lost that accommodation. 

 

 Mr C is continuing to work with his Key Worker at Oasis House 
and, as his medication is now stable, he is hopeful that he will 
be able to move on successfully from Oasis House when he is 
ready. In the long term, he wants to be a Key Worker. 

  

3.6                Core Questions 
 

3.6.1 The Scrutiny Panel devised a series of core questions that it put to its 

key witnesses over a cycle of meetings (Copy at Appendix B). 

3.6.2 Key witnesses provided a response to these core questions at the 

meetings of the Scrutiny Panel held on 6 September 2018, 8 

November, 24 January 2019 and 8 April 2019. 

  

 

 

93



61 

 

 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing and the Cabinet 

Member for Community Safety and Engagement, Housing Options 

and Advice Manager  

  

 Northampton Borough Council has a statutory duty to provide advice and 
assistance to everyone who is homeless or threatened with homelessness in 
the Borough, including people who are sleeping rough. The Housing Options 
and Advice Team works to prevent or relieve homelessness all year round, by 
working with households to help them to retain or secure suitable housing, 
and to access other forms of support. In Northampton,  There is  a dedicated 
Single Homelessness Service that offers single homeless people and 
childless couples (including those who are sleeping rough, ‘sofa surfing’ or at 
risk of becoming homeless) with advice, information, assistance and support:  

Single Homelessness Adviser  

 Based in the One Stop Shop, the Single Homelessness Adviser provides a 
‘triage’ service for single people and childless couples who are homeless or at 
risk of becoming homeless. Working closely with the Street Outreach Team, 
the Tenancy Relations Officer and the Nightshelter, the Single Homelessness 
Adviser is particularly adept at delaying and preventing homelessness, 
especially in relation to private rented accommodation and family breakdown.  

 

Street Outreach Workers  

 The Council’s two Street Outreach Workers deliver an assertive outreach 
service to people who are sleeping rough, providing them with the 
encouragement and support to access emergency housing and support. 
Using the intelligence they have gathered from a variety of sources (including 
members of the public) the Street Outreach Workers will visit all areas of the 
borough (including woods, parks and cemeteries) where it is known or 
suspected that someone may be sleeping rough.  

Northampton’s Emergency Nightshelter  

 Northampton’s Nightshelter first opened its doors on 6 February 2017. Every 
night, between 9.00pm and 9.00am, it provides somewhere safe, warm and 
dry to stay for up to 20 homeless men. There is also alternative emergency 
provision for women who are sleeping rough.  

 As the Nightshelter is not a direct access shelter, people will only be admitted 
if they have already been risk assessed and meet the access criteria. 
Decisions on whether or not a person is accommodated in the Nightshelter 
are normally made on the day they are interviewed. Everything at the 
Nightshelter (including the accommodation, toiletries, evening meal and 
breakfast) is provided free of charge.  

 

 

94



62 

 

Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP)  

 Although winter often poses the greatest risk to people’s health, it also 
provides increased opportunities to engage with entrenched rough sleepers 
and other hard-to-reach groups because they may be more likely to accept 
support at this time of year. Although there is no strict definition of what 
counts as ‘severe weather’, SWEP normally operates when the temperature 
falls below freezing and is forecast to remain below freezing for at least three 
consecutive nights. Throughout the winter, Officers monitor the Met Office's 
weather forecasts, taking into account any weather (including extreme cold, 
wind and rain) that is likely to increase the risk of serious harm to people 
sleeping rough. SWEP will operate from Oasis House between 9,00pm and 
7.00am. Anyone wishing to use SWEP must arrive before 11.00pm. If 
someone is sleeping rough – or is at risk of having to sleep rough – and does 
not meet the Nightshelter’s access criteria (because, for example, they are 
unwilling to engage with services) they can register for SWEP.  

 

Multi agency strategy  

 Working with more than 30 services and organisations, the Council developed 
a 3 year multi agency strategy, ‘TOGETHER we change lives’, to tackle, 
prevent and reduce rough sleeping.  

 The vast majority of the services and organisations that signed up to the multi-
agency strategy – including supported housing providers, faith groups and 
mental health/substance misuse support providers – have worked 
collaboratively with the Council to reduce rough sleeping. Regrettably, a small 
number of the organisations that initially pledged their support for 
‘TOGETHER we change lives’ have not done what they promised. Rough 
sleeping is a complex problem and the longer that someone sleeps rough, the 
harder it can be to help them leave the streets. The causes of homelessness 
are numerous and varied, and are exacerbated by the severe shortage of 
suitable, affordable housing. The main causes are relationship breakdown, 
leaving hospital or prison in an unplanned way, tenancy breakdown, the loss 
of private rented housing, mental ill-health, substance misuse and unmet 
support needs Officers are also seeing an increase in the number of people 
who have arrived in Northampton from other areas, and other countries, 
without making any accommodation arrangements and end up sleeping 
rough. As they have no ‘local connection’, the team will seek to reconnect 
them to their ‘home area’ in order that they can access the maximum help 
available. Accurately measuring the exact numbers of people sleeping rough 
is challenging. In 2010, the Coalition Government introduced a snapshot 
method which requires every local authority either to count or estimate the 
number of people sleeping rough in their area on one night every year. Each 
year, the Council carries out an Annual Rough Sleepers Count strictly in 
accordance with government criteria and guidance. This is the agreed method 
for tracking progress in tackling rough sleeping. During Northampton’s last 
Rough Sleepers Count on 10 November 2017, a total of 36 volunteers took 
part in the Count, which covered all 33 Wards and was carried out, as usual, 
between Midnight and 3.00am. The volunteers observed a total of 13 people 

95



63 

 

(10 men and 3 women) ‘bedded down’ in the borough. On the night of the 
Count, 11 men were staying in Northampton’s Emergency Night Shelter. The 
Council is planning to meet with local services and organisations to develop 
improved ways of recording and assessing rough sleeping. However, based 
on all of the intelligence available, it is estimated that on an average night 
there are around 25 non-UK nationals sleeping in tents on the outskirts of 
Northampton and around 15 people sleeping rough. The Council’s priority – 
reflected in ‘TOGETHER we change lives’ – is to intervene early, to get 
people off the streets before they become entrenched. 

 It is an established fact that people’s life expectancy is reduced if they sleep 
rough regularly and/or over a long period. Sleeping rough also has a 
devastating effect on a person’s health, self-esteem and wellbeing. As 
reported in the Government’s Rough Sleeping Strategy (August 2018):  

 The average age of death for a person who dies whilst living on the streets or 
in homeless accommodation in England is 47 years, compared to 77 for the 
general population  

 It is estimated that around 35% of people who die whilst sleeping rough or 
living in homeless accommodation died due to alcohol or drugs, compared to 
2% in the general population  

 Evidence suggests that homeless people have far higher rates of 
schizophrenia, anxiety disorders, depression and personality disorders than 
the general population  

 Around 31% of homeless people have complex needs (two or more support 
needs)  

 Evidence suggests that a person’s support needs increase the longer they 
stay on the streets, and also with age  

 People who sleep rough are frequently victims of violence and theft. In a 
survey of 458 homeless people who had slept rough in the past 12 months, 
one in three reported that they had been deliberately hit or kicked or 
experienced another form of violence, and more than half reported having 
their possessions stolen  

Community safety  

 Although the Council’s priority is to ensure that people who are sleeping rough 
receive the help, support and encouragement they need to come off the 
streets, it must protect the health and safety of the wider community. The Anti-
Social Behaviour Unit and the Community Safety & Engagement Team are 
responsible for tackling ASB in the town. ASB that is linked to rough sleeping 
may include urinating and defecating in the street or shop doorways, 
aggressive begging, injecting drugs, leaving drug paraphernalia in public 
places, and street drinking. Members of the public can find this behaviour very 
intimidating. Each year, the Council invests a significant amount of time and 
money in clearing tents, soiled bedding, bloodied needles, human waste and 
discarded rubbish from sites that have been used, but are then abandoned, 
by people sleeping rough. In 2018, the workers who cleared one of those 
abandoned sites – in the grounds of a church, close to a children’s nursery – 
removed a total of 300 needles, including some that had been concealed in 

96



64 

 

the canvas around the tent poles in order to hurt anyone who attempted to 
remove them. Tents, bedding, food and personal possessions will only be 
removed if they have been abandoned, are obstructing the highway or pose a 
risk to community safety. If the Police or the Council are concerned about a 
particular site and decide that it needs to be cleared, they will normally speak 
to the occupants during the days before the site is cleared in the hope they 
can be persuaded to move to another location. This approach usually works. 
When a site is cleared, the Police and/or the Council will arrange for any 
tents, soiled bedding/clothing, food, drugs paraphernalia, human waste and 
rubbish to be disposed of. Any personal possessions will be put into bags, 
‘tagged’ and placed in storage for 28 days. Relevant agencies will be informed 
of the action that the people who are affected will need to take to recover their 
possessions from storage. 

 Every week, the Street Outreach Workers undertake at least two outreach 
sessions (one very early in the morning and the other very late at night) to 
find, and engage with, people who are sleeping rough in Northampton. Using 
the intelligence they have gathered from a variety of sources (including 
members of the public) the Street Outreach Workers will visit all areas of the 
borough (including woods, parks and cemeteries) where it is known or 
suspected that someone may be sleeping rough. The Street Outreach 
Workers are assertive, persistent in persuading people to leave the streets, 
and deliver a consistent message. Often this can take time, especially if the 
person who is sleeping rough has multiple complex needs and/or has been 
sleeping rough for a long time. In addition to the twice-weekly outreach 
sessions, the Outreach Workers hold regular housing advice surgeries in 
Oasis House and the Guildhall. 7 The Street Outreach Workers’ priority is to 
intervene as early as possible in order to prevent homelessness and reduce, 
to an absolute minimum, the time people spend sleeping rough. To do this, 
they negotiate with landlords and families and help people access the 
Nightshelter, local housing projects and the private rented sector. Many of the 
people sleeping rough in Northampton have previously been let down by 
services. Establishing a rapport with them, and gaining their trust, can take 
time but this is something that the Outreach Workers are very good at. More 
recently, it has been found that a small but vociferous group currently 
operating in Northampton has deliberately undermined the work of the 
Outreach Workers and actively discouraged homeless people from leaving 
the streets. One of the challenges the Street Outreach Workers are facing at 
the moment was succinctly articulated by one of the people they found 
sleeping in a shop doorway in Abington Street who said: “I am getting three 
square meals a day, free clothing, bedding and toiletries, and money from 
benefits and begging to spend on drugs and alcohol. Why would I want to go 
into the Nightshelter?” During a recent outreach session, the Street Outreach 
Workers found four people who were sleeping rough but were not homeless; 
they had accommodation but, for a variety of reasons, did not return home 
that night. The Outreach Team is working to understand and address this. 

 The Council is successful – the Single Homelessness Adviser, the Street 
Outreach Workers and the Nightshelter Team don’t give up on people. A 
minority of groups and organisations undermine what the Council is doing by 

97



65 

 

refusing, or failing, to share information. There can be no justification for 
withholding information that will help the Council and its partners to identify, 
and engage with, people who are sleeping rough with a view to helping them 
to come off the streets. 

 If everyone works together, the need for people to sleep rough in 
Northampton can come to an end. Although this was something that everyone 
signed up to in ‘TOGETHER we change lives’, a small number of groups, 
services and organisations are not sharing information, working in a 
collaborative, joined-up way and/or delivering a consistent message. What is  
needed is for everyone to become more outcome-focused and to focus on 
improving the life chances of people who are sleeping rough. Some people 
have been accessing some services for a number of years but are still 
sleeping rough or without settled accommodation. It is only right that we ask 
why that is and what (if anything)  has been done to change that? 
Engagement is a vital tool in our toolkit, but it must be purposeful and focus 
on our desired outcome: helping people to leave the streets. 

 The ‘Housing First’ model could play a key role in meeting the needs of 
people sleeping rough with complex needs (where our usual approach would 
not be successful) and Housing Services is keen to learn more about how this 
could work in Northampton. The Government is planning to undertake an 
extensive and robust evaluation of its three ‘Housing First’ pilots and it has 
given an undertaking to ensure that all learning from these pilots will be used 
to inform decisions on rollout. The evaluation will begin in autumn 2018 The 
‘Housing First’ model is prescribed and requires appropriate resourcing to 
ensure successful outcomes.  Officers will need to carefully consider how they 
make best use of this model, so that it is a real tool to help the most 
vulnerable, and does not incentivise disengagement from services, or a 
refusal to engage with services in hope of being ‘fast tracked’ into this type of 
housing. 

 By its very nature, ‘hidden homelessness’ is extremely difficult to quantify. 
Officers are hoping that, as a result of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 
and the changes that have recently made to our Single Homelessness 
Service, Housing Services will be better equipped in the future to comment on 
the nature and extent ‘hidden homelessness’ in the Borough.  During the 
Autumn 2018, officers will establish a Homelessness Forum and start work on 
the development of a comprehensive Homelessness Review that will inform 
the new ‘Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy’. 

 With such a large number of groups, services and organisations, Northampton 
is very well placed to engage with harder to reach groups. It is essential, 
however, that everyone is committed to sharing information, working together, 
delivering consistent messages and encouraging them to engage with 
services that can help them leave the streets. Misinformation and adversarial 
‘posts’ on social media have put the Street Outreach Workers at risk of abuse 
from those who are sleeping rough and members of the public because of the 
way they have been portrayed. Rather than undermining the good work that is 
being done to tackle, prevent and reduce rough sleeping, everyone should 
affirm their commitment to ending the need for people to sleep rough and 

98



66 

 

commit to using all of their influence to persuade people to come off the 
streets. 

 The Council submits quarterly homelessness returns (P1E / HCLIC) to the 
MHCLG. It also has access to locally collected data, including the Street 
Outreach Log, the Night Shelter Referrals, the Night Shelter statistics and the 
Single Homelessness Adviser’s assessments and records. The new 
‘Homelessness & Rough Sleeping Strategy’ will be informed by a range of 
data and information. 

 The main reasons are the lack of affordable accommodation in the private 
sector, shortage of accommodation in the social sector and welfare reforms. 
Sometimes people do not know what help is available and/or how to access 
that help. There needs to be a ‘one door’ approach, more effort needs to be 
made to increase awareness of the housing options available and all 
organisations need to make every contact matter. 

 In response to the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, the Council is seeking 
to improve the information on its website and in leaflet form, particularly for 
vulnerable groups. This information will be available in different languages. 

 The Council would like to introduce ‘Housing First’ in Northampton. 

 The Community Safety Team and the Housing and Wellbeing Service work 
well together to support homeless people and rough sleepers. 

 The Street Outreach Workers undertake regular weekly assessments of 
everyone who is staying in the Nightshelter. 

 There is a need to understand the rationale behind other organisations’ 
approach to people who are homeless or sleeping rough. 

 

       Detective Chief Inspector, within Public Protection, Northants Police 

 Neighbourhood Police Officers engage with rough sleepers and homeless 
people.   The Detective Chief Inspector patrols every few months basis on a 
Friday and Saturday night as part of the ‘nightsafe’ plan. He has observed lots 
of homeless people, who are at increased risk from drunk and rowdy 
members of the public.  The Detective Chief Inspector has seen how 
vulnerable homeless people can be in such situations.  Homeless people are 
more likely to be both victims and perpetrators of crime.  It is common that 
they have mental health issues, drug and alcohol abuse.  A number of 
homeless people have been released from prison.    

 Housing and Wellbeing, NBC, have senior staff sitting on Groups such the 
Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) and that the work of 
the Housing Manager is exceptional. The MAPPA strategic board Panel 
recently commended the work of the NBC Housing and Money Advice 
Manager.   

 Homeless individuals need stability and that prevention measures, including 
support with drug, alcohol and mental health issues would minimise the 
chances of them being homeless and help prevent re-offending. 

99



67 

 

 It is better for someone released from prison to be appropriately housed with 
support and scrutiny in place rather than to be on the streets with no control 
measures and their whereabouts unknown in the UK. 

 The Police do see a number of people living on the streets and are aware of a 
number of individuals that ‘sofa surf’. 

 Homelessness features on the agenda of a number of Groups such as the 
Suicide Prevention Group and Arms Forces Covenant. 

 The Police operate the Coroner’s Office but data regarding housing status of 
deceased persons is not routinely collected. However, for the past two months 
such data has begun to be collected. 

 The work of the Street Pastors at the weekend is commended and said that 
Police Officers will signpost rough sleepers to both the Night Shelter and the 
Street Pastors for support and advice. 

 Every time an individual is taken into custody in the county their physical and 
mental health needs are subject to an assessment and they have an 
opportunity to be seen by a health care professional.  . They are also given 
warm food and drinks and basic clothing if required. They are signposted to 
relevant Agencies for assistance. 

 On occasions a rough sleeper has been known to offend so that they can get 
a bed and food for the night.  This probably happens handful of times in a 
month 

 Hate crime against homeless people is currently not specifically recorded (as 
for example racist or homophobic behaviour is) 

 Hidden homelessness is not a well-known term to the Police.  A DASH form is 
completed for every domestic abuse incident the Police attend. This assesses 
the risk to victims and gauges them as standard, medium or high. High risk is 
prioritised. 

  

Chief Executive, Hope Centre 

 Hope runs extensive services for homeless people, including its day centre 

project running six days a week plus its training, social enterprise and food aid 

projects. It sees approximately 100 people a day who are homeless according 

to Crisis definitions, of within which, across a week, perhaps 60-80 rough 

sleepers attend its services. As a result, and drawing from 45 years delivery of 

service, the Chief Executive believes its understanding of the nature of the 

problem, its causes and solutions, is unrivalled. 

 Many of the causes are national or even international in causation: the 

reduction in social rent properties brought about by sale of council houses and 

the failure to replace these with others of equivalent type. The private rented 

sector makes up part of the gap but increasingly, and perhaps more so in 

Northampton, insecurity in private rented tenancies is an increasing cause of 

homelessness and more and more landlords sell, or otherwise harass and 

100



68 

 

evict people they no longer want as tenants; or refuse to let to people on low 

wages or benefits. Wages in Northampton are low, and work often insecure, 

and rents high, which compounds the problem. 

 The problem is heightened, the Chief Executive believes, by the allocation 

policies and practice of housing department staff within Northampton 

Borough, which takes a highly restricted response to the needs of homeless 

people, usually putting them through barriers and hoops before considering 

them.  

 The Chief Executive believes there may be as many as 100 street homeless 

using the Crisis definition which includes people in tents, cars, sheds etc. This 

figure is based on the number it has assessed since July 2018.  There is 

simply no question that rough sleeping is dangerous and damaging to the 

health; through cold, violence by others, drugs and alcohol, and risk from 

traffic. The scale of deaths in Northampton, from the data collected by ONS 

and the Bureau of Investigative Journalism, is apparently far above that 

experienced in any other area of comparable size.   

 Rough sleepers are more likely to be the victims of violence rather than its 

perpetrators, although there is a degree of risk between its own members. 

Women are at heightened risk including of sexual violence and exploitation. 

 There are some associated problems with drunkenness and ASB but people 

begging and generally on the street often make people assume these 

problems are all to do with homelessness but often they are not.  

 The Borough provides outreach services and the night shelter, with its move 

on, and manages general homelessness applications that do not go through 

the night shelter. 

 The Chief Executive’s view is that these services are run in such a way that is 

often perceived by service users and workers in other agencies as hostile and 

punitive towards homeless people, requiring them to navigate sometimes 

incomprehensible barriers of access, and delivered with a perceived lack of 

compassion and empathy for their needs. The limitations of the night shelter 

were demonstrated, the Chief Executive said, in the BOIJ report last year, but 

this followed on from a joint request for changed practice from 3 agencies to 

the Borough in January 2018 that was ignored by the Council.  

 The Council achieves some effectiveness, the Chief Executive said, with the 

comparatively restricted cohort of men whom it chooses to accept and to work 

with, by being able to offer housing. But it fails to encourage people to attend 

Hope or any other services and at times has attempted to duplicate     

services that the Hope Centre already provides. In the Chief Executive’s 

101



69 

 

opinion, with a better attitude on the part of the council’s staff, services could 

work together very effectively. The Chief Executive believes that Hope is a 

paradigm for quality in day services, and it is at  the very forefront of 

achievement in offering services that advance people’s lives, skills, 

confidence and management of their problems, but none of this is recognised 

by certain members of the Council’s staff and Councillor Hibbert.  

 The Chief Executive believes really fundamental changes in attitude and 

practice are needed: With an open and listening approach by the NBC 

housing team, the Hope Centre would be able to work in collaboration not 

conflict. NBC should work properly in partnership and respect with external 

agencies, sharing decision making and working together in equality.. NBC 

should adopt more compassionate and fair attitudes and working practices 

when engaging with homeless people and voluntary agencies and community 

groups. It could contract with he said, with the Hope Centre or others to 

provide services instead of doing it all itself.  

 The Chief Executive  believes that outsourcing, and stepping back from direct 

provision is the way forward, as it was in the past, in an era when the problem 

was managed with compassion and fairness and good relationships existed 

between the council and the voluntary and community sector. 

 The Chief Executive believes that Housing First is a good way forward for 

some street homeless people and the Hope Centre would be willing to 

provide, if funded, , the support  that people need to sustain their tenancies; 

we would of course work to identify people for housing. It’s obvious; housing 

is one of the best ways to solve homelessness, alongside the proper support 

which we are well placed to provide. 

 There are possibly thousands of people, he said, who are in  some way de 

facto ‘homeless’ in our town; young people forced to stay with their parents; 

people sharing flats etc, alongside the street homeless.  The Hope Centre’s  

main expertise, he said, is with the latter.  Groups in specific communities – 

LGBT, ethnic minorities - are particularly hidden. 

 Funding agencies like Hope and others to do real outreach work based on 

wanting to help them, not on wanting to exclude them.   

 The Chief Executive is of  the opinion that the official figures understate the 

level of the problem in every category. For example the rough sleeper figure 

given in street counts, by ignoring the latitude in the guidance to include 

people who by common sense could be judged to be homeless, was and is 

inaccurate and this has led to non-allocation of central government funding as 

a result. 

102



70 

 

Director of Public Health, Northamptonshire County Council 

Key points: 

 Public Health commissions services that contribute to either supporting 

those people who are currently rough sleeping or homeless, or people 

who are at risk of becoming homeless to remain in accommodation.  

 For example the Public Health commissioned drug and alcohol treatment 

service providers deliver programmes that support vulnerable groups of 

people who without this support, are at high risk of homelessness. The 

Provider employs workers to identify people living on the street with drug 

and alcohol problems and provides links to housing officers, where 

appropriate, to support people to continue to access services.    

 In addition public health contributes to a social wellbeing contract with 

Commsortia, which provides wrap around support for single vulnerable 

adults who are homeless or threatened with homelessness and who face 

specific challenges in securing and maintaining their own accommodation. 

Wrap around support is time limited and usually offered to individuals as 

part of a supported housing offer. We work with local housing teams with 

a view to moving people back into recovery and independence. Priority is 

given to individuals with a learning need or significant mental health 

condition, substance or alcohol dependency, history of domestic violence 

or history of offending.  

 This year public health has also led a multi-disciplinary team to support 

the homeless, rough sleepers and those people living in supported 

accommodation to access health services, offering infectious disease 

screening, NHS health checks, liver screening, flu vaccination and help to 

register with a local GP. Four events took place in the NBC area in 

December 2018. 

 For those people who have need for sexual health services, open access 

clinics are available, and Public Health has recently recommissioned a 

new service that will deliver outreach sexual health services to vulnerable 

people including the homeless.   

 There are many reasons why people are homeless and/ or rough sleep, 

and there is usually more than one contributory factor. Commonly 

homelessness is divided into three interdependent categories; personal 

causes – lack of support, debt, poor health, relationship breakdown; 

structural causes – local housing availability, policies and affordability; 

and the reasons people state themselves; breakdown of social and family 

circumstances and refusal by their network to accommodate them, loss of 

tenancy. However, these reasons are only the catalysts that may trigger 

people into seeking assistance, and not the underlying issues that have 

caused the crisis to build up in the first place. In reality for many people, 

103



71 

 

there's no single event that results in sudden homelessness. Instead, 

homelessness is due to a number of unresolved problems co-existing 

over a period of time.  

 Regardless of the category, the stigma associated with homelessness is 

well acknowledged. Many people have experienced adverse life events as 

a child and/or adult that has led to homelessness either directly or 

indirectly, for example, bereavement, divorce, unemployment and leaving 

the armed forces. Indeed many people with this or without these 

experiences also suffer from complex mental and physical health risks 

and/ or conditions which may be the cause or be a contributory factor to 

their homelessness.  

 Groups of people at higher risk of homelessness are: ex-armed forces 

personnel, ex-offenders, care leavers, those people who are substance 

misusers, immigrants and men and women fleeing domestic violence. 

Also included are single people, who do not meet the threshold for 

accommodation and cannot afford private rented accommodation. 

 To fully understand the root cause of homelessness in each area local 

authorities have spoken directly to people rough sleeping to determine 

how their life situation has led them to this point, and while this will be 

individual, patterns of need where focused service provision could be 

deployed at prevention and early intervention levels have been 

highlighted. 

 This can be considered from two perspectives – the implications for the 

rough sleeper and the impact on the local community. 

 The average age of death of a single homeless person is 30 years lower 

than the general population at 47 years, and even lower for homeless 

women, at just 43 years.  

 The homeless/rough sleepers can often have chaotic and unhealthy 

lifestyles and experience some of the worst health problems in society 

and face significant barriers to accessing treatment; registering with a GP, 

or dentist, using preventative services such as sexual health services, 

maintaining access to drug and treatment services, and mental heal 

health services when required; and often wait until their health is at a 

critical state, and attend, or are conveyed to emergency acute care.  For 

women the profile of rough sleepers is often linked to abuse, fleeing from 

abusive relationships resulting in homelessness, and often leading to 

further abusive relationships living on the street. A small scale study by 

East London housing partnership in 2014 estimated that of the women 

sleeping rough, 73% had experienced domestic violence, 65% had 

substance misuse needs, and 77% suffered mental ill-health. 

104



72 

 

 From a safety position, it is also perceived by the homeless that there are 

geographical locations where they feel unsafe, for example, areas where 

street lighting is dim; people are less secure and are vulnerable, and 

consequently will congregate in more well-lit areas for safety. 

 From the perspective of the community, rough sleepers are clearly visible, 

and are often misunderstood and therefore avoided, perceived to have 

health problems such as mental ill-health and substance misuse 

problems, and often considered to be rough sleeping as a result of 

personal circumstances for which they are responsible. This national view 

is often exacerbated by incidents of poor behaviour, littered sleeping 

areas and aggressive begging, although there is little evidence of this 

behaviour locally.  

 Northampton has a good night shelter, which moves people through 

quickly and provides effective support. People come to Northampton 

because they can get a hot meal every night and there is peer support 

within the shelter.  

 This shelter is currently available for men. For women there is a lack of 

available shelter, and for vulnerable women such as sex workers the lack 

of a safe overnight location increases their susceptibility to crime, and 

they can be targeted.  

 Street outreach workers: The role is to deliver two assertive outreach 

services per week to people who are sleeping rough; one in the morning 

and the other late-night. These outreach sessions offer housing advice 

and support any negotiation with landlords and families, help people 

access the night shelter, local housing projects and the private rented 

sector. 

 Reconnection service: This is for people who are sleeping rough in 

Northampton and have no local connection, NBC help them return to an 

area (or country of origin) that is familiar to them and where they may 

have local connections and be better supported. To assist with the 

person’s reconnection, it organises their travel and meet their travel costs. 

 Single Homelessness Adviser: Works closely with the Street Outreach 

Team, the Tenancy Relations Officer and Northampton’s Emergency 

Night shelter and is proficient at delaying and preventing homelessness 

especially in relation to private rented accommodation and family 

breakdown. 

 SWEP (severe weather emergency protocol):  normally operates when 

the temperature falls below freezing and is forecast to remain below 

freezing for a period of at least three consecutive nights. If someone is 

sleeping rough, or is at risk of having to sleep rough, and does not meet 

105



73 

 

the access criteria of Northampton's Emergency Night shelter (because, 

for example, they are unwilling to engage with local services) they can 

register for SWEP. 

 In addition there are local agencies such as the HOPE centre, Jesus 

Centre and Mayday Trust who offer: 

1. Provision of practical needs; also about giving the time, 
dignity and friendship to those facing tragedies, 
difficulties, addictions and hopelessness. 

2. Run day centres, inspire learning, improve employability 
and provide emergency shelter in severe weather. 

 

The Director of Public Health would welcome:  

 A plan to work in collaboration with public and voluntary sectors. 
 Availability of walk in emergency shelters to provide temporary 

stay throughout the year, not just in winter. 
 More timely provision of support and accommodation, as the 

lengthy process pushes a person to sleep rough and get trapped 
in to the circle of its negative influence.    

 Consistent multiagency engagement with active dissenters to 
influence behavioural change.  

 

 Placing people in accommodation after being homeless for a period of time, 

with their individual health needs and vulnerabilities, without the necessary 

support can lead to an increase in poor social behaviours, a lack of ability to 

self-care, impact on unplanned care services and an increased risk of 

eviction.  

 People need to be supported to care for themselves as part of a programme 

of housing and care, to be helped to access services they need and take a 

step towards independence. The Housing First Model provides a framework, 

locally applied based on need, and supported by local health and social care 

organisations to give people the best chance of recovery for the long term.  

 Public health could contribute to this by ensuring our commissioned services 

are working more closely on an outcome based commissioned approach to 

provide outreach services that support individuals as part of a planned 

intervention, where services are more tailored to individual need and the 

impact on individuals is monitored. 

 Official statistics under-represent the scale and numbers of people affected by 

homelessness as many people do not show up on official figures – this 

includes people who become homeless but receive temporary 

accommodation, ‘being put up’ by friends and relatives, live in squats of in 

other insecure accommodation. 

106



74 

 

 Services and organisations can connect with, and meaningfully engage with, 

harder to reach groups via: 

 Through outreach – services need to go to these individuals and 
groups rather than expect them to go to services.  

 Eradicating, at a minimum reducing stigmatisation and judgement of 
the homeless by front line workers would encourage greater 
engagement with this group of people. 

 Better partnership working in which the work of individual 
organisations/services with the homeless is properly recognised and 
co-ordinated. 

 Northamptonshire Armed Forces Covenant Partnership notes that ex-
armed forces personnel are at higher risk of homelessness compared 
to the general population. The NCC Public Health team hosts the 
Armed Forces Covenant Partnership Officer and through the Covenant 
partners work together to better meet the needs of our armed forces 
community, including addressing housing needs where relevant / 
appropriate.  

 

 As a system Partner organisations should more effectively take action to 

implement the Homelessness Reduction Act – Duty to Refer. Working with 

and ensuring that the relevant organisations have established relevant 

processes and are meeting their duty to make those referrals is a way in 

which NBC could work in partnership to prevent homelessness. 

 Numbers of homeless and rough sleepers is difficult to obtain with accuracy. 

People bed down at different times, seek shelter in derelict buildings and can 

be unseen. Each year every LA in England does estimate or count the 

number of people living rough in their area which is submitted to DCLG as an 

estimate of the number of people sleeping rough on one static night.  

 Data published in 2018 showed 4,751 people sleeping rough in England on 

one night. There should be caution based on this figure for the reasons 

discussed above and also as new data will be available on 31st January 2019. 

 Locally we collect data on rough sleeping as this relates to service activity – 

again caution needs to be taken as these are people presenting to services; 

we know that many rough sleepers do not routinely access services and 

therefore any data we have is likely to be an underestimate. 

 It is fair to say that people who sofa surf are not usually choosing this as a 

lifestyle, and do so for a number of reasons. These reasons could be that they 

have no expectation that they will meet a priority threshold for local authority 

provided accommodation, or that there is a convenience to knowing you have 

a roof over your head, or that this provides company, in a location where you 

may want to remain. Indeed this could also be the most economical route to 

107



75 

 

accommodation. In some cases these people may not identify themselves as 

‘homeless’ or, even if they do, do not wish to be counted as a statistic and 

therefore do not register for help. 

 In addition there are too few available accommodation units, and the move on 

plan for those people in this accommodation is not as timely as it could be, 

this creating a lack of throughput to secure, long term housing. 

 The landscape can be difficult to negotiate and is not always helped by the 

fact that each Borough and District has its own individual housing strategy 

and priorities. It would be helpful to produce a clear guide to housing support 

services in each area. 

 Local organisations are aware that there are areas of the town that require a 

focus by services, such as the bus station, Market Square, Mc Donald’s area 

and the Drapery. 

 Linked to this Armed Forces Covenant is the Ministry of Defence’s ‘Future 

Accommodation Model’ is a revised approach to providing accommodation for 

service personnel and their families which may have implications for their 

housing needs.   

 Housing authorities need to work more in partnership with other organisations 

in the area with a statutory responsibility or who have been commissioned to 

provide services or commission services to identify what resource is available, 

which each service offer is, what outcomes are being achieved at what cost to 

look for opportunities to collaborate. The development of a Homelessness 

Pathways Map, and to develop services with partners to make a 

demonstrable impact at scale would be a good starting point. 

 There is a need to engage the homeless population more often and more 

effectively so that they recognise they are valued members of society and 

worth support, rather than stigmatised.  

Manager, Northampton Jesus Fellowship 

Key points: 

o It is vital for the organisation to know where to refer people. There is a 
need for agencies to share information about what they do and how 
they can help. Each has a lot of expertise. The Northampton Jesus 
Fellowship had sent representatives to the recent ROC discussions 
and believed that there is a lot of potential and a lot happening in the 
town but it is not joined up.  

o The Northampton Jesus Fellowship is open Monday to Friday. It has a 
drop-in (“Step Up”) for two hours every morning.  Between 70 - 80 
people visit the organisation on Sundays. Attendance has increased 

108



76 

 

significantly during the past year and is now around twice what it was a 
year ago.   

o Universal Credit has had an impact and there is now a large 
representation from Eastern Europe. 

o The Northampton Jesus Fellowship has an excellent relationship with 
the Council’s Street Outreach Workers who visit the building regularly. 

o Some of the people who visit the Northampton Jesus Fellowship have 
lost their ID, are sleeping in tents and trying to maintain a job from a 
tent.  There is a need to work with them to make private rent affordable 
without a big deposit; there is a need for discussions with private 
landlords.    

 
HealthWatch, Northants 
 
HealthWatch, Northants published a report  - Access to health and social care 
services for Northamptonshire’s homeless and vulnerably housed population 
The views of homeless people and professionals (March 2017) 
 
Summary of the report: 

 
“On hearing that the Northampton Borough Council Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee were examining the provision of services for 
homeless people in Northampton, Healthwatch Northamptonshire 
undertook a piece of work to find out more about the views and 
experiences of using health and social care services of this seldom heard 
group. We were particularly interested in finding out about the barriers 
homeless people face when accessing and using local services, including: 
primary care, urgent care, mental health services, wellbeing services, and 
social care and support services. Healthwatch Northamptonshire spoke to 
five organisations working with homeless people across the county and 25 
homeless people or people who had been recently homeless in 
Northampton, Rushden and Wellingborough. We heard about some good 
support for homeless people in Northampton and other towns across the 
county, particularly that provided by homeless charities, but the support 
available across the county appears to be variable. Access to GP 
practices was not as big a problem as we expected it to be – many in 
Rushden told us they had remained with the practice they were with 
before becoming homeless and homeless people in Northampton were 
able to use Maple Access Partnership surgery, which they felt understood 
their needs and provided good treatment. However, we also heard that 
due to a lack of GP places in Rushden, some homeless people had to 
register at practices out of town, which they were unable to get to. We 
also learnt that homeless people often distrust GPs and health 
professionals, feeling they do not understand their lives and the issues 
they face, or that they do not need to register with these services if they 
are not ill or in pain. Rather than wanting better access to services such 
as GPs and dentists, the homeless people we spoke to prioritised their 
more immediate needs, such as having somewhere to sleep (many 
struggled to sleep at night due to the cold and concerns about safety or 

109

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s58126/Homelessness%20SP%20response%20HomelessaccessreportFINAL140317.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s58126/Homelessness%20SP%20response%20HomelessaccessreportFINAL140317.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s58126/Homelessness%20SP%20response%20HomelessaccessreportFINAL140317.pdf


77 

 

being moved on), dry feet and podiatry services, and access to good, hot 
food. We also learnt about how alcohol is used to help people cope with 
their circumstances and how this can be a barrier to people accessing 
mental health services and other support, due to professionals not 
understanding how the two are linked. Many homeless people experience 
mental health issues and access to psychiatrists and Community 
Psychiatric Nurses (CPNs) was difficult for some, particularly outside of 
Northampton. Again, homeless people desire to be treated holistically by 
mental and physical health professionals, rather than being made to 
address problems, such as alcoholism, before receiving treatment for 
other health issues.” 
 

           Midland Heart (Oasis House) 
 
 Salient points: 
 

 Midland Heart manages Oasis House, a high-quality housing scheme 
that offers temporary accommodation and support to homeless people 
in Northampton. There are 48 units at the scheme: nine direct access 
beds and 39 move-on apartments. The scheme also has an IT suite, 
training rooms and onsite laundry. Access to the accommodation   is 
through Northampton multi agency assessment panel which meets 
weekly. 

 Oasis House services are delivered in partnership with Northampton 
Borough Council. These include advice and support with employment 
options and substance misuse. NAASH provides housing related 
support  for  the residents of Oasis House. The Hope Centre operates 
the Day Centre on the ground floor of the premises, offering food and 
supplies along with signposting and befriending initiatives.  This facility 
is soon to move to another location nearby, enabling the expansion of 
housing provision through conversion of some of the ground floor 
communal  space, of Oasis House, in order to help reduce rough 
sleeping. 

 The most recent count of rough sleepers in Northampton indicated that 
numbers had increased from 13 in 2017 to 26 in 2018. These figures 
do not include those in emergency shelters on the night of the count. 
Homeless Link has identified trauma, compounded by poverty, as a 
significant underlying cause of entrenched or repeat homelessness. 
Adverse experiences can result in personal problems affecting ability to 
sustain a tenancy, such as mental illness and substance misuse, which 
may in turn be linked to crime and antisocial behaviour.  

 The rough sleeper population is far more likely to suffer from chronic 
illness, and diagnosis of more than one long-term medical condition is 
not uncommon among this group. Whilst mental health problems and 
substance misuse may contribute to homelessness and make it harder 
to escape into permanent settled accommodation, homelessness can 
itself trigger or exacerbate these problems. According to Government 
data, rough sleepers are also 15 times more likely to fall victim to crime 
such as violent assault. Research by Crisis and Sheffield University 

110



78 

 

into the implications of rough sleeping has drawn sobering conclusions. 
Currently the typical life expectancy for a rough sleeper in the UK 
stands at 47, indicating that sleeping rough can reduce your lifespan by 
approximately 30 years. Among women, rough sleeping reverses the 
usual expectation of a longer-than-average life: female rough sleepers, 
on average, can expect to live to the age of 43.  

 Northampton operates a Street Outreach Team from several locations 
in the town, including Oasis House and the Guildhall. The Street 
Outreach Workers encourage rough sleepers to use the  Night Shelter 
and to seek treatment for any medical problems. The Night Shelter 
operates on a referral-only basis for single males. Service users 
receive wraparound support from a staffed facility, securing benefits 
and offering advice with the aim of building stable foundations from 
which to work toward independent living.  

 The Street Outreach team  engages proactively with those sleeping 
rough within the Borough to encourage them to access housing. This 
reduces the incidence of rough sleeping at a local and responsive 
level, and encourages uptake of support., l In 2019, the Council 
successfully applied to Central Government for additional funds  to 
operate a Winter Shelter and expand its Street Outreach Service for 
the period 14 February to 31 March 2019  

 Tackling homelessness is about much more than providing access to 
accommodation, as homelessness is a usually symptom of other 
deeper problems. A quick solution may therefore not be an effective 
one; securing a tenancy is not necessarily a successful outcome in 
itself, and in many cases, a tailored programme of support is required. 
High quality support services are crucial but unfortunately, many of the 
specialist agencies relied upon to provide support for people with 
complex needs are under unprecedented strain. We would welcome 
further assurance about the long term funding arrangements for 
specialist support services, and in particular the role that health service 
providers will play in helping the housing sector to tackle this problem.  

 Housing First has proven successful in other countries (notably 
Finland) and has the potential to succeed locally. However, it should 
not be considered a panacea. Where Housing First has been effective, 
it is because homelessness has been recognised as more than a 
housing problem and interventions have focused on addressing 
underlying issues. These may include problems relating to mental 
illness or substance misuse. Housing First requires the right 
combination of a permanent, secure home in a positive community 
setting, coupled with intensive support. A failure to get the formula right 
could result in a ‘drag’ effect on recovery, or in the proliferation of 
antisocial behaviour in the surrounding neighbourhood. Where a 
Housing First model relies on scattered general-needs homes, the 
need for a robust network of effective long-term support services will be 
even more critical. Reassurances would also be needed that support 
will not be withdrawn after a fixed timeframe. Our involvement with 
Housing First services is limited in contrast to our substantially larger 
support contracts. Midland Heart does, however, have a small 

111



79 

 

commissioned service in the Staffordshire area delivering support for 
up to eight entrenched homeless people at any one time. This is 
facilitated through a regular multi-agency meeting comprising of key 
agencies including NHS, specialist mental health and substance 
misuse, welfare rights, housing and employment. These meetings have 
seen a significant increase in levels of engagement from those on the 
programme.  As a landlord, its experience with Housing First has been 
challenging. Delivering its housing management function when service 
users disengaged with support was difficult, and affected the balance 
of our communities. In some cases, once customers received 
accommodation with a security of tenure, this resulted in a significant 
decrease in engagement. In terms of successful outcomes, within the 
last year two of the eight people on our Staffordshire-based Housing 
First programme were so entrenched they were unable to sustain their 
accommodation and struggled with engagement. Five have been 
successfully housed, however, and continue to engage with services. A 
recent example is an entrenched rough sleeper who historically had 
low levels of engagement with services. On attendance at the meeting, 
he was diagnosed with a mental health condition as well as substance 
addiction. His engagement continued, enabling him to sustain 
accommodation and address longstanding support needs successfully 
for the first time in 17 years.  

 Unless ‘hidden’ homeless people such as sofa-surfers  present to the 
Council as needing accommodation, they will would remain largely 
unknown.  

 Charitable organisations with high levels of engagement may have 
different thresholds for acceptable behaviour for service users within 
their premises. Attempting to enforce a different standard of behaviour 
within a commissioned service, with robust policies and procedures 
relating to safety, can then prove challenging. Customers will ultimately 
go to the resource where they feel most comfortable, though this may 
not be the most effective for their individual needs. A consistent 
approach to acceptable behaviours and safeguarding across all 
support providers (whether commissioned, specialist or charitable) 
would further improve our ability to engage with people. Where failure 
to take up support services results in persistent antisocial behaviour, 
enforcement action should remain a last resort to discourage this 
adversely affecting the public. Of course, the hardest to reach may be 
unwilling to advertise their presence at all.  Midland Heart is  aware of 
encampments outside the main town centre area, which are not always 
easy to find. Records of Winter Shelter users indicate that around half 
are unemployed East European nationals with no recourse to public 
funds, and this group may try to escape notice to avoid contact with 
immigration services for fear of removal to their country of origin. 
Where unemployed EU nationals have no entitlement to assistance, 
NAASH will aim to reconnect individuals with friends either in the UK or 
elsewhere, or support them to access income and private-sector 
accommodation. There is therefore a helpline advertised that people 

112



80 

 

can contact if they see rough sleepers anywhere, and the Outreach 
team will investigate. 

 Each year, a `snapshot’ rough sleeper count takes place, using 
nationally prescribed criteria.  Although it is acknowledged that this 
methodology may not reflect the true number of people sleeping rough, 
it enables a comparison to be made to identify changes from year to 
year. Following the rough sleeper counts the Night Shelter was brought 
into being. Very accurate statistics are recorded in relation to people 
using the Night Shelter and also for people using the Winter Shelter at 
Oasis House.  

 There are many diverse reasons that could lead to someone finding 
themselves without a permanent home. Midland Heart believes that 
hidden homelessness can in some cases be linked to overcrowding 
where sufficient affordable housing cannot be found. Research by 
Shelter and the WHO has shown overcrowding to impact upon mental 
health and educational attainment, but also to carry adverse effects for 
familial relationships. It can therefore also result in partners or adult 
children moving out to stay with friends or relatives on an informal 
basis. Midland Heart believes that shortages of suitable housing stock 
contribute to this problem. This is reflected in the Borough’s adopted 
local development plan. The plan acknowledges that within 
Northampton a need has been identified for more larger family homes, 
and also for smaller properties with one or two bedrooms. The recent 
freeze on Local Housing Allowance, and limitations placed  on 
entitlements for under-35s, may further limit existing housing options 
within the Borough. Midland Heart is keen to expand its development 
output across the Midlands, and are committed to playing our part in 
addressing the shortage of affordable homes.  

 When Northampton Borough Council originally started the ’Together 
we change lives’ strategy, many partner agencies, charities and local 
business were involved in forming the strategy and surrounding 
policies. At the time there were regular meetings to discuss its 
application, which we found very helpful. In recent years there has 
been less contact to discuss policies, though it received an update 
regarding central Government’s recent new strategy. A return to 
regular contact meetings would be welcome.  

 Meeting the needs of its service users continues to be a challenge in 
respect of engagement with statutory services. A substantial number of 
its safeguarding requests are assessed as not being a priority, even 
when residents pose a threat to themselves or others. Clinical 
intervention options remain limited and support providers continue to 
receive referrals for a higher level of need than the service is 
commissioned for, or able to deliver. Statutory multi-agency led 
accommodation-based services for higher needs and difficult-to-
engage rough sleepers would provide a real opportunity to address key 
factors in homelessness, which cannot be met through non-statutory 
support provision. In cases of complex and multiple needs, such as 
undiagnosed mental health issues with substance misuse exacerbating 
the mental health condition, mental health teams are unwilling to 

113



81 

 

engage without substance misuse crisis intervention. Conversely, 
specialist substance misuse services would prefer for mental health 
conditions to be addressed first. This approach in itself is a hindrance 
to addressing multi-faceted needs which cannot be addressed in 
isolation. Midland Heart would like to see the health service taking on a 
stronger lead in providing services that will help address the root 
causes of homelessness, along with increased collaboration with other 
agencies. A fully joined-up approach – whereby Housing, Adult 
Services, Probation and Public Health collaborate in pooling resources 
and jointly commissioning responses – would enable a greater impact 
on homelessness and rough sleeping. This should include efforts to 
persuade statutory agencies to voluntarily sign up to a duty to prevent 
homelessness, over and above the duty to refer detailed in the 
Homelessness Reduction Act. Midland Heart would support wider 
awareness and promotion to the public of the impact of donating cash 
to beggars, and how significantly this can hinder an authority’s ability to 
address the issues of rough sleeping and substance misuse. However, 
this should of course be approached sensitively to avoid adverse 
effects on rough sleepers themselves. 

  
 3.6      Members of the Public 

           Salient points: 

 There are around 60-80 Rough sleepers in the town.   November is not 
the best time to carry out a Rough Sleepers Count and   concern was 
raised that only those that are bedded down can be counted.   

 Ex-Servicemen have difficulty adapting to civilian life.   Reference was 
made to the number of people sleeping in doorways and in the 
encampments in church yards, and said that government policy was to 
blame. 

 The Council should do everything it can to tackle visible homelessness 
and invisible homelessness,  

 Concern was expressed about the safety and wellbeing of female 
rough sleepers    

 The town has a housing crisis, with homelessness rising to 
unprecedented levels and with a corresponding increase in rough 
sleeping.  The housing crisis has been caused by the policies of 
Central Government – the lack of house building, cuts in welfare, the 
shared accommodation housing benefit rate for the under 35s, 
bedroom tax, a cap on benefits, no cap on rents.  He added that 
landlords evict families for no reason other than putting up rents and 
converting properties into HIMOs.  There had been a huge loss of 
supported housing for mental health patients, ex-offenders and older 
people. This was exacerbated by local conditions, particularly hidden 
homelessness. He queried the data and monitoring. 

 Concern about the contents of the report of the Housing Options & 
Advice Manager that had been submitted to the September 2018 
meeting of this Panel.   Parts of the report may have given a 

114



82 

 

misleading impression of some local services, including the Hope 
Centre.    

4       Equality Impact Assessment 
 

4.1 Overview and Scrutiny ensures that it adheres to the Council’s statutory 

duty to provide the public with access to Scrutiny reports, briefing 

notes, agendas, minutes and other such documentation.  Meetings of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Panels are 

widely publicised, i.e. on the Council’s website, copies issued to the 

local media and paper copies are made available in the Council’s One 

Stop Shop and local libraries. 

4.2 The Scrutiny Panel was mindful of the eight protected characteristics 

when undertaking this scrutiny activity so that any recommendations 

that it made could identify potential positive and negative impacts on 

any particular sector of the community.  This was borne in mind as the 

Scrutiny Panel progressed with the review and evidence gathered. 

4.3              So that the Scrutiny Panel obtains a wide range of views, a number of 

key witnesses provided evidence as detailed in section 3 of this report. 

4.4              Details of the Equality Impact Assessment undertaken can be located on 

the Overview and Scrutiny webpage. 

 

5 

 

Conclusions and Key Findings 

 

5.1       After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were drawn: 

5.1.1 The Scrutiny Panel realised that homelessness is a complex problem.   There 
is a need for a targeted approach to entrenched rough sleepers.       The 
Council has made a successful bid for rough sleeper funding which will 
expand the outreach service and employ one mental health worker to the 
team 

 

5.1.2 Hidden homelessness is difficult to identify and quantify, but Officers, do have 
an idea of the types of people who needed to use the winter shelter.  There is 
a need for wider support for females who are homeless.  

 

5.1.3 It was emphasised that people coming out of prison need homes.  Prisons 
have a Duty to Refer (under the Homeless Reduction Act) to housing service,  
and Northampton’s Housing Services is hoping to be able to make better links 
with prisons with the recruitment of the additional officer. 

115

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your_council_elections_meetings_and_members/464/overview_and_scrutiny/11


83 

 

 

5.1.4 The Scrutiny Panel was pleased that the Night Shelter is making a real and 
lasting difference to the hundreds of people who have stayed there. However, 
it is not the only housing option available to people who are sleeping rough 
and it is unreasonable to expect the Night Shelter to meet everyone’s housing 
and support needs, irrespective of the risk they pose and their level of 
engagement. 

 

5.1.5 There is a need for more bed spaces in accommodation in the town for 

homeless women. Women are able to stay at Oasis House but not at the 

Night Shelter. There are a lot of women who are “hidden homeless”.  

5.1.6 The Scrutiny Panel noted that there is a men’s refuge in Kettering. The 
majority of men at this refuges have been subject to honour abuse.  There is a 
need for more refuges for both men and women across the country. 

 

5.1.7 The Scrutiny Panel was concerned about the psychological impact that rough 
sleeping has on individuals.   

  

5.1.8 Evidence gathered demonstrated that getting agencies to work together in 
respect of homelessness and rough sleeping is essential.  

 

5.1.9 There is a need for all Agencies to share data that they hold in respect of 
homeless people and rough sleepers.  Post-Unitary, it would be useful for 
discussions to be held regarding the sharing of data to all agencies. 

 

5.1.10 The Scrutiny Panel was concerned about homeless people who had no 
recourse to public funds and felt that investigations could be undertaken to 
ascertain if public donations could be used to fund rent for three months for 
those homeless people (mainly East European) who are not eligible for 
benefits but would be considered by NAASH if the rent was guaranteed. 

 

5.1.11 Rough sleepers have clear needs and often have barriers to re-housing, for 
example rent arrears, anti-social behaviour.  

 

5.1.12 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that access to mental health service is at 
point of crisis; there needs to be proactive access with all those involved in 
support and treatment.  There is a need to find the cause of the crisis.  It is 
crucial that intervention takes place as early as possible.  All services need to 
play an active part.  Rough sleepers with mental health problems need to get 
treatment quickly. 

 

116



84 

 

5.1.13 There is a need to extend Oasis House.  Currently there are 48 units at Oasis 
House.   There is also a need for a nightshelter that is able to accommodate 
women and men.  The Scrutiny Panel noted that, although women have 
longer life span than men, this is reversed in rough sleeping situations. 

 

5.1.14 The Scrutiny Panel  suggested that in respect of preparing for independent 
living – there are units that are “step down” units that have their own utility 
meters, and are unfurnished, the purpose of these is for ex-rough sleepers to 
gain skills to succeed.  There is a need for more step down services. 

 

5.1.15 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that   tackling  entrenched rough sleepers 
is extremely challenging, especially where rough sleeping communities have 
become established.  A multi-faceted approach is needed.  Often 
communities are forming around drug use. It was felt that there may be 
charitable agencies that people are willing to engage with.  All need to work 
together. 

 

5.1.16 Housing First will work with complex customers and provide in-depth 
support.   Midland Heart operates a small Housing First service.  There have 
been successes in other counties with Housing First.  The Scrutiny Panel is 
very keen for Housing First to be part of the solution in Northampton.   There 
would however be so much to consider to make sure it works. 

 

5.1.17 The Scrutiny Panel was pleased to note there are multiple pathways, for 
example, specialist domestic violence services.   

 

5.1.18 The Scrutiny Panel realised that the rough sleepers count has such strict 
boundaries, NBC’s is comprehensive 12am – 3 am.   The winter shelter 
shows a wider picture – it also prevented them from rough sleeping for people 
who stayed a few nights and were then not seen again. 

 

5.1.19 The Scrutiny Panel noted the need to recruit staff to manage temporary 
accommodation and ‘free up’ the social lettings agency staff to focus on 
private rented accommodation. 

 

 5.1.20 From the site visits undertaken, the Scrutiny Panel concluded that: 

 The Hope Centre has good working relations with a number of 

organisations. 

 The majority of clients to the Hope Centre have mental health issues. 

 The Hope Centre is extremely well used but the Scrutiny Panel was 

concerned that there is a lack of provision for homeless people during 

the hours of 1pm and 9pm when the Night Shelter opens. 

117



85 

 

 Often women who come to the refuge are “drawn to a bad boy”.  There 

is a real need for early prevention and the Scrutiny Panel welcomed the 

support and advice given to the women by the Support Workers. 

 There is a lack of supported temporary accommodation locally, similar 

to that offered by Emmaus. The Emmaus village is extremely well run 

and provided a welcoming environment. The aim of the village is to give 

companions self-respect, something to do, somewhere to live, and it 

was highlighted that this ethos really works.   

 The work undertaken by the Bridge Project was welcomed and noted 

the value that it provided to its Members was realised. 

 

5.1.21 The Scrutiny Panel felt that there needed to be a Social Media Strategy in 
place as it was realised that a lot of mis-information can be put on social 
media.  Housing and Wellbeing, Northampton Borough Council, has an 
information page on the Council’s Web Page. 

 

5.1.22 The Scrutiny Panel agreed that there is a need to tell people not to give 
money to those begging – there is a need to get the message out to the 
public.  From public’s perspective, they see it as a housing issue.  

   

6 Recommendations 

 

6.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was  to review the way in which the Council 

and its partners engage with rough sleepers, consider the best way in which 

‘Housing First’ can be used to reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and 

understand the nature and extent of ‘hidden homelessness’ and how it can 

best be addressed. 

  
          Key Lines of Enquiry 
  

 To gain an understanding of why people sleep rough 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and extent of rough 
sleeping in the borough, the impact that rough sleeping has on the 
health, safety and life expectancy of people who are sleeping 
rough, and the implications for safeguarding and community 
safety. 

 To gain an understanding of the work that is currently being 
undertaken by Northampton Borough Council (NBC) and local 
groups, services and organisations to engage with rough sleepers 

 To consider the effectiveness of the action that is being taken (by 
NBC and local groups, services and organisations) to help people 
who are sleeping rough to come off the streets 

118



86 

 

 To gain an understanding of the ‘Housing First’ model and 
consider how best it could be used to reduce rough sleeping in 
the borough 

 To gain an understanding of the nature and extent of ‘hidden 
homelessness’ in the borough, including the profile of the people 
affected and what contact (if any) they have had with NBC, 
Northampton Partnership Homes or local advice agencies 

 To explore various ways of connecting with, and engaging with, 
harder to reach groups 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 
provided for young people, between the age of 16-25, including 
care leavers  NB: this age bracket is now 16-35. 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 
provided for ex-Offenders 

 To understand how data, statistics and demographics are 
gathered and used to meet the needs of rough sleepers, men and 
women, who are homeless 

 

             Scrutiny Panel 1 therefore recommends to Cabinet that: 

6.1.1     The Housing First model is introduced by the Council. 

       6.1.2 Additional bed spaces are provided to meet the needs of homeless 
women in the borough. 

 
      6.1.3 Housing solutions are found for homeless people (mainly East 

European) who are not eligible for benefits and are therefore unable to 
access settled housing. 

 
6.1.4 Northampton’s Rough Sleepers’ Strategy is refreshed (with the 

meaningful involvement of local Agencies) to reflect the current 
homelessness situation. 

 

6.1.5 A Plan is developed for strengthening equal relationships and 
partnership working between the Council, partners, organisations and 
the Voluntary Sector. 

 

 6.1.6 A social media strategy is developed to ensure that the Council is able 
to provide members of the public with accurate information about 
homelessness, rough sleeping and what is being done to tackle it.   

 

   6.1.7  A multi- Agency publicity campaign (supported by an `alternative 
giving` scheme and information about how people can help homeless 
people) is developed to discourage members of the public from giving 
money to people who are begging.  

119



87 

 

6.1.8 A copy of this report is issued to all Councillors within the other 
sovereign Councils of the proposed West Northamptonshire Unitary 
Authority – Daventry District Council, Northamptonshire County Council 
and South Northants Council. The report is also shared with Councillors 
of the proposed North Northamptonshire Unitary Authority. 

 

6.1.9 The Council considers updating its recruitment Policy to include a 
commitment to interview of all people who have personal experience of 
rough sleeping” if they meet the essential criteria in the person 
specification. 

 

6.1.10 Mental health and psychology professionals are consulted on the new 
homelessness and rough sleeping strategy. 

 

6.1.11         Whilst acknowledging data protection constraints, an integrated 
system, hosted by Housing and Wellbeing that can be used by all 
relevant Agencies, is explored by the proposed West Northamptonshire 
Unitary Authority.   

 
                     Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6.1.12      The Overview  and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring   

regime, reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

120



 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

121



 1 

 
Appendix A  

  
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
SCRUTINY PANEL 3  -  HOMELESSNESS AND  

ROUGH SLEEPERS 
  

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 

 

To review the way in which the Council and its partners engage with rough 

sleepers, consider the best way in which ‘Housing First’ can be used to 

reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and understand the nature and 

extent of ‘hidden homelessness’ and how it can best be addressed. 

 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 

   To gain an understanding of why people sleep rough 

   To gain an understanding of the causes and extent of rough sleeping 

in the borough, the impact that rough sleeping has on the health, 

safety and life expectancy of people who are sleeping rough, and the 

implications for safeguarding and community safety.  

   To gain an understanding of the work that is currently being 

undertaken by Northampton Borough Council (NBC) and local groups, 

services and organisations to engage with rough sleepers 

   To consider the effectiveness of the action that is being taken (by 

NBC and local groups, services and organisations) to help people 

who are sleeping rough to come off the streets 

   To gain an understanding of the ‘Housing First’ model and consider 

how best it could be used to reduce rough sleeping in the borough 

   To gain an understanding of the nature and extent of ‘hidden 

homelessness’ in the borough, including the profile of the people 

affected and what contact (if any) they have had with NBC, 

Northampton Partnership Homes or local advice agencies 

 To explore various ways of connecting with, and engaging with, harder 

to reach groups 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 

provided for young people, between the age of 16-25, including care 

leavers 

122



 2 

 To gain an understanding of the specific needs and assistance 

provided for ex-Offenders 

 To understand how data, statistics and demographics are gathered and 

used to meet the needs of rough sleepers, men and women, who are 

homeless 

 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

    To understand how rough sleepers are engaged with and to make 

recommendations for improvement, as appropriate. 

    To understand the ‘Housing First’ model and to make 
recommendations on how it could be used to reduce rough sleeping 
in the borough  

    To understand the nature and extent of ‘hidden homelessness’ and to 
make recommendations on how it could be tackled 

     To understand how people become homeless 
 

3. Information Required  

 

 Background data   

 Background reports 

 Best practice data 

 Desktop research 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

  Evidence from expert external witnesses 

  Site visits (if applicable) 

 

4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 

 

 Presentation to set the scene:  

     Rough sleeper engagement 

     Homelessness in Northampton 

     Housing First 

    Tackling Hidden Homelessness 

 Relevant national and local background research papers 

 Definitions –  Rough Sleepers, homeless, and Hidden 

Homelessness 

 Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

 Barriers to housing people and maintaining successful 

tenancies 

 Relevant Council Policies and Strategies 

123



 3 

 Statistics: 

 

Rough sleeper data 

Hidden homelessness data and information 

Homeless data, including LGBT statistics 

 

 Relevant Legislation: 

 

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012  

 

 Relevant published papers on homelessness and rough 

sleeping, for example Central Government’s paper – 

Rough Sleeping (England) 2018, Housing First  - A Good 

Practice Briefing  - Shelter 

 HomelessLink paper 
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-
attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf 
 

 Best practice external to Northampton 

 Case studies – hidden homeless and rough sleepers 

 

 Internal expert advisors: 

 

 Cabinet Member for Housing, NBC 

 Housing Options and Advice Manager, NBC 

 Cabinet Member for Community Safety, NBC 

 Chair of the Community Safety Partnership (CSP) and 

the Community Safety Team 

 

 External expert advisors: 

 

 Head of Protecting Vulnerable Persons, 

Northamptonshire Police 

 Director, NACRO 

 Director, NAS 

 Director of Public Health, Northamptonshire County 

Council 

 Director, Adult Social Care, NCC (specifically in relation to 

ex-Offenders) 

 Director, Housing First (England) 

 Manager, Hope Centre 

 Service Manager, Salvation Army 

 Service Manager, Jesus Army 

124

file:///C:/Users/TTIff/Downloads/SN02007.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
http://england.shelter.org.uk/professional_resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/policy_library_folder/housing_first_-_a_good_practice_briefing
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf
https://www.homeless.org.uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/Annual%20Review%202017_0.pdf


 4 

 Chief Executive, Central Northamptonshire CAB 

 Homelessness Charities such as: 

 Shelter 

 Crisis 

 Joseph Rowntree Trust 

 Big Issue 

 Healthwatch Northamptonshire 

 Director, Maple Access Centre 

 Director, SAAFA 

 Skype interview, or similar, link with American 

organisation regarding the Housing First initiative 

 MPs – Michael Ellis, Andrea Leadsom, Andrew Lewer 

 Community Co-Chairs, all Northampton Community 

Forums   

 Representative of the Landlords Forum 

 

 Site visit(s) to the Hope Centre, Women’s Refuge, Oasis House; 

other organisations that support homeless people and rough 

sleepers, Emmaus Centre in Bedford. Representatives of the 

Panel to accompany the Out Reacher Workers and attend the 

Rough Sleepers count.  Site visit to Re-Store Café. The Deputy 

Chair to visit Manchester. 

 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Desktop research 

 Site visits  

 Officer reports 

 Presentations 

 Examples of best practice 

 Witness Evidence:- 

 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 

 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

  

 Ian Bates, Director, Umbrella Fair Committee, to be approached 
suggesting that they are co-opted to this Review for its life. 
 
 
 
 

125



 5 

7.  Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 

scope of the Review 

 

8.   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

May 2018 – March 2019 

 

 15 May 2018                        - Scoping meeting 

   5 July                                 - Evidence gathering 

   6 September                      - Evidence gathering    

   8 November                       - Evidence gathering     

 24  January 2019                 - Evidence gathering   

 14 March                             - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 

 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm and will be held in various locations 

around the borough. 

 

9. Responsible Officers 

 

Phil Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing 

Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 

 

10. Resources and Budgets 

 

Phil Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing, to provide internal advice. 

 

11. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2019.  Presented by the Chair of the Panel to the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 

 

12. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report after six months (approximately 

November/December 2019)  

126



 1 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL  1 – HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH 
SLEEPERS 

 
 
The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review:  Homelessness and 

Rough Sleepers 

 

The purpose of the Review is  

 

 To review the way in which the Council and its partners engage with rough 

sleepers1, consider the best way in which ‘Housing First’2 can be used to 

reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and understand the nature and 

extent of ‘hidden homelessness’3 and how it can best be addressed. 

1  For the purpose of rough sleeping counts and estimates, ‘rough sleepers’ are defined 
as people who are sleeping / bedded down in the open air (such as on the streets, in 
tents, doorways, parks, bus shelters or encampments) or sleeping in buildings or other 
places that are not designed for habitation (such as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, 
cars, derelict boats, stations, etc). 

2  The ‘Housing First’ approach was first developed in New York by the Pathways to 
Housing organisation in 1992 and has proved very successful in the USA, Canada and 
Europe. Unlike other supported housing models, individuals do not need to prove they 
are ready for independent housing, or progress through a series of accommodation 
and treatment services. There are no conditions placed on them, other than a 
willingness to maintain a tenancy agreement. Housing First is designed to provide 
long-term, open-ended support for their ongoing needs. Through the provision of 
intensive, flexible and person-centred support, 70-90% of Housing First residents are 
able to remain housed. Having a settled home improves health and wellbeing and 
reduces ineffective contact with costly public services.                      

3  ‘Hidden homelessness’ is a term that is used to describe the people who become 
homeless but do not show up in official figures. This includes people who become 
homeless but find a temporary solution by sofa surfing (staying with family members or 
friends) or living in hostels, nightshelters, squats or other insecure accommodation. 

 

 

 
 
 
CORE QUESTIONS:    

127



 2 

 
A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base 
of the Scrutiny Panel:  
 
1 Please provide details of what contact or involvement your organisation 

has with people who are homeless (sleeping rough or ‘hidden’) and the 
services and organisations that are able to address their needs. 
 

2 Please provide details of your understanding of the causes and extent of 
rough sleeping in the borough. 

 
3 Please provide details of your understanding of the impact that rough 

sleeping has on the safety, life expectancy and health of people who are 
sleeping rough, and the implications that rough sleeping have for 
safeguarding and community safety.  

 
4 Please provide details of your understanding of the nature of the work that 

is currently being undertaken by Northampton Borough Council and local 
groups, services and organisations to engage with people who are 
sleeping rough in the borough.  

 
5 Please provide details of your understanding of how effective 

Northampton Borough Council and local groups, services and 
organisations have been in engaging purposefully with people who are 
sleeping rough and helping them to come off the streets. 

 
6 What changes would you like Northampton Borough Council and local 

groups, services and organisations to make in order to engage more 
effectively with people who are sleeping rough and to help them come off 
the streets, in a planned way, as quickly as possible? 

 
7 In what ways do you think the ‘Housing First’ model can be used most 

effectively to reduce rough sleeping in the borough, and in what ways (if 
any) could your organisation work differently to ensure its success?  

 
8 Please provide details of your understanding of the nature and extent of 

‘hidden homelessness’ in the borough, including the profile of the people 
affected and what contact (if any) they have had with Northampton 
Borough Council, Northampton Partnership Homes and/or other local 
advice and support providers.    

 
9 Please can you suggest ways in which services and organisations can 

connect with, and meaningfully engage with, harder to reach groups?   
 
10 How are data, statistics and demographics gathered and used to meet the 

needs of men and women who are homeless? 
 

11  What do you think are the main reasons for hidden homelessness and 
why do you think people sofa surf and are without settled 
accommodation? 

128



 3 

 
12 How effective do you think the Council is at informing people and 

organisations about its homelessness policies and procedures, and in 
what ways could it improve its communication? 

 
13 Do you have any other information you are able to provide in relation to 

homelessness and rough sleeping? 
 

14 Do you have any other recommendations for the Scrutiny Panel to 
consider including within its final report? 

129



O v e r v i e w  &  S c r u t i n y  C o m m i t t e e

S C R U T I N Y  P A N E L  – 
N o r t h a m p t o n  P o s t  U n i t a r y

M a y  2 0 1 9 130

Agenda Item 8b



 1 

Index 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair’s Foreword              2    
     
Executive Summary                            3  
 
Final Report including recommendations                     9  
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
 
 
Appendix A  Scope of the Review   

 

Appendix B  Core Questions  

 

 

131



 

Foreword 

The objective of this Scrutiny Panel was: 

To look at Northampton, (being mindful of the potential Unitary Authority), giving particular 

consideration to how civic pride and ceremonies can be protected 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  

 To gain an understanding and overview of the civic pride, events and ceremonies (compiling 
a formal list) that currently take place within the Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s  civic events and ceremonies are marketed  

 To understand the role of the Mayor of Northampton 

 To understand the roles of both the previous Northampton Borough Council and other 
partners in civic events and ceremonies within the borough 

 To consider how the pride and history of the Borough and the Guildhall can be preserved and 
enhanced as part of any new Unitary Authority. 

 
 

The required outcomes being to recommend an action plan how civic pride, events and ceremonies 

can be protected. 

The Scrutiny Panel was made up of    myself (Chair); Councillor Paul Joyce (Vice Chair); Councillors 

Sam Kilby-Shaw, Jamie Lane, Danielle Stone and Graham Walker.  Lee Mason and Morcea Walker 

were co-opted to the review. 

A comprehensive review took place between June 2018 and May 2019.  A wealth of background data 

and information was received by the Scrutiny Panel and a series of interviews with a number of key 

expert advisors were held.  A number of organisations and community groups provided written 

information.  Informative site visits also took place.  Desktop research was undertaken by the Scrutiny 

Officer, the findings of which informed the review. 

Information gathering was very important to this review so that the Scrutiny Panel could map the civic 

events and ceremonies that the Mayor of Northampton is involved in. This enabled the Scrutiny Panel 

to devise its recommendations that will be considered by Cabinet later this year. 

As part of the monitoring regime, Overview and Scrutiny will review this report six months after 

Cabinet has received it. 

I would like to thank everyone who took part in this in-depth piece of work. 

 

Councillor Brian Sargeant 

Chair, Scrutiny Panel 3 – Northampton Post Unitary 

 

 

132



Acknowledgements to all those who took part in the review: 

 Councillors Councillor Paul Joyce (Vice Chair); Councillors Sam Kilby-Shaw, Jamie Lane, 

Danielle Stone and Graham Walker and  Lee Mason and Morcea Walker (co-optees)  who sat 

with me on this review 

   Councillor Tony Ansell, Mayor of Northampton for 2018/2019, Councillor Arthur 

McCutcheon, previous Mayor of Northampton, Councillor Jonathan Nunn, Leader of the 

Council, Councillor Phil Larratt, Deputy Leader of the Council, Francis Fernandes, Borough 

Secretary and Monitoring Officer, George Candler, Chief Executive, NBC, David Laing, Lord 

Lieutenant, James Saunders-Watson, High Sheriff, Dominic Hopkins, Under High Sheriff, 

Terry Sibley and Phil Ager, Freemen of the Borough, Lynda Tomplinson, Jackie Brame and 

Philip Saunderson, Northampton Rotary Club,  Ken Howlett, Chair, NIFF, addressed or  either 

attending a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel and/or providing a response to the core questions 

 The Mayor of Raunds Town Council and Higham Ferrers Town Council for accommodating 

the Scrutiny Panel on a site visit 

 Mr Huffadine-Smith for attending a meeting of the Scrutiny Panel and addressing it 

  

 

133



 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
 
 
The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to look at Northampton, (being mindful of 
the potential Unitary Authority), giving particular consideration to how civic pride 
and ceremonies can be protected 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  

 To gain an understanding and overview of the civic pride, 
events and ceremonies (compiling a formal list) that currently 
take place within the Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s  civic events 
and ceremonies are marketed  

 To understand the role of the Mayor of Northampton 

 To understand the roles of both the previous Northampton 
Borough Council and other partners in civic events and 
ceremonies within the borough 

 To consider how the pride and history of the Borough and the 
Guildhall can be preserved and enhanced as part of any new 
Unitary Authority. 

 
1.2  A copy of the scope of the Review is attached at Appendix A. 
 
2  Context and Background     
 
2.1 Following approval of its work programme for 2018/2019, the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in March 2018 
commissioned Scrutiny Panel 3 to undertake the review – 
Northampton Post Unitary.   An in-depth review commenced in June 
2018 and concluded in May 2019. 

 
2.2 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Brian 

Sargeant (Chair); Councillor Paul Joyce (Deputy Chair);  Councillors 
Mohammed Aziz, Sam Kilby-Shaw, Jamie Lane, Danielle Stone and 
Graham Walker.  Lee Mason and Morcea Walker were co-opted to 
the review. 

 
2.3 This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 

corporate priority – Improving our Governance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

134



 5 

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 
 
5.1.1  The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that both the Mayoralty and  Civic tradition 

is very important within the town.  The Mayoralty should be retained at the 
Guildhall.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that a Charitable Trust could be set up for 
the Mayoralty. 

 

5.1.2 The Scrutiny Panel realised that Oak Apple Day is a Borough Council 
tradition and was traditionally held at dawn on 29 May each year.  It fell on a 
Sunday one year and was moved to 12 noon. There is a need for this event 
to be recaptured by the Borough. It is an important Borough event.  Over 
the years a number of civic events have disappeared, it would be the 
opportune time to reintroduce some of these for example May Day 
celebrations. 

 

5.1.3 100th birthday acknowledgements are expanding and this now comes under 
the remit of civic Mayors.    

 

5.1.4  The Mayor’s visit to hospitals on Christmas Day really cheers patients and 
staff up, especially on the Children’s ward.   

 

 5.1.5 Evidence highlighted that the Mayor of Northampton has  key roles during 
his Mayoralty year including: 

 

 The Mayor is the Chair of the Housebound Fund 

 The Mayor is the President of Town Twinning 

 The Mayor is the President for St John’s Home 

 Honorary Freeman take place just once every civic term – The Panel 
queried what would happen in terms of Unitary. 

 

5.1.6 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that there is a need to ensure  that the Mace 
is retained in Northampton’s Museum, in the borough and that all silver 
assets are made secure. 

 

 5.1.7 It was noted that the punch bowl that is kept in the Mayor’s Parlour, was 
presented to a former Mayor when he had a child whilst in Office. 

 

5.1.8 Evidence received highlighted that expert advisors providing information to 
the Scrutiny Panel all felt strongly about the retaining of the Mayoralty and 
Civic events. 

135



 6 

 

5.1.9 The Scrutiny Panel queried who would lead on Hereditary Freeman 
Services in any potential Unitary Authority. 

 

5.1.10 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted that not many towns have Mayors going 
back 800 years. 

 

5.1.11 The Scrutiny Panel conveyed the view that it hoped that there would be a 
Town Council, with a Mayor.   It was commented that assets would be 
protected by Town Council. 

 

5.1.12 The Scrutiny Panel commended the book “The Borough of Northampton 
and Its Guildhall and Civic Traditions  - RJB Morris”.  The book contained a 
lot of very important information.  

 

5.1.13 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the marketing of the Mayoralty via the 
website but felt this could be done more proactively such as leaflets at 
places such as the train station and libraries.  The Mayoralty needs to be 
published more.  Social media could be used more too. 

 

5.1.14 Evidence gathering demonstrated that the High Sheriff is appointed by the 
Crown.  The primary role is to look after the High Court Judges.    The High 
Court does not have a formal admin. Office. There is no funding for the role 
of High Sheriff.  It is an unpaid role. 

  

5.1.15 It was noted that when the previous Mayor’s Serjeant had retired, the role 

had not been replaced. The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be useful there 

be an Honorary Mayor’s Serjeant, possibly an Alderman or former 

Councillor. There would be no cost to such an Honorary post.   

 
       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

136



 7 

 

 
             RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 
The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to look at Northampton, (being mindful of 
the potential Unitary Authority), giving particular consideration to how civic pride 
and ceremonies can be protected. 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 

  

 To gain an understanding and overview of the civic pride, events and 
ceremonies (compiling a formal list) that currently take place within the 
Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s  civic events and 
ceremonies are marketed  

 To understand the role of the Mayor of Northampton 

 To understand the roles of both the previous Northampton Borough 
Council and other partners in civic events and ceremonies within the 
borough 

 To consider how the pride and history of the Borough and the Guildhall 
can be preserved and enhanced as part of any new Unitary Authority. 

 
 Scrutiny Panel 3 therefore recommends to Cabinet that, Post Unitary: 
 
6.1.1 The Mayor of Northampton is retained and a Charitable Trust is set up for 

the Mayoralty.  The Mayoralty is retained at the Guildhall to protect Civic 
traditions and to promote our heritage. 

 
6.1.2 A Civic Quarter is created that includes our Civic assets. 
 
6.1.3 Should a Town Council be established, the Town Council should be located 

in the Guildhall, along with Mayoralty and its regalia and protect the assets 
of the town. 

6.1.4  To protect Civic pride in a wider Northampton area and consider a new 
Unitary Council called Greater Northampton. 

6.1.5 It is ensured that the Maces, known as North, South, East and West, are 
retained in Northampton’s Museum, in the borough and that all silver assets 
are made secure. 

6.1.6 Oak Apple day is a Borough Council tradition and it should be recaptured by 
the Borough.    This would be the opportune time to reintroduce some of 
civic events that have over time disappeared, for example May Day 
celebrations and celebrate other Cultural celebrations. 

 

6.1.7 Other key roles of the Mayoralty are protected, including: 

 

 The Mayor is the Chair of the Housebound Fund 

137



 8 

 The Mayor is the President of Town Twinning 

 The Mayor is the President for St John’s Home  

 Honorary Freeman take place just once every civic term 

 Hereditary Freeman take the oath from the Mayor 

 

6.1.8 The introduction of the roles of Major’s Serjeant and Town Serjeant, as 

Honorary roles, for example an Alderman or former Councillor are 

investigated. 

6.1.9 Publicity and marketing of the Mayoralty is good; but it should be widened 

further to include proactive use of leaflets at locations such as the train 

station and libraries and more use of Social Media. 

 

6.1.10 Cabinet is informed that it is the aspiration of the Scrutiny Panel that 
Northampton is a city of culture by 2025. 

  

           Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
6.1.11 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 

reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 
 

138



9 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Report of Scrutiny Panel 3 – Northampton Post Unitary 

  

1 Purposes 

1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to look at Northampton, (being 
mindful of the potential Unitary Authority), giving particular 
consideration to how civic pride and ceremonies can be protected 
  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  

 To gain an understanding and overview of the civic pride, events 
and ceremonies (compiling a formal list) that currently take place 
within the Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s  civic events and 
ceremonies are marketed  

 To understand the role of the Mayor of Northampton 

 To understand the roles of both the previous Northampton 
Borough Council and other partners in civic events and 
ceremonies within the borough 

 To consider how the pride and history of the Borough and the 
Guildhall can be preserved and enhanced as part of any new 
Unitary Authority. 

 

1.2  A copy of the scope of the Review is attached at Appendix A. 
 
2  Context and Background     

2.1 Following approval of its work programme for 2018/2019, the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in March 2018 commissioned 

Scrutiny Panel 3 to undertake the review – Northampton Post Unitary.   

An in-depth review commenced in June 2018 and concluded in May 

2019. 

2.2 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Brian Sargeant 

(Chair); Councillor Paul Joyce (Deputy Chair);  Councillors Mohammed 

Aziz, Sam Kilby-Shaw, Jamie Lane, Danielle Stone and Graham 

Walker.  Lee Mason and Morcea Walker were co-opted to the review. 

2.3 This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 

corporate priority – Improving our Governance. 

139



10 

 

2.4 The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be 

investigated and linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate 

priorities: 

  

  3 Evidence Collection 

3.1 Evidence was collected from a variety of sources: 

 Background data, including: 

    Presentation to set the scene:  a summary of the civic pride, 

events and ceremonies that currently take place within the 

Borough of Northampton and information; links with 

communities, role of the Mayor 

 

 Relevant Legislation, for example the Localism Act 2011 

 Statistics: including: 
  

Number of Mayoralty events, civic ceremonies etc. 
Supporting Charities (previous Mayor’s) 

                    
·                     Best practice external to Northampton/Case Study examples  

  
·                     Internal expert advisors: 

  
Ø    The current Mayor of Northampton 
Ø    Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council 
Ø    Chief Executive 

  
·                     External expert advisors: 
  

Ø    Representative of the Northampton Rotary Club 
Ø    Freeman of the Borough 
Ø    Expert Historian 
Ø    The Chairman, Committee, Mayor’s Fund for the Housebound 
Ø    Lord Lieutenant’s Office 
Ø    High Sheriff’s Office 
Ø    Previous Mayor of Northampton 
Ø    Representative of All Saints Church, Thomas White, Blue and 

Orange School 
Ø    Chair, NIFF 
Ø    Town Clerk from a Town Council, such as Sutton Coldfield, 

Chester 
 

 Site visits   -  various Town Councils 

 

140



11 

 

 

3.2                Background reports and information 
 

Presentation to set the scene  PDF 82 KB 
 
 
3.3              Core Questions 
 

3.3.1 The Scrutiny Panel devised a series of core questions that it put to its 

key witnesses over a cycle of meetings (Copy at Appendix B). 

3.3.2 Key witnesses provided a response to these core questions at the 

meetings of the Scrutiny Panel held on September 2018,  

 Mayor of Northampton (2018/2019), Leader of the Council, Deputy 

Leader of the Council Northampton Borough Council, previous 

Mayor of Northampton 

3.3.3 Salient points of evidence: 

The Mayor of Northampton contributes clearly and positively to the 

aims of the Council.  

During the twelve month Mayoral term the civic head will attend 

hundreds of events to promote the town, support local charities, work 

alongside the local community and act accordingly as first citizen of the 

Borough. The Mayor’s office has a large number of long standing 

traditions which the modern Mayor adheres to.  

In order to preserve tradition, councils continue to host civic 

ceremonies of their predecessors. Civic ceremonies are often the 

public face of the civic office and must, therefore, be carefully and 

imaginatively prepared. Set out below are a few of the 

ceremonies/functions that virtually every council organises.  

- CHURCH SERVICES – Local authorities organise an official 

church service for the Mayor each year. The Northampton 

Borough Council service is named ‘Mayor’s Charity Sunday 

Service’ and is held a few weeks following the election of the 

Mayor. 

- REMEMBRANCE SUNDAY – It is common for the Mayor and 

council to attend a service on Remembrance Sunday; these are 

normally held at the local war memorial. Northampton Borough 

Council mark both Armistice Day and also Remembrance Sunday 

and work with the County Council and the Civic Church to arrange 

this. 

141

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s56617/Presentation%20unitary.pdf


12 

 

- CIVIC FUNERALS – The Mayor will normally attend a funeral 

formally only if the deceased was a former 

Mayor/Consort/Mayoress, serving member of the council or 

significant figure in the Borough. Northampton Borough Council 

ensure the Mayor’s Office informs all other members of the details 

so they can attend alongside the Mayor to pay their respects. 

- CIVIC BANQUETS AND CIVIC BALLS – A civic banquet or ball 

must not be of benefit to the office but must show a clear benefit 

to the people of the town or the Mayor’s chosen charity. 

Northampton Borough Council host one Charity Ball a year for the 

Mayor’s chosen charity however we also have a ‘Heart of the 

Community Awards’ event where we will invite the unsung heroes 

of the town to meet the Mayor and collect a certificate for their 

efforts in the Borough. 

- ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING – Every council will hold an AGM 

in which the incoming Mayor/Chairman is elected by the rest of 

the council.  The Mayor’s Office will organise the structure of this 

event and this will normally take place in the month of May. The 

chosen civic head will then chair all Full Council meetings until the 

end of their term. 

In Northampton the Mayor will host a number of civic ceremonies 

annually such as the following:  

- Feb/March – Mayoress/Consort Tree Planting Ceremony 
- March/April – Heart of the Community Awards 
- Third Thursday in May – Mayormaking 2018 
- 29th May – Oak Apple Day 
- Approximately 30th June – Armed Forces Day Parade 
- June/July – Mayoral Charity Sunday Service 
- October – High Sheriff Crown Court Service 
- Nov – Remembrance Sunday Parade 
- Nov – Mayor’s Gala Dinner 
- Dec – Mayor’s Fund for Housebound 

 

Oak Apple Day and the Mayor’s Fund for the Housebound are specific 

to the Borough of Northampton.  Oak Apple Day or Royal Oak Day, is 

observed annually on 29 May, to commemorate the restoration of 

the English monarchy in May 1660 when King Charles II came to the 

throne following the English Interregnum overseen by Oliver Cromwell. 

The name reflects the then future King’s famous hiding place, when he 

sought refuge from his roundhead enemies in an oak tree, following the 

1651 battle of Worcester. The day celebrates the generosity of King 

Charles II, who donated over 1,000 tons of timber to reconstruct the 

142

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/English_Restoration
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/English_monarchy


13 

 

church and halved the town’s taxes for seven years following the Great 

Fire of Northampton. The Mayor of Northampton has been honouring 

the tradition for many year’s now which is heavily supported by the 

Lord Lieutenant of Northamptonshire. 

The Mayor’s Fund for the Housebound was originally known as ‘The 

Mayor’s Fund for the Bedridden’, was set up about 90 years ago, 

although reference to gifts to the bedridden at Christmas has been 

found in correspondence relating to the Poor Children’s Christmas 

Dinner Fund 1908, when John Brown was Mayor.  A letter of that date 

states ‘An innovation was made last year by sending gifts to the 

bedridden, which gifts, and the kindly spirit promoting them, were 

deeply appreciated by the recipients.’  There has now been a century 

of this kind of initiative in our Borough.  

Civic Ceremonies can also be requested and will be held at the 

Mayor’s discretion. These events will be the following: 

- Honorary Recorder Ceremony 
- Honorary Aldermen Ceremony 
- Hereditary Freemen Ceremony 
- Honorary Freedom Ceremony 
- Exercising Freedom of the Borough Parade 
- Commemorative events within the Borough and nationally 
 

During the centenary of WWI the Borough has hosted a number of civic 

events to mark the occasion such as commemorating the life of Walter 

Tull and Edgar Mobbs and also last year honouring the family who lost 

their lives in the Northampton Zeppelin Raid. The Mayor’s Office 

marked the presentation ceremony for the USHAKOV medal in 2015 

as well as commemorating the anniversary of VE Day in 2015.  

In addition to these civic events the Mayor heavily supports the local 

community by marking the following events annually. 

- 27th January – Holocaust Memorial Day 
- 5th March – Tibetan Flag Raising 
- 8th March – International Women’s Day 
- 12th March – Commonwealth Day 
- 25th April – ANZAC Day 
- 17th May – International Day Against Homophobia 
- Approximately 25th June – Armed Forces Flag Raising 
- 11th July – Remembering Srebrenica 
- 9th September – Merchant Navy Day 
- October – Black History Month 
- 19th Nov – International Men’s Day 
- 1st Dec – World Aid’s Day 

143



14 

 

- 3rd Dec – International Day for People with Disabilities 
-  
Northampton Borough Council has the longest and most complete list 

in the country of Mayor’s dating back to 1215. The Mayor of 

Northampton is believed to have been in existence from 1189 

however the full list is believed to have been lost in the great fire in 

1675. 

Northampton Borough Council’s communications team and Mayoral 

Office work closely together in order to promote the civic events and 

ceremonies throughout the town. In recent years the additional 

element of social media has been incorporated into the promotion of 

events.  

The protocol for a typical event would be that the Mayor’s Office will 

manage the event organisation with the relevant parties. The Mayor’s 

Officer will then meet with the communications team and share as 

much information as possible for them to market the event. A press 

release will go out as standard however larger events such as Armed 

Forces Day and Remembrance Sunday will include promotional 

material which the communications team assist in the production of. 

An example of this is the leaflet for this year’s Remembrance Sunday 

event which is shown below:  

  

The communications team will seek quotes from the relevant parties and 

inform all local media who will then get in touch for further interviews and 

photographs.  

As well as the traditional form of a press release events pages will be 

created on the Mayor’s Facebook page as well as posts about the 

upcoming event for the public to attend. Figures shown in the last 

quarter alone show posts reaching over 3,000 people. On average the 

figures show that each post is reaching on 1,205 people which is an 

extremely quick and effect form of communication.  

144



15 

 

Northampton Borough Council have their own Facebook page and will 

share civic events to over 6,400 people who follow their page. 

The history of the Borough and the Guildhall are incredibly important to 

preserve and celebrate and the Borough Council prides itself in the way 

it has and continues to do this through the ongoing investment into the 

Guildhall as well as promoting civic events as detailed in this report. 

As Northampton Borough Council has now approved the proposal to 

move towards a unitary model of local government it has already 

recognised the importance to continue and protect both the Guildhall and 

the civic traditions and activities. With that in mind Council agreed in July 

2018 for a community governance review to be undertaken with a view 

to the creation of a new Town Council for Northampton. 

One advantage of forming a Northampton Town Council is that it can 
retain a mayor, the historic and ceremonial regalia, artefacts and other 
items of interest that currently belong to the Borough Council.  
 
A further report has been discussed at Council on the 10th September 

2018 which outlines the Terms of Reference to be followed in 

undertaking the review. It is this work that will ultimately ensure both the 

Guildhall and the civic events continue into the future under the 

stewardship of the Town Council, after the new unitary authority is 

formed. 

The Mayor as the first citizen of the Borough speaks for both the council 

and the community. Though the Mayor hosts the civic ceremonies and 

functions within the town it is the staff and officers of the Borough council 

who organise all events held within the Borough – with the discretion of 

the Mayor.  

The Mayor’s Office will work with a wide range of departments within the 

council to host the civic events. The best example of this would be 

Remembrance Sunday as this is one of the largest events held in the 

Borough on an annual basis. In order for this event to run smoothly the 

Mayor’s Office must ask for the assistance from the following: 

- Town Centre Management – In order to hold the military parade 

and civic procession the town centre manager will organise for the 

security to be in place and the risk assessments to be completed 

ahead of the event. 

- Environmental Services – Prior to the event being held in the 

memorial gardens of All Saints’ Church the environmental services 

team and wardens will allow access to the gardens and clean them 

145



16 

 

before the service, planting fresh flowers and poppies for the 

occasion. 

- Guildhall Office – The Mayor will host dignitaries in the Parlour 

prior to the procession, a salute will take place outside the front of the 

Guildhall where staff members will set up a dais in order for the Lord 

Lieutenant, Mayor and Commanding Officer to stand.  

- Communications Team – The Communications team will inform 

members of the public of the events taking place on both Armistice 

Day and Remembrance Sunday 

- Community Engagement Team – This team will interact with 

community groups who may wish to lay wreaths and also aid 

promotional support by putting the Mayor’s Office in contact with the 

Armed Forces Covenant for additional help. 

- Market Management – The military parade will assemble on 

Market Square before holding stalls in aid of the Poppy Appeal 

- Borough Secretary – The budget of the event will be met within 

the civic allowance for the year 

- Members Office – Leaders office and the political assistants will 

send regular reminders to the members to ensure they’re clear on the 

running of the event and to ask any questions prior to the day. 

Without the assistance from all of the departments within the council the event 

could not go ahead. Northampton Borough Council officers and staff have 

supported the Mayoralty fully at the council and every Mayor thanks them at 

Christmas by inviting them to the Parlour. It is a small token of gratitude to 

thank everyone for the hard work they do behind the scenes.  

The formation of a Northampton Town Council will ensure the historic and 
ceremonial regalia, artefacts and other items of interest that currently belong 
to the Borough Council are preserved and secured. 
 
In terms of the museum, as part of the community governance review, it will 
be determined if the museum and its artefacts move to the new unitary 
authority or to the new Town Council. In the meantime, the current approach 
of the preservation of museum artefacts will continue and be further enhanced 
once the new museum development is completed.   
 

There are many other festivals, events and celebrations across the Borough 

that are organised by a range of organisations that the Borough has 

supported.  

Lord Lieutenant’s Office 

146



17 

 

Key points of evidence: 

 There is a need for fuller promotion and marketing both within Unitary 

Councils and in London. 

 There is a need to make link with Surprise campaign – Excellence in Food 

and Drink in Northamptonshire is 2019 campaign 

 American connections should be enhanced with the shoe and leather 

industries 

 The role of partners in civic events and ceremonies within the borough 

includes: 

 Chivalry – Lord Lieutenant 

 Northamptonshire Community Foundation is very good 

 The University of Northampton is very good and should be expanded 

 Education in the Borough should be celebrated 

 Musical education is extremely good and should be strongly featured 

(NMPAT) 

 There is a potential for excellence but it is not fully developed yet. If more 

development takes place, preservation, security and sustainability should be 

enhanced.  

 It is imperative that it is ensured that the Leather Museum is a firm feature and 

fully linked in as are the related City Liveries and Guilds. We need to ‘seduce’ 

these bodies to make a major investment, not just as partners but as co-

owners. Similarly, links with the National Museum of Justice in Nottingham 

should be further explored and secured.  

 Northampton’s key links to King John and the Magna Carta should be 

considerably expanded and this is more than just visitor boards around the 

Castle. There are other events in history that should also be further developed 

such as the Danish invasions which led to considerable movement around the 

centre of Northampton. 

Office of the High Sheriff 

Key points of evidence: 

 Northampton is the established venue for The High Sheriff of 

Northamptonshire’s Courts Service, a high profile ceremonial occasion which 

can be traced back centuries.  

147



18 

 

 The High Sheriff is appointed by the Crown.  The primary role is to look after 
the High Court Judges.    The High Court does not have a formal admin. 
Office. There is no funding for the role of High Sheriff.  It is an unpaid role. 

 Sessions House is owned by Northamptonshire County Council which is an 
enviable asset as are the Guildhall, and Civic Church.  They are a compact 
suite of buildings that offer a story line.  It would be good for there to be a joint 
education project with Nottingham who courts and a National Museum of 
Justice. 

 This annual church service at All Saints’ Church, Northampton is a significant 

civic occasion which, among other things:- 

- Recognises and celebrates publicly the vital work of all those involved in 
the administration of Justice (including the enforcement of law and order) 
in the County. 

- Offers an opportunity for the High Sheriff (on behalf of the Sovereign) and 
those representing the communities of the Borough and the County to 
express their gratitude for this work. 

- Provides an occasion when those involved in the administration of Justice) 
can reflect on and recommit themselves to their purpose, with the support 
of the communities they represent. 

- Offers a unique occasion for all the agencies involved in the administration 
of justice to connect and converse (network) with each other and with 
those who represent the communities of the Borough and County. 

- Enables the Borough and the County to provide hospitality to distinguished 
visitors (including senior Judges and High Sheriffs of other counties) and 
present Northampton and Northamptonshire’s credentials in a highly 
favourable way. 

- Represents the historical convention of a church service provided for a 
visiting High Court Judge, which would herald the opening of the Assizes. 

- Supports (through gifting) a relevant charity or charities operating in the 
County 

 

The event will be commonly attended by, amongst others: 

- High Court/Court of Appeal/Supreme Court Judges 
- Locally sitting Judges: Circuit and District Judges 
- Magistrates 
- HM Coroner 
- The Chief Constable 
- Members of the Bar 
- Solicitors 
- Other legal professionals 
- Senior clergy (all denominations), including the Chancellor of the Anglican 

Diocese, Bishops and the Dean of Peterborough Cathedral 
 

Guests include: 

148



19 

 

o HM Lord-Lieutenant,  
o The Mayor and Councillors of the Borough 
o Deputy Lieutenants of the County and visiting High Sheriffs of other 

counties 
o Representatives of County, District and other local authorities of the 

County 
o Representatives of other agencies within the Justice system (eg 

Probation Service, Victim Support etc) 
o Representatives of other agencies in the county (eg Chief Fire 

Officer) 

 The ‘suite’ of heritage buildings comprising the Guildhall, the Judges 

Lodgings, the Sessions House and All Saints’ Church, their 

configuration and their relationship to each other provides a unique and 

unrivalled context for hosting the historically significant Courts Service. 

Their preservation has significant value for both pride and history of the 

Borough and County. 

 The High Sheriff’s Courts Service is held with the kind permission of 

the Mayor of Northampton (it is included as a Borough event for public 

liability insurance purposes) and the Borough has conventionally 

offered facilities at the Guildhall for the Reception which has 

traditionally followed the Service. For its part, the County Council has 

conventionally offered the facilities of the Judges Lodgings/Sessions 

House and has supported the occasion with the requisite Road 

Closure. All Saints Church provides the venue for the Service and the 

Northampton & County Club on George Row is commonly the venue 

for an invitation dinner which follows the Reception at the Guildhall. 

Northamptonshire Police assists with managing the road closure for the 

Processions (from Guildhall to Lodgings to Church and back). 

 The High Sheriff (variously with the assistance of the Under Sheriff) 

arranges other events in Northampton during a shrieval year (from April 

to March). These will include: 

- The High Sheriff Declaration ceremony (usually held in Open Court 

at the Combined Courts Centre, Lady’s Lane) 

- Hospitality events arranged by the High Sheriff for those involved in 

the civic and charity life of the county (invitation receptions and 

dinners) 

- Lectures arranged in conjunction with the University of 

Northampton (by invitation) 

 

Freeman of the Borough 

Key points of evidence: 

149



20 

 

 The Trustees of the Freemen of Northampton attend all Mayoral civic 

engagements within the borough, specifically Mayor Making, Mayoral Charity 

Sunday, Arms Services, Oak Apple Day, Crown Court Service and 

Remembrance Sunday. The Freemen provide the Sword Bearer for all Civic 

processions and when required the Mace Bearer. 

 There is a need to make more use of IT Media and networking with kindred 

organisations such as Chamber of Trade, Rotary, Youth Organisations, 

Theatre, English Heritage, National Trust. 

 There is a need to keep the Mayoralty and civic functions and ceremonies. 

Encourage the general public of Northampton and beyond by greater publicity 

and networking as previously outlined to attend these historic occasions. By 

using the jewel of Northampton i.e. the historic Guildhall, as a focal point for 

visitors to attend and processions to start and finish from. Thus enhancing the 

public’s perception and pride in the town and further enhancing the role of the 

new Unitary Authority within this structure. 

 The Borough of Northampton was created by Royal Charter and hence will 

continue to exist even after the Borough Council is dissolved. All Civic Regalia 

to be retained for use in Civic and Mayoral functions as the Borough of 

Northampton will continue to exist as will its heritance, even if the Borough 

Council does not.  

 The collective role of all partners in civic events and ceremonies within the 

Borough is to enhance, publicise and support Northampton in all aspects of 

the civic events and thus encouraging tourism and commerce into 

Northampton for the greater good. 

 There is a need to share more information regarding the functions and history 

and make it more available to the general public by publicity. Make the 

Horrible History of Northampton displayed last August in the Grosvenor 

Centre a permanent display. 

Rotary Club of Northampton and Mayor’s Fund for the Housebound 
 
Key points of evidence: 

 The Rotary Club of Northampton has long association with the Mayors Fund 

for the Housebound.   It has supported the Mayors Fund since its inception 

and wishes it to continue in its existing format supporting Northamptonians 

within the existing Borough boundaries.   The Club hopes that the 

Northampton Mayoralty will continue in the future. Historically, Northampton 

has been the major county town and the centre of the County 

150



21 

 

 Cheques for £25 are being given out this year to the housebound.  There is 

strict criteria to assign the cheques which are hand delivered.   Names of 

individuals that are housebound are provided by NPH, Age UK, Duston Old 

Peoples Association, Community Law and the Salvation Army. The History of 

the Housebound Fund lays with the Mayor and is funded by charitable 

donations.    

 The Mayoralty of Northampton is very important 

 There is a need to involve diverse communities more 

 A Charitable Trust could be set up for the Mayoralty. 

 

All Saints Church, Northampton 

Key points of evidence: 

 

 Insofar as All Saints’ Church is involved, events have both a borough and a 

countywide significance. For Northampton Borough Council, Oak Apple Day, 

the Mayor’s Charity Sunday, Remembrance Day, and events with 

Northampton Freemen would be particular highlights. For the County, the 

High Sheriff’s Service, events around interfaith Remembrance, St. Crispin’s 

Day, and a few others. These often have variable timings.  

 Marketing of events varies according to the event – sometimes very well, 

sometimes hardly at all. The marketing often focusses on a dry account or list 

of events to take place, and would benefit from a narrative introduction, 

particularly where those are repeat events. The thematic focus of, for 

example, each Oak Apple Day or Remembrance Day could well feature 

higher, including reference to relevance to Northamptonians living today or 

the influence events in the past have upon our present and future. 

Northampton is sometimes unaware of its rich history, leaving quiet 

assumptions all too often hanging in the air. 

 Northampton has a remarkable story to tell, which in recent times has been 

obfuscated by the need to progress or by issues to do with the lack of 

progress. The narrative of Northampton at present, which has been told 

around the world, is of an unarrestable decline which while exceptional has 

been used in a general narrative on the state of the United Kingdom. 

Northampton’s centrality in England meant that it was a key point for both 

Viking and Norman invaders, leaving us with the perception that he who 

aspires to rule England must first rule Northampton. In modern times 

Northampton North, and to a lesser extent Northampton South, has been 

thought of as a bellwether parliamentary constituency, successfully predicting 

the party of government for twelve successive elections. Despite its centrality, 

it has all too often been forgotten: the removal of the University during the 

151



22 

 

reign of Henry II, the backing of the Parliamentarians during the Civil War, and 

British industrial decline brought great hardship to the town, and yet each of 

those key events left deep impacts which are visible in the modern town. The 

fragments of former eras have not always been respected, and the Borough is 

generally slow to act when the need for preservation arises. 

 In a situation where fewer statutory responsibilities rest upon the shoulders of 

those seeking to discharge the Charter of the Corporation, there is a real 

opportunity to build a relationship beyond the Guildhall walls with others who 

also wish to preserve and celebrate pride in Northampton.  It begins with a 

telling of the story of this place that rises above the tendency to tell our history 

in order to lament what we have irrevocably lost. It begins with a Civic Life 

and Leadership that can successfully put to bed controversies that otherwise 

keep repeating on us (cf. Sixfields, cf. the Hardingstone Eleanor Cross, cf. 

Northgate Bus Station): dissatisfaction needs choking off at source by timely, 

well-resourced and well-led development. 

 As the new Unitary system develops, it may be that fewer statutory services 

are fulfilled at the Guildhall, taking away from it the social footfall of those who 

need to visit it. This could provide the opportunity for the Guildhall to invest 

itself fully in Northampton’s Cultural Quarter, driving forward more value-

added, social impact work. As I have said before Northampton seems to 

present as a powerful vehicle, but with an engine whose sixth cylinder 

continually mis-fires: getting the intangible to work for us would really drive 

Northampton and add power to our progress. 

 Modern history begins after the Great Fire in 1675, and the brokering of a new 

social contract as well as a new town. The Reconciliation gained with the 

crown through the intercession of the Earl of Northampton of the age, meant 

that the redevelopment was driven and represented a high ambition. The 

patronage of the Church, having resided before the Reformation with the Prior 

and Convent of St. Andrew, passed from Lord Cromwell to others before 

ending up in the hands of the Mayor George Raynsford and the Burgesses of 

Northampton. The Municipal Corporations Act of 1835 removed the right, as it 

sought to end “an exclusive system, to uphold local, political and religious 

party feelings, [which is] destructive of that confidence which ought always to 

be reposed in those who are intrusted with control, judicial or otherwise, over 

their fellow citizens”. Baron Overstone and Lady Wantage would be the 

Corporation’s successors as patron, before it passed to the Lord Bishop of 

Peterborough and the Royal Foundation of St Katharine at Ratcliffe. 

Nevertheless, a close – sometimes too close – relationship developed, and All 

Saints’ maintains one of England’s diminishing number of Corporation Pews, 

set almost awkwardly in the Nave of the Church, where seats are permanently 

kept for the Mayor and the members of the modern Corporation. Thought has 

152



23 

 

been given, mostly by others, as to what would happen if there was no 

appropriate person to occupy these seats in the new dispensation, but the 

maintenance of it – and the evolving close relationship All Saints’ Church has 

developed with the Lieutenancy of Northamptonshire, has – at least at present 

– secured much ‘civic religion’ in the heart of the town. It was queried if there 

is no need for such civic celebration at a central place of worship, what the 

purpose of All Saints’ Church would be amid a town centre – and a wider 

Borough – that now has many places of worship of varying provenance. 

 From time to time incumbents and clergy at All Saints’ Church have provided 

an ad-hoc or official chaplaincy to the Mayor and other civic dignitaries and 

have played a full part in the planning process for many of significant 

moments in the civic year insofar as they are related to All Saints’.  

 All Saints’ Church and the Town and County War Memorial, which falls within 

its land and precincts, should be numbered among the assets of the Borough 

of Northampton. Though manifestly independent, they are necessarily 

dependent on the Borough if their present pattern of life is to be sustained. In 

the case of the War Memorial (designed by the Cenotaph designer, Edwin 

Lutyens, and which properly belongs to Northampton and Northamptonshire), 

it is important that it remains a sacred place dedicated to the many thousands 

who left Northamptonshire over the course of the 20th and 21st century never 

to return home. Much of the responsibility for their preservation rightly belongs 

to the congregation that meets there day-by-day and week-by-week, but they 

deserve to sense that the Borough, and whatever successor authority comes 

into being, shares their commitment to the place and to the ‘plant’. Recent 

changes to parking regulations, and interminable dispute with 

Northamptonshire County Council, have made a measurably negative impact, 

making the task harder. While there is an appreciation that this is a burden 

borne by all who work or live in the town centre, it ought to be understood that 

the vocation of a Parish Church, even more so for a Civic Church, is 

distinctive and demanding. It is dishonest to say that it is like any other 

business. Further, the decision to displace rough sleepers from the 

commercial districts of the town centre, left many of the churchyards full of 

people taking refuge – with the consequent disruption and desecration of 

gravespace that often follows with this. That churches did not wish to be as 

hard-hearted as to perpetuate displacement, at least not without a decent 

alternative solution already in place, meant rough sleeping in churchyards 

became unmanaged – seeming even more so to members of the general 

public than to do those directly involved. It almost seemed as if churches were 

being punished for making the claim that displacing rough sleepers without 

provision of a viable, realistic alternative lacked human kindness. 

153



24 

 

 All Saints’ Church, as a site, must develop. Its last major reordering took place 

in the 1830s, and parts of its infrastructure are well overdue for renewal. While 

2019 will see renovation to the café at the Western end, and a programme of 

works to safeguard the fabric, it more broadly needs to understand what the 

town and what the Borough expects of it and thinks of it. The setting of 

ambitious expectations will aid its better serving the place in which it is set. 

Like many other heritage assets, where the Borough is able to offer direct 

encouragement and aid, much will be achieved. 

 There are restrictions within licensing that can impact on events. For example: 

a series of exchanges had with NBC planning officers when Northamptonshire 

Surprise (wanted to erect advertising banners on the façade of All Saints’, 

gave the impression that many obstacles lay in the way of using 

Northampton’s most iconic church to advertise Northamptonshire more 

generally.  

Chair, Northampton Interfaith Forum (NIFF) 

Key points of evidence: 

 The Chair of NIFF is aware of Holocaust Memorial Day, Mayor Making, 
Remembrance Day;  others include “Diwali”, The Hindu Festival of Lights, Niff 
are working with Buddies of Beckets to hold a “Mela” Festival of Friendship in 
Beckets Park this July to bring Northampton’s communities together.  
 

 It is expected that Northampton Representatives elected to serve on the 
proposed Unitary Authority will ensure the best interests of Northampton are 
served and will ensure civic pride, ceremonies and events are protected. 
Maybe the Town Show could be brought back to life with civic pride being 
promoted. 

 Previously, NBC employed an “Events Team” based at Clifftonville house who 
organised the Borough events and did a very good job of marketing. 
The residents of Northampton need to get behind this with a dedicated team 
of employees and/or volunteers to ensure this happens, 

 A media campaign would help. 

 There is a need for wholehearted Support regarding civic events. 
  
 

3.6                   Desktop research -  Best Practice 
 
3.6.1             Examples of best practice informed the evidence base of the Review 

from a variety of sources: 
 

    Shrewsbury Town Council 

154



25 

 

 Shrewsbury Town Council was established in 2009.  Shrewsbury and 

Atcham Borough Council was abolished and the Unitary Shropshire 

Council created.    Previously, Shrewsbury had been unparished. 

 Shrewsbury Town Council has a population of over 72,000.  It is the 

second most populous Parish Council in England.  The most populous 

being Weston Super Mare with a population of 76,143. 

 Councillors and Staff 

 Shrewsbury Town Council comprises 17 Councillors. Elections take 

place every four years.   

 The Town Council is chaired by a Mayor who has the support of a 

Deputy Mayor.  The Mayor is elected each year at Annual Council. 

 The Town Clerk is the senior Officer of the Town Council and there are 

around 60 other members of staff, some full time and some part time 

officers.  The staffing structure includes: 

 Project Officer 

 Technical Officer (Playground and horticultural) 

 Technical Officers (Arboriculture and Sports Recreation areas) 

 Asset Management Officer 

 Administrator and Admin Assistants and Finance Administrator 

 Youth Community Worker 

 Youth Workers 

 Officer Manager 

 Committee Clerk 

 Communications Officer 

 Mayor’ Secretary 

 Mayor’s Officer/Driver 

 Facilities cleaner 

 

    The Town Clerk is responsible for the day to day management of the 

services delivered by the Town Council.  The Town Clerk is also 

responsible for ensuring that the decisions made by the various 

Committees are actioned. 

 Assets and Functions 

 The assets and functions of the Town Council include: 

 Allotments 

 Community Centres 

155



26 

 

 Public Conveniences 

 Churchyard 

 Open Space 

 Park/Gardens 

 Recreation Ground/Play Area/Sporting Facilities 

 Woodland 

 Bus Shelters 

 Street Lighting 

 Youth Services 

 The Town Council is responsible for over 400 street lights in 

Shrewsbury.  They are identified by an `F’ on the lamp.  If they 

have a `Z’ they are the responsibility of Shropshire Council. 

 Partnership Working 

 Shrewsbury Town Council partakes in both Shrewsbury in Bloom and 

Britain in loom.  

 Shrewsbury Town Council is twinned with Zutphen.  Since 1977 there 

were formal twinning links with Zutphen, in the Netherlands.    Every 

year the Mayor, Town Clerk and others from the Town Council go to 

Zutphen and vice versa.  This is organised by the Twinning 

Committees. 

 Shrewsbury Town Council is part of Team Shrewsbury. The partnership 

was launched in 2014 and the partnership leads on a programme that 

aims to tackle a range of local issues.  It is reported that Team 

Shrewsbury is about equipping and empowering local people to identify 

and solve local problems. 

Team Shrewsbury comprises representatives from: 

 Shrewsbury Town Council 

 Shropshire Council 

 West Mercia Police 

 Shropshire Fire & Rescue service 

 Shrewsbury Business Improvement District (BID) 

 Shrewsbury Shopping Centres 

 Safer Shrewsbury 

 Shrewsbury Street Pastors 

 University Centre Shrewsbury 

 British Transport Police 

 Royal Sutton Coldfield Town Council 

156



27 

 

 Royal Sutton Coldfield Town Council was established in 2015.  It 

was formed following a consultative postal ballot.  70% of the votes 

supported the establishment of a Town Council.  

 An interim Town Council was formally created on 1 March 2016, 

with the first 24 councillors being elected in May 2016 representing 

4 wards. Town Councillors are elected every four years, with the 

next election due in May 2018. 

 In 2011 the census population was 95.901, which had increased by 

6.7% since the census in 2001. 

 The Town Council is entirely funded through a precept on the 

council tax charge made by Birmingham City Council. The 

2018/19 budget sets a total precept of £1,832,982 that 

equates to a council tax charge of £49.96 on a band D 

household. 

 Councillors and Officers 

 Sutton Coldfield has eight wards with 24 Town Councillors. 

 The Town Mayor and the Deputy Town Mayor are elected each 

year at the Annual Town Council Meeting.  The Town Council also 

appoints a Leader whose job it is to assist the Town Clerk in the 

day to day running of the Town Council. 

 The Town Council has a Town Clerk, Assistant Town Clerk, 

Finance and Admin Assistant and Admin Assistant for the Mayor. 

          Assets and Functions 

  The Town Council has a variety of powers and duties 

accumulated over time through legislation and include: 

 provision of allotments and cemeteries 

 the award of grants to the community 

 the promotion of entertainment and the arts 

 planning (where the Town Council is a statutory consultee ) 

 recreation 

 traffic calming 

 the care of war memorials 

 Birmingham City Council is responsible for providing most local 

authority services in the town including: 

 waste collection 

157



28 

 

 education 

 highways 

 transport planning 

 social care 

 housing 

 libraries 

 leisure and recreation 

 environmental health 

 

   Milton Keynes Town Council – CMK Town Council 

 CMK Town Council is the Parish Council for the city centre.    The 

Parish is divided into three Wards: 

 

 The parish was created in 2001, and had a population of 1,272 

according to the 2001 census.  It is now reported to cover over 3,000 

residents and 1,000 businesses. 

 The work of CMK is funded through a parish precept tax.  In 2017-

18, CMK and Campbell Park households will pay an average of £64.40 

precept tax to support its work.  It is reported that this is below the 

average parish precept (£72.38) levied by other parishes of Milton 

Keynes. This compares with an average of £1,470.75 council tax per 

household to support of the work of Milton Keynes Council (which also 

provides most of the local services throughout the borough). 

 Councillors and Officers 

 The Town Council has 8 elected councillors – 3 from the West Ward, 3 

from the East Ward, and 2 from Campbell Park Ward. The Town 

Council is chaired by a Councillor.  All CMK Councillors are unpaid 

volunteers and do not receive an allowance. 

 The Staffing Structure includes: 

 Clerk for the Town Council 

 Communications Officer 

158



29 

 

 CMK Warden – employed jointly by CMK and Milton Keynes City 

Centre Management. The Officer is responsible for the 

monitoring of the public areas. 

 

Assets and Functions 

 Milton Keynes Council (MKC) is the council for the whole borough of 

Milton Keynes, representing about 250,000 residents.  MKC provides 

most of the local services for residents, from street lighting and road 

repairs to social services and council housing. 

 CMK Town Council’s work focuses on influencing the borough council 

(MKC) to deliver better services and to make better decisions for our 

residents (on local development proposals and licensing applications, 

for example).   It is reported that it also partners with MKC on a number 

of projects to improve the quality of life for our residents. 

 

   3.8    Site Visits 

   3.8.1 The following site visits took place on 9 August 2018: 

Raunds Town Council 

  Raunds Town Council has a population of 8,641 (2011 census). It has a 

budget of £450,000 from the precept. 

  Councillors and Staff 

 Raunds Town Council comprises 12 Councillors covering 2 wards. 

In 2005 Raunds Town Council decided to elect a Mayor rather than having a 

chairman of the council.  The Mayor is elected each year at Annual Council.  

A Deputy Mayor is also elected and they are expected to take over from the 

Mayor in the following year.  However, it is possible for the Mayor to be in 

Office for longer than one year.  The Mayor does not have robes or a mace 

but does have chains of office. 

 The Mayor Chairs the Council which meets monthly, with the exception of 

August.  The Town Council also has consultative Committees. 

 The Clerk is the senior Officer of the Town who is supported by two Assistant 

Clerks and an Officer Administrator.  There are also a number of caretaking 

staff. The Clerk is responsible for the day to day management of the services 

delivered by the Town Council.   

159



30 

 

 Civic Events 

  Three key events are held annually: 

 Civic Service 

 Burns Night Dinner 

 Wine Tasting 

 

Other events are held that the Mayor partakes in including: 

County Fayre 

 Christmas Lights 

 Remembrance Day 

 Halloween Party 

 Bonfire Night 

The Mayor’s Charity for 2018/2019 is the Stoke Association. 

 

Assets and Functions 

Raunds Town Council is currently working with NCC as part of its 

Independent Library process with a view to purchasing the building and 

supporting a local community group to run the library.  It has responsibility for 

the management of lots of green space, which includes a dog park. 

   

Higham Ferrers Town Council 

 Higham Ferrers has a population of 8,000 (2011 census.)  It has a budget of 

£365,000 from the precept. 

 Councillors and Staff 

 There are 16 elected Councillors who serve a four year term. All Councillors 

are voluntary and no allowance is received.   The Mayor has a budget for civic 

functions and an annual allowance of £1,500. 

 The Mayor is elected each year at Annual Council.  A Deputy Mayor is also 

elected and they are expected to take over from the Mayor in the following 

year.   The Mayor wears full robes, there is a mace and chains of office.  The 

Clerk is also expected to robe up for Council and other events.  Robes are 

160



31 

 

worn at four meetings a year. Higham Ferrers also has a Leader and Deputy 

Leader of the Council; the rationale being that it helps business continuity.   

Other Committees: 

 Planning 

 Policy and Resources 

 Environment and Recreation 

 Personnel Committee meets on an ad-hoc basis. 

 The Clerk is the most senior role of the Council. The Council also employs an 

Assistant Town Clerk, Admin Officers x 2, Admin/Finance Officer, Parks and 

Open Spaces Warden x 2, Mayor’s Sergeant and Town Hall Cleaner. 

 There is also the role of Town Manager funded by Section 106 monies.  25% 

of the Town Manager’s time is dedicated to Higham Ferrers. 

 Civic Events 

  Annual events include: 

 Mayor making 

 Civic Service 

 Carol Service – the Mayor leads the procession 

 Mayoralty Charity events 

 Remembrance Day 

 Christmas event – Opened by the Mayor 

 Christmas Service 

 The Mayor’s Charity for 2018/2019 is the Air Ambulance. 

 Assets and Functions 

 Assets and functions of Higham Ferrers Town Council include: 

 Town Hall 

 Farmers’ market 

 Cemetery 

 Open spaces and play areas – including a skate park and football 

pitch, tennis courts and MUGA 

161



32 

 

 Public toilets 

 Churchyard 

 Grass cuttings 

 CCTV 

 Higham Ferrers Town Council is working with a Community Group regarding 

taking over the local library. It is envisaged it will be housed in a porta cabin 

located on a car park, run by a Community Group.  Higham Ferrers is twinned 

with Hackenberg in Germany.  Twinning visits take place annually. One year 

the Mayor of Higham Ferrers visits Hackenberg and the following year the 

Mayor of Hackenberg visits Higham Ferrers. 

3.9 Background Information 

3.9.1 Clarification of Roles 

 Mayor’s Serjeant 

 As detailed in the book “The Borough of Northampton, its Guildhall and Civic 

Traditions” written by RJ Morris: 

“There is no longer a Mayor’s Serjeant (a position held until his final 

retirement in 2006 by Alan Hughes, who was robed on formal occasions.)  

The Mace is now carried by the person who is also the Mayor’s Chauffeur.” 

 The role of Mayor’s Serjeant exists in other Local Authorities: 

Example 

Lancaster City Council 

The Posts of Mayor’s Serjeant and Town Serjeant have been in 

existence since 1193. Although now ceremonial posts, they originally 

were there to protect the Mayor and the Aldermen and Councillors of 

the District.  

The Serjeants each carry a small silver gilt mace and it was intended 

that these would be used to beat off anyone who tried to attack the 

processing party.  These maces are still carried by the two Serjeants 

and dressed in their traditional cloaks and hats, they take part in the 

Mayor’s Sunday Parade each year when the Council takes the Mayor 

to Church for a blessing for their Mayoral Year ahead and the Mayor 

leads the Council back to the Town Hall.    The appointment of the 

Serjeants is made on a yearly basis at Annual Council.  

162



33 

 

  Civic and Mayoralty Officer 

   Key roles include:   

 To manage and coordinate all Civic/Mayoral functions and related 

activities on behalf of the Borough Council and co-ordinate such 

events with the County Council 

 To help to provide a high quality administrative, secretarial and 

appropriate support to enable the Mayor, Deputy Mayor and their 

escorts to perform their civic duties, and to ensure that the Council’s 

other civic and twinning activities are delivered successfully 

 To act as Advisor and Personal Assistant to the Mayor    

Mayor’s Chauffeur 

The Post is covered by two individuals.  The key role is to be the Mayor’s 

Chauffeur taking him to Civic/Mayoral functions and full Council.  To maintain 

the upkeep of the Mayoral car to include re-fuelling and servicing and ensure 

all related documentation is up to date. To act as Macebearer as appropriate, 

which entails wearing a ceremonial outfit and carrying the Mayor’s Mace.  

 

 

4                   Equality Impact Assessment 

4.1 Overview and Scrutiny ensures that it adheres to the Council’s statutory 

duty to provide the public with access to Scrutiny reports, briefing 

notes, agendas, minutes and other such documentation.  Meetings of 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Panels are 

widely publicised, i.e. on the Council’s website, copies issued to the 

local media and paper copies are made available in the Council’s One 

Stop Shop and local libraries. 

4.2 The Scrutiny Panel was mindful of the eight protected characteristics 

when undertaking this scrutiny activity so that any recommendations 

that it made could identify potential positive and negative impacts on 

any particular sector of the community.  This was borne in mind as the 

Scrutiny Panel progressed with the review and evidence gathered. 

4.3              So that the Scrutiny Panel obtains a wide range of views, a number of 

key witnesses provided evidence as detailed in section 3 of this report. 

4.4              Details of the Equality Impact Assessment undertaken can be located on 

the Overview and Scrutiny webpage. 

163

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your_council_elections_meetings_and_members/464/overview_and_scrutiny/11


34 

 

 

5 

 

Conclusions and Key Findings 

 

5.1      After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were drawn: 

5.1.1  The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that both the Mayoralty and  Civic tradition is 
very important within the town.  The Mayoralty should be retained at the 
Guildhall.  The Scrutiny Panel felt that a Charitable Trust could be set up for 
the Mayoralty. 

 

5.1.2 The Scrutiny Panel realised that Oak Apple Day is a Borough Council tradition 
and was traditionally held at dawn on 29 May each year.  It fell on a Sunday 
one year and was moved to 12 noon. There is a need for this event to be 
recaptured by the Borough. It is an important Borough event.  Over the years 
a number of civic events have disappeared, it would be the opportune time to 
reintroduce some of these for example May Day celebrations. 

 

5.1.3 100th birthday acknowledgements are expanding and this now comes under 
the remit of civic Mayors.    

 

5.1.4  The Mayor’s visit to hospitals on Christmas Day really cheers patients and 
staff up, especially on the Children’s ward.   

 

 5.1.5 Evidence highlighted that the Mayor of Northampton has  key roles during his 
Mayoralty year including: 

 

 The Mayor is the Chair of the Housebound Fund 

 The Mayor is the President of Town Twinning 

 The Mayor is the President for St John’s Home 

 Honorary Freeman take place just once every civic term – The Panel 
queried what would happen in terms of Unitary. 

 

5.1.6  The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that there is a need to ensure  that the Mace 
is retained in Northampton’s Museum, in the borough and that all silver assets 
are made secure. 

 

 5.1.7 It was noted that the punch bowl that is kept in the Mayor’s Parlour, was 
presented to a former Mayor when he had a child whilst in Office. 

 

164



35 

 

5.1.8 Evidence received highlighted that expert advisors providing information to the 
Scrutiny Panel all felt strongly about the retaining of the Mayoralty and Civic 
events. 

 

5.1.9 The Scrutiny Panel queried who would lead on Hereditary Freeman Services 
in any potential Unitary Authority. 

 

5.1.10 The Scrutiny Panel highlighted that not many towns have Mayors going back 
800 years. 

 

5.1.11 The Scrutiny Panel conveyed the view that it hoped that there would be a 
Town Council, with a Mayor.   It was commented that assets would be 
protected by Town Council. 

 

5.1.12 The Scrutiny Panel commended the book “The Borough of Northampton and 
Its Guildhall and Civic Traditions  - RJB Morris”.  The book contained a lot of 
very important information.  

 

5.1.13 The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged the marketing of the Mayoralty via the 
website but felt this could be done more proactively such as leaflets at places 
such as the train station and libraries.  The Mayoralty needs to be published 
more.  Social media could be used more too. 

 

5.1.14 Evidence gathering demonstrated that the High Sheriff is appointed by the 
Crown.  The primary role is to look after the High Court Judges.    The High 
Court does not have a formal admin. Office. There is no funding for the role of 
High Sheriff.  It is an unpaid role. 

  

5.1.15 It was noted that when the previous Mayor’s Serjeant had retired, the role had 

not been replaced. The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be useful there 

be an Honorary Mayor’s Serjeant, possibly an Alderman or former Councillor. 

There would be no cost to such an Honorary post.   

   

6 Recommendations 

 

6.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to look at Northampton, (being mindful 

of the potential Unitary Authority), giving particular consideration to how civic 

pride and ceremonies can be protected. 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 

  

165



36 

 

 To gain an understanding and overview of the civic pride, events and 
ceremonies (compiling a formal list) that currently take place within the 
Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s  civic events and 
ceremonies are marketed  

 To understand the role of the Mayor of Northampton 

 To understand the roles of both the previous Northampton Borough 
Council and other partners in civic events and ceremonies within the 
borough 

 To consider how the pride and history of the Borough and the Guildhall 
can be preserved and enhanced as part of any new Unitary Authority. 

 

 Scrutiny Panel 3 therefore recommends to Cabinet that, Post Unitary: 

6.1.1 The Mayor of Northampton is retained and a Charitable Trust is set up for the 

Mayoralty.  The Mayoralty is retained at the Guildhall to protect Civic traditions 

and to promote our heritage. 

6.1.2 A Civic Quarter is created that includes our Civic assets. 

6.1.3 Should a Town Council be established, the Town Council should be located in 
the Guildhall, along with Mayoralty and its regalia and protect the assets of the 
town. 

6.1.4  To protect Civic pride in a wider Northampton area and consider a new Unitary 
Council called Greater Northampton. 

6.1.5 It is ensured that the Maces, known as North, South, East and West, are 
retained in Northampton’s Museum, in the borough and that all silver assets 
are made secure. 

6.1.6 Oak Apple day is a Borough Council tradition and it should be recaptured by 
the Borough.    This would be the opportune time to reintroduce some of civic 
events that have over time disappeared, for example May Day celebrations 
and celebrate other Cultural celebrations. 

 

6.1.7 Other key roles of the Mayoralty are protected, including: 

 

 The Mayor is the Chair of the Housebound Fund 

 The Mayor is the President of Town Twinning 

 The Mayor is the President for St John’s Home  

 Honorary Freeman take place just once every civic term 

 Hereditary Freeman take the oath from the Mayor 

 

166



37 

 

6.1.8 The introduction of the roles of Major’s Serjeant and Town Serjeant, as 

Honorary roles, for example an Alderman or former Councillor are 

investigated. 

 

6.1.9 Publicity and marketing of the Mayoralty is good; but it should be widened 

further to include proactive use of leaflets at locations such as the train station 

and libraries and more use of Social Media. 

 

6.1.10 Cabinet is informed that it is the aspiration of the Scrutiny Panel that 
Northampton is a city of culture by 2025. 

  

           Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6.1.11 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 

reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

167



 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

168



 1 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
Appendix A 

  
 SCRUTINY PANEL 3 – NORTHAMPTON POST UNITARY 

 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 

 

 To look at Northampton, (being mindful of the potential Unitary 

Authority), giving particular consideration to how civic pride and 

ceremonies can be protected 

 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 

 To gain an understanding and overview of the civic pride, events and 

ceremonies (compiling a formal list) that currently take place within 

the Borough of Northampton 

 To gain an understanding of how Northampton’s  civic events and 

ceremonies are marketed   

 To understand the role of the Mayor of Northampton 

 To understand the roles of both the previous Northampton Borough 

Council and other partners in civic events and ceremonies within the 

borough 

 To consider how the pride and history of the Borough and the Guildhall 

can be preserved and enhanced as part of any new Unitary Authority. 

 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

 To recommend an action plan how civic pride, events and ceremonies 

can be protected.   

 

3. Information Required  

 

 Background data   

 Background reports 

 Best practice data (if applicable) 

 Desktop research 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

169



 2 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

 Site visits (if applicable) 

4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 

 

 Presentation to set the scene:  a summary of the civic 

pride, events and ceremonies that currently take place 

within the Borough of Northampton and information; links 

with communities, role of the Mayor  

 

 Relevant Legislation, for example the Localism Act 2011 

 Statistics: including: 

 

Number of Mayoralty events, civic ceremonies etc. 

Supporting Charities (previous Mayor’s) 

          

 Best practice external to Northampton/Case Study examples   

 

 Internal expert advisors: 

 

 The current Mayor of Northampton 

 Leader and Deputy Leader of the Council 

 Chief Executive 

 

 External expert advisors: 

 

 Representative of the Northampton Rotary Club  

 Freeman of the Borough 

 Expert Historian 

 The Chairman, Committee, Mayor’s Fund for the 

Housebound 

 Lord Lieutenant’s Office 

 High Sheriff’s Office 

 Previous Mayor of Northampton 

 Representative of All Saints Church, Thomas White, Blue 

and Orange School 

 Chair, NIFF 

 Town Clerk from a Town Council, such as Sutton 

Coldfield, Chester 

 

 

 

170



 3 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Desktop research 

 Site visits (if applicable)  

 Officer reports 

 Presentations 

 Examples of best practice/case studies 

 Witness Evidence:- 

 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 

 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

  

Lee Mason, previous Mayor of Northampton, to be approached to be 
co-opted to the Review 
Deputy Lieutenant to be approached to be co-opted to the Review 
 

7.  Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 

scope of the Review 

 

8.   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

June 2018 – March 2019 

 

 14 June 2018                        - Scoping meeting 

  4  July                                - Evidence gathering 

 20  September                     - Evidence gathering 

 29 November                       - Evidence gathering 

 7 February 2019                  - Evidence gathering 

 25 March                              - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 

 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 

 

9. Responsible Officers 

 

Laurie Gould, Solicitor 

Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 

171



 4 

 

10. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2019.  Presented by the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel to 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 

 

11. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report at the appropriate time.  

172



 1 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

Appendix B 
 

SCRUTINY PANEL  3 – NORTHAMPTON POST UNITARY 
 

 
The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review:  Northampton Post 

Unitary 

 

The purpose of the Review is  

 

 To look at Northampton, (being mindful of the potential Unitary 

Authority), giving particular consideration to how civic pride and 

ceremonies can be preserved 

 
CORE QUESTIONS:    
 
A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base 
of the Scrutiny Panel:  
 

1. Please can you provide details of civic pride, events and ceremonies 
that currently or previously took place in Northampton for the Scrutiny 
Panel’s consideration for inclusion of its formal list 
 

2. How are Northampton’s civic events and ceremonies marketed? 
 

3 Please provide suggestions how you feel the pride and history of the 

Borough and the Guildhall can be preserved and enhanced as part of 

any new Unitary Authority. 

 

4 Question to internal witnesses: What is role of Northampton Borough 

Council in civic events and ceremonies within the borough ? 

 

5 Question to external witnesses:  What is the role of partners in civic 

events and ceremonies within the borough ? 

 

6 In your opinion, how can all assets, including Museums and their 

contents, in the borough be preserved and secured? 

 

173



 2 

7 Do you have any other information you are able to provide in relation to 

civic pride in Northampton  

174



O v e r v i e w  &  S c r u t i n y  C o m m i t t e e

S C R U T I N Y  P A N E L  – 
A D U L T  S O C I A L  C A R E

M a y 2 0 1 9 175

Agenda Item 8c



 1 

Index 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair’s Foreword              2    
     
Executive Summary                            3  
 
Final Report including recommendations                     9  
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
 
 
Appendix A  Scope of the Review   

 

Appendix B  Core Questions  

 

 

176



2 

 

Foreword 

The objective of this Scrutiny Panel was to investigate Adult Social Care Facilities in the area 
to identify future demand patterns, in order that any new Unitary Council is able to better 
plan for the needs of older people. 
  

Key Lines of Enquiry 
 

 To gain an understanding of the demand patterns for Adult Social Care in the area 
that is proposed for the new Unitary Council 

 To assess the extent of the need for Adult Social Care in the area and assess the 
initiatives currently in place to  provide Adult Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to receiving Adult Social Care 
 To gain an understanding of the current facilities for Adult Social Care and whether 

there are any gaps of provision 
 To gain an understanding of partnership working for Adult Social Care and how this 

can be improved 
 To gain an understanding of the structure of the Adult Integrated Care Programme 
 To gain an understanding of the Governance Arrangements  for the Social Care 

Integrated Programme 
 Identify any specific groups  that are not  accessing Adult Social Care Facilities 
 To gain an understanding of care in the community and how it is assessed and 

monitored 
 To gain an understanding of the extent of adult care responsibilities that will fall upon 

the proposed new Unitary Authority and the degree of necessary preparation. 
 To gain an appreciation of the statutory responsibilities in respect of the duty of care 

obligations and their financial consequences. 
 

The required outcomes being: 

 To identify future demand patterns, in order that any new Unitary Council is able to 
better plan for the needs of older people 

 To make recommendations, as appropriate, regarding future Social Adult Care 
facilities 

 To make recommendations, as appropriate, to the MPs 

 To submit the final report of the Scrutiny Panel to the shadow Board for the new 
Unitary Council 
 

The Scrutiny Panel was made up of    myself (Chair); Councillor Sally Beardsworth  (Vice 

Chair); Councillors Julie Davenport, Anamul Haque (Enam), Jamie Lane, Arthur 

McCutcheon, Brian Oldham and Cathrine Russell.   

A comprehensive review took place between August 2018 and May 2019.  A wealth of 

background data and information was received by the Scrutiny Panel.  A series of interviews 

with a number of key expert advisors were held.  A number of organisations and groups 

provided written information.  Desktop research was undertaken by the Scrutiny Officer, the 

findings of which informed the review.  Representatives of the Scrutiny Panel, together with 

the Scrutiny Officer undertook a site visit to the London Borough of Islington, Northampton 

General Hospital and St Andrews Hospital. 

I highlight that information gathering was very important to this review so that the Scrutiny 

Panel could inform its health check of the local economy. This enabled the Scrutiny Panel to 

177



3 

 

devise its key findings, conclusions and recommendations that will be considered by Cabinet 

later this year. 

As part of the monitoring regime, Overview and Scrutiny will review this report six months 

after Cabinet has received it. 

I would like to thank everyone who took part in this in-depth piece of work. 

 
 

Councillor Zoe Smith 

Chair, Scrutiny Panel 4 

 

Acknowledgements to all those who took part in the review: 

 Councillor Sally Beardsworth (Vice Chair); Councillors Julie Davenport, Anamul 

Haque (Enam), Jamie Lane, Arthur McCutcheon, Brian Oldham and Cathrine 

Russell.   who sat with me on this review 

 Anna Earnshaw, Director, Adult Social Care, NCC,  Ken Fairbain, Deputy Director, 

Adult Social Care, NCC,  Councillor Stephen Hibbert, Cabinet Member for Housing 

and Wellbeing, Phil Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing, NBC, Detective Chief 

Inspector Rich Tompkins, Northants Police,  Lucy Weightman, Director of Public 

Health,  Dr David Jones, Chair, Morcea Walker, Vice Chair, Healthwatch 

Northamptonshire, Angela Hillery, Chief Executive, Northampton Health Trust, Chris 

Duff, Chief Executive, Age UK Northamptonshire, Gwynn Roberts,  Deputy Chief 

Executive, Northants Carers for providing a response to the core questions 

 Officers of the  London Borough of Islington, Northampton General Hospital and St 

Andrews Hospital for hosting site visits, the information of which informed the 

evidence base of this Scrutiny Review 

 

178



 4 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
 
The purpose of the Review was to investigate Adult Social Care Facilities in the 
area to identify future demand patterns, in order that any new Unitary Council is 
able to better plan for the needs of older people. 
  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
 

 To gain an understanding of the demand patterns for Adult 
Social Care in the area that is proposed for the new Unitary 
Council 

 To assess the extent of the need for Adult Social Care in the 
area and assess the initiatives currently in place to  provide 
Adult Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to 
receiving Adult Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the current facilities for Adult 
Social Care and whether there are any gaps of provision 

 To gain an understanding of partnership working for Adult 
Social Care and how this can be improved 

 To gain an understanding of the structure of the Adult 
Integrated Care Programme 

 To gain an understanding of the Governance 
Arrangements  for the Social Care Integrated Programme 

 Identify any specific groups that are not  accessing Adult 
Social Care Facilities 

 To gain an understanding of care in the community and how it 
is assessed and monitored 

 To gain an understanding of the extent of adult care 
responsibilities that will fall upon the proposed new Unitary 
Authority and the degree of necessary preparation. 

 To gain an appreciation of the statutory responsibilities in 
respect of the duty of care obligations and their financial 
consequences. 

 

Following a motion to full Council on 9 July 2018: 
 

“Whatever the boundaries of the new Unitary Councils, for 
Northamptonshire, those councils will take on responsibility for the care of 
older people in our community, from 2020. 
 
 A recent study estimated that 35% of inpatients in local hospitals were 
there simply waiting for suitable after care to be available (so called Bed 
Blocking). 
 
This Council asks scrutiny, working with NCC scrutiny and partners, 
particularly health service partners, to carry out investigation into Adult 
Social Care facilities in the area to identify future demand patterns, in 
order that the new Unitary Council is able to better plan for the needs of 
older people in the future”. 

 

 Recent events have confirmed that this will not take place until 2021. 

179



 5 

Overview and Scrutiny included this Scrutiny Review onto its Work 
Programme for 2019/2020. 
 

 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Zoe Smith (Chair), 
Councillor Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair); Councillors Julie Davenport, 
Janice Duffy, Penny Flavell, Anamul Haque, Jamie Lane, Brian Oldham and 
Cathrine Russell. 

 
 This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly corporate 

priority – Improving our governance. 
 
 
 

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 
 
5.1.1     That there are key themes emerging: 

  

         Assistance required for the BAME community 

         Particular need for joined up communications 

         Exploration of a centralised system  - centralisation is very 
important 



5.1.2  It was acknowledged that Adult Social Care Services is under resourced.



5.1.3 It is important that there is a holistic approach regarding integration and 
integrated services; integrated care is vital.  It is important that there is one 
service working together to deliver the same outcomes.  It was recognised 
that there is not a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub, in existence for adults 
as there is for children.   The Site Visit noted that Adult Social Care at the 
London Borough of Islington has an excellent level of integration; with a 
close relationship with the CCG and health colleagues at both operational 
and commissioning level. 

 

5.1.4 Partnership working is essential. The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that 
there is a need to build on Partnerships.  The voluntary sector can bring in 
funding. 

 

·        5.1.5 Evidence received highlight the Project that is funded by NCC – “not 
enough money in the pot”.  Wellingborough had been chosen as a pilot for 
this Project, mainly due to the size of the Borough for the Ageing Well 
Project.  

 

5.1.6 The good work undertaken by various organisations and groups was 
highlighted.  For example some services run by Northants Carers carrying 

180



 6 

out statutory assessments. These are currently offered county wide and the 
Scrutiny Panel queried how these would continue to run without causing 
disruption post Unitary.  It was highlighted that the contract is due to come 
to an end in October 2021.    Northants Carers has a “sitting service” and 
carer’s gym membership, which are very popular.  It has won a national 
award for bringing together various professionals – Breathing Space 
Project.   In Northamptonshire, investment in carers is relatively good.  The 
Scrutiny Panel noted that the BAME Community is hard to reach.  Northants 
Carers works with a number of partners and other groups.  Recently, it put 
on events in Wellingborough.  It runs an Asian Ladies Carers 
Group.  Northants Carers works with the organisation “Dostiyo”. It also 
works with faith groups and individuals. 

  
5.1.7 The Pilot being run in Kettering whereby a Housing Officer is dedicated 

resource to Kettering General Hospital is working very well. 



5.1.8 The Scrutiny Panel was pleased the Eleanor House had been modernised 
and back in use.  Additionally, it was recognised that Parsons Mead is a 
flagship complex and “ticks all the boxes”, being close to required amenities 
for older people.    

 
5.1.9    It was felt that it would be useful for there to be a facility where individuals 

could go when they no longer needed hospital care but needed care at 
home, but such care was not available. 

  
 

5.1.10Currently, a number of GP practices proactively refer to organisations such 

as Age UK Northamptonshire so as to positively support 

their clients’ needs.  Literature from Age UK Northamptonshire is widely 

available in GP surgeries across the County, and in Northampton and the 

North in particular given the services supported by NHS funds.   The 

Scrutiny Panel was concerned that it might be possible that there will not be 

enough GP Practices and GPs to cover the county. 

 

5.1.11 Clients being supported through NHS funded services are referred from a 

mix of sources.  Some are referred via word of mouth and many from other 

Age UK Northamptonshire services.  Around two thirds of the referrals for 

Age UK Northamptonshire NHS funded services are from GPs. 

 

5.1.12 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that loneliness is, arguably, the most 

significant issue that needs to be dealt with.  It can be very isolated for 

carers. 

 

5.1.13 It was realised that some individuals don’t claim for the benefits that they 

are entitled to. 

181



 7 

 

5.1.14 The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be good if best practice could be 

shared between the two Unitary Authorities. 

      

  

 
             RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

 
The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 
The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate Adult Social Care Facilities in 

the area to identify future demand patterns, in order that any new Unitary 
Council is able to better plan for the needs of older people. 

  
      Key Lines of Enquiry 

  

 To gain an understanding of the demand patterns for Adult Social 
Care in the area that is proposed for the new Unitary Council 

 To assess the extent of the need for Adult Social Care in the 
area and assess the initiatives currently in place to  provide Adult 
Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to receiving 
Adult Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the current facilities for Adult Social 
Care and whether there are any gaps of provision 

 To gain an understanding of partnership working for Adult Social 
Care and how this can be improved 

 To gain an understanding of the structure of the Adult Integrated 
Care Programme 

 To gain an understanding of the Governance Arrangements  for 
the Social Care Integrated Programme 

 Identify any specific groups  that are not  accessing Adult Social 
Care Facilities 

 To gain an understanding of care in the community and how it is 
assessed and monitored 

 To gain an understanding of the extent of adult care 
responsibilities that will fall upon the proposed new Unitary 
Authority and the degree of necessary preparation. 

 To gain an appreciation of the statutory responsibilities in respect 
of the duty of care obligations and their financial consequences. 

 
6.1.1  Whilst acknowledging data protection constraints,  an integrated system, 

hosted by Adult Social Care, that can be used by all relevant Agencies, is 

explored by the proposed West Northamptonshire Unitary Authority.   

 

6.1.2 In researching a potential integrated system, the systems and processes 

adopted by Adult Social Care at the London Borough of Islington are 

182



 8 

referred to.  In addition to this, all departments are given training to 

encourage a positive attitude towards information sharing and sign posting 

individuals to relevant services and support. 

 

6.1.3    That a survey is conducted, through various Community Groups, to 

ascertain    why some of the BAME community is not accessing services. 

  
6.1.4 That a housing officer is linked to Northampton General Hospital, a similar 

arrangement to the Kettering Pilot. 
 
6.1.5 That support is given for social prescribing in relation to day care and a 

campaign aimed at GPs and other providers looking at the prescribing of 

day-care and community activities.  A leaflet is also distributed to GP 

practices and various community groups promoting this support. 

 

6.1.6 That a copy of this report is shared with all Councillors of the other 

sovereign Councils in the proposed West Northamptonshire Unitary Council  

- Northamptonshire County Council, Daventry District Council and South 

Northants Council. 

           

 
             Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
 
6.1.7    The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 

reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 
 

183



9 

 

NORTHAMPTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

Overview and Scrutiny 

Report of Scrutiny Panel 4 – Adult Social Care Facilities 

  

1 Purposes 

1.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate Adult Social Care 
Facilities in the area to identify future demand patterns, in order that 
any new Unitary Council is able to better plan for the needs of older 
people. 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 

 
 To gain an understanding of the demand patterns for Adult 

Social Care in the area that is proposed for the new Unitary 
Council 

 To assess the extent of the need for Adult Social Care in the 
area and assess the initiatives currently in place to  provide 
Adult Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to receiving 
Adult Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the current facilities for Adult Social 
Care and whether there are any gaps of provision 

 To gain an understanding of partnership working for Adult Social 
Care and how this can be improved 

 To gain an understanding of the structure of the Adult Integrated 
Care Programme 

 To gain an understanding of the Governance Arrangements  for 
the Social Care Integrated Programme 

 Identify any specific groups that are not  accessing Adult Social 
Care Facilities 

 To gain an understanding of care in the community and how it is 
assessed and monitored 

 To gain an understanding of the extent of adult care 
responsibilities that will fall upon the proposed new Unitary 
Authority and the degree of necessary preparation. 

 To gain an appreciation of the statutory responsibilities in 
respect of the duty of care obligations and their financial 
consequences. 

  
1.2  A copy of the scope of the Review is attached at Appendix A. 
 
 
 
 
 

184



10 

 

 
2 Context and Background     

2.1  Following a motion to full Council on 9 July 2018: 
 

“Whatever the boundaries of the new Unitary Councils, for 
Northamptonshire, those councils will take on responsibility for the care of 
older people in our community, from 2020. 
 
 A recent study estimated that 35% of inpatients in local hospitals were there 
simply waiting for suitable after care to be available (so called Bed Blocking). 
 
This Council asks scrutiny, working with NCC scrutiny and partners, 
particularly health service partners, to carry out investigation into Adult 
Social Care facilities in the area to identify future demand patterns, in order 
that the new Unitary Council is able to better plan for the needs of older 
people in the future”. 

 

 Recent events have confirmed that this will not take place until 2021. 

Overview and Scrutiny included this Scrutiny Review onto its Work 

Programme for 2019/2020. 

2.2 A Scrutiny Panel was established comprising Councillor Zoe Smith (Chair), 

Councillor Sally Beardsworth (Deputy Chair); Councillors Julie Davenport, 

Janice Duffy, Penny Flavell, Anamul Haque, Jamie Lane, Brian Oldham and 

Cathrine Russell. 

2.3 This review links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly corporate 

priority – Improving our governance. 

2.4 The Scrutiny Panel established that the following needed to be investigated 

and linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 

Background data, including: 
  
Presentation to set the scene:   Current Adult Social Care Facilities 
Relevant national and local background research papers 
Definitions in respect of Adult Social Care 
Relevant Council Policies, Project Plans, Business Plans and 
Strategies: 
Relevant Statistics 
  
Relevant Legislation and Guidance, including: 
  
ADASS Guidance 2009 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 
CARE Act 2014 

185



11 

 

Human Rights Act 1998 
Mental Health Act 1983 
  
Relevant published papers on Adult Social Care 

  
·                     Best practice external to Northampton 

·          Report back from the Centre for Public Scrutiny Conference – 
Health and Social Care 

  
             Internal expert advisors: 

  

     Cabinet Member for Housing, NBC 
      Head of Housing and Wellbeing, NBC 

  
              External expert advisors: 
 

Head of Protecting Vulnerable Persons, Northamptonshire 
Police 
Director of Public Health, Northamptonshire County Council 
Director, Healthwatch Northamptonshire 
Director, Northampton Health Trust 
Ward Managers, Northampton General Hospital 
Other various representatives of Northants Health including GPs 
Chief Executive, Northants - Age UK 
Chief Executive, Northants Carers’ Associations 
Manager, Independent Living  organisation, Northampton 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Northamptonshire 
County Council 
 Director for Adult Social Care, Northamptonshire County 
Council 
  

 Case Studies from Ward Councillors 
 Site visits, as applicable 

  

  3 Evidence Collection 

3.1 Evidence was gathered from a variety of sources: 

3.2                Background reports and information 
 
 3.3               Core Questions 
 

3.3.1 The Scrutiny Panel devised a series of core questions that it put to its 

key witnesses over a cycle of meetings (Copy at Appendix B). 

3.3.2 Key witnesses provided a response to these core questions at the 

meetings of the Scrutiny Panel held on 6 November 2018, 6 December, 

17 January and 11 February 2019. 

186



12 

 

 

 

3.3.3 Executive Director Adults, Communities & Wellbeing, 

Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) 

 Presentation to set the scene 
 
 Understanding the Need for Specialist Housing in Northamptonshire 
 

 The budget for adult social care is £245.875 million per year, of which 

around £190 million is directly spent on care. 

 Joint delivery is key. 

 The Voluntary Sector is involved through various groups such as the 
Health Forum. 

 Adult Social Care meets regularly with the Care Association; as they do 
with the Voluntary Sector. 

 A relationship has been forged with the Voluntary Driver Scheme and 
Age Uk. 

 A lot of people do not want to be known to adult social care. 

 There is a need to put preventative services in place so that the correct 
support and assistance can be provided to those that require it. 

 Central Government provides grant funding. 

 The care package and spend “goes with the person”.  

 The Shaw PFI contract is challenged and has been in place since 
2013.  Discussions are underway regarding individuals with more 
complex needs, new contract management, long term use of the 
contract and work is underway with the Department of Health and 
Treasury about possible solutions.  Shaw is being supportive.  Their staff 
will be trained and NCC is working with Shaw. The contract was actively 
looked at together with the Department of Health and Treasury but this 
was not felt to be good value for money.  Meetings have been held with 
Shaw.  The type of care that is now required is complex nursing and 
dementia care 

 Best practice has changed and people decompensate when they go into 
care homes.  Best practice is for people to remain at home. The average 
age of an individual going into a care home is 89 and they live there on 
average for around 18 months. 

 The point in which individuals pay for their own care is prescribed by 
Legislation.  If they have less than £23,000 it will be paid for them; 
however, if they go into a care home, the value of their home is taken 
into consideration.  If they are cared for at home, the value of the house 
is not taken into consideration.    

187

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s57518/Adults%20Briefing%20Presentation%20NBC%206th%20November%20v01.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s57519/Understanding%20the%20need%20for%20Specialist%20Housing%20in%20Northamptonshire_19.09.18.pdf


13 

 

 Costs vary depending upon specialisms.  High end nursing care costs 
£900 per week. 

 There are 1,000 staff working in Adult Social Care.  There are 450 
providers across the county, of which 250 are care homes.  There is a 
shortage in nursing care. There is a need to further develop dementia 
care.  More needs to be done regarding supportive living.  There is 
around 30% turnover of staff. 

 People living with dementia need to be located in the right place, there 
are lots of issues to be considered. For example, when a hospital goes 
on black alert, the cost of a bed rises.  Northampton has the highest 
waiting list of individuals needed a bed in a care home. 

 Monitoring meetings and risk assessments take place.  The profession is 
regulated by the CQC.  Monitoring meetings are held regularly. 

 Regarding safeguarding referrals, around 6,000 are received 
annually.  91% are concluded as “no further action.”  All referrals are 
screened then rated in terms of need. 

 Best Interest Assessors undertake a review regarding deprivation of 
liberty.  

 There is a high level of demand for care in the home and also a demand 
for dementia care. 

 

Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing, and Head of Housing 
and Wellbeing, Northampton Borough Council 

Key points: 

 

 The current Director of Adult Social Care, NCC, is working with the 

boroughs and districts. 

 There is a huge demand for adult social care – there is a need to 
balance cost with pressures. 

 Housing impacts on physical and mental wellbeing and also health 
inequalities.  Housing options have evolved to meet new and 
emerging demand. 

 Technology is being used to help people, such as telecare. 

 The need for more social housing, especially for older people, was 
highlighted. 

 The need for more Extra Care facilities was emphasised. 

 Parsons Mead is a flagship complex and “ticks all the boxes”, being 
close to required amenities for older people.   

 The Hospital Discharge Scheme has helped 350 people since 
2015. Housing and Wellbeing have excellent engagement with 
Health Services. 

  

188



14 

 

 

 
Detective Chief Inspector, within Public Protection, Northants Police 
 
Key points: 
 

 Rough sleepers with suspected mental health problems are not always 
accessing the required services 

 Prevention is key.  The Police often come across individuals when they are at 
crisis point and they may then present differently to professionals when they 
are free from the effects of drugs or alcohol.   

 Around half the calls Northants Police respond to do not involve a  crime but 
are concerns for public welfare and safety. There are around 120 documented 
calls a week regarding mental health issues, although the impact of mental 
health is suspected to be far higher than this. It is not unusual for calls to be 
received from individuals in crisis themselves, carers or organisations such as 
the Samaritans. The Local Authority provides an approved Mental Health 
practitioner (AHMP) Worker, 24/7. However this individual has other 
responsibilities and out of hours calls can take several hours before being 
responded to. It is common for Police to stay and monitor persons they detain 
under the mental health act for many hours where there is no Social Worker 
or nurse to take ownership for the case. This has been recognised in a new 
national HMICFRS report on the impact of Police responding to Mental Health 
 There are a number of effective multi-agency groups coordinating mental 
health and suicide Prevention – the latter being a new county wide group that 
is viewed as positive 

 Early intervention at all levels prevents crisis – and is seen as positive by 
Police. It can negate persons becoming criminalised and reduces the harm 
(physical and emotional) associated with crisis intervention 

 Partnership working is generally strong in the county. Northants Police have 
appointed a Superintendent to lead on work associated with the future 
provision of services and the proposed 2 new local authorities model, 
replacing the current district and borough approach.    

 MARAC provides effective support for Domestic abuse victims, and has 
around 1,200 cases a year.  Adult Social Services joined MARAC around 12 
months ago which was welcome. 

 The pressures that Adult Social Services are under are acknowledged by the 
Police. 

 Police budgets have faced considerable pressure over the last 8 years. 
Nationally there are 20,000 less officers now than in 2010. Recorded violent 
crime is increasing for the first time in 10 years; Northants Police budgets and 
staffing reflect the national picture.   

 Concerns remain over the future provision of funding to support services. An 
example is the Sunflower Centre (who support High risk victims of domestic 
abuse) who work closely with the Police. A third of their budget emanates 
from the County council. When NCC didn’t pay the contribution for 2018/19 

189



15 

 

they lost 3 highly trained staff. Funding has been restored by 
Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) but uncertainty remains and the 
service provided by the sunflower has had to reduce over the last 6 months – 
this negatively impacts on vulnerable, high risk victims and provides a further 
challenge for the Police.   

Director of Public Health, Northamptonshire County Council (NCC) 

Key points: 

 

 Public health will be supporting our partners in Northamptonshire Adult 
Social Services (NASS) and across NCC, the Northamptonshire Health 
and Care Partnership (NHCP) and wider organisations with data to 
inform service planning, provision and commissioning regarding need 
and demand. This is an intelligence role it currently delivers 

 As NHCP stakeholders, public health are working with its provider 
organisation partners to support an integrated approach to health and 
social care. The Director of Public Health knows integration is essential 
to meet the needs of older people who often have co-morbidities that 
require joint health and social care management. There is considerable 
evidence that this joined up approach is not only the best model of care 
for the service user, but is cost effective and improves outcomes. 
Public health is supporting this work, for example, through the 
development of a new frailty service, on-going falls prevention 
investment, the commissioning of services to support people with 
complex substance misuse needs and leading the implementation of 
social prescription across the county. Funding needs to be apportioned 
according to need.  

 Through Public Health’s partnership with NHCP organisations, public 
health is committed to ensuring that we all strive for continuous 
improvement through shared information and integration as a place-
based system that works effectively together to safeguard our 
vulnerable adults and young people. Through its role as 
commissioners, public health includes the requirement that 
safeguarding referral and staff to be appropriately trained are standard 
in contracts and monitoring arrangements.  

 Public health has contractual relationships as commissioners for 
services that support vulnerable people, for example those people in 
drug and alcohol recovery, homelessness support and is a 
commissioner of services provided at Oasis House. In addition we 
have commissioned training for carers of people in long term care; for 
example mobility, falls prevention and dental health.  

 There are a number of examples across the country that focus on 
specific groups of people dependent on their level of care need and 
any associated risk/ health needs.  

 There are vulnerable marginalised groups that are not accessing adult 
social care in the broadest remit – for example people with mental 
health needs, especially younger adults, including ex-armed force 

190



16 

 

personnel, sex workers, and those with substance misuse social care 
needs. The reasons for this are not fully understood.  

 Integrated roles of health and social care workers that reduce 
duplication and ensure professionals are trained to look at the wider 
need of service users, rather than focus on a silo of health or social 
care will help. Caseload size and access to training and supervision 
are enablers of higher quality care, and assured responsiveness to 
escalation of concerns. Workplace health is also a priority for 7 public 
health and Public health is currently part of a county-wide group that 
looks at workplace health issues and provides strategic direction 
relating to intervention and improvement.  

 Examples already in place are Age Well Wellingborough, identifying 
what is being achieved through that project and delivering it at scale 
across the county would improve wellbeing. Greater access to 
technology to support safe independent living, such as telemedicine, 
wearable devices that allow people to remain in their own home. 
Improved transition planning for those service users with life-long 
complex needs that focuses on independent living through an asset 
based assessment. The new social prescribing programme is also 
reviewing the evidence to identify programme of work we may wish to 
adopt in Northamptonshire to improve population health outcomes.  

 Prevention starts from childhood and evidence shows that the risk of 
poor health and need for long term health and social care is linked to 
birth and childhood conditions and experiences, such as the income of 
your parents and level of deprivation, education opportunities and 
attainment, access to healthy food and physical activity and stability in 
your immediate environment and exposure to adverse events. 
Evidence states that health and wellbeing is impacted more greatly by 
the wider determinants of health compared to access to health 
services, and if we get meaningful understanding and action on 
prevention, this is a considerable spend to save investment for the 
quality of an individual’s life and finite statutory service resources. 
Therefore greater focus on these wider determinants needs to be in 
place; family income, stable housing, good quality schooling, a safe 
and stable environment al allow an individual to maximise life 
opportunities, increase social mobility chances and subsequently have 
a greater quality of independent life. Prevention and early intervention 
is key and needs to be the means underlying the long term 
sustainability of services. This approach is known to reduce the risk of 
avoidable poor health and wellbeing, and even for those people who 
require health and social care, recognition that early identification of a 
deterioration in health is key. Furthermore, access to effective primary 
and community care, home safety, good diet, access to exercise, 
community engagement and inclusion, and medical interventions such 
as health screening and immunisation all contribute to a healthier life.  

 Healthy communities require good transport links across the 
geographical patch, whether that is access to concessionary travel, 

191



17 

 

easy access routes to shopping, health care settings, or to parks and 
outdoor walks, (and organised walks to encourage socialising) and 
cycle paths that lead to places people want to access. This allows 
healthy behaviour to be established early, so that independent travel, 
especially walking and cycling are the norm, rather than reliance on 
cars and provided transport. For those who do require cars though due 
to disability, accessible parking that encourages people to leave their 
homes is important. This is an area where there needs to be more 
awareness of the impact on positive public health and more effective 
town and community planning that appreciates health and wellbeing 
outcomes. Public health are currently developing a programme of work 
with the Place directorate within NCC to join up thinking on these 
issues. 

 Public Health’s view is that promoting independence from an early age, 
supported by a societal infrastructure which is safe and life enhancing, 
is the best approach. Healthy area planning is central to reducing 
avoidable poor health and wellbeing – prevention is better and has 
greater value, than cure across the life course. This is the only 
sustainable model of care from a financial perspective too. When care 
is required, we need to recognise those people who do not access 
traditional health and social care and understand the reason why they 
don’t and make help more accessible. 

 Positive actions are currently be taken in respect of the opportunities 
that the proposed Unitary Councils will provide. 

 Capacity and resilience is increasing. 

 During the 12 week period, an Advisor will look for signs of social 
isolation; not everyone wants to integrate back or have their own 
“social hub.”  Funding of £3.5 million from the Social Impact Fund will 
help to develop the additional workforce required. 

 Partnership working is increasing; everyone is committed to taking on 
shared responsibility.  Services will be aligned to make best use of 
expertise. 

 

Chair and Deputy Chair, HealthWatch Northamptonshire 

Key points: 

 

o It is important that adult social care needs and arrangements and 
children’s services are considered at a county-wide level given that 
strategic planning of health, police and some other services provided by 
wellbeing partners (such as the Police, Fire and Rescue, and Ambulance 
services) is done at county level. 

 
o It is important that partnership working takes place between 'Health' (NHS 

providers and commissioners) and 'Care' (social care providers and 
commissioners) across the whole county and extends to partnership 

192



18 

 

working with wider health and wellbeing partners (such as the Police, Fire 
and Rescue, and Ambulance services) and the voluntary sector. This 
should include joint commissioning between health and care and support 
for the voluntary sector. The Northamptonshire Health and Care 
Partnership (NHCP) has shown vision and a desire to work in this way 
and we will continue to support and encourage integrated working through 
the NHCP Collaborative Stakeholder Forum. The voluntary sector 
provides valuable and innovate services and support to individuals, not 
always supported by statutory health and care services. The voluntary 
sector in Northamptonshire has been subject to funding cuts in recent 
years; it is important that the sector is properly resourced to provide 
support as part of an integrated health and wellbeing sector. 

 
o The CQC Local System Review highlighted the need for better 

partnership and integrated working across the county, particularly when it 
comes to ensuring timely and appropriate discharge of patients from 
hospital.  Health Watch supports the action plan devised as a result of this 
review, particularly engagement with people about what they want from 
health and social care partners when they are admitted to hospital and 
how they want to be involved in their care and discharge planning. 

o Health Watch (HWN) is aware that NCC have been working to make best 
use of the beds provided as part of the Shaw contract. 

 

 All HWN staff and volunteers receive safeguarding training so Public He 
can refer issues to the council's safeguarding team as issues arise. 

 Health Watch carries out Enter and View visits to care/nursing homes as 
part of its statutory role. All these homes are in receipt of public funding as 
well as private funding, visiting purely privately-funded homes is beyond our 
remit. It shares its  findings with the care homes, commissioners and CQC 
and publishes its reports at: 
http://www.healthwatchnorthamptonshire.co.uk/enter-and-view 

 Health Watch attends care home information sharing meetings with NCC, 
CCG and CQC quality monitors and inspectors to ensure information is 
shared and that it is   aware of the monitoring of care/nursing homes taking 
place. 

 Health Watch is aware of the joint housing officer between Kettering 
Borough Council and Kettering General Hospital and believe this is 
beneficial to ensuring people are discharged with the right support to 
prevent future re-admissions. 

 There is a clear need for more effective partnership working between health 
and care services and local housing authorities and providers to meet the 
needs of the ageing population and the increasing number of younger 
adults with disabilities. 

 Whilst Health Watch does not have specific evidence of groups not 
accessing Adult Social Care Facilities, we are aware of incidences where 
hospital patients or their relatives have felt pressurised to find a care home 
bed quickly so as not to delay discharge further. It does not always feel well 
supported in this and sometimes there are delays due to funding 
disagreements between 'care' (NCC) 'health' (CCG) or the family. In some 

193

http://www.healthwatchnorthamptonshire.co.uk/enter-and-view


19 

 

cases the families do not feel they have sufficient choice of care homes and 
can themselves delay discharge by having expectations (such as a home 
near to where they live) that cannot be met. More support and integrated 
teams so that the family only has to deal with one person/organisation 
could help. We also heard earlier in 2018 of a large backlog of outstanding 
social care assessments (especially community assessments, but also 
hospital assessments). NCC confirmed that system work was in place to 
improve this. 

 Health Watch is aware that there can be a fluctuating amount of domiciliary 
care available across the county and that providers can struggle to meet 
their contracts, resulting in carers not turning up or shortened visits. 
Obviously this could have a worse impact on those living on their own or 
isolated without the support of family, etc. 

 HWN is also concerned about the impact of support services and support 
workers being cut, particularly on vulnerable people and carers (non-
professional), such as those with physical or learning disabilities. For 
examples, the proposed cuts to support services for Deaf/hearing impaired 
and Blind/visually impaired people would lessen the support they can give 
to help these people access health and care services. 

 Integrated working, particularly between social services, health, GP 
practices and Police/Fire and Rescue, and co-ordinated, person-centred 
care is needed. Joined up teams could share training and resources so 
they are more aware of what each other does and which referral routes are 
open to them.  

 There are many examples of partnership working that are a step in the right 
direction. For example, the Adult Risk Management protocol can be 
referred to by a number of county agencies to join up support and 
interventions for adults at risk to themselves but deemed to have decision-
making capacity. This was highlighted at the recent Northamptonshire Adult 
Safeguarding Board Conference. 

 The plans for countywide social prescribing as part for the NHCP have the 
potential to improve the support for a wide range of patients and make 
good use of the voluntary sector, if it is well implemented. 

 The joined up Intermediate Care teams between NHFT and NCC is a 
positive partnership focusing on frail elderly people and seeking to avoid 
admissions to hospital by investing more in services delivered in the 
community. 

 Age UK's Personalised Integrated Care service in Northampton is an 
innovative way of supporting over 65’s with long term conditions and/or are 
isolated to achieve their desired outcomes, link in with other services, and 
reduce hospital attendance. GPs can refer patients to this scheme. 

 All the examples highlighted above are focussed on prevention, particularly 
preventing hospital admissions and re-admissions. Health Watch feels it is 
important that such cross-county collaborations continue. 

 This is not applicable to HWN but we support the integrated working this 
will involve. 

 The following HWN reports and responses to NCC consultations may be of 
interest to you: 

194



20 

 

 Discharge delays can create problems for hospitals, such as a lack of beds 
for incoming patients, and cause issues for older patients in particular. 
Conversely, discharging people too early or without the correct support in 
place can lead to them being readmitted to hospital.  Healthwatch 
Northamptonshire sought to find out the experiences of patients being 
discharged from the two general hospitals in Northamptonshire - Kettering 
General Hospital (KGH) and Northampton General Hospital (NGH). Health 
Watch heard directly from patients about their experiences and views of the 
discharge process. 

 Over a three week period in November/December 2016 Health Watch 
spoke with 89 people in hospital on the day they were being discharged. 
Some were waiting to be discharged from the discharge lounge and others 
directly from one of the hospital wards. Nearly half of the patients we spoke 
to were aged 75 or older. HWN was able to speak to nine of these patients 
again to find out more about their post-hospital experiences. All the people 
who talked to HWN about their post-discharge period were generally happy 
with the support and advice they had received, however, some did not 
know what to expect, lacked information or felt under-supported. 

 In general, the patients Health Watch spoke with were very aware of how 
busy the local hospitals were and appreciative of the care and support 
received. However, the experiences of patients did highlight some areas for 
improvement or review.   

 Healthwatch Northamptonshire (HWN) found out what people who use 
domiciliary care and their families thought about the quality of this essential 
service.   

 Domiciliary care (home care) is received by approximately 4,500 people 
across Northamptonshire from paid care workers who provide assistance 
with washing and dressing, meals and help with taking medicines. Of this 
total number, 2,614 people accessed their support via Northamptonshire 
County Council Adult Social Care and an estimated 1,886 people 
purchased a service independently. 

 A growing number of older people, people with disabilities and long term 
conditions are supported to live at home and receive help with personal 
care and day to day living tasks. This kind of support is usually called 
domiciliary care or home care. Numbers are set to continue increasing as 
the numbers of older people rise and national and local policy has set out a 
clear vision that people should be supported to live as independently as 
possible in their own homes for as long as possible, with a reduction in 
admissions to hospital and to care homes. 

     Healthwatch Northamptonshire has been working in partnership with 
Northamptonshire County Council on a pilot project to monitor the quality of 
home (domiciliary) care services. Phase 1 of the pilot involved Healthwatch 
Volunteers hearing from users and informal carers/family members, who 
use two local care agencies to find out their views of the services they 
received. We have called for major improvements to the way services are 
planned and delivered to ensure that home care services genuinely meet 
the needs of people who use services.  

     Data published by the CQC states that Norhamptonshire County Council 
(NCC) is close to national and regional figures regarding adult social care.  

195



21 

 

The main outlier is delayed transfers of care (DToC) but the most recent 
data provided orally to HWN suggests that there has been a very significant 
improvement in DToC. There are some challenges too such as high spend 
per capita on children's services. 

     Dementia is a key issue for health services and social care. 
     Healthwatch is consulted by NCC when it undertakes 

consultations. Healthwatch has a good relationship with Public Health and 
health service partners.  Healthwatch is a statutory member of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board in each area. 

     A joint appointment of a Housing Officer to improve awareness of health 
and wellbeing within housing services has been created by Kettering 
Borough Council, Northants Healthcare Foundation Trust and Kettering 
General Hospital which is a good, creative initiative. 

     There is a need for trust to be built amongst all the partners and for 
there to be an honest understanding of the situations. 

 The public needs to have a more informed understanding of the real costs of 
health and social care and why it is necessary to see an increase in taxation 
to pay for these services in order to sustain the current level of service let 
alone to improve the quality. 

 
Director, Northampton Health Trust 

 

Key points: 

 

o Northampton Health Trust (NHT) believes an integrated approach to 
health and social care is essential for older people, as they often have 
multi-faceted needs requiring joint support from social care, the NHS 
and other agencies. ‘Personalised coordinated care’ is both what 
people want and what evidence shows is effective. Our work together 
on intermediate care through the Northamptonshire Health and Care 
Partnership (NHCP) is a good example of better working/partnership 
between adult social care, the NHS and the Voluntary, Community and 
Social Enterprise (VCSE) sector.  

o A shared ambition has been agreed to improve outcomes for people at 
times of crisis/escalation and to improve the management of its urgent 
care pathways. Building resilience to enable people to remain in their 
homes as long as possible will help NHT achieve its ambition. Social 
care and health providers are in the middle of implementing 
improvements to intermediate care services following collective 
agreement of the intermediate care business case by the NHCP 
Partnership Board. Another example is the development of NHT’s  
Northamptonshire Winter Plan for 2017/2018 through multi-agency 
working. The core of the plan was increased provision of health and 
social care intermediate care – both ‘home-based’, and step down 
‘bed-based’, packages. We saw a reduction in unplanned hospital 
admissions for those over 65 years of age and an improvement in our 
Delayed Transfer of Care (DToC) performance. Northamptonshire 

196



22 

 

Adult Social Service, NHFT and partners have since built on this winter 
plan to identify further opportunities to improve shared care and 
support for people on discharge from acute hospital settings. Teams 
from across social care and health care have come together to identify 
ways to improve discharge processes and the timely allocation of care 
packages. Solutions have been identified and implemented.  

o NHT’s integrated pathways are now delivering performance 
improvement, it has successfully reduced its DToC levels from 10% to 
4% in the last twelve months, continued to support more people to be 
cared for at home when they have become unwell and reduced by one 
third the number of people who, when admitted to acute hospital, stay 
longer than three weeks.  

o NHT believes there is much more it could do to improve outcomes for 
its population, including:  

 Delivery of health and social care in new innovative settings and 
approaches e.g. Community Asset Clinics  

 Shared assessment tools e.g. Edmonton Frailty Scoring adopted 
by First For Wellbeing  

 Strengthened planned and unplanned support for those living in 
residential and nursing care homes recognising that social 
isolation is a significant issue for many. NHT want everyone to 
have the opportunity to be an active member of their 
communities.  

 Development of generic support worker roles able to work 
across health and social care boundaries both in communities 
and 24 hour care settings  

 Social prescribing to improve local resilience and decrease 
demand for unplanned support  

 Mental health support as an integral part of any place based 
provision  

 Creating an agreed set of joint goals and expected outcomes, 
set through the Integrated Better Care Fund, will enable health, 
social care and voluntary sector partners to better plan and 
deploy collective resource.  

o Better working/partnerships between health and social care are, of 
course, not limited to physical healthcare services. Integrated 
approaches to mental health and adult social care are equally 
important. NHFT, as the county’s provider of acute mental health 
services, experiences similar challenges in achieving safe and timely 
discharge of patients from acute mental health wards in Northampton 
and in Kettering. Like NHT’s acute physical healthcare provider 
counterparts, NHT needs 20 integrated health and social care services 
to avoid unnecessary admissions and to facilitate discharge home 
following a spell on a psychiatric unit.  

197



23 

 

o In addition, NHT needs close and effective working relationships with 
specialist social workers (Approved Mental Health Professionals or 
AMPHs) to enable us to assess people experiencing a crisis in a timely 
manner and to comply with the relevant legislation (e.g. the Mental 
Health Act). AMHP responses within 24 hours for assessment are 
currently challenged. 24 hours is a long time to be held in an 
assessment suite if you are in crisis waiting for people to decide what 
support you need.  

o Dementia and delirium are key factors that influence the time taken for 
recovery of older people when in hospital. NHT are working with acute 
physical healthcare partners to look at improved responses to people 
with dementia and or delirium. Improvements are likely to include 
exploring shared care wards with direct admissions to avoid patients 
having to navigate A&E and experiencing multiple in-hospital moves, 
which can increase confusion and heighten agitation. Solutions will 
require multi-agency approaches, bringing together acute clinicians 
with intermediate care professionals, mental health staff and the 
specialist adult social care dementia team. For the future, we need to 
develop the brokerage capacity to support timely start of placements or 
packages of care. We recognise the demand for, and capacity of, 
home-based domiciliary care continues to be a major pressure for 
Northamptonshire. Demand could be better managed though improved 
integrated health and care community working with earlier access to 
support in our local neighbourhoods. NHT believes this would reduce 
the intensive packages often needed after a prolonged hospital 
admission. NHT is committed to working with adult social care and 
partners to coproduce a vision that breaks the cycle of just ‘doing more 
of the same’ year on year and makes better use of available 
community resources. Within the NHCP Primary, Community, Social 
Care work stream (led by an NHFT Director) NHT committed to 
delivering joined up services based around ‘place’. We believe patient 
care should be as close to the patient’s home as possible, whilst 
recognising the more specialist care becomes the further the distance 
will be from the patient’s home. Building resilient communities is a 
primary goal and involves statutory and voluntary sector organisations 
working alongside the citizens themselves.  

o Whilst  NHT believes, overall, there is ‘good joint-working’, NHT would 
like this county to have ‘outstanding joint-working’, as it believes this 
would make a significant difference to the health and well-being of the 
population.  

o NHFT is supportive of the work NCC is currently undertaking to resolve 
the Shaw Healthcare contract position.  

o NHT is committed to ensuring the whole system works together to 
safeguard our vulnerable adults and young people. Close integration 
between teams is essential. NHT is the health organisation 
representative in the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH). As our 
staff, and those of children’s social care, are often the key presence in 

198



24 

 

people’s homes, we need to ensure we share information 
appropriately.  

o NHT appreciates it is really important to support care home providers, 
because they can be high users of A&E services. The local health 
economy has invested in additional support to care and nursing homes 
to build confidence and skills. This has included formal and informal 
training along with access to remote specialist advice and support to 
avoid residents being unnecessarily conveyed to hospital in a crisis.  

o NHT provides both formal and informal training to private sector 
providers, such as care/nursing homes and care agencies. Informal 
training is typically on an ad-hoc basis through our day-to-day working 
relationships with care staff, for example, educating care staff about 
pressure area care and turning regimes, swallowing difficulties and 
dysphagia. NHT also provides formal training for all carers in areas 
such as insulin administration, catheter management training for carers 
of patients with complex needs, clinical observation skills training and 
Tissue Viability training programmes.  

o NHT has developed and instigated Trauma Box training for care homes 
in the county to provide carers with skills and knowledge around 
managing low level skin trauma and we are in active discussions with 
NASS to provide a Clinical Observation Training package to its staff 
and have provided a range of clinical and non-clinical training to 
voluntary sector and private sector organisations. Through its 
partnership with GPs in north Northants (3Sixty Care Partnership), 
NHT is testing a market leading telemedicine service provided by 
Airedale NHS Foundation Trust, called ‘Immedicare’. This service 
provides care homes in the area with access to remote advice and 
support from clinicians at Airedale General Hospital via 
videophone/telephone 24/7. It enables 90% of residents to remain in 
the care home and reduces demand for GP and District Nurse 
interventions. It is really important to ensure adult social care supports 
people in their place of residence for as long as it is safe and 
appropriate to do so.  

o NHT has been part of a health and housing partnership with Kettering 
Borough Council and Kettering General Hospital through which we 
have delivered substantial reductions in DToC from mental and 
physical healthcare wards in our hospitals and have developed plans 
for future work together on prevention. In its work on DToC, NHT has 
piloted a new approach where a housing options advisor from KBC 
became part of NHT’s ward teams, providing advice/support on 
systems and processes, making proactive intervention to resolve 
housing issues delaying a patient’s discharge, and identifying broader 
improvement opportunities (such as changes to housing supply, 
establishing links with other agencies, etc.). Over a nine-month period, 
our work together released 638 mental health bed days  NHT was able 
to use for other patients.  

199



25 

 

o NHT has worked closely with NBC on the ‘Hospital 2 Home’ approach, 
which we estimate has seen a reduction in length of stay at Berrywood 
Hospital of 1-2 weeks on average for those patients with whom NHT 
has worked. In Kettering, NHT is now expanding its work to develop 
solutions for people affected with hoarding disorder and those with 
more complex needs. NHT is also working together on solutions for the 
homeless and to meet our collective/several duties under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act. NHT sees the potential for broader links 
with planning authorities in designing healthy homes and 
neighbourhoods in conjunction with public health colleagues.   

o NHT does not have evidence of specific groups not accessing adult 
social care facilities, we are aware self-funders could be better 
supported through the assessment phase into selection/procurement of 
suitable support. Similarly, NHT is aware of the variation in supply 
across the patch, particularly when it comes to specialist facilities (e.g. 
those capable of caring for/nursing people with severe dementia, 
services for people with a learning disability, etc.) and domiciliary care 
(in the areas in which it is more expensive to live, or where someone 
needs multiple, double-up calls). Although some efforts have been 
made to address these inequities, NHT feels the system would benefit 
from further focussed work on these areas. Overall, it is clearly really 
important everyone supports the vulnerable population, including those 
with a learning disability or mental illness.  

o The more effectively we integrate our approaches, the better we share 
information, the more connected a service the citizen will receive and 
the less we will duplicate. It is clear to us joining up health and social 
care support for carers could be a good thing.  

o NHT’s continually exploring new and innovative ways of working on our 
own and with our partners. Here are some of the examples we believe 
are most relevant to the review. Age Well Wellingborough Earlier this 
year, organisations came together in Wellingborough to develop an 
improved collective offer for over 65 year olds. The approach was built 
on the principle of taking interventions back to local communities. It 
involved professionals such as nutritionists, wellbeing workers, nurses 
and care managers attending local community asset clinics / lunch and 
event clubs. Innovative approaches such as the ‘Wellingborough 12 @ 
12’ conference call, were used to ‘flag’ the needs of up to 12 key 
people who need additional support and to agree how best to respond 
on basis of who has capacity and skills (not who has a contract). All 
members of the team have honorary contracts and are co-located, 
enabling them to work effectively as a team using the same record – 
the SystmOne GP care plan. Integrated Contact Centre Vision For 
many residents of Northamptonshire, their needs do not rest solely 
within health or social care so ensuring key information is shared and 
care is co-ordinated across health, social care, private sector and the 
VCSE is paramount to maintaining their independence and quality of 
life. An integrated contact centre with a single entry point for all 
community health and social care needs would enable effective and 

200



26 

 

efficient deployment of resources to meet residents’ needs. We see an 
integrated contact centre being much more than a telephone call 
centre. NHT sees it as central to the coordination of services our 
county’s population need, offering multiple access methods, such as 
intelligent Instant Messaging and response, video calling, artificial 
intelligence chat-bots to help solve routine issues and interactive voice 
response. From multi-disciplinary needs assessment and planning, 
promoting and facilitating access to health and wellbeing improvement 
schemes, such as green gyms, to responding urgent care needs and 
preventing the need for a transfer to hospital, an integrated 24 health 
and care contact centre would facilitate the efficient use of resources 
across the system, provide an opportunity to share information across 
the system and provide a holistic response to an individual citizen or 
community’s needs. Technology and Wearables.   

o NHT believes that there are significant opportunities to maximise 
current and future technology in order to enable citizens to live as 
healthy a life as possible, with an emphasis on maintaining 
independence in one’s own home and providing clinical/social care as 
early as possible in the event of declining or deteriorating health. NHFT 
is actively exploring technology that could be deployed across health 
and social care within the county to support people to remain in their 
own homes, for example, the use of video ‘consultation and 
conference’ that enables people, those important in their lives, 
clinicians and social workers to jointly plan, review and agree care 
plans, linking citizens into online support groups to reduce social 
isolation, group or individual participation in health and wellbeing 
promotion activities, such as armchair exercise programmes. 
Maximising the use of technology such as video consultation would 
transform the response time and engagement in supporting people at 
home, reducing lead-times in determining social care package 
configurations, improving the multi-disciplinary decision making in the 
care package process and enabling geographically disparate people to 
communicate in real-time in an accessible and engaging manner. 
Through the use of commonly held devices such as smartphones, 
tablets and laptops, citizens who are housebound or frail could be 
active leaders of their care planning, involving carers and family as 
they wish. The technology is readily accessible and is in line with the 
aspirations of the NHCP. Efficient and effective deployment of health 
and social care resources can be supported through personal wearable 
devices that monitor health and wellbeing. We are trialling one such 
device – the HeartFelt monitor – that flags up any exacerbation in 
people with heart failure who cannot or will not engage with 
mainstream self-monitoring. We are considering the potential benefits 
of other devices including Dosette box sensors to identify if medication 
has been taken, falls sensors and wearable geo-location systems that 
alert a central point or nominated person if a person with dementia 
appears to have wandered off or is in need of help.  

201



27 

 

 Prevention is embedded in everything we do ranging from primary 
actions (e.g. immunisations), through secondary actions (e.g. 
chlamydia screening programmes) to tertiary prevention (e.g. NHT’s 
recovery college and work on intermediate care/rehabilitation). NHT 
believes it work on prevention could certainly be expanded, especially 
through greater integration with the local authority and VCSE.  

 NHT believes the most effective prevention services/preventive 
intervention are those delivered in an integrated way, in partnership 
across traditional service, organisational and sector boundaries.  

 NHT believes it needs to use the opportunity of change in social care to 
integrate care between health and social care more effectively, NHT 
has a blank sheet of paper and with that comes a great opportunity to 
not replicate what has been done to date, but really consider how NHT 
could set new values and behaviours and work in new ways that would 
delivered joined up care. 

 The Trust has been rated outstanding by the CQC. It has also won 
Trust of the year which is an NHS award. It is all about staff and culture 
and partnership working. 

  Lots of steps are being taken to improve crisis services. 

 Crisis cafes are a great example of partnership working to support 
people. 

 A lot has been achieved through partnership working in recent times. 

 £1.8 million of support has been achieved through partnership working 

 Hard work is underway collectively to ensure capacity is directed to the 
right places 

 Primary and social care workstreams are very important and need to 
work together 

 The pilot being run in Kettering whereby a Housing Officer is dedicated 
resource to Kettering General Hospital is working very well 

 It is important that there is a holistic approach regarding integration and 
integrated services; integrated care is vital.  It is important that there is 
one service working together to deliver the same outcomes 

 Discharge from hospital has to be safe; support at home is a social 
care responsibility.  Previously, teams have worked separately. 

 Ways to increase community support are being investigated 

 Future options need to include:    preventative initiatives, community 
response, support at home, including appointments etc.  A whole range 
of ideas will be explored 

 Valuing and retaining the workforce is vital.  CQC acknowledged that 
staff are valued and recognised for what they are doing 

   

 

202



28 

 

 

 

 

Chief Executive, Northants Age Concern 

 

Key points: 

 

 The need reflects the numbers of older people, their age and how they are 

concentrated, in particular, the levels of ill health, such as long term 

conditions, the levels of loneliness and mental health issues and the levels of 

deprivation and poverty (income and wealth).  All older people need advice 

and support so a ‘per head allocation’ needs to be the basis of any budgeting 

system.  This could be weighted to those who are over 85 years of age.  

Additional monies could be allocated in relation to addressing mental health, 

poverty and ill health (LT conditions). It is recommended that there is a 

representative sample survey of existing clients to ascertain the location and 

confirm the depth of these issues across the County. 

 

 A key requirement for any charity is to be able to plan its services over the 

medium to longer term.  An essential requirement for any intervention to be 

successful is that it is well co-ordinated with other interventions and support.  

Consultation, structured and over a period of time, with the charitable or 

voluntary sector is, therefore, essential.  Once decided, then interventions 

need to be jointly planned and jointly implemented with robust systems for 

review, reflection and revision.  Trialling is essential for success.  This needs 

to be coupled with certainty of potential funding over the longer term and early 

decision making on change or continuation.   

 

 Frontline staff need to be encouraged to build a relationship over the longer 

term to establish consistency of practise and improve decision making and 

information provision. 

 

 Clarity of role for each of the key providers in the system needs to be 

established.  Older people do not want to be passed from one organisation to 

another to find the answer to their query.  It is, therefore, essential that their 

questions are answered first time and that any specific interventions are met 

as the first and immediate follow up to that first enquiry.  This will require a 

capable and sophisticated system for ‘navigating’ the system; a ‘one stop’ 

approach is recommended which all partners, statutory and non- statutory will 

support.  

 

203



29 

 

 Specifically in relation to private sector care homes there is a need for 

statutory and voluntary bodies to ‘join up’ their offer and to reduce any 

perceived overlap otherwise their residents will be disadvantaged from 

accessing the support services available. 

 Funding needs to provide for the strategic co-ordination of key partners, 

including consultation, commissioning and testing/trialling.  Funding needs to 

provide for a capable ‘navigation’ service.  Older people need to have access 

to expert support that will take ownership of their ‘problem’ and support them 

to a satisfactory conclusion.  This could be provided by the voluntary sector 

(See the London Borough of Islington).  Funding also needs to provide for 

specific and expert interventions by a range of partners, including the 

voluntary sector, in order to address specific local needs.  

 

 It will be important that the capacity of the existing centres is maximised and 

that there is a flexible but reasonable proportion of places to be able to 

respond to the growing needs of, for example, dementia sufferers and those 

needing rehabilitation. 

 

 The current system does not have sufficient capacity to handle the existing 

level of safeguarding issues highlighted through the electronic safeguarding 

form.  Therefore, as time goes on, many cases will be unreported.  It would 

also be difficult to prioritise the more acute cases in the current system, 

especially because there is only very limited dialogue with an advisor or 

consultant.   A well-functioning safeguarding system would be able to respond 

to the acute or urgent cases and to broker or signpost support to the non-

acute cases.  This would also directly support the prevention agenda.  Other 

partner resources, in particular from the voluntary sector, could be harnessed 

proactively to support all cases, especially those that are non-acute. 

 

 There is the potential to be more proactive in terms of training and worker 

responsibility and understanding of safeguarding issues.  Knowledge is broad 

but not deep.  All workers involved (across partners) could be more involved 

in the follow up to issues (rather than simply the raising of the issue) so that 

learning and skills could be improved.   

 

 There is substantial dialogue with private providers in relation to each Age UK 

Northamptonshire client’s needs and we would underline the point about the 

need to make each intervention person centred rather than service centred.    

 

 Age UK Northamptonshire have a range of support activities in relation to the 

prevention agenda.  We provide a very wide range of activities that are 

focused on preventing people from becoming isolated and vulnerable. A 

204



30 

 

range of classes include Keep Fit, chair based exercise and Aquafit, Nordic 

Walking, Tai  Chi, Get Set Go, Art, Photography,  Bridge and Whist, and 

Family History at various levels. Of particular note is the success of the 

exercise classes set up in rural areas where isolation can be a problem. 

 Examples of current popular activities are Boccia & Kurling, Curry & Kurling, 

OTAGO, falls prevention classes and Short Mat Bowls. Over the previous 

financial year, a total of just over 900 people regularly attended these 

activities.   

 

 The team also work with Care Homes taking Boccia, Kurling, Bowls and 

OTAGO to residents who are unable to leave the residence.  There is much 

more that could be done to utilise the facilities of residential homes and 

nursing homes most of which are underused currently. 

 

 Age UK Northamptonshire would like to encourage more ‘pop up’ day centres 

within the communal areas of extra care, care homes and retirement 

properties.   This encourages residents to interact but can also be extended to 

bring other people who live locally. 

 

 Older people are reluctant to ask for help: because they don’t think there is 

any help or they don’t know who to ask or where to get the information.  They 

lack confidence and they are nervous about starting down a ‘slippery slope’ 

into the care setting.  Age UK Northamptonshire provides a very well used 

information and advice service.  We are seeing more and more clients that 

are confused by the advice they have been received from other sources, in 

particular, in relation to financial benefits. 

 

 Other groups in particular that are often overlooked in relation to financial 

support or for health and social care are: 

 

 Tenants in sheltered accommodation  

 Tenants in private rented accommodation 

 Carers who are just about managing 

 Anyone unable to use online resources or not physically able to get to a 

Library / One Stop Shop 

 Ethic groups, for example, the Chinese community are very private and 

isolated.  

 

 Those with sensory impairments have very little dedicated support, for 

example, formats of letters not legible for those with a Visual Impairment, 

contact/referral routes lacking specialist support for those who use 

BSL/Deafblind or English without speech. 

205



31 

 

 

 It is important to maintain a good understanding of other services that social 

workers can refer to or that can be integrated into a care plan will ensure the 

package of care is more holistic and varied.  A high turnover of staff or a high 

usage of Agency staff does not help build expertise and capability.  

 

 There is a general lack of understanding of essential qualifying criteria for 

various benefits that older people can claim, both means and non-means 

tested.  We know this from the information provided on referrals we receive.   

 

 There is a growing older population which places a disproportionate pressure 

on health and social care services more generally.  The population of those in 

the County of Northamptonshire over the age of 65 was 117,400 in 2014, 

16.6% of a total estimated population of 706,600.  Northamptonshire has the 

fastest growing population of over 65 year olds of any County area in the 

country rising 12.5% between 2013 and 2016 and many times higher than the 

overall growth in the population of the county of Northamptonshire (3.2%).  

The proportion of 65 year olds is projected to increase in the next 10 to 20 

years driven by the post war spike increase in birth rates.  The numbers of 

over 65 year olds are expected to grow to 155,800 by 2024 or 28.2% higher 

than in 2014. 

 

 Life expectancy is also growing well and in the county in 2015 was 83.1 years 

for females and 79.4 years for males. This increase in life expectancy 

increases the need amongst an older population who will be becoming more 

frail, susceptible to diseases and incapacity.  There are Increasing numbers of 

older people will need help in relation to frailty, poverty and loneliness 

 

 The Care Act 2014 sets out a Duty to assess all clients and to support them 

with decision making (including self-funders around care in the home/nursing 

home placement).  This is not something currently, or historically, that has 

been fully implemented.  It is felt that there has been a very strong focus on 

financial eligibility for care to the detriment of the duty to provide an 

assessment to each client and their carer.  Being able to access the correct 

information from the start could prevent many cases from getting into greater 

difficulties at a later stage. 

 

 A key challenge is to build a system of prevention, support and response that 

is person centred rather than service centred.  To do this effectively will 

require a proactive ‘navigation’ system.  This needs to be based on a face to 

face conversation, often in the person’s own home. 

 

206



32 

 

 There are a number of examples of good practice that should be highlighted, 

in particular, in relation to non-clinical support for clients.  The Age UK 

Northamptonshire in house teams of: Personalised Integrated Care 

(Northampton): Collaborative Care team (Kettering, Wellingborough, East 

Northants) and Later Life (throughout the County) all provide examples of 

good practice in relation to ‘hands on’ one to one client support, often seeing 

clients in their own homes.  They illustrate the effectiveness of a model that 

supports excellent navigation, and substantially more effective than taking 

phone calls and signposting.   

 

 Externally, the London Borough of Islington is an excellent model of good 

practice in relation to proactive navigation and support, including social 

proscribing. They support clients over 16 needing some support with a health 

or wellbeing challenge, including clients over the long term, with a person 

centred prevention service. 

 

 Age UK Northamptonshire is working alongside Kettering General Hospital on 

the active support of patients to prevent unnecessary admission to Hospital 

and to facilitate early discharge.  We would also highlight the Home from 

Hospital Service run by Age UK Milton Keynes. 

 

 Locally, we are working with both Northampton Borough Council and 

Kettering Borough Council on their housing support options and would 

highlight the Kettering Housing Options pilot as a project outside the Borough 

but close at hand. 

 

 Age UK Northamptonshire have a range of support activities to support the 

prevention agenda.  We provide a very wide range of activities that are 

focused on preventing people from becoming isolated and vulnerable. A 

range of classes include Keep Fit, chair based exercise and Aquafit, Nordic 

Walking, Tai Chi, Get Set Go, Art, Photography,  Bridge and Whist, 

Picturedrome Tea Dance and Family History at various levels. 

 

 There is also befriending type support to encourage participation for those 

that need longer to build confidence.  There is a real need for more of this 

support.  This requires funding to ensure effective co-ordination and quality 

control. 

 Maintaining the independence of older people will keep them healthier for 

longer.  A key aspect for older people is accessing services and a main 

determinant of that is access to transport.   We are working with other 

transport providers to help improved access to our own Day Care provision.  

207



33 

 

Supporting more transport provision, especially volunteer will help ensure that 

access to services is achievable and not cost prohibitive. 

 

 There is a need to encourage strongly GPs and their practice managers to 

think outside the normal preoccupations and to take forward actively social 

prescribing and other onward referrals.  

 

 Social prescribing can have a very positive impact on local community groups 

and provide essential ‘demand’ in order to keep them going and viable.  If all 

partners, including GPs were active in social prescribing then the network of 

provision would increase and improve. 

 

 There is often a feeling that people who contact existing social services 

provision do not get the right support, support that will prevent them from 

deterioration so needing greater support later on.  We feel that addressing 

difficulties earlier – such as investment in prevention and proactive social 

proscribing would be a more cost effective way of supporting those in need, 

especially when working for the longer term needs of the older people in 

Northampton and Northamptonshire.   

 

Deputy Chief Executive Northants Carers 

 

Key points: 

 

o It would seem sensible at least in transitional periods to look at some joint 

commissioning functions between the two unitary councils and possibly to 

include NHS commissioning in this to maximise resources and promote 

integration. This would also risk manage in terms of ensuring statutory duties 

and responsibilities were met and ensure there is proper consideration given 

to services that may need to be Countywide albeit with a local focus. 

o It would be sensible to build on partnerships that are already there such as the 

Health Care partnership or liaison. with any thematic partnerships such as 

Carers Partnership or Mental Health collaborative and to also utilise voluntary 

sector infrastructure work by Voluntary Impact Northampton 

 There would be much better provision if these contracts could be changed 

especially if more resource could be directed at community based services or 

supporting people in their own homes 

 It would seem sensible whilst having overarching systems to have some 

locality focus in any new models 

208



34 

 

 Although this does not directly affect us, anecdotally they are struggling with 

funding no meeting costs of service delivery. 

 Northants Carers currently working with GPs, housing, social care and 

voluntary sector as part of the ‘Aging Well’ locality project in Wellingborough. 

Please see attached summary.  

 Due to demand and capacity issues within social care, it could be argued that 

it has been difficult to proactively approach hidden or hard to reach groups 

such as those with dementia from BAME backgrounds 

 Utilising what the Voluntary sector can offer and looking at partnership place 

based approaches such as aforementioned Aging Well project in 

Wellingborough or our award-winning Breathing Space COPD project which 

brings together medical professionals in a voluntary sector group setting.  

 Northants Carers delivers NCC’s Carers statutory duty (including carers 

assessments) under the 2014 Care Act. NCC oversight for the better care 

fund matrix and responsibilities around Carers 

 Northants Carers aforementioned Aging Well and Breathing Space projects. 

Northants Carers also has very popular Carer Gym Memberships and Sitting 

Service. These could be rolled out into other areas as part of the social 

prescribing model. 

 The vast majority of Northants Carers’ services, including those within CCG & 

NCC Carers and Young Carers contracts all have preventative approaches. 

Please see the attached Twenty-Twenty overview of our wide range of 

services. 

 Investment in Carers services is at a good level but there is significant 

demand pressures that will get worse. Carers strategy and implementation 

plan and partnership and set of services delivered against it are a strong 

model that shows how resources across health, social care and the voluntary 

sector can be best applied. Please see our attached Carers Support Model 

document. 

Case Studies – Ward Councillors 

 
Case studies to inform the Review were submitted by Ward Councillors: 

 

Individual A 
  

Miss A was a hoarder and had no downstairs cloakroom. She had been 
advised the only option was a commode. This was not suitable for her needs 

209



35 

 

and Miss A was not coping well with the situation.  The Ward Councillor 
obtained the trust of Miss A and helped to clear and tidy her house; she also 
made contact with the relevant Officers and a downstairs toilet was put in for 
Miss A. 

  
 
 
 
Individual B 

  
Miss B was a vulnerable adult that also had housing issues.  There was no 
liaison between Adult Social Care and Housing Services.  The ward 
Councillor made contact between the two Agencies and felt there is a need for 
more joined up thinking. 

  
Individual C 

  
Miss C was also a vulnerable adult that had mental health needs.  The ward 
Councillor had contact details from a clearing company that she had used for 
Miss A and made contact.  The ward Councillor gained the trust of Miss C. 
When she had first visited Miss C, her front door had been open.  Miss C 
would buy a book every afternoon, read two chapters and then buy another 
book the next day.   The ward Councillor suggested that the books were 
donated to Northants Age UK and Miss C agreed.  Miss C had not been 
sleeping on a proper bed and a suitable bed was organised by the ward 
Councillor.  A Sex Worker had been using Miss C’s property; the ward 
Councillor arranged for an intercom system to be installed on the property to 
prevent this continuing. 

  

Centre for Public Scrutiny Conference – National Health Scrutiny and 
Assurance Conference 
 
A member of the Scrutiny Panel attended the Centre for Public Scrutiny 
Conference – National Health Scrutiny and Assurance Conference on 18 
September 2018. 
 
Key points from the Conference: 
 
The programme of conference was wide ranging and a number of high profile 

speakers addressed the floor. 

 The programme included: 

 

 Accountability for health and care 
 Successful Strategies for health and care accountability 
 Quality in health and care 
 There were a number of workshops that delegates took part in: 

 
 STPs and ICSs - approaches to joint health scrutiny 
 Why NICE guidance matters 

210



36 

 

 Hot topics in health and social care  
 A participatory workshop focusing on transforming 

relationships with communities 
 
Key information from the workshop: Transforming relationships with 
communities, led by Rosie Ayub, NHS England 

  
The two workshops provided lots of thoughts about engaging with people and 
communities. Some of the developing principles which came out of the group 
included: 

  
 Meet the community where they are – one size doesn’t fit all • Needs to 

be solution focussed 

 Genuine options for consultation – engage people in options appraisals 

 Plan engagement at an early stage and be clear about what you are 
asking 

 Listen – two-way dialogue 

 Be open minded 

 Be prepared to build relationships 

 Make it understandable – no jargon, easy/simple information 

 Focus on what you are trying to achieve, then find out from community 
about how they think it can be achieved 

 
 
   3.4    Site Visits 

  Discharge Team, Northampton General Hospital 

3.4.1    On Tuesday, 30 October 2018, representatives of the Scrutiny Panel 

together with the Scrutiny officer met with the Lead Officers of the Discharge 

Team and the Health Assessment Team based at Northampton General 

Hospital (NGH). 

3.4.2      Key information gathered from the site visit: 

 A new discharge process was introduced on 29 October 2018 with the key 

aim of joined up working between both teams which will improve the patient 

experience, journey and patient flow.  An Integrated Discharge Team (IDT) 

has been established comprising of staff from the health Discharge Team and 

Social Care.  Social care workers together with staff from the Discharge team 

go out to work with the wards and meet with patients directly regarding their 

discharge.  Whilst on the ward, The Integrated Discharge Team, which 

comprises, Ward staff, Therapies, Discharge, social and of course the patient, 

makes the decision as to the best discharge pathway for the patient. 

211



37 

 

Previously, referrals for discharge planning were sent to the Single Point 

Access (SPA) Team who made the decision regarding the patient’s 

discharge. This at times caused delays resulting in some discharges being 

deferred.  In the longer term it is expected that the introduction of the 

Integrated Discharge Team will be of benefit to all. Newton was 

commissioned to undertake a case review.   

The Newton Review provided valuable input into the introduction of the 

new discharge process.  Newton also identified “various delays and 

that patients stayed in hospital at NGH 128,000 days in one year more 

than was needed, the equivalent of 351 people spending an entire year 

in hospital at a cost of around £24.3 million”.  

For the IDT to continue to work effectively further Social Workers are 

required to support every Ward, the ideal model of 1 Social Worker and 

1 Discharge Coordinator on every Ward. 

 There are Market Capacity constants in relation to services available for 

patients that require additional services and support upon discharge from 

acute services.  The Discharge Team is an advocate in supporting a Trusted 

Assessor Discharge to Assess Model, as approved by NHS England, this is 

where patients are transferred to interim placements to continue further 

assessments in a non-acute environment.  It is recognised that this would 

improve the patient’s experience, patient flow and bed availability within the 

hospital as an acute hospital is not an appropriate setting for assessing 

patients once they are medically fit or optimised.    

 Homelessness can be a problem for acute Hospitals it is recognised that that 
rough sleeping can sometimes be a lifestyle choice and in such instances 
individuals are discharged from hospital back to their desired destination. With 
the patients consent they are referred to support such as housing, money and 
advice etc.  Some individuals need support regarding drug and alcohol 
abuse.  Acute hospital beds is not the correct place for such support to be 
provided. Further interim facilities are also required to meet the needs of this 
cohort of patients, together with specialist support being available. 

 Patients are assessed prior to discharge and if deemed appropriate a mental 

capacity assessment is complete to support the patients discharge.  Patients 

are encouraged to make their own decisions regarding discharge. 

 The Crisis Response Team works very well.  Timed assessments are 

normally undertaken within twenty four/48 hours; if further assessment is 

needed they are referred to Social Services. The Social Services assessment 

process must follow the Care Act; complex patients will take longer to assess, 

for example they may not have relatives, access to funds and mental 

capacity. In these specific situations, assessments may take considerably 

longer as an Independent Mental Capacity Advocate will have to be engaged 

212



38 

 

before the patient can be assessed, if further interim placements were 

available in the Community these assessments could be conducted outside of 

the hospital.  

 Patients over the age of 80 who spends 10 days in a hospital bed will lose 

10% of muscle mass. This could be the difference between going home and 

going to a home. As of the 29th October 2018 there were 368 patients in 

Northampton General Hospital with a stay of over 7 days, 187 having been 

there for over 21days.  

 NGH has an escalation process to support highly complex cases if required 
these are also escalated to the CCG and Social Services. 

 Community Social Care Workers have to deal with high risk cases in the 

community, this has an added impact on patients waiting in hospital for a 

Community Social Worker. Community Social Care Workers caseloads are 

incredibly pressured with high volumes of community customers pending 

allocation. 

 The CQC oversees the quality in care homes etc.  Should there be 

safeguarding concerns such as financial, physical or emotional abuse they 

would be referred to the appropriate agency,  Sometimes peoples’ lives are 

chaotic and are not a safeguarding concern as to them it is “their norm.”  

 Avery Beds are provided by NGH, which is in close proximity to the hospital, 

this is a very expensive unit for the hospital to fund, these beds are used by 

the hospital to transfer patients while awaiting other services. 

 Work with Social Services at Northamptonshire County Council is currently 

very good and joined up. There is a need for more joined up working with 

others such as Housing. 

 The service and support provided by Northamptonshire Carers is excellent.  

An Officer from Northamptonshire Carers is based within the Discharge Team 

at NGH. Further resources in this area would be of great benefit to our 

patients in supporting discharges particularly for those that live alone/ 

      St Andrews Hospital, Northampton 

 
3.4.3   On Tuesday, 30 October 2018, representatives of the Scrutiny Panel together 

with the Scrutiny Officer, met with five Lead Social Workers and one trainee 

Social Worker based at St Andrews Hospital. 

 

3.4.4      Key information gathered from the site visit: 

             

o St Andrews is a charity organisation who treat patients from all over the UK.  
Patients are normally individuals that other providers have not been able to 
assist.  Some patients have committed offences.  There are around 600 
patients on the Billing Road site and 800 across all sites. There is a very small 
percentage of private patients, the majority are funded by the NHS. 
 

213



39 

 

 Following the discharge route, patients may begin in a  medium secure ward, 
then move to low secure before moving to locked and then discharge.  
Patients require support after leaving St Andrews until they move to their own 
home.  Most are discharged from St Andrews into supported accommodation 
but there is often limited availability.  Some patients may relapse due to the 
time it can take for appropriate accommodation and support to be found for 
them.  Most patients discharged from SAH are not discharged to Northampton 
but will return to their home area.  

 Any barriers in the discharge process are fed back via CPA reviews; an 
example of a barrier could be a patient does not need to remain in hospital but 
their care package is bespoke and expensive. 

 It is aimed that patients return to the county that they came from but there are 
occasions where it is better for them to remain in Northampton.  A referral 
meeting is held and a number of Agencies are involved. The laws in relation 
to ordinary resident status apply; an individual has to reside in a town for six 
months to be classed as an ordinary resident.   Some patients can’t return to 
their home county due to issues such as exclusions, previous violence etc. 

 There is a psychiatric intensive care unit at St Andrews.  Patients come from 
all over the UK.  It is usually a short term stay in the unit, 28-32 days.  Once 
stabilised they move to a lower level unit within their own home town.  There 
is a quick turnaround of patients in the unit.  Most patients have one of the 
following: 
 

 Psychiatric breakdown 
 Drug induced psychosis 
 Bi polar 

 

 Patients arrive by secure ambulance. 

 A number of patients live with dementia.  The patients are those who display 
challenging behaviour.  They are funded by the CCG or by NHS England, 
depending on the level of security required. 

 The young people’s unit is for young people up to the age of 18. When the 
patient is 18 they move to adult services and less support is provided which 
can create problems. 

 There are a number of private providers in Northampton which are mirrored in 
other areas.  There is a need for a more joined up approach within care 
organisations in the community. 

 There are lots of successes from the discharges from St Andrews, individuals 
leave feeling better about life. 

 Patient from SAH would be extremely unlikely to move into local council 
accommodation  
 

     London Borough of Islington 
 

3.4.5  Representatives of the Scrutiny Panel together with the Scrutiny Officer, visited the 

London Borough of Islington on 17 April 2019.   The site visit met with key Officers – 

214



40 

 

Deputy Head of Provider Services, Head of Re-enablement Team, Head of Service 

(Community Services) and the Associate Director (Community Mental Health). 

3.4.6    Key findings from the Site Visit: 

o Adult Social Care at the London Borough of Islington has an excellent level of 

integration; with a close relationship with the CCG and health colleagues at 

both operational and commissioning level.   

o Each social work team has a Senior Social Worker. 

o In the Integrated Learning Disability Partnership all Officers are in the same 

building and comprise: 

 Social workers 

 Speech  

 Physio 

 Transition Team 

 

o Learning Disability is an integrated partnership and also has a pooled budget 

for placements 87.3%/12.7% split with the CCG.  

o There are lots people with dual diagnosis with cross-cutting issues. 

o There is a total annual budget of £30 million. 

o There is a dynamic purchasing system. 

o Managing expectations is currently being investigated regarding the 

Transition Pathway. 

o There is a high proportion of supporting living accommodation in the borough 

with a number of new builds planned. 

o Shared experience and knowledge is key to the success of the integrated 

partnership.  There is also very strong links with community colleagues in the 

community with very robust transforming care. There are 4 – 5 officers in the 

Assessment Unit.   

o The Adults Safeguarding Board and the London Hub covers the whole of 

London. 

Community Locality Social Work teams (adults with physical disabilities 

or older people) 

o The Community Team has responsibility for individuals over the age of 18, 

the team focusses on individual’s strengths, for example: Mr X can do this 

and is able to do that.   Various assurance mechanisms have been set up.  

This approached has saved money and is more efficient.  

o The Community offer capitalises on the voluntary and community offer  - there 

is a real need to work with this Sector. For example, looking at issues such as 

fear of crime etc.   

215



41 

 

o There is an in-house Benefits Maximisation Team. 

o A Rising Risk Panel has complicated cases referred to it.  The Panel 

comprises representatives from Adult Social Care, Community Health, GPs, 

Housing Services and Mental Health. The Panel looks how it can resolve the 

issue together.  The Panel does not leave the room until it has produced 

action plans for the case.  Each case is personalised. 

o Universal Credit has had an impact on the service users as a consequence 

there are a number of Food Banks in the borough. 

o Nine Integrated care meetings take place each week at GP surgeries – these 

are multi-displinary team meetings, where difficult cases can be discussed to 

enable resolution. 

o The London Borough of Islington is the largest social landlord in the country. 

Its population is around 250,000. 

o Strong co-production and a strength based Policy is key to success. 

o Some provision is provided in-house:  

 5 day services 

 Specialist service for autism 

 Specialist service for older people and disabled individuals 

 Employment for people with disabilities 

 

   Re-enablement is also an in-house service.   It is mainly funded by the CCG 

but it is a Council run service.  There is a joined up approach between 

Health and Social Care.  Within the Service is a specialist Re-enablement 

Team.  The Case Management Team undertakes reviews, and these are 

attended by a number of partners.  Individuals are assessed at home as 

people can be assessed more accurately at home.  A Medication Policy has 

recently been implemented that has been very successful and reduced the 

work of the District Nurses. 

 

      Joint Commissioning 

o A quarterly meeting takes place – to oversee Joint Commissioning is chaired 

by directors of commissioning for Health and Social Care. 

o The Governance arrangement also includes a Health and Wellbeing Board. 

o The relevant Cabinet Member at the London Borough of Islington has a clear 

understanding of the roles, structures and systems and the importance of the 

relationship with the CCG. 

o Regular meetings are held between Adult Social Care and the CCG regarding 

the strategic relationship and how this is delivered, there are S75 agreements 

and BCF in place where pooling of budgets and joint commissioning takes 

place.  

o By integrating health and social care, people are discharged from hospital 

quicker.   

o The integrated system was developed around 20 years ago; budgets are 

pooled and jointly managed.  Learning disability has the biggest pooled 

budget.   

216



42 

 

o There is a need to work together with a joined up approach between Adults’ 

and Children’s Services and the Council has just established a People’s 

Department to facilitate this. For transitional services, for example, 13-14 year 

olds to adulthood there is a need to plan in advance. There is a Preparation 

for Adulthood Board that looks at 16-25 year olds and its remit is looking at 

how they can be supported. 

o Strong engagement with residents is important, to find out what they want; 

this helps to develop services’ outcomes.  Residents also then understand 

funding restrictions and priorities.   It is important that different types of media 

are used and Focus Groups and Target Groups held. 

 

3.5 Key Legislation 

          ADASS Guidance 2009 

 

3.5.1 ADASS reports that the national framework comprises 11 sets of good 

practice standards and it believes that the implementation of each standard 

will lead to the development of high quality adult protection work across the 

country that is consistent. 

 

3.5.2 The Guidance gives further details on each of the 11 standards and highlights 

that it puts together both best practice and aspirations to form the 11 good 

practice standards.    The intended purpose of the Guidance is for it to be 

used as an audit tool and guide by all those whose role is to implement adult 

protection work. 

 

3.5.3 The 11 Standards: 

 
 

3.5.4 The Guide gives examples of good practice around the country, detailed 

below are examples of those provided: 

  

 

217



43 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Example 1: 

 
 

 Example 2 

 
 

Example 3 

218



44 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Example 4  

 
 

3.5.5 The full document can be accessed.   

 

  The Health and Social Care Act 2012  

 

3.5.6 The legislation was enacted in April 2013. 

 

3.5.7 The reported key areas of the Act: 

 

 establishes an independent NHS Board to allocate resources and 
provide commissioning guidance 

 increases GPs’ powers to commission services on behalf of their 
patients 

 strengthens the role of the Care Quality Commission 

219

https://www.adass.org.uk/adassmedia/stories/publications/guidance/safeguarding.pdf


45 

 

 develops Monitor, the body that currently regulates NHS foundation 
trusts, into an economic regulator to oversee aspects of access and 
competition in the NHS 

 reduces the number of health bodies to help meet the Government's 
commitment to cut NHS administration costs by a third, including 
abolishing Primary Care Trusts and Strategic Health Authorities 

 establishes Health and Wellbeing boards to each upper tier local 
authority.  

 
3.5.8 The full Act can be accessed. 

 

  CARE Act 2014 

 

3.5.9 The CARE Act 2014 received royal assent on 14 May 2014.  The statutory 

guidance sets out how local authorities should meet the legal obligations laid 

on them by the Care Act and regulations. They must follow the Act and 

Guidance unless they can demonstrate legally sound reasons for not doing so. 

 

3.5.10 The reported key provisions contained within the Act include: 

 

The principle of wellbeing - section 1  

 

The definition of wellbeing includes suitability of living accommodation. The 

principle must reinforce the functions of the local authority in addressing a 

person’s care and support needs.   

 

Preventing, reducing and delaying care and support needs - section 2  

 

Local Authorities are required to understand and identify existing, unmet and 

future needs for care and support, and link this into Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessments and strategies to shape services.   Local Authorities should 

have an understanding of the services in their local area, including services 

targeted at whole populations such as accessing good quality information or 

measures to promote healthy and active lifestyles. Local Authorities should 

consider how to align or integrate with other local services to develop 

approaches to prevention.  

 

Information and advice – section 3  

 

Section 3 refers to the duty placed on Local Authorities to establish and 

maintain a service that provides information and advice relating to care and 

support.    The Local Authority is not required to directly provide all elements 

of the service but to understand, coordinate and make effective use of other 

220

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted


46 

 

service provision of information and advice, for example, One Stop Shop care 

and housing advice and its local partners or other housing options information.  

 

Safeguarding adults – section 14  

 

Section 14 ensures that safeguarding adult boards (SABs) are now placed on 

a statutory basis. Housing authorities and providers are not included as 

statutory partners, although locally they may and often are included.  

 

Integration, co-operation and partnerships – section 15  

 

Local Authorities are required to carry out care and support responsibilities 

with the aim of promoting greater integration with health and health-related 

services. Housing is clearly documented as a health related function. This is 

in relation to preventing needs; provision of information and advice; reducing/ 

delaying needs; improving the quality of services and outcomes achieved. It 

can be promoted through planning for services, commissioning, providing 

information and advice; and connecting up services in the assessment and 

support planning process. 

 

3.5.11 The full Act can be accessed. 

 

           Human Rights Act 1998 

 

3.5.12 The Human Rights Act can be used by every resident in the UK, regardless of 

whether they are a British citizen or a foreign national, a child or an adult, a 

prisoner or a member of the public.  

 

 

3.5.13 The rights that the Human Rights Act protect are as follows. 

 

 The right to life  

 The prohibition of torture and inhuman treatment  

 Protection against slavery and forced labour  

 The right to liberty and freedom  

 The right to a fair trial and no punishment without law  

 Respect for privacy and family life and the right to marry  

 Freedom of thought, religion and belief  

 Free speech and peaceful protest 

 No discrimination: everyone’s rights are equal.   

 Protection of property: protects against state interference with 

your possessions. 

221

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents/enacted


47 

 

 The right to an education  

 The right to free elections 
 

3.5.14 The full Act can be accessed. 

   

Mental Health Act 1983 

 

3.5.15 The Mental Health Act 1983 details the rights of people who have mental 

health disorder: 

 

 assessment and treatment in hospital 
 treatment in the community 
 pathways into hospital - civil or criminal 

 

3.5.16 The Key sections of the Act are around: 

 

 Rights when  a person is detained in hospital against their wishes   
 The family's rights when a person is detained 
 Rights when a person is detained in hospital and also part of the criminal 

justice system   
 Rights around consent to treatment when a person is detained   
 Rights when a person  leaves hospital, including how to have their section 

lifted and care planning   
 Rights when a person being treated in the community, for example 

receiving section 117 aftercare   
 

3.5.17 The Mental Health Act 1983 was amended in 2007.  The changes that were 

brought about by the amendment: 

 

 how mental disorder is defined 

  the professionals who have specific roles within the Act 

 additional rights for patients to displace their Nearest Relative 
how treatment is defined, and when it can be given  

  the introduction of Supervised Community Treatment (SCT) and 
Community Treatment Orders (CTOs)  

 a new right for patients to have an advocate  

 some changes about how Mental Health Review Tribunals operate 
 

3.5.18 The full Act can be accessed 

 

4                   Equality Impact Assessment 

4.1 Overview and Scrutiny ensures that it adheres to the Council’s statutory 

duty to provide the public with access to Scrutiny reports, briefing 

notes, agendas, minutes and other such documentation.  Meetings of 

222

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/12/contents


48 

 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and its Scrutiny Panels are 

widely publicised, i.e. on the Council’s website, copies issued to the 

local media and paper copies are made available in the Council’s One 

Stop Shop and local libraries. 

4.2 The Scrutiny Panel was mindful of the eight protected characteristics 

when undertaking this scrutiny activity so that any recommendations 

that it made could identify potential positive and negative impacts on 

any particular sector of the community.  This was borne in mind as the 

Scrutiny Panel progressed with the review and evidence gathered. 

4.3              So that the Scrutiny Panel obtains a wide range of views, a number of 

key witnesses provided evidence as detailed in section 3 of this report. 

4.4              Details of the Equality Impact Assessment undertaken can be located on 

the Overview and Scrutiny webpage. 

 

5 

 

Conclusions and Key Findings 

 

5.1      After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were drawn: 

5.1.1     That there are key themes emerging: 
  

         Assistance required for the BAME community 

         Particular need for joined up communications 

         Exploration of a centralised system  - centralisation is very 
important 



5.1.2  It was acknowledged that Adult Social Care Services is under resourced.



5.1.3 It is important that there is a holistic approach regarding integration and 
integrated services; integrated care is vital.  It is important that there is one 
service working together to deliver the same outcomes.  It was recognised 
that there is not a Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub, in existence for adults as 
there is for children.   The Site Visit noted that Adult Social Care at the London 

Borough of Islington has an excellent level of integration; with a close relationship 
with the CCG and health colleagues at both operational and commissioning level. 

 

5.1.4 Partnership working is essential. The Scrutiny Panel acknowledged that there 
is a need to build on Partnerships.  The voluntary sector can bring in funding. 

 

223

http://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/100004/your_council_elections_meetings_and_members/464/overview_and_scrutiny/11


49 

 

·        5.1.5 Evidence received highlight the Project that is funded by NCC – “not enough 
money in the pot”.  Wellingborough had been chosen as a pilot for this 
Project, mainly due to the size of the Borough for the Ageing Well Project.  

 

5.1.6 The good work undertaken by various organisations and groups was 
highlighted.  For example some services run by Northants Carers carrying out 
statutory assessments. These are currently offered county wide and the 
Scrutiny Panel queried how these would continue to run without causing 
disruption post Unitary.  It was highlighted that the contract is due to come to 
an end in October 2021.    Northants Carers has a “sitting service” and carer’s 
gym membership, which are very popular.  It has won a national award for 
bringing together various professionals – Breathing Space Project.   In 
Northamptonshire, investment in carers is relatively good.  The Scrutiny Panel 
noted that the BAME Community is hard to reach.  Northants Carers works 
with a number of partners and other groups.  Recently, it put on events in 
Wellingborough.  It runs an Asian Ladies Carers Group.  Northants Carers 
works with the organisation “Dostiyo”. It also works with faith groups and 
individuals. 

  
5.1.7 The Pilot being run in Kettering whereby a Housing Officer is dedicated 

resource to Kettering General Hospital is working very well. 



5.1.8 The Scrutiny Panel was pleased the Eleanor House had been modernised 
and back in use.  Additionally, it was recognised that Parsons Mead is a 
flagship complex and “ticks all the boxes”, being close to required amenities 
for older people.    

 
5.1.9    It was felt that it would be useful for there to be a facility where individuals 

could go when they no longer needed hospital care but needed care at 
home, but such care was not available. 

  
 

5.1.10Currently, a number of GP practices proactively refer to organisations such as 

Age UK Northamptonshire so as to positively support their clients’ needs.  

Literature from Age UK Northamptonshire is widely available in GP surgeries 

across the County, and in Northampton and the North in particular given the 

services supported by NHS funds.   The Scrutiny Panel was concerned that it 

might be possible that there will not be enough GP Practices and GPs to 

cover the county. 

 

5.1.11 Clients being supported through NHS funded services are referred from a mix 

of sources.  Some are referred via word of mouth and many from other Age 

UK Northamptonshire services.  Around two thirds of the referrals for Age UK 

Northamptonshire NHS funded services are from GPs. 

224



50 

 

 

5.1.12 The Scrutiny Panel emphasised that loneliness is, arguably, the most 

significant issue that needs to be dealt with.  It can be very isolated for carers. 

 

5.1.13 It was realised that some individuals don’t claim for the benefits that they are 

entitled to. 

 

5.1.14 The Scrutiny Panel felt that it would be good if best practice could be shared 

between the two Unitary Authorities. 

      
          

       
6 Recommendations 

 

6.1 The purpose of the Scrutiny Panel was to investigate Adult Social Care 
Facilities in the area to identify future demand patterns, in order that any new 
Unitary Council is able to better plan for the needs of older people. 

  
      Key Lines of Enquiry 

  

 To gain an understanding of the demand patterns for Adult Social 
Care in the area that is proposed for the new Unitary Council 

 To assess the extent of the need for Adult Social Care in the area 
and assess the initiatives currently in place to  provide Adult Social 
Care 

 To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to receiving 
Adult Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the current facilities for Adult Social 
Care and whether there are any gaps of provision 

 To gain an understanding of partnership working for Adult Social 
Care and how this can be improved 

 To gain an understanding of the structure of the Adult Integrated 
Care Programme 

 To gain an understanding of the Governance Arrangements  for the 
Social Care Integrated Programme 

 Identify any specific groups  that are not  accessing Adult Social 
Care Facilities 

 To gain an understanding of care in the community and how it is 
assessed and monitored 

 To gain an understanding of the extent of adult care responsibilities 
that will fall upon the proposed new Unitary Authority and the 
degree of necessary preparation. 

 To gain an appreciation of the statutory responsibilities in respect of 
the duty of care obligations and their financial consequences. 

225



51 

 

 
6.1.1  Whilst acknowledging data protection constraints,  an integrated system, 

hosted by Adult Social Care, that can be used by all relevant Agencies, is 

explored by the proposed West Northamptonshire Unitary Authority.   

 

6.1.2 In researching a potential integrated system, the systems and processes 

adopted by Adult Social Care at the London Borough of Islington are referred 

to.  In addition to this, all departments are given training to encourage a 

positive attitude towards information sharing and sign posting individuals to 

relevant services and support. 

 

6.1.3    That a survey is conducted, through various Community Groups, to ascertain    

why some of the BAME community is not accessing services. 

  
6.1.4 That a housing officer is linked to Northampton General Hospital, a similar 

arrangement to the Kettering Pilot. 
 

6.1.5 That support is given for social prescribing in relation to day care and a 

campaign aimed at GPs and other providers looking at the prescribing of day-

care and community activities.  A leaflet is also distributed to GP practices and 

various community groups promoting this support. 

 

6.1.6 That a copy of this report is shared with all Councillors of the other sovereign 

Councils in the proposed West Northamptonshire Unitary Council  - 

Northamptonshire County Council, Daventry District Council and South 

Northants Council. 

  

           Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6.1.7    The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, as part of its monitoring regime, 

reviews the impact of this report in six months’ time. 

226



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

227



 1 

 
Appendix A  

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
SCRUTINY PANEL 4  - ADULT SOCIAL CARE FACILITIES 

  
 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 

 

 To investigate Adult Social Care Facilities in the area to identify future 

demand patterns, in order that any new Unitary Council is able to better 

plan for the needs of older people. 

 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 

   To gain an understanding of the demand patterns for Adult Social 

Care in the area that is proposed for the new Unitary Council 

    To assess the extent of the need for Adult Social Care in the area 

and assess the initiatives currently in place to  provide Adult Social 

Care 

   To gain an understanding of the causes and barriers to receiving 

Adult Social Care 

 To gain an understanding of the current facilities for Adult Social Care 

and whether there are any gaps of provision 

 To gain an understanding of partnership working for Adult Social Care 

and how this can be improved 

   To gain an understanding of the structure of the Adult Integrated Care 

Programme 

   To gain an understanding of the Governance Arrangements  for the 

Social Care Integrated Programme 

   Identify any specific groups  that are not  accessing Adult Social Care 
Facilities 

   To gain an understanding of care in the community and how it is 
assessed and monitored 

  To gain an understanding of the extent of adult care responsibilities 
that will fall upon the proposed new Unitary Authority and the degree 
of necessary preparation. 

   To gain an appreciation of the statutory responsibilities in respect of 
the duty of care obligations and their financial consequences. 

 

228



 2 

 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

 To identify future demand patterns, in order that any new Unitary 

Council is able to better plan for the needs of older people  

 To make recommendations, as appropriate, regarding future Social 

Adult Care facilities 

 To make recommendations, as appropriate, to the MPs 

 To submit the final report of the Scrutiny Panel to the shadow Board for 

the new Unitary Council 

 

3. Information Required  

 

 Background data   

 Background reports 

 Best practice data 

 Desktop research 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

 Site visits (if applicable) 

 

4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 

 

 Presentation to set the scene:   Current Adult Social Care 

Facilities 

 Relevant national and local background research papers 

 Definitions in respect of Adult Social Care 

 Relevant Council Policies, Project Plans, Business Plans 

and Strategies: 

 Relevant Statistics 

 

 Relevant Legislation and Guidance, including: 

 

ADASS Guidance 2009 

The Health and Social Care Act 2012  

    CARE Act 2014 

Human Rights Act 1998 

Mental Health Act 1983 

 

 Relevant published papers on Adult Social Care 

229



 3 

 

 Best practice external to Northampton 

 Report back from the Centre for Public Scrutiny Conference – 

Health and Social Care 

 

 Internal expert advisors: 

 
 

 Cabinet Member for Housing, NBC 

 Head of Housing and Wellbeing, NBC 

 

 External expert advisors: 

 Head of Protecting Vulnerable Persons, 

Northamptonshire Police 

 Director of Public Health, Northamptonshire County 

Council 

 Director, Healthwatch Northamptonshire 

Director, Northampton Health Trust 

 Ward Managers, Northampton General Hospital  

 Other various representatives of Northants Health 

including GPs 

 Chief Executive, Northants - Age UK 

Chief Executive, Northants Carers’ Associations 

 Manager, Independent Living  organisation, Northampton 

 Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care, Northamptonshire 

County Council 

 Director for Adult Social Care, Northamptonshire County 

Council 

 

 Case Studies from Ward Councillors 

 Site visits, as applicable 

 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Desktop research 

 Site visits  

 Officer reports 

 Presentations 

 Examples of best practice 

 Witness Evidence:- 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 

 

230



 4 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

  

 To be confirmed 
 

7.  Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 

scope of the Review 

 

8.   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

August 2018 – March 2019 

 

  9 August 2018                      - Scoping meeting 

  8 October                              - Evidence gathering 

  6 November                          -  Evidence gathering 

  6 December                          - Evidence gathering 

  17  January 2019                - Evidence gathering 

 11 February                          - Evidence gathering 

  1 April                                   - Approval final report 

 
 

Various site visits will be programmed during this period, if required. 

 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 

 

9.   Responsible Officers 

 

Laurie Gould Solicitor and Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 

 

10. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by April 2019.  Presented by the Chair of the Panel to the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 

 

11. Monitoring procedure: 

 

Review the impact of the report after six months    

231



 1 

 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
SCRUTINY PANEL    –  ADULT SOCIAL CARE FACILITIES 

 
 Appendix B 

 
The Scrutiny Panel is currently undertaking a review:   Adult Social Care 
Facilities 
 
The purpose of the Review is to investigate Adult Social Care Facilities in the 

area to identify future demand patterns, in order that any new Unitary Council 

is able to better plan for the needs of older people. 

  

 
CORE QUESTIONS:    
 
A series of key questions have been put together to inform the evidence base 
of the Scrutiny Panel:  
 

1  It is important to appreciate the totality of the need problem and its 

cost. How will this be apportioned between two Unitary Authorities? 

 

2  How will better working/partnership be fostered with NHS and outside 

providers, i.e., Charities and private sector care homes? 

 

3   How will funding be apportioned? 

 
4  How will you sort the Shaw PFI contract? 

 
5  How will Safeguarding principles be better applied? 

 
6  Please provide details of the relationship with private sector providers, 

i.e., care/nursing homes? 

 
7  Please provide details of opportunities to combine care and housing 

provision in innovative ways? 

 
8  Do you think there are any specific groups that are not  accessing 

Adult Social Care Facilities, please provide details 

 
9   In your opinion, how can better management support be applied for 

both social workers and carers? 

232



 2 

 
10 Please provide details of the statutory responsibilities in respect of the 

duty of care obligations and their financial consequences 

 

11 Are there any examples of new, innovative ways of working that we 

can learn from? 

 
12 What models centred on the prevention agenda are being delivered? 

Are there plans to further expand this way of working? 

 
13 How is the wider place making system (planning, highways, public 

transport) being engaged to create communities of the future that 

ensure older people stay healthy for longer 

 
14 Do you have any other information, concerns or suggestions you wish 

to raise in relation to adult social care facilities? 

 

233



O v e r v i e w & S c r u t i n y 
C o m m i t t e e

O V E R V I E W  A N D  S C R U T I N Y  R E P O R T S

M A Y  2 0 1 9

234

Agenda Item 9



 1 

Index 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair’s Foreword                      2    
     
Executive Summary                           4  
 
Final Report including recommendations                    6  
 
 
 
 
 
APPENDICES 
 
 
 
Appendix A  Scope of the Review   

  

 

 

235



 2 

 
Foreword 
 
The objective of this Working Group was to evaluate the effectiveness of Scrutiny Reviews 
completed to date. 
  

Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To demonstrate the effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny reviews at Northampton 
 To identify areas and means for further developing Overview and Scrutiny review process at 

Northampton Borough Council 
 To provide objectivity by identifying evidence from the questions posed in the framework 
 To highlight any potential barriers to improvement 

  
 
The Working Group was made up from members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:  myself,  
Councillors Aziz,  Alan Bottwood, Sam Kilby-Shaw,  Dennis Meredith and Zoe Smith. 

The Review took place between May 2018 and May 2019. 

This was a very interesting and informative Review; with clear evidence received.  I thank all those 
who gave up their time to attend a meeting of the Working to provide this information and all those 
who provided comprehensive written evidence on the impact of the recommendations of previous 
Overview and Scrutiny reports.   
 
The result is a piece of work which has recognised the good work that Overview and Scrutiny has 
undertaken over the past fourteen years. Overview and Scrutiny at Northampton works very 
well.  The Call in process at NBC has been noted as an example of best practice by the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny (CfPS).    O&S has featured in a CfPS document – Scrutiny Frontiers regarding its 
good practice of public engagement and the report – Management of Community Centres was 
shortlisted for a good Scrutiny award by the CfPS. 

I would like to thank everyone who participated and contributed to this very important piece of work. 

  

Councillor Jamie Lane 
Chair, O&S Evaluation of O&S Reports Working Group 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

236



 3 

 
 
 
 
Acknowledgements to all those who took part in the Review: - 
 

 Councillors Aziz, Alan Bottwood, Sam Kilby-Shaw,  Dennis Meredith and Zoe Smith who 
sat with me on this Review.  

 Councillor Stephen Hibbert, Cabinet Member for Housing and Wellbeing, Councillor Anna 
King, Cabinet Member for Community Engagement and Safety, Vicki Rockall, Community 
Engagement and Safety Manager, Peter Baguley, Head of Planning, Ruth Austen, 
Environmental Health and Licensing Manager, Mick Tyrrell, Contracts Manager, Phil 
Harris, Head of Housing and Wellbeing, and Mike Kay, Chief Executive, NPH, for 
providing information about the impact of accepted recommendations contained in O&S  

 

237



 3 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY   
 
The purpose of this Working Group was to evaluate the effectiveness of Scrutiny 
Reviews completed to date. 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To demonstrate the effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny reviews 

at Northampton 
 To identify areas and means for further developing Overview and 

Scrutiny review process at Northampton Borough Council 
 To provide objectivity by identifying evidence from the questions 

posed in the framework 
 To highlight any potential barriers to improvement 

 
Following approval of its work programme for 2018/2019, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in April 2018 commissioned the Working Group 
to undertake this Scrutiny activity.   An in-depth piece of Scrutiny activity 
commenced in May 2018 and concluded in March 2019. 
 
A Working Group was established comprising Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair); 
Councillors Aziz, Bottwood, Kilby-Shaw, Meredith and Smith. 
 
This Scrutiny activity links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 
corporate priority -  Exceptional services to be proud of. 
 

 
     CONCLUSIONS AND KEY FINDINGS 
 

 
A significant amount of evidence was heard, details of which are contained in the 
report.  After gathering evidence the Scrutiny Panel established that: - 
 
 4.1.1 In reviewing the evidence received regarding the impact of the Scrutiny 

Reviews since 2006, it was concluded that they had all made a positive 
review, some examples as detailed below: 

 
4.1.2 The Working Group was pleased to note that the Scrutiny review around 

Community Centres had been shortlisted for a Centre for Public Scrutiny 
Good Scrutiny Award. As part of the shortlist process, a video was produced. 
The Working Group noted that the judges thought that this work, which 
facilitated the transfer of a large number of community facilities from the 
council to community control, demonstrated the contribution that scrutiny can 
make to implementing a key Government policy around community asset 
transfer successfully at local level.  This was felt to be an example of good 
Scrutiny at Northampton. 

 

4.1.3 Regarding the Planning Scrutiny Review, the Working Group queried 
whether Parish Councillors could also automatically have speaking rights; 
often when they register, it is too late and the speaker list for the planning 
application is full.   Parish Councils are statutory consultees and their views 
are given due consideration and by permitting Parish Councillors to have 

238

http://youtu.be/aDDMYsqHA0Y


 4 

automatic speaking rights could extend the length of Planning Committee 
meetings.  It was emphasised that the general impact of the planning report 
(2005/06) had been good. 

 
 4.1.4 In reviewing the impact of the Street Scene Scrutiny Review, the Working 

Group felt that there was a need to educate residents regarding recycling.  
It was realised that that some of the recommendations had been 
superseded by Law.  However that the general impact of this report was 
good. 

 

4.1.5  It was welcomed that the majority of the recommendations in the Scrutiny 
Report – Community  had been implemented and made a real difference.    

 
4.1.6 The Working Group, in reviewing the progress on the accepted 

recommendations contained within the Hate Crime Reporting Scrutiny 
report was pleased to note that the Authority won, in 2016, a national award 
for its work on hate crime.  The Working Group agreed that it would be 
useful if the Community Forums could undertake any work around hate 
crime towards rough sleepers and perhaps lobby Government. It further 
suggested that it would be useful for Parish Councils to be briefed on hate 
crime awareness. 

  
 4.1.7 In reviewing the progress made on the accepted recommendations 

contained with the Scrutiny report – Keep Northampton Tidy, it was noted 
that praise from the public had been received regarding the work of Veolia. 
There is a noticeable difference in the cleanliness of the town and the town 
has been awarded Purple Flag, it lasts for one year and an application has 
to be submitted annually. 

 
4.1.8 Evidence received highlighted that this Scrutiny 

activity had found  Overview and Scrutiny (O&S) at is good at NBC and 
works very well.  In any new Unitary Authority there should be some 
Scrutiny.  The method of Scrutiny operated at Northampton Borough 
Council is retained in any new Unitary Authority.  The Call in process at 
NBC has been noted as an example of best practice by the Centre for 
Public Scrutiny.    O&S has featured in a CfPS document – Scrutiny 
Frontiers regarding its good practice of public engagement.  This 
information should be included O&S Annual Report 2018/2019. 

 

 
             RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

The above overall findings have formed the basis for the following 
recommendations: - 
 
 The purpose of this Working Group was to evaluate the effectiveness of Scrutiny 
Reviews completed to date. 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To demonstrate the effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny reviews 

at Northampton 

239



 5 

 To identify areas and means for further developing Overview and 
Scrutiny review process at Northampton Borough Council 

 To provide objectivity by identifying evidence from the questions 
posed in the framework 

 To highlight any potential barriers to improvement 
 

The Working Group recommends to Cabinet that: 
 
5.1.1 Cabinet is informed that the outcome from this Scrutiny 

activity had found  Overview and Scrutiny at NBC is good and works very 
well.  The Call in process at NBC has been noted as an example of best 
practice by the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS).    O&S has featured in 
a CfPS document – Scrutiny Frontiers regarding its good practice of public 
engagement and the report – Management of Community Centres was 
shortlisted for a good Scrutiny award by the CfPS. 

 
5.1.2 In any new Unitary Authority there should be some Scrutiny process.  The 

method of Scrutiny operated at Northampton Borough Council is retained in 
any new Unitary Authority.   

 
 

240



 6 

 Northampton Borough Council 
 

Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
  
Evaluation of the Overview and Scrutiny Reports Working Group 

  
1. Purpose 

 
1.1 The purpose of this Working Group was to evaluate the effectiveness of 

Scrutiny Reviews completed to date. 
  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To demonstrate the effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny reviews at 

Northampton 
 To identify areas and means for further developing Overview and 

Scrutiny review process at Northampton Borough Council 
 To provide objectivity by identifying evidence from the questions 

posed in the framework 
 To highlight any potential barriers to improvement 

 
1.2 A copy of the scope of the Scrutiny activity is attached at Appendix A.  
 

2 Context and Background 
 
2.1 Following approval of its work programme for 2018/2019, the Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee, at its meeting in April 2018 commissioned the Working 
Group to undertake this Scrutiny activity.   An in-depth piece of Scrutiny 
activity commenced in May 2018 and concluded in March 2019. 

 
2.2 A Working Group was established comprising Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair); 

Councillors Aziz, Bottwood, Kilby-Shaw, Meredith and Smith. 
 
2.3 This Scrutiny activity links to the Council’s corporate priorities, particularly 

corporate priority -  Exceptional services to be proud of. 
 
2.4 The Working Group established that the following needed to be investigated 

and linked to the realisation of the Council’s corporate priorities: 
 
   

·                     Background data, including: 
  
     Previous Scrutiny Review Reports, including: 

                 2005/2006  

·                      Planning 

                 2006/2007  

·                      Public engagement and communications 

241

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4514&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=5
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4569&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=7


 7 

·                      Best value review 

·                      Tree policy 

·                      Allotments (water charges) 

·                      Street scene 

·                      Leisure services 

·                      Homelessness (rough sleepers) task and finish group 

·                      Community safety (evaluation of dispersal orders)  

                      2007/2008  

·                      Community engagement  

·                      Voluntary sector  

                       2008/2009  

·                      Councillor Call for Action 

·                      Billing Waste Water Working Group 

·                      Historic Buildings Task and Finish Group 

·                      Contaminated Water task and finish group - phase one 

·                      Contaminated Water task and finish group - phase two 

 West Northants Development Corporation (WNDC) and partnership working 
with Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 

·                      Evaluation of Overview and Scrutiny 

·                      Proposed Post Office Closures 

·                      Customer Services 

                       2009/2010  

·                      West Northants Emergent Joint Core Strategy 

·                      Concessionary Fares 

·                      More Facilities for Older Children 

·                      Community Centres This scrutiny review was shortlisted for a 
Centre for Public Scrutiny Good Scrutiny Award. As part of the shortlist 
process, a video was produced. The judges thought that this work, which 
facilitated the transfer of a large number of community facilities from the 
council to community control, demonstrated the contribution that scrutiny can 
make to implementing a key Government policy around community asset 
transfer successfully at local level. 

2010/2011  

·                      Cost of Consultants 

·                      Sheltered Housing and Housing Options for Older People 

242

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4684&%E2%81%9Esch=doc&cat=567&path=0&J=7
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4584&sch=doc&cat=560&path=0,462&J=4
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4586&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=3
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4676&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=12
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4603&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=13
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4677&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=11
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4609&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=13
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s48505/Final%20Report%20as%20pdf.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11502/Final%20report%20as%20pdf.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11499/Final%20Report%20including%20Appendices.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11500/Final%20version%20of%20the%20report%20as%20of%2011%20November.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11530/hbandregenereportfinalversion.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11497/contaminated%20water%20tf%20report%20pdf%20version%202.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s12113/phase%202%20report%20as%20pdf%2018%20March%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11531/Report%20as%20PDF%20-%20January%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11531/Report%20as%20PDF%20-%20January%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11772/Final%20Version%20of%20report%20as%20PDF%20dated%202%20February%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11503/Final%202.1.08.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4750&RPID=1584388&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=3
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4761&RPID=1766157&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=9
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4760&RPID=1766150&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=5
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s13199/final%20report%20as%20pdf%2017%20december%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=17352
http://youtu.be/aDDMYsqHA0Y
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=13863
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=13868


 8 

·                      Absence Management 

·                      Northamptonshire Alcohol Strategy 

·                      Pre-Scrutiny of Environmental Services Procurement 

·                      Leisure Trust Implementation 

·                      Neighbourhood Model 

 Lease that Northampton Borough Council has With Northampton Town 
Football Club, the Contractual Arrangements between Northampton Town 
Football Club and the Rugby and Northampton Athletics Club 

 Commissioning Framework for the Voluntary and Community Sector 

2011/2012  

·                      Councillor Empowerment Fund 

·                      Hate Crime 

·                      Independent Living Strategy 

2012/2013  

·                      Customer Services 

·                      Evaluation of Overview and Scrutiny (2012) 

·                      Serious Acquisitive Crime, Violent Crime and Community 
Safety 

2013/2014  

·                      Retail Experience 

·                      Section 106 Agreements and Infrastructure Requirements 

·                      Improving the Town's Parks 

2014/2015 

·                     Management and Regulation of Private Sector Housing 
(including HIMOs) 

·                      Impact of the Welfare Reform Act 

·                      Interpersonal Violence 

·                      Poverty in the Town 

·                      Keep Northampton Tidy 

·                      Parking 

·                      Tree Maintenance 

2015/2016 

·                      Impact of Anti-Social Behaviour on the Town 

243

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16843
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16819
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=15550
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=15487
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16840
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16839
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16839
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16839
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=17023
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=18394
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=19360
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=19361
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s35378/Finalreport31May2012.pdf.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s39865/Evaluation%20report.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s39886/Final%20SP1%20report.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s39886/Final%20SP1%20report.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5085&ID=5085&RPID=11444795&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s40543/Section%20106%20Agreements%20and%20Infrastructure%20Requirements.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s42720/Finalreportdated29January2014.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s44009/FinalreportasPDFdated11June2014.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s44009/FinalreportasPDFdated11June2014.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s44653/FinalReportasPDFdated4August2014.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46975/Interpersonal%20Violence.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46974/Poverty%20in%20the%20Town.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46976/Keep%20Northampton%20Tidy.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46979/Parking%20Working%20Group.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46980/Tree%20Maintenance%20Working%20Group.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5203&%E2%81%9EID=5203&RPID=12784903&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168


 9 

·                      Health Check of the Local Economy 

 Effectiveness of the Enforcement Policies in respect of Taxis and Private 
Hire 

·                      NBC Owned Street Lighting  

2016/2017 

·                      Museum Trust (pre decision scrutiny) 

·                      Child Sexual Exploitation 

·                      Homelessness (Pre-Decision Scrutiny) 

·                      Emissions Strategy (Action Plan) 
            

Ø    Monitoring Action Plans for previous Scrutiny Reviews and 
information regarding the number of accepted 
recommendations : 

  
·                     Internal expert advisors: 

  
Relevant Cabinet Members and Senior officers in respect of the 
success of each Scrutiny Review being evaluated 

 
3 Evidence Collection 
 
3.1 Evidence was collected from a variety of sources: 
 
 Overview and Scrutiny Report:           Planning  (2005/06) 
 

Recommendation 1 – Councillors should be allowed to speak without 
giving a for or against reason when registering to speak (they may wish to 
just make a comment) 
 
This recommendation was not taken on board; Councillors are asked to 
state whether they are speaking for or against. It is more transparent. 

  
Recommendation 2 – MPs and County Councillors given the same rights to 
speak as Ward Councillors MPs can speak automatically but this was not 
extended to County Councillors; they need to register as a third party.  It was 
felt that Ward Councillors are better placed to speak. 

  
Recommendation 3 – Items on the Agenda where no one wishes to speak 
or make a comment or where Officers do not have an update be taken on 
block at the start of the meeting. 
 
This recommendation was not taken on board as it was better to take such 
items at the end of the meeting.  The Working Group agreed that this was a 
sensible approach. 

  

244

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5202&ID=5202&RPID=12784908&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5204&ID=5204&RPID=12784911&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5204&ID=5204&RPID=12784911&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s50099/Final%20Report%2031%20May%202016.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5218&%E2%81%9EID=5218&RPID=12967370&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Child%20Sexual%20Exploitation&ID=5220&RPID=13374130
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Homelessness%20Pre%20Decision%20Scrutiny&ID=5219&RPID=13374132
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Emissions%20Strategy%20Action%20Plan&ID=5221&sch=doc
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4514&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=5


 10 

Recommendation 4 -  Chairperson to sum up each item on the agenda 
once a decision has been reached so that the members of the public are 
clear as to what has been agreed. 

  
Recommendation 5 -  An Officer to employed as an usher to help the public 
know what’s happening and to assist them during the meeting and to advise 
them if items are withdrawn at short notice. 
 
When a number of public attendees are expected for specific applications, 
Officers do guide the public and good practice has emerged.  An usher is 
not required for every meeting. 

  
Recommendation 6  - Microphones are available to the public so that all 
members of the Committee can hear what they are saying as well as the 
public who sit behind them. 
 
This recommendation is fully implemented and works well. 

  
Recommendation 7 – Agenda to be bound in a more professional manner 
with advertising on the back cover of forthcoming meetings. 
 
This recommendation is fully implemented; list of forthcoming meetings and 
Protocol detailed too. 

  
Recommendation 8  - Protocol for the meeting to be on the inside front 
cover, outlining who can speak and for how long and how business is 
conducted. 
 
This recommendation is fully implemented; list of forthcoming meetings and 
Protocol detailed too. 

  
Recommendation 9  - Protocol for the meeting to be sent out to all those 
registering to speak so that they are aware of what to expect.  The Protocol 
should also be published on the Website. 
 
This recommendation is fully implemented. 

  
Recommendation 10 – NBC Website be updated so that public speaking is 
no longer a 6 month trial. 
 
Public speaking is in place at each meeting. 

  
Recommendation 11  - NBC Website to index applications in alphabetical 
order by street name so that finding an application is easier. 
 
Technology has developed since 2005 and search facilities are more 
advanced that they were in 2005.  The Website has good search facilities. 

  
Recommendation 12 – The letter that is issued to consultees to include 
information that planning applications are now available on the NBC 
Website. 
 
This recommendation is fully implemented. 

245



 11 

  
Recommendation 13  - Phone numbers on NBC website be changed so 
that the numbers are for departments rather than individuals to ensure good 
customer service. 
 
This recommendation is fully implemented. 

  
Recommendation 14  - It is reiterated to Councillors that they can ask for 
any planning application to be presented to the Committee if they feel that 
the Committee should look at it 
 
This is now included within the Constitution; Members must give a valid 
planning reason.  
 
Recommendation 15 – Following its submission to full Council, this report 
be submitted to WNDC. 
 
WNDC no longer exists. 

 
 Overview and Scrutiny Report:   Allotments (water charges) (2005/06) 
 

The recommendations of the report had been taken to the Allotment Holders 
who were not in favour of the water charges and therefore a Water Charging 
Policy had not been introduced. 
 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Report:         Street scene (2005/06) 
 
There has been significant changes over the past 12 years, since this report 
was finalised. This includes changes in Legislation. 
 
Abandoned Vehicles 

  
Recommendation 1  - That the Council uses its powers, within legislation, 
to reduce the  problems of extensive use of vehicles put up for sale on the 
highway are dealt with before they become a major nuisance. 
The Council uses its powers before they become a nuisance.  Parking 
restrictions have been put in place along the Wellingborough Road. 
Wardens also use their powers. 

  
Recommendation 2  -    That the Council ensures that resources are 
directed to the hotspots for abandoned cars: Blackthorn, Ecton Brook, 
Eastfield Park and side streets around the Kettering and Wellingborough 
roads. 
Hotspots tend to move around; intensive work is done and checks 
undertaken. There are still a small number of untaxed vehicles and 
abandoned vehicles; but there are a lot less around than there were 12 
years ago. 

  
  

  

246

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4586&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=3
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4676&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=12


 12 

Recommendation 3 -That action is taken, where it continues to be a 
problem to prevent vehicles being driven onto public parks and burnt out, in 
particular Hunsbury Park. 
 
In the wider context, a lot of work is done regarding unauthorised access to 
parks. Burnt out vehicles are less of a problem now than they were 12 years 
ago. 

  
Clean Neighbourhood and Environment Act 2005 

  
Recommendation 4 - That, in accordance with the Clean Neighbourhood 
and Environment Act 2005, retailers who allow litter within 100 yards of their 
premises be fined. 
 
Offenders are fined; there has also been further changes in Legislation, such 
as the introduction of the Community Protection Notice which is not 
extensively used for this purpose but can be used. 
Fixed Penalty Notices have been issued and Licensing have done some 
work too with businesses. 
   
Recommendation 5  - That Cabinet supports the gating of alleyways as a 
measure to reduce fly-tipping. 
Some alleyway gating has taken place but Legislation has changed since 
2006.  
 
Alleyways can be gated using  Public Spaces Protection Orders for example 
Marble Arch has been gated; evidence of problems is required. The best 
gated schemes work when the local community takes ownership.  There 
needs to be a strong majority for an alleyway to be gated. 

  
Fly-tipping and Littering 

  
Recommendation 6  -   That the Council’s legal department seeks an 
agreement with the Magistrates Court on the evidence required for the 
Council to achieve successful prosecution against fly-tipping and littering. 
Again, there have been Legislative changes since 2006.  The Authority has 
reasonable FPN powers.    If these are ineffective then legal action is taken. 

   
Veolia uses the echo system which has mapping capacity; there will be the 
facility to produce hot spot maps. 

  
Recommendation 7  -    That Cabinet considers adopting the Westminster 
model of prosecuting for fly-tipping and littering and that a presentation be 
given to  Northamptonshire Magistrates on the Council's intentions to adopt 
a similar process. 
This recommendation has been superseded by FPNs. 

  
Recommendation 8  - That Cabinet monitors the impact of the anti-littering 
campaign after six months. 
 
This took place and time has now elapsed. 

  

247



 13 

Recommendation 9 - That it be recommended to supermarkets that they all 
introduce a deposit system for the removal of supermarket trolleys from their 
premises. 
Most supermarkets do have a deposit scheme on the trolleys. Some are 
very good.  Occasionally the supermarkets are written to.  It often depends 
on individual store management; some stores are members of the 
Trooleywise and similar “Trolley Management Schemes.”  
 
It is important to let all Councillors know that the Community Protection 
Notices covers supermarkets too. 

  
Recommendation 10  -      That leaflets in appropriate languages regarding 
recycling and refuse collection be distributed to households where the 
Council knows that there are people in the household who use that 
language.  Leaflets in ethnic minority languages should be available through 
community organisations and made available to landlords. 
 
Much more is available on the Website than it was 12 years ago.  A small 
budget is available for translation. 

  
Recommendation 11  - That the availability of nets to put on recycling 
boxes be widely publicised and consideration be given to providing them 
free of charge when new boxes are issued. 
 
This has been superseded.  Wheeled bins for recycling will be introduced for 
most households later in 2018. 
 
 Recommendation 12 - That, in the proposed evaluation of the recycling 
system currently used, Cabinet considers the use of a different type of 
receptacle that can be closed at the top. 
 
This has been superseded.  

  
Recommendation 13  -   That a high priority is given to the employment of 
additional Enforcement Officers when finances permit. 
 
In January 2018 the Enforcement Service commenced; focussing initially on 
littering.  Neighbourhood Wardens also enforce. 

  
Recommendation 14  -That landlords be encouraged to inform their tenants 
on the proper disposal of rubbish and that landlords be requested to provide 
proper places for tenants to store rubbish prior to collection by the Council, 
in particular, Landlords should take responsibility for informing new tenants 
of the collection date.  The Council seeks to lead by example, as a landlord, 
by the way that it informs its tenants on the proper disposal of rubbish. 
 
Under the Anti-Social Behaviour Act, there are wide ranging powers that 
make use of CPNs for both landlords and occupiers.  They are 
effective.  Officers also attend the Landlords Forum. 

  
Recommendation 15  - That planning permission for new developments 
and conversions of properties for multi-occupation include a condition 

248



 14 

concerning the provision of facilities for tenants to store rubbish before 
collection. 
 
Environmental Health makes recommendations for adequate waste storage 
on site 

  
Recommendation 16 – That the Council works with the Landlords Forum to 
ensure that recommendation is promoted. 
 
This has been superseded.  
 
Overview and Scrutiny Report:    Tree policy  2006/2007       

 
o The draft Tree Policy was adopted as the Council’s Tree Policy and 

was used as a reference source until the introduction of the latest 
Tree Policy. As much of the policy was still relevant, it formed the 
base from which the new Tree Policy was developed. 

 
o The tree budget was increased in the following years and there is a 

£100k per year enhancement program.  This is currently in year 
three. 

 
o A dedicated Tree Administration Officer was recruited and is still in 

post with idverde. 
 

o The specification for the Highway Trees maintenance, carried out by 
NBC, as part of the Highways Agreement we have with NCC, has 
remained the same.  

 
o An FAQ sheet was produced, dealing with the most common trees 

issues and the Tree Policy was included on the Council’s website, 
and available to download. 

 
o Hedgerows can vary in size and by the type of tree or shrub growing 

in them. As such, they are not specifically described in the new tree 
policy, as both tree maintenance and grounds maintenance are 
required for the management of hedgerows. 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Homelessness (rough sleepers) task 
and Finish Group 2006/2007 
 
As the Homelessness (Rough Sleepers) Task & Finish Group completed its 
review more than 11 years ago, it is difficult to evaluate the effectiveness of 
the review and the improvements made as a result of the review and its 
recommendations.   

 
 A lot has changed since the Task & Finish Group published its report in 

2007: 
 

 Since 2010, austerity measures have resulted in a substantial 
reduction in the amount of Government funding for public services 
 

249

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4584&sch=doc&cat=560&path=0,462&J=4
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4677&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=11
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4677&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=11


 15 

 The Government is no longer providing Northampton Borough 
Council with any extra funding to support its work with rough 
sleepers 

 

 A significant number of EU nationals (especially from Eastern 
Europe) have migrated to the UK to find work. In common with 
many other areas, they now account for the majority of the people 
sleeping rough in Northampton   

 

 Welfare reform (which started in 2010) has placed new limits on 
the amount of Housing Benefit that can be paid to tenants. Local 
Housing Allowance rates – based on the 30th percentile of rents in 
the area and frozen in recent years – have not kept pace with the 
steady increase in private sector rents 

 

 As the shared accommodation rate is insufficient to cover the rent 
in most shared housing, most single people under the age of 35 
find it very difficult to meet their housing needs if they are reliant 
on Housing Benefit 

 

 The severe shortage of affordable rented housing in Northampton 
has worsened since 2007 and, with so much private rented 
accommodation out of reach, this has exacerbated the problems 
facing homeless people. 

 

 The ‘Pocket Guide for anyone who is homeless or threatened with 
homelessness’ (the ‘Green Book’) – described as being useful to 
agencies and rough sleepers during the 2006/07 review – was not 
kept up to date and is no longer in use. 

 
 There have also been a lot of changes in the services operating  

in Northampton since the Task & Finish Group published its report in 2007: 
 

 Oasis House (comprising 48 flats for homeless people) opened in 
2012 
 

 The Hope Centre moved into Oasis House in 2012 and has since 
expanded its services to include social enterprises and training 
and employment. 

 

 The Street Outreach Service is provided by the Council and is at 
the heart of the borough’s efforts to tackle, prevent and reduce 
rough sleeping. 

 

 A comprehensive, multi-agency strategy – ‘TOGETHER we 
change lives’ – was published in July 2016 and supported by 30 
services and organisations that pledged to end the need for 
people to sleep rough in Northampton. 

 

 Since 2016, the Council has robust and effective hospital 
discharge arrangements with Northampton General Hospital and 
Berrywood Hospital. 

250



 16 

 

 Northampton’s Emergency Nightshelter opened in February 2017 
to provide up to 20 men with somewhere safe, warm and dry to 
stay. Alternative arrangements are in place to assist female rough 
sleepers. 

 

 In April 2018, the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 came into 
effect and this extended the duties of local housing authorities to 
relieve and prevent homelessness. In order to improve the service 
provided for single homeless people, the Council appointed a 
Single Homelessness Adviser who works very closely with the 
Street Outreach Workers and Nightshelter Team. 

 
 Irrespective of whether or not all 20 recommendations were implemented   

11 years ago, the 2006/07 scrutiny has highlighted the following in 2018/19: 
 

(1) The importance of Northampton Borough Council taking the 
lead, with all agencies working together on rough sleeper 
initiatives 
 

(2) The merits of holding a Rough Sleepers Forum (which could 
include representation from local businesses, faith groups and 
support providers) to co-ordinate initiatives and share 
information. 

 
(3) The need for a pocket guide that contains key information about 

the services available to people who are sleeping rough in 
Northampton. The guide would ensure that the role of the Night-
shelter and Street Outreach Workers is fully understood. It could 
include a flow chart. 

 
(4) The need to make representations to the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government for funding to support 
everyone’s efforts to tackle, prevent and reduce rough sleeping 
in Northampton.  

 
Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Community Safety (Evaluation of Dispersal 
Orders) 2006/2007 
 

Evaluation of Dispersal Orders 
 
The recommendations relate to the use of dispersal orders, which no longer 
exist, they have been replaced by the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and 
Policing Act 2014. A power giving the police the authority to disperse 
individuals or groups was introduced under Part 3 of the Act. This power 
replaced two older powers contained within section 30 of the Anti-Social 
Behaviour Act 2003 and section 27 of the Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006. 

 
Under the previous legislation the police were only able to require people to 
leave an area if it had been designated as a dispersal zone after 
consultation with the local authority. The process was thought of as to slow 
and delayed the ability of the police to respond quickly to reports of anti-
social behaviour. 

251



 17 

 
The power can be exercised by a police officer (or designated PCSO), and 
allows the officer to disperse individuals or groups causing or likely to cause 
anti-social behaviour in public places or common areas of private land, such 
as shopping centres or parks, for example. 
 
A police officer of at least the rank of Inspector must have authorised the 
use of these powers within a specified area. Such an authorisation is valid 
for up to 48 hours and there is no longer a need to consult with the local 
authority prior to giving authorisation. 
 
The power to disperse persons from a specified area: 

 

The Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) 

The Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) allows councils to place 

restrictions or impose conditions on activities which people can carry out in a 

designated area. They are designed to deal with issues identified in problem 

areas which are having a detrimental impact on the quality of life in a 

community. 

A PSPO is issued by a local authority on consultation with the police and the 

owner or occupier of the land, if appropriate. A PSPO can apply over any 

public place and can prohibit any activity if the council is satisfied, on 

reasonable grounds, that the activities: 

• have had, or are likely to have, a detrimental effect on the quality of 

life of those in the locality; 

• are likely to be persistent in nature; 

• are unreasonable; and 

• justify the restrictions imposed. 

The local authority issuing the order must also consult with any relevant 

community representatives, such as a residents association, and should try 

to seek the views of those living or working nearby who may be affected by 

the order. 

Powers relating to public spaces protection orders (PSPO): 

252



 18 

 
 

The introduction of The Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014 
changed how anti-social behaviour can be tackled in open spaces. Police 
officers and PCSOs currently have the power to take and dispose of any 
open alcohol container(s) in a Public Spaces Protection Order area (PSPO). 
  
The changes in legislation has seen a significant improvement in how 
quickly the police and PSCOs are able to deal with anti-social behaviour. 
The powers are utilised to tackle alcohol related crime and anti-social 
behaviour within the night-time economy and also to deal with street drinking 
within the town centre.  

 
Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Community Engagement 2007/2008 
 
 Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 
 Recommendations 
 

5.1 That reports to all Committees contain an implications paragraph 
on Community Engagement and Consultation. Meetings Services 
should act as the gatekeeper to ensure that all reports contain these 
details and reject any reports that do not contain the relevant 
information. 
Reports to all committees include a Community Engagement and 
Consultation section.  

 
5.2 That, once published, the web-based resource of information on 
community engagement that is being produced by the organisation 
`Involve’, be used by all departments when carrying out consultation. 
A comprehensive, 27 page consultation toolkit is available on the internet 
providing a step by step guide. 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/7327/consultation-toolkit 

 
5.3 That a Strategy for Community Engagement be devised which 
reflects organisational priorities and increased partnership working in 
accordance with the Local Area Agreement (LAA) and the Local 
Strategic Partnership (LSP)’s devolved structures. It should be 
recognised that this is an evolving area. 
The Local Area Agreement and the Local Strategic Partnership are 
structures which no longer exist. However, the Council has a robust 

253

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/7327/consultation-toolkit


 19 

approach to community engagement and has built up a strong network, 
which is both geographically representative and diversely reflective of the 
community, (see mind map attached).  

 
5.4 That as Portsmouth City Council’s Consultation Toolkit has been 
recognised as an example of best practice (this document be 
considered as a template for a Consultation Toolkit for borough 
Council staff. 
Unable to confirm whether or not Portsmouth City Council’s Toolkit was 
used to inform Northampton Borough Council’s Toolkit. It is evident that 
many of the necessary principles are included. Whilst Portsmouth recognise 
four stages of the consultation process, Northampton Borough Councils 
details eight stages, providing a step by step guide through each stage.  

 
5.5 That for the public to be more trusting of the Council, it has to be 
open and transparent in reporting all of its activities. All public 
information should therefore be widely available and published. 
The Community Safety and Engagement Team works very closely with the 
Communications Team to promote key messages, provide feedback and 
share good news stories.  This is achieved through various channels, 
including; our community engagement networks, social media, including 
Facebook and Twitter, the website and community events.  

 
5.6 That the mechanisms for receiving public feedback be examined 
and a policy produced. The mechanisms for reporting back from 
Neighbourhood Management need to ensure that information received 
is reported to the relevant Council departments and Councillors. 
Neighbourhood Management is no longer in place.  
 
Revised structure, consisting of three Community Safety and Engagement 
Officers, working conterminously to the ward boundaries, with 
Northamptonshire Police. Furthermore, Neighbourhood Wardens are 
working to specific wards. 
 
Information is shared regularly between team members as a multi-agency, 
problem solving approach, is adopted at neighbourhood level.  

 
5.7 That the philosophy of Neighbourhood Management is extended 
across the whole town. Each area should have its own 
Communication/Participation Plan that is resourced by the Council. 
Within this there should be a feedback mechanism. 
Alternative structure in place as mentioned in 5.6. Neighbourhood 
Management no longer exists. 

 
5.8 That Neighbourhood Partnerships be fully resourced in order that 
their role can be enhanced and that they form part of each area’s plan 
(as described in recommendation 5.7) should this be appropriate for 
that area. 
Alternative structure in place as mentioned in 5.6. Neighbourhood 
Management no longer exists. 

 
 
 

254



 20 

 
 

5.9 That Parish Councils be contacted and provided with details of the 
plans for Neighbourhood Management. It should be stated that where 
the Council is aware of any overlap of duties and in that area there is 
an active Parish Council that the Parish Council complies, for example 
by hosting public meetings. The Council would not wish to be involved 
but it would need to ensure that Parish Councils sign up to its Protocol 
if a particular Parish Council, after public consultation, did not want a 
Neighbourhood Partnership within their area. This will form part of the 
area’s plan as described in recommendation 5.7. 
A Parish Clerks Forum, consisting of the ten Parish Councils in the Borough 
has been established. The meetings are facilitated by the Community Safety 
and Engagement Team and are held quarterly. The purpose of the Forum is 
for Parish representatives and Borough Council representatives to put 
forward issues for discussion on matters of common interest and for a 
means of community engagement. 

 
5.10 That it be recognised that the Neighbourhood boundaries are not 
fixed and may need to be reviewed once sufficient evidence for change 
is established. 
Officers are working within specific boundaries/wards.  

 
5.11 That the Council recognises that in order to consult with hard to 
reach groups it will have to consider how best to inform those in the 
community whose contact with the Council is minimal. These will 
include passive members of the community who have limited social 
engagement, members of the community for whom English is not their 
first language, members of the community who take a disinterest in the 
administration of Local Government. In order to reach these groups 
the Council should consider how to ensure that information written in 
clear, concise language can be delivered beyond people’s front doors 
and/or is communicated to them via the social networks they are 
engaged in. 
Forums, which are working across five of the protected characteristics. In 
addition we are working at neighbourhood level, engaging with the 
community, through our weeks of action, community events and through 
social media.  

 
5.12 That a consultation budget be implemented. Analysis should take 
place to ascertain the amount of resource required. 

 
5.13 That consideration be given to internal and external mediums for 
the consultation process to ensure that cost effective and modern 
forms of communication are considered. 
Modern forms of engagement are regularly used by the team, including 
survey monkey and social media, which we have found to be very effective, 
two recent examples include; the work that was completed in relation to the 
environmental services contract (8,000 respondents) and Rectory Farm play 
equipment (more than 100 respondents).  
 
 

 

255



 21 

Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Voluntary Sector 2007/2008 
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 

Recommendations 
 
5.1 That a Senior Officer, minimum of Corporate Manager level, is 
explicitly identified as being responsible for the relationship with the 
Voluntary Sector. 
Community Safety and Engagement Manager identified as the lead officer.  
A funding agreement is in place with Voluntary Impact Northamptonshire 
(VIN), who provide the local infrastructure contract for Northampton’s 
community and voluntary sector, monitoring meetings take place quarterly 
with the Chief Executive of VIN.   
  
5.2 That a minimum of £700,000 is ring-fenced in the budget for 
2008/2009 for Voluntary Sector grants ahead of the full budget process 
so that the grant application process can proceed between now and 
March 2008 £50,000 of this sum be allocated to the Small Grants pot. 
£800,000 is allocated to the community and voluntary sector through the 
grants process per annum.  
£50,000 is allocated to the small grants programme per annum. 
£135,000 is made available to elected members to spend in their wards.  
 
5.3 That funding to the Voluntary and Community Sector under the 
Partnership Fund be on a minimum three-yearly basis. 
Funding has been allocated to a number of community and voluntary 
organisations for a term of either two or three years.  
 
5.4 That only Voluntary and Community Sector Organisations should 
be funded from the Voluntary and Community Sector grants pot. 
Only community and voluntary sector organisations are funded from the 
£800,000 grant allocation pot.  
 

5.5 That interim arrangements for those organisations currently funded 
for one year (to end 31 March 2008) should be put in place and clearly 
communicated to organisations concerned no later than 30 November 
2007. 
All organisations that are grant funded by Northampton Borough Council 
have signed a service level agreement, which clearly defines the terms of 
the funding, including the length of the agreement and outcomes that are 
expected to be delivered.  
 
5.6 That the Administration decides which of the currently funded 
organisations will be mainstream funded with funding linked to the 
Corporate objectives and Council departments. 
Funding has been allocated to a number of community and voluntary 
organisations for a term of either two or three years.  
 
 
 
 
 

256



 22 

Medium Term Recommendations 
5.7 That a feasibility study be carried out to ascertain whether the 
administrative function for grant applications should be outsourced. 
The administration of the small grants fund was outsourced for a period of 
time, to Northampton Community Foundation. The decision was made 
recently, to avoid the administrative costs and to establish greater control, 
the administration of the funding has been brought back in house.  
 
5.8 That the Council develops a Commissioning Strategy for the 
provision of services to meet the Council’s corporate objectives. 
As part of the grant application process, all organisations are asked to 
evidence how their project/activity contributes to one or more of the following 
priorities and outcomes; 
 
Northampton Alive  

 A vibrant successful town for now and the future  
 
Safer Communities  

 Making you feel safe and secure  
 
Housing for Everyone  

 Helping those that need it to have a safe and secure home  
 
Protecting Our Environment  

 A clean and attractive town for residents and visitors  
 
Love Northampton  

 Enhancing leisure activities for local people and encouraging 
participation  
 
Working Hard and Spending your Money Wisely  

 Delivering quality modern services  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Report:    Community Centres ) 2009/2010 
 
This scrutiny review was shortlisted for a Centre for Public Scrutiny Good Scrutiny 
Award. As part of the shortlist process, a video was produced. The judges thought 
that this work, which facilitated the transfer of a large number of community 
facilities from the council to community control, demonstrated the contribution that 
scrutiny can make to implementing a key Government policy around community 
asset transfer successfully at local level. 
 

Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 

Recommendations 
 
All leases for self-managed Community Centres are reviewed to 
ensure that they meet consistent standards; based on a common core 
document. Leases be on a term of at least 25 years.  
 
The 21 community centres previously run by the council are now being 
operated by voluntary and community organisations.  

257

http://youtu.be/aDDMYsqHA0Y


 23 

The majority of the centres have a 30 year lease and have signed up to a 
management agreement, which is consistent across the centres.  
 
In assessing the business cases, Management Committees must be 
able to demonstrate they are maintaining a local focus and provide 
evidence to support it can manage a number of Community Centres 
fitting the set criteria. 
Prior to the signing of the lease and management agreements, each 
community organisation provided a robust business case, detailing a longer 
term plan on how they would engage with local residents, to ensure that 
the services provided reflected the needs of the local community.  
 
Northampton Borough Council provides information, such as building 
surveys, details of running costs to Self-Managed Community Centres 
to aid business planning. 
This information was provided to each of the centres during the hand over 
process.  
 
Management Committees are charged with ensuring that Community 
Centres are kept in a good state of repair. Northampton Borough 
Council provides an allocated sum of money to the Management 
Committees for general maintenance and repair of the Community 
Centres. Northampton Borough Council remains the budget holder for 
major repairs. 
A five year transition grant was allocated to each of the centres as part of 
the handover process, this was a tapering grant. Which involved depletion 
over the five year handover period. Northampton Borough Council retains 
responsibility for all external repairs. Internal repairs are the responsibility 
of the management organisation.  
 
Suitable Community Groups are given the opportunity to submit an 
application for the management of a Community Centre(s). Existing 
Management Committees are given first refusal for Community 
Centre(s) that they currently manage. 
This process was adopted. All of the community centres are managed by 
local community/management organisations.  
 
Where appropriate, Community Groups taking on the management 
role of the Community Centres, the Council or other partners provide 
a grant towards running costs, with the proviso that the Groups work 
in partnership with the Council to achieve community outcomes. 
In addition to the tapering grant, highlighted in section 6.1.4, the community 
centre management organisations have been extremely successful in 
securing funding from external funding providers to deliver community 
outcomes, including the Big Lottery and the Home Office.  
 
The centres have also secured funding from Northampton Borough Council 
pots, including the partnership grant, small grants and Cllr community 
funding.  
 
 
 
 

258



 24 

Northampton Borough Council works with Community Groups that 
take on the management of a Community Centre regarding the 
employment of a Centre Coordinator and/or Centre Manager. 
 
The Community Safety and Engagement Team facilitate a community 
centre forum, which brings the management organisations together on a 
quarterly basis.  
 
The terms of reference for the group include: 
 
- To encourage the active participation of the local community in the 
involvement of the community centres,  
-  Ensure that the community centre facilities are promoted and their use is 
encouraged, 
-  To meet a minimum of four times a year to discuss the issues that face 
the community centres,  
- To provide an active line of communication for the community centre 
management organisations, amongst each other and between 
Northampton Borough Council and Voluntary Impact Northamptonshire  
- Co-ordinate activities and maximise opportunities to work in partnership 
- To Identify and pursue sources of funding for community centres, where 
appropriate completing funding applications.   
 

The Council works with Management Committees to ensure that the 
Community Centres meet the needs of the Community. 
 
The Community Safety and Engagement Team work with the community 
centre management organisations. In 2015 we applied for Home Office 
funding to be part the ‘Our Place’ programme. Our Place was a national 
initiative launched by the Department of Communities and Local 
Government, which aimed to empower local people within their 
neighbourhoods to have a role in decision making and in shaping local 
services and facilities. For Northampton, Our Place involved a series of 
consultation and engagement activities and events which were focused 
around 7 of Northampton's community centres. This involved us working 
closely with the centres to carry out consultation with local residents, 
businesses and partners, to identify what the community wanted from the 
centres. We were able to use the feedback to identify gaps in service and 
recruit a number of volunteers. Further information can be found within the 
operational plan;  
 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/7955/our-place-
operational-plan 
 
A Policy, containing particular components such as an Equality 
Impact Assessment, Health and Safety issues, Terms of Access, 
booking and contact details to be clearly visible from the outside of 
the building, details of the condition in which the Community Centre 
should be left when the hirer has concluded its session, be 
introduced and issued to all Community Centres. The Policy is 
renewed on an annual basis. 
 

259

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/7955/our-place-operational-plan
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/7955/our-place-operational-plan


 25 

All of the above are requirements within the lease and management 
agreement, which each of the community centre management 
organisations have signed up to.  
 
Monitoring of the management of Community Centres is introduced, 
using management tools. 
An annual review with each of the centres is carried out, there is a robust 
template which all the centres have completed, which identifies any areas 
for improvement/gaps and the opportunities to share best practice across 
the centres.  
 
Cabinet considers, within appropriate resources, a method of 
promoting and marketing Community Centres. 
Contact details for each of the centres, including links to their own websites 
is available on Northampton Borough Councils website. 
 
Centre Coordinators are responsible for a particular Community 
Centre/clusters of Community Centres to encourage ownership. 
The management of the centres has been handed over completely to the 
community centre management organisations.  
 
Community Centres are available for hire seven days a week. 
The usage of the community centres varies, where there is the demand for 
use, the community centres are open seven days a week.  
 
A review of the fees and charges for Northampton Borough Council 
managed Community Centres is undertaken. 
The fees and charges for the community centres varies in accordance with 
geographical boundaries and the facilities on offer.  
 
New builds for Community Centres achieve the same standard, or 
better, of the design of the floor space, accessibility and layout of 
Parklands and Pastures Community Centres. 
St Crispins Community Centre is an exemplar, the building provides a 
multi-purpose space, with a high technical specification, it’s very accessible 
and comprises of all the facilities and more, that are available at both 
Parklands and the Pastures.   
 
The market leading nature of the programme was recognised in 2013 by 
being shortlisted for three awards – from LGC, APSE and CfPS. In 
addition, the programme continues to be used as an exemplar case study 
by Locality/Asset Transfer Unit, NCVO and by Community Matters. 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Northamptonshire Alcohol Strategy 
(2010/2011) 
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations 

260



 26 

 
Northamptonshire Alcohol Strategy 2010-11 
  

 Data from the Health Survey for England shows that 10.6% of adults in 
Northamptonshire (ages 18+) abstain from drinking alcohol (2011-14). This 
is significantly below the England average of 15.5%.  

 19.6% of adults in Northamptonshire reported binge drinking (i.e. 6 or more 
units for women or 8 or more units for men) on their heaviest drinking day, 
which was statistically similar to the national average of 16.5%.  

 27.9% of adults in Northamptonshire reported drinking over 14 units of 
alcohol a week, which was statistically similar to the national average of 
25.7%.  

 Public Health England estimates of dependent drinkers published in 2017 
show that Northamptonshire is expected to have an alcohol dependent 
population of 6,535 people, or 1.18% of the total adult population (95% 
confidence interval 5,004-8,850 individuals, 0.9% to 1.6% of the population).  

 National survey results show that the prevalence of harmful and dependent 
alcohol use in men is greater than that amongst women.  

 A 2016 national study of smoking, drinking and drug use in secondary 
school pupils aged 11 to 15 found that 5.8% of respondents were drinking at 
least once a week. This would be equivalent to 2,457 young people aged 11 
to 15 in Northamptonshire, based on mid-2016 population estimates. A total 
of 18%, equivalent to 7,625 young people locally, were drinking alcohol at 
least once per month.  

 In Northamptonshire, an average of 6.5 litres of alcohol were sold per adult 
aged 18 and over through the off licence trade in 2014. This was 
significantly higher than the national average of 5.5 litres per adult and the 
East Midlands average of 5.6 litres per adult.  

 Adjusting for the estimated proportion of abstainers in the population, 
Northamptonshire’s sales volume is equivalent to roughly 14 units per week; 
in other words, local off-trade purchases alone are enough to account for 
each drinker on average consuming the recommended weekly limit of 
alcohol.  

 At district level, Northampton and Wellingborough had the highest sales 
volumes at 7.6 litres per adult, which was significantly higher than the 
national average. Daventry had the lowest at 4.2 litres per adult, which was 
significantly below the national average.  

 

 The following recommendations were specifically detailed within the report 
and formed an action plan, the actions are highlighted in bold and the 
updates are provided below: 
 

1. Increased Involvement of Schools in Raising Awareness of Alcohol 
- 50.3% of assaults took place on the street and 10.8% took place in 

licenced premises. While the majority of assaults were unarmed, there 
were 78 cases involving glass/bottle weapons, of which 64 (82.1%) 
involved alcohol and 33 (42.3%) took place in licensed premises. There 
were also 88 assaults with knives, of which 33 (37.5%) involved alcohol. 
Knife crime training/awareness, being delivered in all our secondary 

261



 27 

schools, colleges and university in the borough, the use of alcohol and 
connection to violence is highlighted.  

- Northampton Community Safety Partnership is also holding regular 
primary school conferences, to educate our year 6’s about the Town’s 
community safety priorities, there could be an opportunity to consider 
alcohol harm and substance misuse as part of this, Community Safety & 
Engagement Manager will explore this further.  

 
2. Increase alcohol treatment referrals, and advice provided by GPs 
NBC have established a closer working partnership with Public Health. Through 
NCC the following services are commissioned in relation to treatment: 
 

- In 2017/18, substance misuse treatment services were recommissioned, 
with the new contracts commencing on 1 April 2018. The 
recommissioning process did not result in any changes to the service 
providers, which are as follows: 
 
1. Structured treatment provided by Change, Grow, Live (CGL) 
2. Adult recovery support services provided by the Bridge Substance 

Misuse Programme (Bridge) 
3. Young people’s services provided by Aquarius YP 

- As part of the new contracts, CGL will provide all structured treatment for 
substance misuse, including young people with severe addictions 
(previously, CGL were an adults only service). CGL will also have 
oversight of treatment provided by the Youth Offending Service. Aquarius 
YP will be moving towards a community based early intervention 
approach for young people who require long term support but are not 
severely addicted or offending. 

- In 2017/18, CGL provided structured treatment for 863 adults for whom 
alcohol was their only problem substance, a decrease of 15.6% from 
1,023 in 2016/17. 

-  For the reporting period up to the end of March 2018, the PHOF 
indicator for successful completion of alcohol treatment shows that 
38.1% of Northamptonshire clients receiving structured treatment for 
alcohol misuse successfully completed treatment and did not return to 
services within 6 months. This is similar to the national average of 
38.6%. 

- In 2017/18, Bridge provided recovery support for 581 adults for whom 
alcohol was their only problem substance, a decrease of 10.5% from 649 
in 2016/17. Of these, 363 did not access structured treatment at CGL 
during the year. 

- The majority of clients treated by Aquarius YP for problematic alcohol 
use have concurrent drug misuse issues, with cannabis and alcohol 
being the predominant combination of substances. Out of 173 young 
people who accessed services in 2017/18 citing alcohol misuse, only 32 
(18.5%) had alcohol as their only problem substance. 

 
3. More effective use  of licensing powers to promote education, 

awareness and sensible consumption 
 
- Best Bar None Awards relaunched, awards event to take place 

November 2018 

262



 28 

- Positive promotion of successful enforcement activities continues – 
Northants Police and NBC licensing, continue to work together and are 
co-located.  

- Although there is no licensing objective around Public Health, it is still 
possible to use health data to inform licensing decisions. Since mid-
2016, Northamptonshire Public Health & Wellbeing have been working 
more closely with Licensing Authorities and other Responsible 
Authorities to monitor and respond to alcohol licensing applications in the 
county in order to try and mitigate the potential risks to communities that 
may arise from introducing new outlets in areas with high levels of 
existing alcohol related harms. 

- In 2017/18, there were 94 applications for licences for the sale of alcohol 
in Northamptonshire. Public Health conditions were placed on 15 of 
these licences through informal discussion with the applicant and 
subsequent agreement from the Licensing Authority. Public Health have 
also provided evidence to support two licence reviews requested by the 
Police. 

- Northampton Borough Council are considering the possibility of 
establishing a Cumulative Impact Policy in central Northampton, which 
would allow the Licensing Authority to limit the growth of licensed 
premises in a specific area where the night-time economy places a high 
burden on public services. Public Health data has been included in the 
evidence base for choosing the area for the proposed Cumulative Impact 
Policy and Public Health will be involved in any reviews of local licensing 
policies that follow. 
 

4. Support discretionary industry schemes which promote positive 
culture towards sensible drinking 
 
- Continue to promote Pubwatch and encourage members to join and 

engage with the Best Bar none initiative. 
- Town Centre Task Group – which feeds into the Community Safety 

Partnership – meeting six weekly, focus is on the Town Centre, includes 
all partners that have an interest in improving the Town, both during the 
day and evening. Includes, Northants Police, Licensing Teams, ASB 
Team, Town Centre BID, CCTV, Street Pastors and the University of 
Northampton 

 
5. Broaden the scope of health and non-specialist agencies in raising 

awareness of alcohol related health and harm 
 
- Northamptonshire Public Health & Wellbeing have data sharing 

agreements with Corby Urgent Care Centre and the Accident and 
Emergency departments at Northampton and Kettering General 
Hospitals relating to assault presentations as per national information 
standards. In 2017/18, a total of 1,709 assaults were recorded across the 
three sites. This was a decrease of 5.0% compared to 2016/17, when 
there were 1,799 assaults recorded. The data collected and used to 
inform training and awareness raising.  

- Frontline officers across NBC and the partnership have received training, 
provided by Aquarius, specific to alcohol and substance misuse.  

 

263



 29 

6. Raise awareness of alcohol consumption and harm across the town 
 
- Messages communicated as part of other campaigns, including; Town 

Centre six week operation – 24 November – 4 January and our ‘Night’s 
Out Campaign’. 

- Amplitude Media campaign has been widened to include newest 
projects, including the Safer Routes home initiative and the Taxi-
Marshalling scheme. Road side boards have been updated with 
campaign material, contact cards have been given to the taxi’s and taxi 
marshals to disseminate. University have mirror frames and materials for 
the student union. 

 
7. Build on and develop partnership approaches to addressing alcohol 

related crime and disorder 
 
- Taxi-Marshalling scheme pilot running. Two taxi marshals, working on Fri 

and Sat evenings, during bank holidays and pay weekends. Encouraging 
and supporting people to get home quickly and safely. 

- Safer routes home initiative launched in September, the identified route 
can be seen at 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/10521/safer-route-home  

- WASH (Welfare and Safety Hub) based at the Platform (student union), a 
safe space for people that find themselves vulnerable on a Fri/Sat eve or 
during the week on student nights.  

 
8. Reduce incidents of alcohol related crime and disorder within the night 

time economy 

 

- Northampton General Hospital saw the vast majority of assault patients 

(82.4%) and the data identifies areas and premises in Northampton town 

centre that are linked to the night-time economy as assault hot-spots. 

The peak time for assaults was Sunday mornings between 0:00 and 

3:00. The data is used by officers to direct projects and initiatives that are 

working to tackle alcohol related crime and disorder in the night time 

economy, including community safety initiatives and licensing 

enforcement.  

- Enforcement of the PSPO – confiscation of alcohol 

- Funding provided to continue the support to the Street Pastor project, 

volunteers continue to work pay weekends and bank holidays in the 

Town Centre 

 
Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Hate Crime Reporting (2010/2011) 
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 
Recommendations 
 

Hate Crime 2011-12 
The purpose of the Review was to ensure that the approach to dealing with 

hate crime is embedded and responded to within Northampton Borough 
Council (NBC). 

264

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/downloads/file/10521/safer-route-home


 30 

 
The following recommendations were specifically detailed within the report, 

updates are provided for each of the recommendations: 
 
That details of intervention be incorporated into the case management 

of the hate crime process.  
NBC has a very clear reporting process, including a standard form, which 

collates the relevant information required to investigate a reported incident. 
This can be accessed via our website, which also provides a clear definition of 
what hate crime is 
https://selfserve.northampton.gov.uk/Ef3/General.jsp?form=JaduSSHateCrime&page=pageInstructions  

 
NBC has signed up to a County wide set of Hate Reduction Service 

Standards, to not only ensure a consistent response, but to ensure that 
victims are at the centre to our response to hate crime, these include:  

 
o Each complaint will be investigated and taken seriously. 
o All information you give us will be treated in confidence and in 

accordance with data protection legislation. 
o Our staff will be trained to give you the correct advice. 
o A risk assessment will be completed to help identify vulnerable and 

repeat victims. 
o We will respond to high risk incidents within one working day. 
o We will respond to non-high risk incidents within 5 day working days. 
o You will be informed who the lead organisation will be and be 

provided with appropriate support. The lead organisation will work with 
partners and other service providers where necessary. 

 

 You will have a single point of contact (SPOC) within the lead 
organisation dealing with your hate incident and be provided with their contact 
details. 

 We will ideally resolve the complaint to your satisfaction, through the 
compliance of an agreed action plan produced with consideration of the full 
range of actions available. 

 We will support you in collecting evidence to enable positive action to 
be taken. We will regularly review this information and explain what action is 
to be taken and why. 

 We will keep you informed about your case and provide updates 
within timescales agreed with you. 

 We will contact you via telephone, text, e-mail, and letter or in person 
as agreed with you. 

 We will monitor your satisfaction with the way we have dealt with your 
case. 

 The lead agency will ask the court for special measures for vulnerable 
or intimidated victims and witnesses where appropriate. 

 We will make a referral to the witness service if appropriate during 
criminal proceedings. 

 Where appropriate, we will keep communities informed of what is 
happening within their neighbourhood through a range of means including 
street briefings, newsletters and leaflet distribution. 

 We will promote another route if you are not satisfied with the 
outcome. 

265

https://selfserve.northampton.gov.uk/Ef3/General.jsp?form=JaduSSHateCrime&page=pageInstructions


 31 

 
That Cabinet instructs Officers to publish an Annual Report of Hate 

Crime Reporting. The Annual Report should include: 
• Overview of reported hate crime over the 12 month period 
• Information and statistics around the incidents of hate crime. 
• Map of hot spots of incidents of hate crime 
 
Reduction of Hate Crime is a priority for Northampton Community Safety 

partnership, specifically the focus is on: 
 
- Preventing incidents of Hate Crime 
- Delivering targeted interventions to raise awareness of Hate Crime, 

encouraging reporting 
 
There has been seen a 12.9% reduction in hate crime reports in the last 12 

months. The Community Safety & Engagement Manager receives a statistical 
report every month. This report helps to shape activity of the CSP.    

 
That the Council’s Awareness Training on the reporting of Hate Crime 

be an integral part of the Councillor Induction Programme and refresher 
training be programmed into Councillor Development Programme on an 
annual basis. 

 
Regular training programmed in for Cllrs, specific refresher training for Cllrs 

who need additional training as part of their Cllr role, i.e. training for CEFAP 
grant panel members.  

 
That the Council’s Awareness Training on the reporting of Hate Crime 

be an integral part of the Staff Induction Programme. Cabinet instructs 
that annual refresher training is held for all relevant front line staff. 

 
Hate Crime Training is mandatory for all staff 
 
That Northampton Borough Council appoints a Councillor as a Hate 

Crime Reporting Champion. 
 
Councillor Anna King has the portfolio for Hate Crime and is the Councillor 

Champion.  
 
That the Leader of the Council, together with the Councillor Hate Crime 

Reporting Champion, approaches Partners regarding the most effective 
way of ensuring hate crime reporting across Agencies. 

 
There is a countywide hate crime and anti-social behaviour strategy, which 

all the statutory partners are signed up to. Actions are taken collectively to 
ensure we give out a consistent message, with regards to how and where 
people can report incidents. The below is consistent with other local 
authorities and the police (this is in addition to reporting directly to NBC):  

 
Call 101 to report directly to the police, or 999 if a crime is in progress: 
 
•True Vision 

266



 32 

•VOICE by calling 0300 303 1965 or sending them an email at 
info@voicenorthants.org 

•Crimestoppers anonymously by calling 0800 555 111 or visit their website 
•Northampton Inter-Faith Forum (Crane Project): 07757 020346 or email 

contact@niff.org.uk 
•Northamptonshire Rights and Equality Council: 01604 400808 or 01604 

400809. 
The Police’s Hate Crime Officer and Community Engagement Officers are 

based at the Guildhall, they work very closely with NBC’s Community Safety & 
Engagement Team.  

 
The Community Safety & Engagement Manager attends the Hate Crime 

Panel Review meetings, which take place bi-monthly, looking at individual 
cases and partner’s responses, they are designed to be learning review 
exercises.  

 
That the Councillor Champion contacts the Keep Safe Group regarding 

potential opportunities where the Key Safe Group could work with the 
Council and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
The Police Crime Commissioners Office has funded a project worker to 

promote the Keep Safe Scheme, NBC are signed up to the scheme and 
working closely with the project officer. We recently used our Hate Crime 
Week of Action – held between 13-21 October to promote the scheme.  

 
That to increase awareness in communities of hate crime/incidents and 

how to report, alternative methods of publicising reporting of hate crime 
mechanisms be introduced, such as, being included at events held at 
public locations, information provided to various community groups and 
organisations, details in the local media. 

 
Through the community forums, we have made great attempts to encourage 

the reporting of hate crime, the youth forum completed a lot of work in 
promoting the initiative ‘stamp out hate crime’ and more recently we funded 
the Crane Project, which involved Northampton Inter Faith Forum providing 
awareness around reporting, promoting and encouraging third party reporting 
centres (including the community forums and other local community spaces) 
and signing up community champions.  

 
Officers have worked with the taxi drivers to encourage reporting and sent 

messages out through Pubwatch in the night-time economy.  Held a schools 
conference on 9 October, 180 year 7 students attended and received training 
on various subjects, one of which was hate crime.  Officers  use National Hate 
Crime week, training and awareness programmes for frontline staff and 
nominated co-ordinators, posters, display items on notice boards and put 
messages out through team briefings on how and where to report hate crime.  

 
The Council has recently launched our Equality Allies project and we use 

events such as IDAHO, Holocaust Memorial Day, Srebrenica, International 
Men’s Day, International Women’s Day and International Day for Person’s 
with a Disability, held throughout the year to bring our communities together, 
there is always an underlying theme to improve community cohesion, our aim 

267



 33 

is to promote understanding and to celebrate difference amongst our 
communities.  

 
That in May 2013 a case study be prepared on the process and 
effectiveness of the changes that have been made to Hate Crime 
reporting. 

 
It could not be confirmed whether this recommendation was completed, 
however the evidence presented within this report, hopefully reassures the 
panel, that there has been and continues to be a huge commitment to 
improving the reporting pathways for hate crime. NBC was commended for its 
efforts towards tackling hate crime and raising awareness amongst our 
communities in 2016, when it won the National Hate Crime Award.  

 
Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Serious Acquisitive Crime and Community 
Safety  (2010/2011) 
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 

Recommendations 
 
The purpose of the Review was to; 
 
• To investigate, as a benchmark, Northampton's crime statistics in relation to 
serious acquisitive and violent crime 
• To identify `hotspots' in relation to serious acquisitive and violent crime 
• To identify the impact that serious acquisitive crime and violent crime has on 
the residents of Northampton 
• To identify the serious acquisitive crime and violent crime issues that 
Northampton Borough Council, in partnership with other Agencies, can have 
an impact upon 
 
The following recommendations were specifically detailed within the report, 
updates are provided for each of the recommendations: 
 
Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 
 
A funding pot is identified to provide target hardening for properties that 
are located within hot spot areas. 
 
A target hardening budget has been identified every year since the report was 
written. This year £10,000 has been allocated to support vulnerable victims, 
referrals for assessment are filtered through the Crime Prevention Team, to 
ensure a full assessment is carried out on the property.  
 
Northampton Borough Council ensures active engagement with the 
Troubled Families Agenda. 
 
The Troubled Families programme has been absorbed into the Early Help 
provision, within NCC. Through our multi-agency case management meetings 
(HASBAG and Cuckooing meetings) we are regularly engaging with the Early 
Help Team.  

268



 34 

NBC have just signed an agreement with the Home Office, to work with 
Free2Talk to deliver a youth based, mentoring project in the Town, to support 
young people 10-17 who are involved in youth violence and gangs.  
 
Prior to any physical works being undertaken, consideration to long-
term maintenance is given and resources identified. 
 
During the weeks of action, warden patrols and through the neighbourhood 
policing teams, various environmental improvements are picked up, thought is 
always given to any wider or ongoing cost implications before carrying out 
works. The new contract is facilitating some of these discussions.  
 
Councillors are issued with regular updated information on the 
demographics of their wards. 
 
The Community Safety & Engagement Team work closely with the ward Cllrs 
in their areas. There are a couple of websites that are promoted to Cllrs 
regularly, these include:  
https://www.northamptonshireanalysis.co.uk/ and https://www.police.uk/  
 
Housing 
 
Obsolete signs in place around the Council’s housing stock are 
removed and all relevant signage is in situ and is clearly visible. 
 
Completed  
 
An enhanced and responsive maintenance service is implemented in 
“hotspot” areas. 
 
During the weeks of action, warden patrols and through the neighbourhood 
policing teams, various maintenance issues are picked up, these are fed 
through to NPH.  
 
A funding pot is identified to provide target hardening on Council 
properties that are located within hot spot areas. 
All referrals for target hardening, where vulnerable victims have been 
identified are fed through to NPH or social housing providers (if identified), in 
most cases the full recommended works are completed. 
 
Planning/Regeneration 
 
It is ensured that when land or buildings is transferred, it is stipulated 
that the land must be cleared and properly secured. 
 
Ongoing process 
 
Consideration is given to utilising unused open spaces in residential 
areas across the town for public use. 
 
Various examples of additional play equipment installed and community 
spaces/buildings being taken on by community and voluntary organisations.  
 

269

https://www.northamptonshireanalysis.co.uk/
https://www.police.uk/


 35 

Planning continues to work with and seek advice and guidance from the 
Police Architectural Liaison Officer to ensure new developments meet 
‘Design out Crime’ standards. 
 
Police’s Crime Prevention Officer (for Planning) is based at the Guildhall for a 
day a week, providing ongoing advice, i.e. involvement with the new NIA 
School and the relocation of the University of Northampton.  
 
Neighbourhood Wardens 
 
Clarification is given on the role of the Neighbourhood Wardens. This 
information is disseminated to ward Councillors. 
 
Completed 
 
Neighbourhood Wardens undertake annual refresher training on crime 
prevention matters. 
 
Neighbourhood Wardens are kept up to speed with emerging community 
safety priorities and crime prevention. They work closely with the Community 
safety & Engagement Team and the Manager of the Wardens attends the 
CSP meetings.  
 
An on-going professional training and development plan, with specific 
focus on crime prevention and community safety, for Neighbourhood 
Wardens is produced and implemented 
 
The wardens have a full training programme.  
 
Partners and Agencies 
 
Following completion of projects in hotspot locations, an exit plan is 
developed outlining support and maintenance post project, in order that 
the positive results are maintained. 
 
As part of the exit strategy for the weeks of action, a multi-agency partner 
meeting and an associated action plan are developed (this includes activities 
and issues that have risen during the week and the lead up to the week of 
action). The merge of the community safety & engagement team has allowed 
for a wider geographical coverage throughout the whole year.  
 
On-going maintenance budgets are included with any environmental 
improvements such as fencing. 
 
During the completion of funding requests, whether this is for internal capital 
pots or external funding pots, ongoing maintenance is considered and 
budgeted for. We do have exampled where other community and voluntary 
groups have taken on the ongoing maintenance responsibilities.  
 
A directory for young people is developed that provides information on 
services and facilities available to young people. 
 

270



 36 

Voluntary Impact Northamptonshire has a directory of services that are 
searchable on their website, this provides universal coverage. In addition we 
have a more targeted approach, a standard letter which is sent out to parents 
that may have come to the attention of the Anti-Social Behaviour Case 
Managers, which includes the services that are available for young people to 
access or engage with. 
 
There is timelier sharing of data from Accident and Emergency with the 
Community Safety Partnership. This means weekly highlight reports and 
full details on a monthly basis.  
 
A & E data is shared with the CSP quarterly.   
 
A mechanism is introduced to ensure that the Health and Wellbeing 
Board can provide information and feedback to the Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP). 
 
The Board is chaired by NBC 
 
Membership of the CSP be revisited to ensure that it includes all 
relevant Agencies and service areas, including the Voluntary Sector. 
 
The CSP has all the statutory representatives attending, including Health, 
Probation, the Police, PCC’s Office and Fire Service, plus EMAS, YOS, VIN, 
Free2Talk, Care and Repair and many other organisations.  
 
When training/education around crime prevention issues is undertaken, 
consideration is always be given to the audience and the trainer is 
mindful to use appropriate language that is universally understood. 
 
Informal training offered regularly by the community safety & engagement 
team, including pop up stalls, bike marking, personal safety sessions, 
delivered to one stop shop staff and Northampton university students.  
 
Information systems between the Police and local Councillors are 
reviewed and further developed. 
 
Established relationships across the Borough.  
 
Support is given to the Intensive Community Engagement programme 
hosted by Northamptonshire Police. 
 
The initiative has been superseded by the Integrated Offender Management 
programme (IOM), work closely with the police with regards to intensive 
engagement.  
 
Formal links between Enterprise Management Services (EMS) and 
Northampton Borough Council are developed around situational crime 
to ensure faster information sharing and faster responses to dealing 
with service issues, therefore resulting in a positive outcome for the 
community. 
 

271



 37 

Two community engagement officer roles have been recruited to, as part of 
the new contract. Relationships are being established with the community 
safety & engagement team to understand how we can best support one 
another.  
 
Community Forums 
 
Residents Associations, Community Groups and Forums are 
encouraged to use open spaces which in turn will assist in community 
development and ownership of their local areas. 
 
Park Management Committees, encouraging partners to share information 
and work collectively 
 
Northants Probation Service 
 
Northampton Borough Council is built into the Community Pay Back 
Initiative. 
 
Continue to utilise Pay Back in our priority areas.  
 
Police and Crime Commissioner, Northamptonshire 
 
A copy of this report is provided to the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner, Northamptonshire. 
 
Completed 
 
Recommendations to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee be asked to consider the 
inclusion of a Scrutiny Review of Interpersonal Violence in its Work 
Programme for 2013/2014. 
 
Carried forward and completed.  

 
Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Keep Northampton Tidy (2014/2015) 
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Scrutiny Panel report in March 2015 contained a total of twenty five 
recommendations. 
 
Three recommendations were made regarding the promotion of the use of the NBC 
“Report It” app.  The app is now widely used and it is currently being updated to 
integrate with the functionality of the new website and enhance the reporting 
capability.  The app is to be relaunched with increased publicity and residents and 
members are strongly encouraged to use this as their main channel to report 
issues when out and about. 
 

272



 38 

Recommendations around fly posting have been implemented, Neighbourhood 
Wardens have access to stickers which can be used to indicate cancellation of 
posters. Extensive use is being made of new powers available under antisocial 
behaviour legislation to require the removal of posters and an updated graffiti and 
fly posting policy is currently being drafted which will further clarify responsibility for 
removal. 
 
Recommendations were made about the provision of portable ashtrays, signage 
about pigeons and chewing gum boards.  Some portable ashtrays have been 
provided funded by the bid.  Some signage has been provided at specific locations 
and chewing gum boards are not considered to be a practical solution. 
 
The recommendation about the use of highway planters has been implemented. 
A motion was presented to Council this month about steps to remove shopping 
trolleys and it is proposed to bring a scheme to recover trolleys and recharge 
supermarkets into place early in 2019. 
 
New powers under anti-social behaviour legislation are being used to deal with 
waste from commercial and domestic properties. 
 
The new environmental services and environmental enforcement contracts have a 
key part to play working alongside the people of Northampton to make the town a 
more pleasant place to live and work. 
 
Consideration has been given to the gating of alleyways and jettys in the town.  
One alleyway at Marble Arch has been gated using a Public Spaces Protection 
Order and investigations in relation to other alleys have demonstrated that gating is 
not a practical solution in certain specific cases 
 
Information on community clean ups is included on the Council’s website and will 
be included on the new updated site. 
 
Investigations of the effectiveness of kangaroo runs have been carried out.  These 
initiatives have been used in specific operations.  The new environmental services 
contract includes enhanced arrangements for the collection of fly tipping and this 
together with increased enforcement is beginning to have a noticeable impact. 
 
Junior Warden Schemes continue in a range of schools around the town and have 
communicated positive environmental messages to a large number of children.  
Community clean up initiatives have involved a wide range of young people in 
making a measurable difference to their areas. 
 
Contact has been made with the Highway authority and Highways Agency to 
facilitate improved coordination of grass cutting, clean ups and road closures.  
Dialogue is ongoing in relation to gateways to the town. 
 
Purple Flag accreditation was achieved in 2018. 
 
There is an enhanced understanding of the importance of the three aspects of 
contract, community and enforcement to ensure the delivery of a cleaner 
Northampton. Coordination of budget planning is undertaken to ensure effective 
spending on the cleanliness of the town.   
 

273



 39 

Overview and Scrutiny Report:  Public Engagement and Communications 
(2006/2007) 
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 
Recommendations 
 
Following a referral from Northampton Borough Council’s Improvement Board, the 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee was asked to review the way that the 
Council consulted with and engaged its citizens. 
 
The following recommendations were specifically detailed within the report, 
updates are provided for each of the recommendations: 
 
Recommendations: 
 
For ease of delivery, the following series of recommendations are grouped in 
specific areas: - 
 

Management and Resources 
 
Northampton Borough Council identifies a member of staff, from the 

Communication or Community Development Service Area, with specific 

responsibility for consultation for the Council. 

Community Safety and Community Engagement Team work very closely with 
the Communications Team.  
 
There is a need for a budget for providing advice on consultation. Each 

service area must provide for consultation in its own budgets. The 

relevant budgetary measures should be allocated in the next budget 

process. 

Support has been provided to services, utilising both internal and external 
support with consultation. A good recent example includes the environmental 
services contract, more than 9,000 residents consulted.   
 
All consultation exercises should be planned to include feedback to the 

participants. 

The feedback from consultation and engagement is captured in a number of 
ways, utilising various channels, including the council’s social media platforms 
and community forums. 
 
The costs and benefits of these exercises should be calculated in full 

before the process starts. 

Inclusive within project/budget manager costs. 
 
Information and Co-Ordination 
 
    All consultation data and the results of analysis should be accessible 
from a central source 
Available on Northampton Borough Council’s website: 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations  
 

274

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations


 40 

The outcomes of all consultations should be made available to all 
services. 
 Available on Northampton Borough Council’s website: 
https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations  
 
Systems and Protocols 
 
Appropriate corporate consultation mechanisms should be in place by 
the autumn to give the Council meaningful results. A baseline should be 
established in order that progress can be monitored. 
Consultations are monitored corporately.  
 
Northampton Borough Council should adopt an effective consultation 
protocol to circulate internally and externally within the Council. A 
starting draft has been produced by this Task and Finish Group.   
Protocol adopted and on the intranet. 
 
 A Corporate Policy and implementation process on consultation and 
engagement should be produced. 
Consultation and engagement policy was produced. 
 
The proforma used at the Focus Group sessions should be adapted so 
that it can be used generically within the Council. 
This may have been used initially, cannot find any evidence to suggest it is 
still being used, twelve years later.  
 
The results of consultations need to be built in to decision making, 
service planning and priority setting processes in the Council. 
Good examples of consultations that are built into service planning, including 
environmental services contract, budget consultation and the local area plan.  
 
Northampton Borough Council should make use of neighbourhood 
working for consultation processes and wider working potential. 
Community Safety and Engagement Team and the Neighbourhood Wardens 
are able to support community engagement and consultation, working at a 
neighbourhood level, ensuring services are influenced by the community. For 
example, consultations with regards to play equipment. 
 
Plain language should be used in all Council documents in order that 
any member of the public is able to access Council material. 
House style guide has been produced, to make sure that everything we write 
is clear and easy to understand. Whether it is a letter to a member of the 
public, a committee report for members or a leaflet for all, clarity and 
consistency can be ensured.  
 
It would be helpful for a guidance to be produced on Council and Local 
Authority terminology. 
 House style guide has been produced, to make sure that everything we write 
is clear and easy to understand. Whether it is a letter to a member of the 
public, a committee report for members or a leaflet for all, clarity and 
consistency can be ensured.  
 

275

https://www.northampton.gov.uk/info/200024/consultations


 41 

Councillors should be supported in their role liaising between the 
Council and the community and be provided with appropriate means 
and methods for feeding back the outcomes of consultations in their 
communities. 
As suggested previously all current and closed consultations are available on 
the internet, regular press releases are issued and ward Cllrs will work closely 
with the officers from the Community Safety and Engagement Team and 
Neighbourhood Wardens, often getting involved in the shaping of the 
consultation and engagement.  
 
Engagement with Diverse Communities 
 
Current methods of consultation should be supplemented with other 
mechanisms to reach a larger and more diverse population allowing 
citizens to initiate or add to the debate. For example – Community 
Groups could be encouraged and supported to bring issues, concerns 
and ideas directly to the Council. 
Northampton Borough Council supports and administers six community 
forums, representing the following protected characteristics, young people, 
older people, LGBT, faith/ethnic background, disability and gender. The 
forums are well represented and attended not only by members of the 
community, but by organisations that are representing larger service users. 
Services within the Council attend the forums as means to consult, as well as 
partners, such as NHFT, Northants Police and Northamptonshire County 
Council.  
 
A corporate brand that helps Northampton Borough Council to bring 
consistency and inspire confidence should be developed. 
Northampton Borough Council has a well-recognised brand, corporately, the 
same templates, logo, colours, format etc are all utilised when communicating 
with the community and stakeholders. Social media platforms and various 
media channels all utilised.  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Reports:  Customer Services 2008/2009 and 2012/2013 
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 
Recommendations 
 
To evaluate the success of investments made in Customer Services since 
2005 
 
The purpose of the Review was to: 
 

 To review Customer Services throughout Northampton Borough Council 
between November 2008 and April 2009. 

 To look at our Call Centre, One Stop Shop and Housing Offices with the aim 
of improving Customer Services. 

 
The following recommendations were specifically detailed within the report, 
updates are provided for each of the recommendations: 
 
 

276



 42 

Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 
 
In order to ascertain whether a good Customer Service Facility is being 
provided by Northampton Borough Council, benchmarking against the 
family group be undertaken. 
 
Northampton Borough Council are a member of the LACCF (Local Authority 
Council Forums) Benchmarking group. This enables us to benchmark again 
other authorities of similar size.   We are currently looking into a survey for 
customers to complete and upon receiving feedback these will be submitted 
and these results produced identifying averages and trends. The LACCF have 
over 35 members and these include Kettering borough, Derbyshire, Coventry, 
Corby, Warrington, Walsall and Wolverhampton. 
 
 
A cost saving exercise regarding the number of leaflets produced be 
undertaken and consideration given to alternatives such as information 
made available electronically and the installation of plasma screens in 
the One Stop Shop to display relevant information. 
 
Information displayed on the screens in the One Stop Shop is relevant to 
services provided. 
 
A higher promotion of customer focus throughout the whole Authority 
be introduced by promoting the Customer Excellence Strategy 2009-
2012.   
 
This was implemented and promoted. 
 
The complaints Policy Procedure be updated. 
 
The complaints procedure has been updated. 
 
The Customer Services Leaflets and Customer Feedback forms be 
updated and contain Officers’ posts rather than the inclusion of Officers’ 
names.   
These were all updated and the majority of our feedback and forms are now 
electronic due to changes in customer demand. 
 
In depth training for all Customer Services Staff be strengthened, in 
particular training for staff on how to deal with job related stresses. 
Customer Services Training is completed each year. A specialised trainer has 
spent time with the team identifying the training needs and listening to calls to 
enable the delivery of bespoke training. Last year it was a half day training but 
due to the feedback this year we have arranged a whole day enabling staff to 
put the learning into practice. The four days training took place over 
November and December 2018. This training is designed to give and enhance 
skills to identify and resolve conflict reducing stresses for both the customer 
and employees. In addition, there is an escalation process where difficult 
contacts can be escalated to a Manager to deal with, this again helps reduce 
the pressure on the frontline staff. As part of the Mental Health Concordat, we 
are looking at additional training and partnership working to help increase 
resilience. 

277



 43 

 
The front desk based in the One Stop Shop deals with simple queries 
such as receiving customer’s additional paperwork and completed 
forms. 
The front desk can direct customer enquiries to the relevant department and 
advise further.  In addition, they are now supported by floor walkers. 
 
A Health and Safety report for Clintonville House be produced for 
environmental issues such as the lighting, heating and air conditioning 
systems, along with the cleanliness of the premise. 
The customer services team are no longer situated in Clintonville House - We 
are currently completing Health and Safety assessments for each Service 
area of the Council. This includes reviewing risk assessments where 
environmental concerns would be highlighted. Our Health and Safety, safety 
and wellbeing assistant is looking at Environmental solutions which include 
possible alternative light bulbs and blinds. 
 
The Task and Finish Group informs Cabinet of its support for the 
introduction of an automated queuing system at the One Stop Shop at 
Northampton Borough Council. 
This system was implemented following the recommendation. 
 
A team from Customer Services be set up to work with managers to 
draw up Service Level Agreements around customer focus. 
SLAs were drawn up accordingly. 
 
The provision of Council documents are translated into formats suitable 
for a range of disabled customers be strengthened, by offering the 
facility of tapes or compact discs of requested Council documents being 
provided to those such customers.  
Translation services are provided utilising free online services. 
 
Customer Services Officers be allocated sufficient time to keep up to 
date with ‘Regulatory changes’ using the new computer trainer system. 
Time continues to be allocated to staff to keep up to date with online training 
courses. 
 
A questionnaire be sent to customers after complaint resolution, all 
Services be sent a copy on which to comment. 
Surveys are sent to customers using the online system to gain feedback. 
 
All Councillors be reminded to use the Councillor Contact Centre rather 
than contacting individual departments/services. This is necessary to 
ensure that accurate information about the service provision is 
provided. 
Customer Services Staff are trained to remind Councillors to use the 
Councillor Contact Centre when reporting or making enquiries.  On a regular 
basis, the Customer Services Manager sends a reminder and will spend time 
with any councillors who need support. 
 
Training for Councillors on how to use Councillor Contact Centre and 
the whole Customer Services Process be given. 
This is ongoing as above. 

278



 44 

 
It be recommended to the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee that a Review of all Council core documents and leaflets be 
added to the Work Programme for 2009/2010. The purpose of the Review 
would be to ensure that all documents are produced in plain English and 
follow the same corporate style. 
This was actioned and a further review of communications and a 
communications plan was completed in November 2018. 
 
That resources be allocated for the provision of uniforms for frontline 
Customer Services Officers, identifying a corporate image. Staff be 
consulted on the style of the uniform.  
Customer Services uniforms have been provided for front line staff, this 
identifies the corporate image.  Ever since this recommendation, staff 
continue to be provided annually with uniforms and feedback is very positive 
 
Evaluation of O&S Reports Customer Services (2012 report) 
 
The purpose of the Review was to; 
 
To evaluate all customer services with a review of the Customer Contact 
Centre, customer satisfaction and the refurbished and extended One Stop 
Shop. 
The following recommendations were specifically detailed within the report, 
updates are provided for each of the recommendations: 
 
Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 
 
That funding for improved signage both outside and inside the Guildhall 
be made available, particularly in relation to signs for housing and 
registrars; with a particular focus on the improvement of signage 
around the old building of the Guildhall. 
Signage has been improved both inside and outside the Guildhall. 
 
That floor walkers, located in the One Stop Shop, be provided with a 
uniform that makes them and their role clearly identifiable to customers. 
Floor walkers have been provided with uniforms that make them identifiable to 
customers. 
 
That funding for additional uniforms for front line Customer Services 
Officers be investigated. 
Uniforms have been provided for front line Customer Services Officers and 
continues to be included in the annual budget. 
 
That the uniforms provided for front line Customer Services Officers 
identify the corporate image of the Council. 
The uniforms that have been provided do identify the corporate image of the 
Council.  Customer and staff feedback is exceptionally positive. 
 
That the plasma screens in situ in the One Stop Shop be utilised to 
broadcast news channels which can be done at no extra cost to the 
Council.   

279



 45 

The screens are used for a wide range of advertising of supporting partner 
services as well as public service announcements. 
 
That those departments not currently delivered through Customer 
Services, such as Planning, Building Control and Licensing be brought 
into Customer Services for “first contact”, to apply customer services 
skills, to enable the channel shift strategy to be fully applied to 
calls/visits in relation to these departments. 
Licensing services have been shifted to online only, therefore Customer 
Services provide support to customers to access.  Planning and building 
control are dealt with directly by those services areas with support for online 
and face to face access provided by Customer Services staff. 
 
That, with a particular focus on the entrances and exits, the layout of the 
One Stop Shop be altered to improve customer flow and further support 
channel shift. 
The One Stop Shop has been improved over the years and now incorporates 
a Police Desk, Partners surgeries and telephone and computer access.  The 
flooring was all replaced during 2018 and channel shift continues to increase. 
 
That funding is identified for a further automatic ticketing machine to 
support the improved layout and increase the number of floor walkers. 
Ticketing machines are in place to maintain the ongoing Customer Services 
system.  The Floor walkers are assisted with handheld devices to record, 
support and direct customers. 
 
That in order to reduce the time the process takes, the volume of 
evidence requested from customers in relation to housing applications 
is reduced and evidence is only sought upon offer of accommodation to 
validate the information given.   
Following feedback from the Housing Service, this was not possible as the 
team require that all housing applicants provide as much information as 
possible to start with to ensure that they are eligible.  This is an area which 
could possibly be improved by reviewing the current processes again. 
 
That a project be undertaken to assess the feasibility and cost 
implications of extending hours of the Contact Centre and One Stop 
Shop from 8.30am to 5.30pm, Monday to Friday. 
This was trialled however it was not cost effective as the majority of 
customers accessed during the traditional opening times although on-line 
access has now increased. The Call Care Team take Out of Hours calls when 
the Contact Centre are closed. 
 
That the mystery shopping exercise is repeated, including the Centres 
under the management of the Northampton Leisure Trust, and that in 
order to achieve consistency the same questions should be used and 
repeated on a regular basis.    
The Northampton Leisure Trust undertake customer feedback and mystery 
shopping independently although they do share this with customer services 
and the Head of Customers and Communities is invited to NLT board 
meetings as an observer and the Cabinet Member with responsibility for 
customer services sits on the Board. 
 

280



 46 

That further methods of communication both to and from the Council, 
such as social media sites and short messaging services be 
investigated; with a special focus to pre-empting messaging regarding 
local issues. 
Social media sites are updated regularly and monitored to ensure relevant 
information is being given. 
 
That in recognising that more customers may seek assistance due to 
the current economic climate and a number of changes to the benefits 
system a priority queuing system be introduced.   
Customer Services work very closely with partners including the DWP, 
Community Law and Citizens Advice to ensure that customers requiring 
support are seen in a timely and co-ordinated manner 
 
That the area of the One Stop Shop located around the Planning 
reception desk be better utilised for use by customers.   
This area is now fully utilised for partners supporting a wide range of 
customers. 
 
That it be ensured that Neighbourhood Wardens share all relevant data 
and information with EMS. 
Neighbourhood Wardens have access to relevant data from Waste 
Contractors through the Partnership Unit.  The sharing of information with the 
new contractors, Veolia is ongoing and regularly reviewed. 
 
That a tour of the EMS site be incorporated into the Councillor Induction 
Package so that Councillors are aware of all the processes and 
procedures in place. 
This is yet to be arranged for the new Contractors Veolia and will be 
implemented if this is required. 
 
That tours of the EMS site be arranged for all front line Customer 
Services Officers to further aid them in answering queries and providing 
information to the public. 
Tours are organised for West Bridge Site for Contact Centre and One Stop 
Shop staff that are trained in services relating to the depot. 
 
That Equality and Multi-cultural Awareness continues to have a high 
priority for Induction and on-going training of Customer Services 
Advisors, recognising the skills and knowledge required of Advisors 
dealing with a very diverse range of customers. 
Full training on Equality and Multi-cultural awareness is given for all services 
to ensure staff are dealing correctly with all customers.  Training was provided 
for all teams in October 2018. 
 
That a Protocol be produced for all NBC staff to follow that details clear 
guidelines, including the wearing the appropriate PPE, when visiting the 
site at EMS. 
Appropriate PPE is worn when in the yard and in relevant areas. 
 
That improvements be made to the signage at West Bridge Depot, with a 
particular focus regarding signage for the EMS site. 

281



 47 

New signage was put in place when Veolia took over the waste contract in 
June. 
 
That, where budgets permit, the GPS in-cab system is extended more 
widely to appropriate departments.   
Currently this is shared with Customer Services and the Partnership Unit and 
will continue to be monitored. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Reports:  More Facilities for Older Children 2008/2009   
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 
Recommendations 
 
The purpose of this Review was to investigate the facilities and activities 
(recreational, social and cultural) available for 13-19 year olds, including those with 
special education needs and those with disabilities up to the age of 25 and to 
evaluate whether such facilities and activities are on a paid for or free of charge 
basis. 
 
The following recommendations were specifically detailed within the report, 
updates are provided for each of the recommendations: 
 
Northamptonshire County Council: 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee recommends to 
Cabinet that the following recommendations be forwarded to Northamptonshire 
County Council for consideration:  
 

1. The database of known available activities and facilities for older 

children, aged 13-19 year olds, including those with special 

education needs and those with disabilities up to the age of 25, be 

published on the Council’s website. 

- Information is available on Northamptonshire County Council’s website, 

including what support and help is available for young people in the 

County - https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-

families-education/Pages/default.aspx  

- General youth provision is covered by a database, put together by 

Voluntary Impact Northamptonshire - 

http://www.voluntaryimpact.org.uk/directory/   

- There is a directory of services for children and young people in 

Northamptonshire (aged 0-25) with special educational needs and 

disabilities on the website also - 

https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-

education/send/local-offer/Pages/default.aspx  

2. Contact be made with Faith Communities to confirm the 

accommodation that they have available for activities for young 

people. This information be published on the database of known 

activities. 

- Unable to clarify implementation of the recommendation 

-  

282

https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/Pages/default.aspx
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/Pages/default.aspx
http://www.voluntaryimpact.org.uk/directory/
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/send/local-offer/Pages/default.aspx
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/send/local-offer/Pages/default.aspx


 48 

3. A youth website be set up, catering for this age group. The website 

should detail youth facilities and activities and be attractive and 

engaging to youth to encourage them to use it. The Website should 

include details such as league football, popular music hits, Chat 

with a Councillor, which would give young people further reason to 

use the site 

- Unable to clarify implementation of the recommendation 
 
4. Research has indicated that there appears to be a lack of provision 

of the following facilities and it be recommended that this 

information be forwarded to Northamptonshire County Council 

requesting that it investigates this and be asked to ascertain 

whether resources are available for further such facilities: - 

- There are a lot of activities and facilities available but research has 

indicated that there is a lack of provision of youth clubs and youth cafes 
within the borough. 

- Research has indicated that there is a lack of adult supervision for young 

people’s activities. 

-  There is a lack of facilities for LGB youth, in particular a safe meeting 

place. 

-  

5. It be recommended to Extended Services, Northamptonshire 

County Council, that there needs to be a comprehensive collection 

of information detailing after school activities and the use of school 

sites outside of the curriculum. 

- There has been a noticeable gap in youth provision within the County, 

this has been an issue for a while. 

 
Northampton Borough Council: 
 
The Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee recommends to 
Cabinet that the following recommendations be forwarded to 
Northampton Borough Council for consideration: 
 

6. Other effective communication methods such as leaflets and notice 

boards be investigated to promote Council led activities and 

facilities for young people. 

- Northampton Borough Council has utilised social media platforms such 

as Facebook and Snapchat to engage young people and promote 

activities. The Council also has a strong Youth Forum, more than 15 

young people, representing our secondary schools in the Borough and 

for the past two years held a youth event in the summer, coinciding with 

International Youth Day.  

 

7. Cabinet informs Sports Development and Neighbourhood 

Partnership Services, Northampton Borough Council, that it is 

Central Government’s drive to increase weekend facilities for young 

people. The appropriate Officers be notified that there is a need for 

283



 49 

the Council to increase the provision of facilities for young people 

during weekends. 

- Northampton Borough Council were recently successful in securing more 

than £800,000, over four years, to work with young people 8-20 years old 

who are involved in youth/gang violence. A key objective of the project is 

about providing additional youth provision in the Town, a safe youth 

space for young people to regularly attend.   

-  

- In addition to the above Northampton Borough Council funds Free2Talk 

and NAYC, both supporting and providing youth services in the Town, as 

well as the Street Sports programme (formerly Street Football) delivered 

by the Leisure Trust. 

-  

8. Details of the database of known available activities and facilities 

for older children, aged 13-19 year olds, including those with 

special education needs and those with disabilities up to the age of 

25. 

 

- General youth provision is covered by a database, put together by 

Voluntary Impact Northamptonshire - 

http://www.voluntaryimpact.org.uk/directory/  

- There is a directory of services for children and young people in 

Northamptonshire (aged 0-25) with special educational needs and 

disabilities on the website also - 

https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-

education/send/local-offer/Pages/default.aspx  

-  

9. That Cabinet notes the Overview and Scrutiny Management 

Committee’s concerns regarding recent events around the need for 

a skateboard park and the threatened cut to funding for music and 

performing arts. 

- Northampton Borough Council funded the development of the Skate Park 

at Midsummer Meadow, a fantastic facility for young people in the Town 

to access, which is utilised all year round.  

Overview and Scrutiny Reports:  O&S Sheltered housing and housing option 
for older people and independent living strategy reports   2010/2011 and 
2011/2012) 
 
Progress and actions on the recommendations contained within the report: 
 
Recommendations 
During the setting up of NPH in the summer of 2014 all “supporting people” funding 
was cut by central government and a decision was reached at that time to consider 
what services would be adopted by NPH on transfer and which would remain with 
the local authority. 
 
The team which provided the service known as the Independent Living team was 
made up of the Call Care service and the officers providing housing related support 

284

http://www.voluntaryimpact.org.uk/directory/
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/send/local-offer/Pages/default.aspx
https://www3.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/children-families-education/send/local-offer/Pages/default.aspx


 50 

to older people. It was decided by NBC, that NBC would retain the call care service 
with the Independent living team moving to NPH with effect of th January 2015.  
The cut in supporting people meant that NPH had to consider what services could 
be delivered through the HRA, as although Northampton County Council had 
indicated that they would be offering for tender a housing related support service 
the time lines were not clear, although NBC did express that they would tender for 
this contract. NPH took the decision that the newly transferred service must be both 
affordable and deliverable even if there was no external funding .  
 
At this time it was decided to review the service and the following issues raised:  
 

 Of the 1777 designated ‘sheltered housing’ units support was only being 
provided to 510 tenants. 1267 had no support provided.  

 There were 24 Independent Officers and Support Officers and a large 
period of their time was being spent completing equipment checks. The 
Hardwire system Tunstall system was failing in many blocks, which was 
not cost effective to replace and industry was moving to displaced GSM 
units.  

  Many support plans had no end date which did not promote Independent 
Living 

  People wanted the sheltered housing properties (mainly bungalows) but 
they did not want or need the support.  

  The Sheltered Housing property review commenced by NBC had not 
been completed, and there remained in the stock a lot of properties 
designated as ‘Sheltered Housing’ that were not fit for purpose  

  Many tenants had shown a willingness to test their own equipment  

  Many more general needs tenants and applicants were demonstrating a 
need for support but did not qualify for ‘sheltered housing’, nor did they 
need that type of housing and the reduction in floating housing related 
support meant that more tenancies were failing.  

    It was agreed with NBC that the service needed to be modernised and 
provide:  

 
 Support to all tenants regardless of what type of property they 

lived in.  
 Housing for people in the type of property that was appropriate for 

them  
 A reformatting and re-start of the Sheltered Housing property 

review  
 A service where complete welfare checks to the most vulnerable 

older people are provided. 3.6 In September 2014 NBC had 
appointed an interim project manager to review Housing For 
Older People as following the 2010 scrutiny report a further report 
had been commissioned in 2012 and completed by CIH 
consultancy.  
 

A new Rehousing and Support team was created by NBC and transferred into the 
ALMO in January 2015.  
 
 
 
 

285



 51 

Older Persons Housing Strategy 
 
Following transfer NPH redefined the sheltered housing review and developed a 
brief for an older persons housing strategy. NPH appointed a specialist older 
persons housing consultant and subsequently developed and approved an Older 
Persons Housing Strategy in May 2016    
In September 2016 a report was presented to NBC Cabinet   who approved the 
new strategy.  
 
The key recommendations included:  
 
1. The cabinet approves the rebranding of the council’s ‘sheltered housing’ as 
‘older persons housing’ and changed the allocations policy to define those 
properties as being suitable for persons 55 or over.  
2.  The cabinet approves the reclassification of its ‘general needs’ bungalows 
to ‘older persons’ housing when they become vacant and are assessed as suitable 
for older people.  
3. The cabinet approves in principle the reclassification to general needs 
housing of up to 600 flats that are currently designated as ‘sheltered housing’ but 
are assessed as being unsuitable for older people and authorises NPH to consult 
with affected residents in three phases.  
 
These recommendations were approved and NPH continues to implement the 
outcome and recommendations of the review.  
 
NPH has most notably completed a full refurbishment of Eleonore House and 
completed a new build traditional ‘older persons’ scheme at Lakeview House 
providing 45 units of accommodation with community facilities.  
Demand for specialist older person’s accommodation continues to be significant. 
As of March 2019, there are 493 applicants over 55 on NBC’s housing register 
seeking accommodation.  
 
As part of the wider redevelopment of garage sites, NPH is delivering a number of 
new build fully adapted bungalows; such as three at Nene Drive (Kings Heath) 
which are located and will be fully integrated into the sheltered housing scheme in 
that location. There are also a number of other wheelchair accessible bungalows 
and apartments in NPH’s development pipeline.  
 
NPH are also delighted to record that the Support Service has recently received 
accreditation. The NPH Housing Support Team were assessed for the level and 
quality of service that they provide. The assessment and accreditation come in 3 
levels: Developing, Achieving and Outstanding.  
 
The team have been awarded “Outstanding”. They are the only team across the 
whole of Northamptonshire to be awarded this level. The accreditors could not 
speak any higher of the service. They reported that they were “blown away by the 
passion the staff have”, and the response from tenants interviewed that “they 
honestly believed that without the officers being in support they would not be here 
today due to suicide”.   
 
 
 
 

286



 52 

 
  4 

 
Conclusions and Key Findings 

 
4.1     After all of the evidence was collated the following conclusions were drawn: 

4.1.1 In reviewing the evidence received regarding the impact of the Scrutiny 
Reviews since 2006, it was concluded that they had all made a positive 
review, some examples as detailed below: 
 

4.1.2 The Working Group was pleased to note that the Scrutiny review around 
Community Centres had been shortlisted for a Centre for Public Scrutiny 
Good Scrutiny Award. As part of the shortlist process, a video was produced. 
The Working Group noted that the judges thought that this work, which 
facilitated the transfer of a large number of community facilities from the 
council to community control, demonstrated the contribution that scrutiny can 
make to implementing a key Government policy around community asset 
transfer successfully at local level.  This was felt to be an example of good 
Scrutiny at Northampton. 

 

4.1.3 Regarding the Planning Scrutiny Review, the Working Group queried whether 
Parish Councillors could also automatically have speaking rights; often when 
they register, it is too late and the speaker list for the planning application is 
full.   Parish Councils are statutory consultees and their views are given due 
consideration and by permitting Parish Councillors to have automatic 
speaking rights could extend the length of Planning Committee meetings.  It 
was emphasised that the general impact of the planning report (2005/06) had 
been good. 

 
 4.1.4 In reviewing the impact of the Street Scene Scrutiny Review, the Working 

Group felt that there was a need to educate residents regarding recycling.  It 
was realised that that some of the recommendations had been superseded 
by Law.  However that the general impact of this report was good. 

 

4.1.5  It was welcomed that the majority of the recommendations in the Scrutiny 
Report – Community  had been implemented and made a real difference.    

 
4.1.6 The Working Group, in reviewing the progress on the accepted 

recommendations contained within the Hate Crime Reporting Scrutiny report 
was pleased to note that the Authority won, in 2016, a national award for its 
work on hate crime.  The Working Group agreed that it would be useful if the 
Community Forums could undertake any work around hate crime towards 
rough sleepers and perhaps lobby Government. It further suggested that it 
would be useful for Parish Councils to be briefed on hate crime awareness. 

  
 4.1.7 In reviewing the progress made on the accepted recommendations 

contained with the Scrutiny report – Keep Northampton Tidy, it was noted 
that praise from the public had been received regarding the work of Veolia. 
There is a noticeable difference in the cleanliness of the town and the town 
has been awarded Purple Flag, it lasts for one year and an application has 
to be submitted annually. 

 
4.1.8 Evidence received highlighted that this Scrutiny activity had found  Overview 

and Scrutiny (O&S) at is good at NBC and works very well.  In any new 

287

http://youtu.be/aDDMYsqHA0Y


 53 

Unitary Authority there should be some Scrutiny.  The method of Scrutiny 
operated at Northampton Borough Council is retained in any new Unitary 
Authority.  The Call in process at NBC has been noted as an example of 
best practice by the Centre for Public Scrutiny.    O&S has featured in 
a CfPS document – Scrutiny Frontiers regarding its good practice of public 
engagement.  This information should be included O&S Annual Report 
2018/2019. 

 
 

 
  5  

 

 
Recommendations 

 
  

5.1 The purpose of this Working Group was to evaluate the effectiveness of 
Scrutiny Reviews completed to date. 

  
Key Lines of Enquiry 
  
 To demonstrate the effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny reviews at 

Northampton 
 To identify areas and means for further developing Overview and 

Scrutiny review process at Northampton Borough Council 
 To provide objectivity by identifying evidence from the questions 

posed in the framework 
 To highlight any potential barriers to improvement 

 
The Working Group recommends to Cabinet that: 

 
5.1.1 Cabinet is informed that the outcome from this Scrutiny 

activity had found  Overview and Scrutiny at NBC is good and works very 
well.  The Call in process at NBC has been noted as an example of best 
practice by the Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS).    O&S has featured in 
a CfPS document – Scrutiny Frontiers regarding its good practice of public 
engagement and the report – Management of Community Centres was 
shortlisted for a good Scrutiny award by the CfPS. 

 
5.1.2 In any new Unitary Authority there should be some Scrutiny process.  The 

method of Scrutiny operated at Northampton Borough Council is retained in 
any new Unitary Authority.   

288



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Appendices 

289



 1 

 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
Appendix A 

O&S Evaluation of O&S Reports Working Group 
 

1. Purpose/Objectives of the Review 

 

To evaluate the effectiveness of Scrutiny Reviews completed to date. 

 

Key Lines of Enquiry 

 

 To demonstrate the effectiveness of Overview and Scrutiny reviews at 
Northampton  

 To identify areas and means for further developing Overview and 
Scrutiny review process at Northampton Borough Council 

 To provide objectivity by identifying evidence from the questions posed 
in the framework 

 To highlight any potential barriers to improvement 
 

2. Outcomes Required 

 

   To report on the effectiveness of Scrutiny Reviews undertaken to date 

and produce an Action Plan for any required improvement in the 

Review process.   

 

3. Information Required  

 

 Background data   

 Background reports (previous Scrutiny Review reports) 

 Best practice data (if applicable) 

 Desktop research 

 Evidence from expert internal witnesses 

 Evidence from expert external witnesses 

 

4. Format of Information  

 

 Background data, including: 

 

 Previous Scrutiny Review Reports, including: 

290



 2 

2005/2006  

 Planning 

2006/2007  

 Public engagement and communications 

 Best value review 

 Tree policy 

 Allotments (water charges) 

 Street scene 

 Leisure services 

 Homelessness (rough sleepers) task and finish group 

 Community safety (evaluation of dispersal orders)  

2007/2008  

 Community engagement  

 Voluntary sector  

2008/2009  

 Councillor Call for Action 

 Billing Waste Water Working Group 

 Historic Buildings Task and Finish Group 

 Contaminated Water task and finish group - phase one 

 Contaminated Water task and finish group - phase two 

 West Northants Development Corporation (WNDC) and 
partnership working with Northampton Borough Council (NBC) 

 Evaluation of Overview and Scrutiny 

 Proposed Post Office Closures 

 Customer Services 

2009/2010  

 West Northants Emergent Joint Core Strategy 

 Concessionary Fares 

 More Facilities for Older Children 

291

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4514&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=5
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4569&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=7
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4684&%E2%81%9Esch=doc&cat=567&path=0&J=7
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4584&sch=doc&cat=560&path=0,462&J=4
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4586&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=3
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4676&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=12
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4603&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=13
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4677&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=11
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4609&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=13
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s48505/Final%20Report%20as%20pdf.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11502/Final%20report%20as%20pdf.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11499/Final%20Report%20including%20Appendices.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11500/Final%20version%20of%20the%20report%20as%20of%2011%20November.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11530/hbandregenereportfinalversion.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11497/contaminated%20water%20tf%20report%20pdf%20version%202.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s12113/phase%202%20report%20as%20pdf%2018%20March%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11531/Report%20as%20PDF%20-%20January%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11531/Report%20as%20PDF%20-%20January%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11772/Final%20Version%20of%20report%20as%20PDF%20dated%202%20February%202009.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s11503/Final%202.1.08.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4750&RPID=1584388&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=3
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4761&RPID=1766157&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=9
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.asp?ID=4760&RPID=1766150&sch=doc&cat=462&path=0&J=5
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s13199/final%20report%20as%20pdf%2017%20december%202009.pdf


 3 

 Community Centres This scrutiny review was shortlisted for a 
Centre for Public Scrutiny Good Scrutiny Award. As part of the shortlist 
process, a video was produced. The judges thought that this work, 
which facilitated the transfer of a large number of community facilities 
from the council to community control, demonstrated the contribution 
that scrutiny can make to implementing a key Government policy 
around community asset transfer successfully at local level. 

2010/2011  

 Cost of Consultants 

 Sheltered Housing and Housing Options for Older People 

 Absence Management 

 Northamptonshire Alcohol Strategy 

 Pre-Scrutiny of Environmental Services Procurement 

 Leisure Trust Implementation 

 Neighbourhood Model 

 Lease that Northampton Borough Council has With 
Northampton Town Football Club, the Contractual Arrangements 
between Northampton Town Football Club and the Rugby and 
Northampton Athletics Club 

 Commissioning Framework for the Voluntary and Community 
Sector 

2011/2012  

 Councillor Empowerment Fund 

 Hate Crime 

 Independent Living Strategy 

2012/2013  

 Customer Services 

 Evaluation of Overview and Scrutiny (2012) 

 Serious Acquisitive Crime, Violent Crime and Community Safety 

2013/2014  

 Retail Experience 

 Section 106 Agreements and Infrastructure Requirements 

 Improving the Town's Parks 

292

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=17352
http://youtu.be/aDDMYsqHA0Y
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=13863
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=13868
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16843
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16819
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=15550
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=15487
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16840
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16839
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16839
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16839
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=16839
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=17023
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=17023
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=18394
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=19360
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/mgConvert2PDF.aspx?ID=19361
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s35378/Finalreport31May2012.pdf.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s39865/Evaluation%20report.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s39886/Final%20SP1%20report.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5085&ID=5085&RPID=11444795&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s40543/Section%20106%20Agreements%20and%20Infrastructure%20Requirements.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s42720/Finalreportdated29January2014.pdf


 4 

2014/2015 

 Management and Regulation of Private Sector Housing 
(including HIMOs) 

 Impact of the Welfare Reform Act 

 Interpersonal Violence 

 Poverty in the Town 

 Keep Northampton Tidy 

 Parking 

 Tree Maintenance 

2015/2016 

 Impact of Anti-Social Behaviour on the Town 

 Health Check of the Local Economy 

 Effectiveness of the Enforcement Policies in respect of Taxis 
and Private Hire 

 NBC Owned Street Lighting  

2016/2017 

 Museum Trust (pre decision scrutiny) 

 Child Sexual Exploitation 

 Homelessness (Pre-Decision Scrutiny) 

 Emissions Strategy (Action Plan) 

   

 Monitoring Action Plans for previous Scrutiny Reviews 

and information regarding the number of accepted 

recommendations : 

 

 Internal expert advisors: 

 

Relevant Cabinet Members and Senior officers in respect of the 

success of each Scrutiny Review being evaluated 

 

5. Methods Used to Gather Information 

 Minutes of meetings 

 Desktop research 

 Site visits (if applicable)  

293

http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s44009/FinalreportasPDFdated11June2014.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s44009/FinalreportasPDFdated11June2014.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s44653/FinalReportasPDFdated4August2014.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46975/Interpersonal%20Violence.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46974/Poverty%20in%20the%20Town.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46976/Keep%20Northampton%20Tidy.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46979/Parking%20Working%20Group.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s46980/Tree%20Maintenance%20Working%20Group.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5203&%E2%81%9EID=5203&RPID=12784903&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5202&ID=5202&RPID=12784908&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5204&ID=5204&RPID=12784911&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5204&ID=5204&RPID=12784911&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/documents/s50099/Final%20Report%2031%20May%202016.pdf
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD5218&%E2%81%9EID=5218&RPID=12967370&sch=doc&cat=13168&path=13168
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Child%20Sexual%20Exploitation&ID=5220&RPID=13374130
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Homelessness%20Pre%20Decision%20Scrutiny&ID=5219&RPID=13374132
http://www.northamptonboroughcouncil.com/councillors/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Emissions%20Strategy%20Action%20Plan&ID=5221&sch=doc


 5 

 Officer reports 

 Presentations 

 Examples of best practice/case studies 

 Witness Evidence:- 

 

 Key witnesses  as detailed in section 4 of this scope 

 

6. Co-Options to the Review  

None. 

 
7.  Community Impact Screening Assessment  

 

 A Community Impact Screening Assessment to be undertaken on the 

scope of the Review 

 

8.   Evidence gathering Timetable  

 

June 2018 – March 2019 

 

 11 June 2018                        - Scoping meeting 

 2  July                                   - Evidence gathering 

 17  September                     - Evidence gathering 

 19 November                       - Evidence gathering 

 26 February 2019                - Evidence gathering 

 26 March                             - Approval final report 

 
 

Meetings to commence at 6.00 pm 

 

9. Responsible Officers 

 

Tracy Tiff, Scrutiny Officer 

 

10. Final report presented by: 

 

Completed by March 2019.  Presented by the Chair of the Scrutiny Panel to 

the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and then to Cabinet. 

 

11. Monitoring procedure: 

Review the impact of the report after six months (December 2019/January 

2020)  

294


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	7a CSE
	7b Homelessness (Pre Decision Scrutiny)
	8a Scrutiny Panel 1
	096150_proof
	index
	Chairs foreword final version
	executive summary version 1
	final report
	Appendices
	Final Scope
	Final core questions

	8b Scrutiny Panel 3
	Front cover V2
	index
	draft chairs foreword 
	executive summary version 1
	final report Northampton Post Unitary doc
	Appendices
	Appendix A to the final report
	Appendix B to the final report

	8c Scrutiny Panel 4
	093671_FrontCov_proof2b
	index
	draft chairs foreword - adult social care
	executive summary version 1
	Final report Northampton adult social care
	Appendices
	Appendix A to the final report
	Appendix B to the final report

	9 Overview and Scrutiny Evaluation of O&S Reports Working Group
	093755_FrontCOV_PROOF LRES
	index
	Foreword
	executive summary version 1
	final report
	Appendices
	Appendix A to the final report




